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 PROLOGUE 
 
      
 
    Twenty Years Ago… 
 
   
  
 

 BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 
 
    It was Thanksgiving, 2011. David was in tenth grade.  
 
    He had won the lottery this year, so to speak. His mother had applied for David to go to a new charter high school opening in inner-city Baltimore. His was one of 342 applications for the 100 seats. He was now enrolled in the school, enjoying his first semester there.  
 
    The thing his mother said she liked most about the school was that it would give him a shot at the same quality of education the white kids in the suburbs were getting. The thing David liked the most was that it was a project-based school. All the basics were taught as part of a project. This semester, the project was cooking. They used math to do things like scaling recipes up or down. They did science experiments like measuring the exact temperature at which egg whites solidified. And they practiced creative writing, by writing critiques of various recipes they tried. 
 
    Although the whole thing seemed a bit hokey to David, it seemed to work. And, he’d discovered that he liked cooking and was getting pretty good at it. But today was the real test. David had volunteered to make the mashed potatoes and stuffing for the turkey. His mom had made up everything else and had approved his recipe and cooking plan. The kitchen was now his. 
 
    “Hey sweetheart. You OK if I go with your Dad to pick up Gramma and Pop?” 
 
    “Sure Mom. I’ve got this.” 
 
    “OK. We’ll be about an hour. Shelly and Jake should be here soon. Shelly’s a great cook and can help if you run into any trouble.” 
 
    “I’ve got it covered, Mom,” David said with some exasperation. 
 
    Shelly was David’s sister. She was 12 years older than he was. Jake was her husband. He had some sort of job with NASA and had just returned home from a trip to the Amazon, where they were searching for something. But David didn’t know what. 
 
    David had peeled, boiled and mashed the potatoes by the time the front door opened. 
 
    “Mom, we’re home,” Shelly called out as they came in. 
 
    “They’re out getting Gramma and Pop,” David called back from the kitchen. 
 
    “What are you doing in the kitchen?”  
 
    “I’m cooking.” 
 
    “You can’t be serious,” Shelly said with disdain. 
 
    “The new high school teaches math and science in the kitchen.” 
 
    “What? There’s no science in food,” Shelly said. 
 
    “Did you know that egg whites harden at 176 degrees? Or that you can make salad dressing as either a suspension or an emulsion, which impacts flavor and shelf life?” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Sounds like you should be taking my class,” David joked. 
 
    “Food science, even more fun than real science,” Jake added, sticking his finger in the mashed potatoes and taking a taste. “Wow. That’s good. What did you do to these?” 
 
    “Added butter and herbed cream cheese,” David replied. 
 
    “Dude. Keep cooking like this and they won’t let you out of the kitchen,” Jake added. 
 
    “Can I try some?” Jeremy asked. Jeremy was Shelly and Jake’s oldest son, five years old. His sisters, Darla, three, and Shawn, one, both slept in the double stroller. 
 
    David scooped up a little on a teaspoon and gave it to him, whispering, “Don’t tell your mom.” 
 
    “Do you know if Darrel will be back from school?” Shelly asked as Jeremy scooted around her into the living room. 
 
    “I think so. Heard mom talking with him last night,” David said. “She seemed happy, so I’m thinking that means he’ll be here.” 
 
    “Then lucky Mom. The whole family will be here.” 
 
    David noticed Jake scratching his arm and a lot of dandruff coming off. 
 
    “Dude. What’s up with the arm?” David asked. 
 
    When Jake turned to look at him, David sensed anger, bordering on hatred, in his expression and took a step back. 
 
    “What?” Jake asked, all smiles. 
 
    “Nothing.” David, still staring at Jake’s arm, was suddenly confused about what he’d just seen. 
 
    “Oh. A little bit of jungle rot. Nothing to worry about. The NASA doctors gave me something for it.” 
 
    David found himself a little bit grossed out and not really believing Jake’s story. “Sorry about that.” 
 
    Then with a big smile, he added, “Maybe you should stay out of the kitchen.” 
 
    “Exiled from the kitchen on football day! Owe you one, buddy.” Jake grabbed a beer out of the fridge. Moments later the sounds of football could be heard from the living room.  
 
    “What was that about?” Shelly asked. “You looked like you thought he was going to hit you or something.” 
 
    “Nothing. Want to help me put this in a baking tray?” 
 
    “Ooh. Baked mashed potatoes. I think I’m going to let the chef prepare his own masterpieces.” She turned to head back out into the living room. 
 
    … 
 
    The table was set, the family seated. Dad sat at one end of the table, Pop at the other. Mom, Gramma and Darrel were on one side, David, Jake and Shelly on the other. 
 
    “Dad, would you say the blessing on this meal?” David’s father asked Pop. 
 
    “OK.” Taking Gramma’s hand, then Shelly’s, he said. “Everyone, let’s join hands to give thanks to our Lord.” As he closed his eyes and lifted his head toward the ceiling, Pop started. 
 
    “Our Father in Heaven. Hallowed be Your precious and holy Name. Your kingdom come; Your will be done, on Earth as it is in Heaven. 
 
    “I would normally say, give us our daily bread. But today, I say thank You for the feast that You have blessed us with.” 
 
    A thought ran through David’s mind. Last time Pop went off script like this, the bishop was here for dinner. And he was none too happy about it. Told Pop to make up his own prayers if he wanted, but not to abuse the sacred ones. 
 
    “And forgive us our sins, as we also have forgiven those who have sinned against us.” 
 
    David felt something crawling up his arm and struggled not to let go of his mother’s hand to reach over and slap it. 
 
    “Deliver us from evil.” 
 
    As Pop said the word “evil,” David felt something like a pin prick his arm. Piercing pain shot up through it. Unable to control the impulse, he opened his eyes and let go of his mother’s hand to slap whatever bug just bit him. His hand reached its apex as David’s eyes focused on his arm. What he saw terrified him. Long strands of dust had slid off out of Jake’s sleeves and were entwining his arm.  
 
    “What the hell!” David shouted.  
 
    Time seemed to slow down, as David jumped up and to the side. Just as he passed his father, he saw Jake. There was an evil smile on his face. A blood vessel had apparently burst in Jake’s eye, and the white slowly turned blood red. More strands of dust had already snaked across the table and touched Darrel and his mom. Strands were coming out of Shelly also and touching Pop. 
 
    David’s hand had finally come down. It smacked the dust entwining his arm. There was an explosion of dust. 
 
    “You’re going to pay for that,” Jake sneered. Two columns of smoke shot out of Jake’s mouth and wrapped around David.  
 
    David struggled to get away, but the smoke bound him tightly and wore on him like sandpaper as he struggled. Another tendril of dust came at him, penetrating his chest like a searing poker pulled right out of the fireplace. 
 
    As the pain peaked, David found himself starting to float away. Looking down, he saw his body go limp and fall away.  
 
    David thought. Have I died? Am I a spirit now? He also noted two things. His fallen body had the carving knife in his right hand. And the dining room was unusually brightly lit. 
 
    When did I pick that up? He thought to himself. Am I glowing? As the thought shot through his mind, the glow intensified. 
 
    Jake glared at him. “You might be able to evade me. But they can’t!” he shouted, waving at the rest of the family. 
 
    Impossible amounts of smoke poured out of Jake and started spinning like a tornado. The tornado flattened into something that looked like a giant chain saw blade. Its first victim was Pop, cut in half through the middle. As the blade started moving toward his grandmother, David, in his glowing form, blocked it. Unable to penetrate David, the blade went the other way and got his father. 
 
    The battle went on for a few more minutes, as chainsaw Jake destroyed everyone but the little kids. 
 
    Suddenly a brilliant light appeared and a voice that seemed infinitely large snapped, “No more!” 
 
    The spinning cloud of dust fell to the floor. 
 
    “David. There are more of them coming. I leave you now, so that I can battle them. But I’ll be back for you soon.” The brilliant light spoke in a calm, reassuring voice, then disappeared. 
 
    As he looked down at the blood and carnage, David was sick with grief. Then he blacked out. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 Ten Thousand Years Ago… 
 
    The Captain mused about the circumstances that brought him here. The trip down into this space time was nothing like what the Priests claimed it would be. They told us that the passage through the anomaly would be difficult. They even warned that we would need to undergo the ‘Change,’ and some might not survive.  
 
    The fools! Nearly half our ships were lost. All of the capital ships were lost because they were too large to withstand the dimensional shear. Lost with them were the ranking officers and the attending priests. Another 10% were lost in the chaotic fight for leadership that ensued. 
 
    Me? I took my ship and ran. We ambushed a small military vessel operated by the Tezzlorans and feasted on the crew. Then we found the prize that we’d all dreamed of... The coordinates of the promised land.  
 
    His ship was one of about 5,000 that had left the home world on this crusade. They were known as the Qopajin, the holy warriors of the people known as the Qopadan. The Confederation called them the Enemy.  
 
    The Qopadan were a created species. Their creators were a species known as Tezzloran.  
 
    The Tezzlorans occupied the three habitable planets in a star system located a little over 1,000 light years from Earth. Eons ago, they had sent thousands of probes throughout the galaxy looking for a theoretical substance that could bend space-time. Those that built the probes knew that they would die long before any word of a discovery would return. Nonetheless they sent them, hoping their work would allow some future generation to finally break the speed of light. 
 
    One of the probes found Earth, which contained trace quantities of the substance in its core. Another found a planet with very high concentrations of the substance. A foolish attempt to mine the other planet failed, breaking it apart and killing the fools that made the attempt. 
 
    But from that day, Earth became their target, the promised land, because they coveted the secret it held inside.  
 
    The Tezzlorans considered themselves to be gods. Long ago they mastered the means to create life. Their system was populated by the creatures they created, and they created creatures of every type. There were species intelligent enough to serve, interact with and fear them. There were less intelligent species that were functionally the beasts of burden serving an industrialized economy. There were others raised for food. 
 
    One of their most unique creatures could work in space, surviving for hours at a time in the void. Those had built the shroud that surrounded their system and hid them from other spacefaring species.  
 
    Only one of their creations had gone wrong, only one had turned against their makers, the Qopadan.  
 
    The early predecessors of the Qopadan had been created in hopes of finding an organic means to achieve superluminal transportation. The first step along the path had been development of a microbe that had quantum properties, here one moment, there the next. But their creators had failed to anticipate that their creations could escape their confines without being detected. As they used their technology to build increasingly more complex species from this base, they also failed to detect the underlying intelligence of quantum creatures. This had come to a head a little less than one million years ago, when a significant number of their creations escaped and started feeding on the Tezzloran population. In the purge that ensued, the Tezzlorans used a previously untested weapon. Unfortunately, it didn’t work as expected. The Qopadan were unaffected, but the weapon created a great rift in space-time that extended up into the high dimensions. The creatures fled through the rift, ultimately settling on a planet they found in a high dimension. 
 
    Over the million years that followed, the Tezzlorans found ways to harness, then weaponize the base Qopadan design. These were potent weapons that the Tezzloran continued to produce. They were mindless, not self-aware, simply programed to consume. They were used to attack and consume nearby worlds that refused subjugation. 
 
    But the initial group of escapees reproduced, evolved and began plotting the demise of their cruel masters. Their hatred morphed into a religion run by a priesthood of warriors. This was the tenth crusade.  
 
    The Captain now understood how misguided and unprepared this, and all the previous, crusades had been. But he also knew that he could ultimately rule this galaxy, IF he could take the very special planet that the Tezzlorans coveted, the one they called the Promised Land. 
 
    The ship he captured had a maximum speed of one tenth the speed of light. His warriors had the ability to hibernate. He disguised his ship as an asteroid, set course, then went to sleep. He would awaken at the half-way point to adjust course. Then again at each subsequent half-way point. When they were a few weeks out from the coveted planet, the one known as Earth, he would awaken the crew.  
 
      
 
    Twenty Years Ago… 
 
   
  
 

 JERUSALEM, ISRAEL 
 
    He was the last of his kind. The Lorexians called him the Ancient Sentient. On Earth, he preferred to go by the name James. 
 
    James had first discovered Jerusalem thousands of years ago and, for reasons that were hard to articulate, had developed a great affinity for the place. 
 
    Some millennia ago, he had persuaded the Confederation to begin preparations for a Revelation process here on Earth. He had pushed hard for the process to begin.  
 
    Earth was a gem that the High Council could not even begin to comprehend. It was also one so valuable that they could never be allowed to control it.  
 
    It would be a while before the humans would learn of the Confederation. But once they did, they would quickly rise to become its masters. 
 
    James had only met one Lorexian that he believed to be capable of handling the Revelation, only one capable of shepherding the humans toward their destiny. He had spent centuries grooming him; decades pushing for his elevation to the Central Council. Then, once there, he had succeeded in getting him appointed as the Ambassador to Earth. 
 
    A great cataclysmic event had occurred in this region of the galaxy’s spiral arm at some point in pre-history. It had created a rift through space-time that would periodically reopen. It would be opening again in a couple weeks. For the last hundred thousand years, a horde of Enemy combatants had flooded through the chasm each time it opened. The last time it happened was 10,000 years ago. Thankfully, most of the creatures in that horde had been stamped out, although there were still a handful that showed up now and again. 
 
    The next opening was still a few weeks away. The Fleet had begun to mass in the area where the Enemy was expected to emerge. James decided to wait for it in Jerusalem.  
 
    James expected more Enemy combatants to come through the rift this time. The hordes seemed to increase with each reopening event. There had been ten previous events like this that James knew of.  
 
    He would meet them when they came through and would hopefully stop most of them. But whether he stopped them or not, he would pass through the anomaly before it closed, so he could seek out the Enemy home world. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CAPTURED TEZZLORAN WAR SHIP 
 
    The Captain woke to an alarm. They were close to their destination, but many systems on his now antique ship had failed during the last sleep period. The worst hit was the hibernation support system. Only twelve of his crew, including himself, had survived the journey. They were now awake, but near starvation. He had eaten the last of the food during his wake cycles.  
 
    The warriors that had died, along with their failed hibernation pods, were strapped onto the hull. As they entered the atmosphere, the deceased warriors and their hibernation pods burned and separated from the ship. The rocky exterior mostly burned away. Their entry perfectly mimicked a meteor streaking through the sky. Despite the fiery illusion, they landed safely in the Amazon Basin and, once offloaded, the Captain programmed the ship to dig itself a thousand meters into the bedrock. There, it would never be found.  
 
    Over the coming weeks, they feasted on the aboriginals in the area and slowly built up their strength. Then, they waited. 
 
    The ploy worked. Their entry was reported as a meteor strike. Researchers and adventurers from around the world came in search of the meteor.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMAZON BASIN 
 
    Hundreds came from all over the world to search for the meteor, but no one ever found it.  
 
    The twelve infiltrators watched as the humans came and went. Each chose a host to occupy. The hosts were chosen from different nations. Some chose hosts from lesser countries with dictatorial governments. They thought they would be less likely to be discovered in these countries and more likely to be able to seize and hold power. Some chose larger, more powerful countries. They knew it would be harder to take control of these countries, but they would become vastly more powerful if they succeeded. 
 
    One by one, each of the people searching for the meteor went home. Twelve went home with much more than they’d bargained for. 
 
    Three of the infiltrators chose to hide in countries that were out of favor: Russia, Iran and North Korea. They went into deep hiding. The other nine chose powerful countries. Eight of them went to work right away. They moved aggressively and made quick progress. Only one went to America but chose to bide his time. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JERUSALEM, ISRAEL 
 
    James felt the meteor strike. Casting his senses out, he knew that some of the Enemy survivors, from a previous opening of the rift, had finally made it to Earth. He had to find them and eliminate them.  
 
    This was a conundrum. His time was short. The rift would open in a few days. The opening only lasted for a few hours. The next opening would come in 35 years. The one after that would follow by 47,000 years. He had to stop the invaders coming in through the rift. He had to use it to penetrate back into their domain. But even a small number here today would be able to take down this world before he could return. And if that happened, all would be lost. 
 
    James cast his senses across the Earth and quickly found six of the infiltrators. Within a day, they were destroyed. Over the next couple days, he found and destroyed two more. He could sense another. It was clever, illusive. James knew it was in America; knew it hid in a minor government agency. But the three that hid in Russia, Iran and North Korea successfully avoided his detection. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 
 
    A light flashed into existence. Light of a type that James had not seen in thousands of years. Light emitted when a living being converted into pure energy the way that he did.  
 
    In an instant, James went to that place. There he found something, something he knew was possible, but something he’d not seen in a long time. It was a human existing as pure energy. Unfortunately, this one was losing its fight with an Enemy infiltrator. 
 
    James glowed hot, focusing his heat on the Enemy. The creature was destroyed in an instant. James noted that one of the women was also infected. Apparently, the infiltrator had mated with her, the first step in building its army. James glowed hot again, focusing it on the woman, destroying the creature inside.  
 
    All but four of the humans in the room had already been killed. 
 
    The rift was about to open. He had to go. In an American voice, he said, “There are more of them coming. I leave you now, so that I can battle them. But I’ll be back for you as soon as possible.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 Three Months Ago… 
 
    BALTIMORE, MARYLAND 
 
    His mission to find the Enemy home world had been successful. Now that he knew where it was, he didn’t need to wait for the rift to open again. He could return to their home world at will, and he would eventually return with enough Space Force firepower to eliminate the Enemy threat for all time.  
 
    But he had unfinished business here. He had to find the human that knew how to transition to and from pure energy. With training, he would become a vital ally in the coming conflict. 
 
    He quickly found the three humans the other one had saved. But there was no sign of the one that saved them. Nonetheless, James would not stop searching until he found him. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 RECALL 
 
    [Monday, 12.30.2030] PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku. Thank you for meeting with me,” said the Admiral. 
 
    “Jo-Na. I hear that you are being recalled to New Lorexi,” Michael replied. Michael served as Ambassador to Earth from the Intergalactic Confederation of Planets. He was Lorexian, the dominant species in the Confederation, but he occupied a human avatar to make his interactions with humans easier. His Lorexian familiar name was ‘Mi-Ku’. He was a lifelong friend of the Fleet Admiral who led the Confederation Fleet Armada in the Milky Way galaxy. 
 
    The Admiral’s familiar name was ‘Jo-Na’. The armada had been undergoing repairs in Earth orbit for the last three months, taking advantage of the propulsion and shielding upgrades that had been enabled by developments at Earth’s Ascendance Institute. 
 
    “Yes. The infected Intergalactic Fast Packet ship still has not been found, but some strange emissions have been received from the intergalactic void, about 70,000 light-years from Andromeda. The High Command has quarantined a huge swath of the void and ordered our armada to investigate. We are the only ones with Enemy-resistant shielding. We are also the fastest ships in the Fleet, thanks to your humans.” 
 
    “How are the Enemy-resistant planetary shield installations going in Andromeda?” 
 
    “Poorly. It is depressing how inept the Lorexian engineers are at doing anything different than what they’ve done before. To the best of my knowledge, none of the shields have come up. That is one of the other reasons we’re being recalled. Our armada successfully installed two large ones: the Gen 1 shield that we put on the large planet the Enemy targeted three months ago, then the Gen 2 shield we put up to replace it.” 
 
    “Surely it must be more than just ineptness. Do you have any theories?” 
 
    “I think your Joel called this one right while we were upgrading our ships. They are skimping on the transluminide.” 
 
    Joel was the Confederation’s chief engineer on Earth; transluminide was the active material in Confederation power systems, including shields and replicators. Because of the transluminide shortage, most Confederation engineers had started using less than the specified amount in the devices they fabricated. This worked, at least for a while, with a lot of Confederation designs because they were over-engineered. In contrast, the human designs were precision engineered, specifying the exact amount of material that was required. 
 
    “Any word on approval for my request to have a human news crew tour your ship before you go?” Michael said.  
 
    “Fleet command doesn’t want to grant this request, Mi-Ku.” 
 
    “So I’ve heard.” 
 
    “They’re worried about the environmental controls on the ships. Rebreathers are not foolproof devices, and our ships are cold by human standards. They really don’t think it’s safe. 
 
    “I have volunteers that would be happy to come down to the surface to do live interviews. Quite a few actually. Central Command would much rather that you accept this option.” 
 
    “Let me think about it. How soon do you depart?” 
 
    “In two days. We have a few more minor repairs and upgrades to complete.” The Admiral hesitated. “Mi-Ku. There is one more thing we need to discuss.” 
 
    “Go on.” 
 
    “The High Command is not happy about the deal you struck with the Central Council regarding the status of Space Force. The Fleet is under-resourced in this galaxy, so in some sense the Council is relieved that Earth will be taking more of the burden in our conflict with the Enemy. But they are very unhappy about having ships in this galaxy that are outside their command. If they replace me with a hardliner, there will be problems.” 
 
    “I understand that issue and am working with the Central Council on a solution that should be workable. It is one, but only one, of the reasons we are requiring all ship upgrades to Earth-standard be done here.” 
 
    “Another sore point with the High Command.” The Admiral’s concern was clear in his voice. 
 
    “But necessary,” Michael replied. “If they cannot bring up a planetary shield, how could they possibly bring up a new propulsion system? We do not want Earth’s name associated with ships that lose integrity during flight.” 
 
    Michael sighed in frustration. Issues like this put an exclamation point on the Confederation’s increasing infirmity. “Let me get back to you regarding the interviews.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku.” 
 
    “Thank you, my friend,” Michael replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SARAH’S OFFICE, EMBASSY PRESS RELATIONS 
 
    “Sarah Wright.” Sarah said, answering the phone. 
 
    “Have a minute for a quick question?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Shoot.” 
 
    Sarah served as head of the Embassy Press Relations department. She was also Michael’s consort and fiancée. 
 
    “The Fleet isn’t comfortable with the idea of humans on one of their capital ships. They claim that the environmental differences are too risky. So, they’re proposing to make volunteers available for interviews on the surface. What do you think about that?” Michael asked. 
 
    “I think all of this is too early, so I’m not going to be your best source of info,” Sarah replied. 
 
    “But you have good relationships with people who think this IS a good idea and are pressuring us. Is there anyone you could test this with?” 
 
    “Probably. Tell me about the environmental concern.” 
 
    “Two problems: temperature and atmosphere. Our standard temperature on board is 50 degrees Fahrenheit. Lorexians are bigger, so it’s natural that they would need a lower temperature. 
 
    “Lorexians also breathe air with a different mixture of gases. The oxygen level in Earth’s atmosphere is too low for us, but we can compensate for that with a rebreather that supplements the oxygen. There are other components that we need, but we can live without them for a while. So, there’s not much risk to Lorexians in an Earth atmosphere. 
 
    “It’s different for humans. Our oxygen levels are much higher. At our levels, most humans will develop either pulmonary or central nervous system toxicity within an hour without a respirator to supply Earth-normal air, some in as little as 10 minutes. 
 
    “Our atmosphere also contains trace levels of various bromine-based compounds. Bromine is an element that exists in trace quantities in both our environments. Earth has it in the water. New Lorexi has it in both the water and the atmosphere, and both our species need small quantities of bromine. But in high quantities, most bromine-based compounds are toxic. At the levels in our atmosphere, humans would feel the difference after only a few breaths, and after 10 to 15 minutes would have life threateningly severe pulmonary inflammation. 
 
    “Because our atmosphere has higher proportions, it is harder to isolate humans and, if the isolation failed, we would only have a few minutes to get them off the ship before they were permanently damaged. 
 
    “For Lorexians on Earth, we can breathe your atmosphere as long as we have a small supplement of oxygen. And we could go days without the supplement before we would be in danger, although it wouldn’t be very comfortable,” Michael explained. 
 
    “Given what you’ve just told me, I think we’ll be OK. Let me check with a couple people, but I think I agree. Better they come interview on the surface.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY 
 
    After four months of what seemed like 24-hour days, Eugene had decided to go home for Christmas to visit his parents and extended family. Before he left the Embassy, he’d booked a meeting with his boss, the Dean of Engineering at Hopkins.  
 
    … 
 
    Eugene Xu served as a professor of Aerospace Engineering at Johns Hopkins University. His specialty was spacecraft propulsion and he had designed an advanced Ion Drive that NASA had selected for development in 2024, the year before the Revelation. Although he’d still been recognized as a leading authority on spaceship propulsion, the truth of the matter was that he was completely obsolete in a post-Revelation world. 
 
    In the hope of resurrecting his career, or at least becoming relevant again, Eugene had applied for and was accepted for sabbatical at the Confederation’s Ascendance Institute, where he had been for the last six months. Two months into his work at the Institute, Eugene had made a discovery that completely changed everything. He’d found a way to make the Confederation’s propulsion and shielding systems up to 100 times more efficient. His engines and shields were now referred to as Earth-standard within the Confederation. 
 
    … 
 
    As he drove onto the campus, memories of his time here came flooding back. He loved this place, but in truth, it really wasn’t his home anymore. 
 
    The school was on holiday, so the campus was mostly empty. There was even an open visitor’s spot in the parking lot adjacent to the Wyman Park Building, where he was headed. 
 
    Eugene entered the building, walked up to the Dean’s office suite and entered the reception area. There was no one there, but the door to the Dean’s private office was open. 
 
    “Eugene. Welcome home.” John rose and walked into the reception area to shake Eugene’s hand. “You’ve become very famous among the students and staff here. If you’d come while school was in session, you would have been mobbed by fans.” 
 
    “Thank you, John. Good to be here. I’ve missed this place.”  
 
    “Come on in. Would you like some coffee? I made a fresh pot a few minutes ago.” 
 
    “Thanks.” Eugene followed his boss, John Whitehead, Dean of the School of Engineering at Hopkins, into the office. John’s office was huge. It had a large institutional desk with chairs at one end, and a living room-like setup at the other. John motioned toward one of the antique armchairs in the ‘living room’ and Eugene sat down. John set two cups of coffee on the small circular table in front of Eugene, then took the chair opposite him. 
 
    “So,” John said. “What can I do for you?” 
 
    “I need to stay on at the Institute for a while. In fact, I don’t see a viable return date until well after my sabbatical is over. I’m hoping there’s some arrangement we can come to that will allow me to maintain a relationship with Hopkins,” Eugene replied. 
 
    “I assumed that was going to be the case. I spoke with Martin just before Christmas. He seemed to think he’d be able to return in a couple weeks but doubted that you could be pried loose anytime soon,” John said good-naturedly. 
 
    Martin Hill was one of Eugene’s colleagues at Hopkins. The two of them had developed a new branch of mathematics some years ago, a branch that the Confederation had never developed. That math had turned out to be the key to developing more efficient propulsion systems and Enemy-resistant shields. Michael had used his influence with the US President to get Martin freed up to come to the Embassy for an emergency project. 
 
    “True,” Eugene said. “By the way, thank you for giving Martin sabbatical, even though he wasn’t eligible yet. We might not have completed the Enemy-resistant shields in time without him.” 
 
    John laughed. “I probably shouldn’t tell you this, but I got a call from the President that day. I was in a staff meeting when Lorrie, my new assistant, came in and said there was an urgent call I needed to take. When I asked her if I could call back in an hour, she told me that it was the President and there was a contingent of the National Guard on their way to the engineering school.”  
 
    After a little laughter and a moment of reflective silence, John said, “I’m sure we can work out something. Do you think you will come back full-time at some point?” 
 
    “I don’t know,” Eugene said. “I can’t say anything specific, but I’m involved in several projects related to the anticipated Enemy invasion. Until that problem is solved, I don’t think that I can commit any significant time to Hopkins.” 
 
    “I would have a lot more flexibility if you could give us one day a week for one semester a year. Even one day every two weeks,” John said. The look of sadness in Eugene’s eyes was enough to answer John’s implied question. 
 
    “Then I think the best I can do will be to put you on unpaid leave, unless the Confederation would enter into a secondment agreement with us? You would still technically work for us. The Confederation would have to pay us your weighted cost.” 
 
    “Let me ask about that,” Eugene said. “I need to finish the work I’m doing at the Institute. But when that’s done, it would be nice to come back here.” 
 
    “Then I think we have a deal.” The two men rose to shake on it. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    “President Lee. A pleasure to see you,” said Michael, who’d just been shown into President Lee’s office.  
 
    Binh Lee served as President of the Earth Alliance. For the first time, he’d been the one to request the meeting and Michael was curious to find out why. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Thank you for accepting my meeting request. You’ve probably guessed why I want to talk with you. Since your announcement a couple months ago that all Confederation technology is available for adaptation, we’ve been flooded with requests for technology. Few of those requests have been serviced. The Ambassadors are in an uproar.” 
 
    “Mr. President, I’m not sure I understand the complaint. There are many seats open in the Institute. We have rejected very few applications for failing to meet the prerequisites. Anyone who wants to learn is welcome to come and learn.” 
 
    “I think the demand is for prepared technology packages. One of the complaints came from the American Ambassador. He wants turn-key technology packages for subsystems that he can use in products of his own design. He comes from Silicon Valley in California and seems to think that it’s the way things should be done.” 
 
    “I’m very concerned about this.” Michael frowned. 
 
    “How so?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “Advanced technology naively applied is very dangerous.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “Think about the household energy generators that we distributed shortly after the Revelation. The tiny little power cell inside it produces 1,000 watts of electricity and will do so non-stop for 20 years. That is an enormous amount of power. A great deal of knowledge is required to harness that power and deliver it safely with foolproof overload protections.  
 
    “If someone untrained were to have access to those power cells, they could accidently blow themselves up, blow up the building, or even the city for that matter. 
 
    “My point is that our technology is very powerful. We must train the people that we entrust that power to, so they can responsibly handle the power that they’ve been given.” 
 
    “Is there no middle ground?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand that question.” 
 
    “The power generators you distributed are safe. Correct?” 
 
    “Yes. They are safe.” 
 
    “Could we not make them available for sale?” 
 
    Michael looked at President Lee questioningly. 
 
    “Maybe in larger sizes? Maybe the replicators as well? Larger sizes, different configurations?” 
 
    “I think I understand your point, but I’m worried about how that would be done. Do you have a proposal?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Can’t you just make them and sell them?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “The short answer is no. The Confederation cannot do that. The Earth Alliance could set up a company to do it. But that company would need to work with the Institute to train the people who would design those products. There is also the issue of transluminide supply.” 
 
    “I thought the Earth had a bountiful supply of transluminide.” 
 
    “It does. But we need to be careful about how it’s used. It’s the most valuable material known and the key to all Confederation prosperity. Too many new Confederation members have wasted their supply in the early years, then have fallen into poverty. The Earth Alliance cannot allow that to happen.” 
 
    “Is there a Confederation norm for transluminide budgeting?” 
 
    “Formally, no. Informally, between 1 and 10 micrograms per person per year. Earth’s current population is about 10 billion, which would imply a budget of 100 to 1,000 kilograms. Our fleet security tax is about 10%. The actual budget is negotiated. We are currently paying about 18 kg per year even though our current consumption, excluding the Space Force buildout, is less than 100 kg per year.” 
 
    The look in President Lee’s eyes was stern enough that Michael could tell he wasn’t happy about what he’d just learned. 
 
    “I didn’t realize that we were paying a fleet tax, or that there was a budget. Or that we had even been spending,” he said with some heat. “On Earth, such decisions are made by our governments.” 
 
    “Our treaties cover this topic, as does the Earth Alliance Charter. They instruct me to handle matters such as this on your behalf for the first 100 years of membership. I’ve acted in good faith and sought approval for the Space Force buildout, even though I’m not required to,” Michael said kindly. 
 
    “Yes. I have read that but did not connect the dots until now,” President Lee reflected. 
 
    “But I understand and agree with your point,” Michael said. “This must all be handled by the Earth Alliance at the appropriate time. Perhaps that time is approaching.” 
 
    Michael paused, then added, “May I make a proposal?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “Let me prepare financial statements and a budget for consideration by the Earth Alliance Council. The budget will include a technology company that will be able to service some of your demand for commercial power generators and replicators. 
 
    “We can call a meeting of the Earth Alliance Council and discuss the proposal. The Council can propose changes and hopefully, we can come to an amicable agreement.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta.” Michael said, approaching to bump paws. “A pleasure to see you. It’s been quite a while.” 
 
    The Ambassador served as Confederation Ambassador to a world known as Karagon, the third planet in the Kepler-452 system. It was a huge planet, about 1.8 times the diameter of the Earth. All higher forms of life on the planet had been consumed by the Enemy about 100,000 years earlier. But over time, refugees from other worlds had relocated there. 
 
    Karagon was now the most populated Confederation planet in the Milky Way Galaxy. It was something of a melting pot world, one of the very few that had multiple intelligent species calling it home. 
 
    “Yes, Mi-Ku. It has. Did you receive the gift I recently sent to you?” 
 
    “Yes. I did. It’s prominently displayed in the public space in my office complex. I don’t think I’ve seen a glass sculpture of that kind before. The coloring and detail are quite spectacular.” 
 
    “I’m glad you like it. It is made with a relatively rare silica compound that occurs naturally on our world. Art like this is one of the many exports our world offers to prospective trading partners.” 
 
    “I’m sure there would be demand for such things here on Earth.” 
 
    “I was hoping you’d say that,” the Ambassador replied. “It’s the purpose of my call today. The people of Karagon would be very interested in establishing a trade and travel relationship with Earth.” 
 
    “It’s still a little early for that, we are only 6 years post-Revelation. But I would be very interested to hear what you have in mind.” 
 
    “I understand your concern, but our people are a lot more like humans than we Lorexians are. We even have an Angoloran population here. As I think you know, you can’t even tell the difference between an Angoloran and a human until you get close, maybe 20 or 30 feet from them.” 
 
    “Point taken,” Michael said. 
 
    “Several of your ‘movies’ have already made their way here. As I understand it, an Angoloran Ascendant serving in the Fleet managed to record several movies off your satellites in the weeks after the Revelation. He liked them and sent copies home for his family to watch. 
 
    “Well, they went viral, an expression picked up from a movie by the way. My point is that there is interest on our people’s part about having more interaction with humanity,” Ambassador Fa-Ta said. 
 
    By now Michael could tell this was not the real reason the Ambassador called. 
 
    He studied the Ambassador quizzically, then said, “I’m sure those things are true and eventually there’ll be significant interaction among our peoples. But I’m sensing that there’s something more urgent on your mind, my friend.” 
 
    The Ambassador looked down for a second, then sighed. “Perceptive as always, Mi-Ku. Our people have a lot to offer. But we are also in desperate need of new planetary shields and power systems. We have tremendous manufacturing capacity that is going idle for lack of transluminide. 
 
    “The Enemy is still active in this part of the galaxy, and stories of the battle a couple months ago have finally leaked out to our population. My people now live in fear. 
 
    “I’m hoping that we can come to some sort of arrangement. One in which we manufacture goods that you need in sufficient quantity that we can use the mark up to build ourselves new Enemy-resistant shields and revitalize our failing power system. 
 
    “We also have planetary mining ships able to mine and refine transluminide. If you know of any deposits on any of your worlds, or on any world for that matter, we are more than willing to pay above the standard finder’s rate if you turn the deposit over to us.” Ambassador Fa-Ta said. 
 
    “Thank you for sharing that. As you’ve correctly guessed, Earth is desperately short of manufacturing capacity, so it seems that some sort of deal can be made. Give me some time to work this on my side.  
 
    “I have a meeting with the Earth Alliance Council this week. They believe that it is in their best interest for our Confederation allies to be strong. They will want to do a deal, if we can find the right one. So, give me a couple days to work this issue.” Then after a moment’s thought, he added, “Would you be willing to send a delegation to address our council? Possibly just an Angoloran Special Consul for Trade?” 
 
    “In principle, yes. But we currently have no fleet ships here that could make the journey.” 
 
    “We have ships that are both comfortable and capable. I could send one to bring your trade delegation here.” 
 
    “I’m sure that would be acceptable.” 
 
    “It’s possible that I could make this happen quickly on my side,” Michael speculated. “Maybe in as little as a day or two. How soon could you have someone ready?” 
 
    “I’m not sure. Let me check. Can I message you tomorrow?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku. I look forward to a strong relationship between our worlds.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    As Michael left the Presence Projector and returned to his office, he became increasingly convinced that having Angoloran diplomats visit Earth might help on two fronts. 
 
    He quickly messaged President Lee to see if he was available for a short call. 
 
    “Michael, I didn’t expect to hear back from you so soon. Is there something I can help you with?” 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for taking my call. I just received a call from the Ambassador to the most populated planet in this galaxy. He wanted to discuss the possibility of a trade and travel arrangement between our peoples. Would you be interested in discussing that at the next Council meeting? And if so, would you consider hosting a representative from that planet at the session and a reception that evening?” 
 
    After a moment of silence, the President replied, “Michael, you have gone to great lengths to have all Confederation persons present themselves in human form. How would this diplomat be presented?” 
 
    “Thank you for asking, sir. I don’t know which individual will come but let me send you an image of someone from the same species.” 
 
    A moment later, Michael heard President Lee’s messaging system beep, indicating the message had been received. 
 
    “This fellow looks very human,” President Lee said. “Does he breathe the same air and eat the same food?” 
 
    “Air, yes. Food, I’m not sure. I’d have to check that out.” 
 
    “Is the offer to visit on the table?” 
 
    “Kind of. They very much want to come, but I wanted your feedback on this before I let that conversation advance. It would be very bad form to turn them down once the offer was given, as I think you can understand.” 
 
    “Yes. Understood. Let me touch base with a couple of people. My read is that the Earth Alliance would be very much in favor. But I’d like to hear that from a couple of other people before committing to an invite.” 
 
    “Understood.” Michael said. “Please get back to me as quickly as you can.”
  
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain Porter. Thank you for taking my call. I hope I’m not disturbing anything,” Michael said. 
 
    Daniel Porter was the Captain of Space Force’s first ship. The ship had been designed on Earth and built in Earth orbit, using a human-designed manufacturing process. It was possibly the most advanced spaceship in the Confederation. 
 
     “No sir. Nothing at all. In fact, it’s nice to have a break from the paperwork. To what do I owe the pleasure of this call?” 
 
    “I need a factoid. A year ago, I would have just called Else to ask. But it’s not appropriate for me to just call her without going through you. So, I’m using that need as an opportunity to check in with you.” 
 
    “Thank you for that courtesy, sir.” 
 
    “So, how are things with you and your ship?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Very good. The ship is in excellent condition and the crew is coming together nicely. Things have been relatively slow, so we’ve been using the time to run additional emergency drills and things like that. Our readiness numbers are improving. They are already in line with Space Force requirements, but I would like them to be higher, much higher.” 
 
    “I appreciate your commitment to your ship and crew, Captain.” 
 
    “Will we be getting a more adventurous mission anytime soon, sir?” 
 
    “The Fleet Admiral told me you’d ask that question,” Michael said with some humor. “The answer is maybe, but it’s also the reason I wanted to talk with Else. We are planning a diplomatic mission with a planet named Karagon in the Kepler-452 system. If this comes to be, you would be running out to pick up the delegation and bring them to Earth. The logistics are tight, and I need to know how long a trip that would be,” Michael said. 
 
    “Would you like me to transfer you to Ms. Else?” 
 
    “You can just add her to the line. But before you do… Else and I go back a long way and we speak with each other very casually, which is completely acceptable.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” Captain Porter said, trying to keep any skepticism out of his voice. “Connecting her now.” 
 
    “Captain,” Else said. 
 
    “Ms. Else, I have the Ambassador on the line. He has a question he would like to ask you.” 
 
    “Hi, Else. Michael here.” 
 
    “Hi, Michael. I hope things are well with you.” 
 
    “And you as well,” Michael replied. “We are in the planning stages of a diplomatic meeting with representatives from Karagon in the Kepler-452 system. We would be picking up their representatives and bringing them to Earth. How long would it take to run out and back? Assume that you will need to establish orbit.” 
 
    A moment later. “About 2 hours each way. But there is so much traffic around that planet that they frequently have delays for orbital insertion. Best possible case, five hours round trip. If we were a freighter it could be a lot longer getting orbital access, but I’d bet that you’ll get better treatment.” 
 
    “You’re probably right on that point. Captain, how well are you equipped for VIP transport? Do you have appropriate facilities and steward crew? 
 
    “By human standards, we can probably provide 4-star facilities and service. But I can’t speak to the needs or expectations of the representatives.” 
 
    “Thank you for that assessment Captain. If this should come to be, I will forward you the protocol requirements and we can add specialists to your crew as necessary.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. Thanks, Else.” 
 
    “Nice to talk with you, Michael,” Else replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MANUFACTURING OFFICE 
 
    “Henry, Joel here.” 
 
    Joel Rubinstein was the Ascendant in charge of the Confederation’s manufacturing operations on Earth. Prior to the Revelation, he’d worked with Michael to set up their ‘natural gas’ production system in Paso Robles, California. That operation had served as cover for the planetary shield that Joel had designed and built there. 
 
    After the Revelation, he became Consul General to Israel. Joel had built the shield that protected Israel from an Iranian nuclear attack. Although he loved Israel and wanted to return, he was the lynchpin in the spaceship production project and unlikely to return anytime soon. 
 
     “Hey, Joel. What’s up?” Henry replied 
 
    Henry was an AI, born on Earth to operate the shields. Post-Revelation, Henry still had responsibility for the planetary shield, but most of his time was spent managing the team of AIs that worked the shipyard’s detailed specifications and manufacturing operations. 
 
    “Are we going to complete ship 37 today?” Joel asked. 
 
    “The plan says yes but let me check with Doug.” 
 
    Doug, whose formal name was Douglas, was a relatively young AI, born about 2 months earlier. He was a close relative of Henry’s. As part of his creation process, he had been given ambiguated copies of Henry’s training and personal memories, as well as those of some of the other Earth-based AIs. To round out his personality and add uniqueness, they had also added some ambiguated memories of a human volunteer. 
 
    Doug was the lead AI operating the second production line at Lagrange 5. 
 
    “Hi, Henry,” Doug said. “What can I do for you?” 
 
    “I have Joel on the line with me,” Henry replied. 
 
    “Hi, Joel.” 
 
    “Doug, can you give me a quick update on the status of the current ship?” 
 
    “We are running more or less on time, despite the late start yesterday. Hull is done. Internal build out is about 2 hours from being finished. We should be ready for pilot installation by midnight.” 
 
    “Why did we start late?” Joel asked. 
 
    “There was a glitch on Platform 4, so the raw material wasn’t ready in time.” 
 
    “Ah, I knew about the issue on Platform 4. Didn’t realize that happened before the material requirement for the ship was completed,” Joel said, then continued, “Given that we are still light on material inventories, I think we’ll have to delay the start of the next ship on this line. So, let’s wait until morning to install Timothy.” 
 
    Timothy was the AI that would pilot the ship. 
 
    “Great. We’ll use the extra time to have the bots do a sweep of the area. We think a few ingots got loose. When ship 36, the EAS Algiers, pulled out yesterday, Matthew called to warn us about scrap that was showing on his scanners.” 
 
    “Great. Good use of time. Thanks guys.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK, EMBASSY COMPLEX 
 
    George and Noelani walked hand-in-hand along the riverfront. Former Sergeant George Butler was the first person that Michael had cured in public after the Revelation. George had been injured in a suicide bombing incident in Afghanistan in 2020. The injury had left him paralyzed from the neck down. He’d been wheeled into the Good Morning America auditorium the day Michael was on the show. Michael and Noelani healed him that morning. The healing had been dramatic, and the entire world had responded. 
 
    Noelani was a Confederation android, an artificial intelligence occupying a human avatar. In the Confederation, androids were full citizens with equal rights. Most first contact species struggled with the personhood of androids. But from day one, George knew that he wanted to marry her. 
 
    They were married a couple of years ago and Noelani was now four months along with their first child. She was showing at this point, but still kept active. She particularly enjoyed evening walks in the park, now that she wasn’t out running every day. 
 
    “It’s beautiful tonight,” George said. 
 
    “Reminiscent of the Big Island on a clear night.” Noelani looked up at the sky. “The sky is clear and there are billions of stars. The Milky Way is even visible.” 
 
    “Agreed.” George said. “But there are a lot more lights in the sky than there used to be. Look how bright the space docks are. Never saw that in Hawaii.” George pointed at the two shipyards, one near the eastern horizon, the other near the western horizon. 
 
    “Yeah. We seem to have picked up two little moons this year.” 
 
    They were referring to the spacecraft manufacturing and maintenance sites located at Lagrange 4 and 5. These were in the same orbit as the moon, one 60 degrees ahead of the moon, the other 60 degrees behind. These two locations were gravitationally locked in place by the Earth and Moon, so were natural places to park spacecraft, during construction or while being serviced. Four of the massive Confederation Capital Ships were clearly visible tonight, two at each Lagrange point. Several more ships were visible in orbit around the Moon or in cis-lunar orbit 20% of the way to the Moon. 
 
    “Hard to believe that Earth is becoming the number one destination for fleet repair and maintenance in this galaxy,” George said. 
 
    “Yes and no,” Noelani replied. “We are a long way from where these ships are normally stationed. But we are also the only place where their engines and shields can be upgraded to Earth-standard. So, it makes sense that they want to come here.” 
 
    George thought about this for a moment. “Agreed. But it’s still hard to believe that Earth-standard is even a thing.” 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PLANNING 
 
    [Tuesday, 12.31.2030] AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was up early. He was very excited about the possibility of an Angoloran trade representative addressing the Earth Alliance Council next Monday. But he needed to prepare a budget and financial statements whether that happened or not, so needed to get started. He made himself a cup of his favorite Kona coffee, then headed for his home office. 
 
    As usual his message queue was loaded with new messages. Two caught his eye immediately. President Lee had sent a message saying that a quick poll of the Council members was very much in favor of a visit from a trade delegation. They would be willing to do it at the scheduled meeting on Monday, or as a special meeting at some other time. 
 
    The second message was from Ambassador Fa-Ta. They could send a trade delegation as early as tomorrow. They needed about 24 hours’ notice. The delegation would consist of two of the Ambassadors to the Karagon Alliance from the Angoloran regions. They were very excited to have this opportunity and would enjoy whatever social activities were planned. The message also contained several lists. A list of environmental and dietary requirements. A protocol requirements list. And a list of products they would be bringing. Michael was shocked to see that they planned to bring nearly 1,000 kg of products. 
 
    Michael quickly dashed off a note to President Lee saying an Angoloran trade delegation composed of two ambassadors could join the meeting on Monday, if the invitation was extended today. They would be bringing numerous products to display and would be amenable to having a state dinner, planetary tour, press interview, etc. 
 
    He then sent the requirements lists to Captain Porter for review. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESIDENT LEE’S RESIDENCE 
 
    It had been a peaceful morning. Binh, and his wife Trang, had booked brunch at the Northern Lights Café in the northwest portion of the embassy complex. After brunch, they took a leisurely walk back home along the river in Riverside Park. 
 
    Trang had been curious to hear that they might be receiving their first trade delegation from another planet sometime soon. Her mind had already kicked into overdrive thinking about arrangements for the state dinner she would host. 
 
    They had stopped to sit on one of the park benches overlooking the river when Binh’s communicator buzzed.  “Curious. Michael sent me a message earlier this morning that just came through. Mind if I read it?” He asked, then clarified. “I think it may be related to the trade delegation.” 
 
    Trang smiled and said. “Please.” 
 
    “Well, it looks like the trade delegation is on.” Binh said to his wife as he dashed out a reply to Michael. “Please send the invitation and let me know when they will arrive.” 
 
    “They can depart as early as tomorrow, so would presumably get here tomorrow night.” Binh said to Trang. 
 
    “State dinner Monday? Or Tuesday?” Trang asked. “That’s not much notice. Who are we going to invite?” 
 
    “I suspect Michael will have a list for us. He also attached dietary requirements and protocol lists that I’m forwarding to you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TRANSPORT CENTER 
 
    It was only 3:00 PM, but the sun had already dropped below the mountains to the west. Bob was the last passenger to exit the shuttle. As he stepped out of the shuttle, he was overwhelmed by the beauty of everything he saw. The mountains soared up a couple thousand feet from where he stood. They had snow-capped peaks, illuminated by the setting sun, and glistened in a dazzling display of yellow and red. 
 
    “Come on Bob. Stop dilly-dallying!” Martha said. “We’re going to get separated from the tour group.” 
 
    Bob and Martha Johnson were part of a Cornell Adult University Study Tour, called Confederation Embassy: Architecture for a New Age. They were from Fayetteville, Arkansas. Martha was a professor at the University of Arkansas’ Fay Jones School of Architecture. Bob was a real estate developer. They had flown from Fayetteville to Chicago this morning, where they connected with the Confederation Shuttle that took them to the Embassy.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR SCHUDEL’S OFFICE 
 
    Professor Hans Schudel was an Ascendant. He served as part of the Civil Engineering department within the Institute’s School of Engineering. His specialty was mines and mining. He was also the Chief Engineer for the Earth Alliance Mining Company, which operated the four Earth core mining platforms in orbit. 
 
    “Professor Schudel. This is Michael returning your call.” 
 
    “Michael, thank you for getting back to me. I made an interesting discovery this week, one I was sure you’d want to know about.” 
 
    “Tell me.” Michael said. 
 
    “Do you remember the mission three months ago, the one where we planted transluminide in Luhman 16 for the Fleet to mine.” 
 
    “Remember it well. What about it?” 
 
    “One of the things that puzzled me about Luhman 16 was that it actually had transluminide deposits, ones that had previously been mined. It was the first time I’d heard of transluminide existing in a brown dwarf system. 
 
    “So, when we got back, I shot off two requests for reports. One went to the records department in the Mining School at the Institute on New Lorexi, the other to the Cartography School. I asked the mining school for a list of brown dwarf systems in which transluminide had been found. I asked the cartography school for a list of all brown dwarf systems where Level 1 mining scans had been done.” 
 
    “I’m guessing that those reports came back.” Michael said. 
 
    “Yes. I got the mining report about a week ago. There are 32 brown dwarf systems where transluminide finds have been recorded. Most of these were small, in the hundreds of kilograms range. Given that there are well over a million worlds that have been mined, it’s not too much of a surprise that I’d never heard of a brown dwarf system that had transluminide before. 
 
    “By the way, Luhman 16 was on the list, which shows that the report was complete and surprisingly up to date. 
 
    “The Astrogation Report came today. I got it about a half hour ago. Only 29 brown dwarf systems have received Level 1 mining scans. All but one had minable quantities of transluminide.” The professor said somewhat triumphantly. 
 
    “I hear your enthusiasm, but not sure I understand the significance.” 
 
    “Ah, sorry I didn’t make that clear. As a rule, the Confederation does not do Level 1 mining scans in systems that can’t support life. Brown dwarf systems can’t support life as we know it; therefore, they have been systematically overlooked as potential sources of transluminide. 
 
    “I did a quick search for brown dwarfs within 100 light years of Earth. There are 19, including Luhman 16. That means there are 18 unexplored systems that have a high probability of containing transluminide. 
 
    “Space Force could scan all those systems in a matter of weeks and register the finds. Earth might not need the transluminide, but what a bargaining chip that would be in future negotiations with the Confederation or any of the allied planets in this sector,” the Professor concluded. 
 
    “Professor Schudel. Thank you for bringing that to my attention. Please keep this to yourself while I work with the Earth Alliance to get those missions authorized. Am I guessing correctly that you would like to be the one doing those scans?” 
 
    “Yes.” Professor Schudel replied. 
 
    “Then I’ll get back to you as quickly as possible.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta.” Michael said. “Thank you for getting back to me so quickly. The Earth Alliance invites your trade delegation to our next meeting.” 
 
    “Michael. This is excellent news.” 
 
    “Has your trade delegation worked off planet before?” 
 
    “Yes. But not extensively. They have mastered use of portable translators, so should have little trouble engaging in conversation. I’ve started them on the standard Lorexian short course on Earth.” 
 
    “Excellent. My assistant will get back to you with a schedule. You are welcome to contact me at any time if there are problems we need to address.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE SECRETARY’S OFFICE 
 
    Winston Thompson, the Earth Alliances Secretary of Space Force, was just finishing a very frustrating meeting with Fleet Admiral Samuel Scott, the military head of Space Force. The issue at hand was that Space Force was growing fast, but there was too little work for it to do. To date, a total of 35 ships had been certified to be mission worthy. Of those, 32 now had commissioned crews.  
 
    So far, the missions were mostly training, which was good, but insufficient. They needed the Earth Alliance to give them some real work to do. 
 
    As their meeting was breaking up, his assistant Joan came in. 
 
    “Mr. Secretary. The Ambassador sent a meeting request for 4:00. I assumed you would want to see him when you were done here, so accepted the meeting. I hadn’t anticipated that you would run so far over with the Admiral.” She nodded her acknowledgement to the Admiral. “He will be here in about 5 minutes. Would you like me to refresh the room?” 
 
    “Yes. Thank you, Joan. Sam and I will leave you to it.” 
 
    The two men got up and walked into the outer office. 
 
    “Mind if I linger until the Ambassador gets here?” Sam asked. 
 
    “Not at all. I understand your concern. We have made a tremendous investment in building these ships and training these crews. We need them to be doing more than training drills while orbiting the moon or other planets. The initial plan was to have them doing scientific missions, so let me see if I can shake some authorizations loose.”  
 
    “Thank you, Winston. We’re both after the same thing. I’m just a little closer to the troops and want to keep them engaged.” 
 
    The door opened and Michael walked in. 
 
    “Just the two men I wanted to talk to.” Michael said smiling. 
 
    “The conference room is ready,” Joan said, exiting the room. 
 
    … 
 
    Michael was the first to speak. “Gentlemen, thank you for meeting with me on short notice. We have several important missions that need to launch as soon as possible.” 
 
    “Pleased to hear that,” replied the Admiral. 
 
    “Let me tell you about them. The first has already been approved by President Lee. I’ve not had a chance to discuss the others with the Council yet. Winston, I’ll need you to take the lead on getting proper authorizations for all of these.” 
 
    “Looking forward to working on it, Michael.” 
 
    “The first mission is a diplomatic mission. We need to send the Ottawa to a planet in the Kepler-452 system to pick up a trade delegation. A small diplomatic mission team from Earth will accompany the Ottawa. The trade delegation will be making a presentation to the Earth Alliance Council on Monday. The Ottawa will need to take them back at some point, possibly sometime later in the week. Details are still being worked out. Winston, can you work with President Lee to secure the relevant authorizations? Sam, can you coordinate with the mission team and communicate the orders to Captain Porter?” 
 
    Both men nodded acceptance of their tasks. 
 
    “Next, there are 18 systems within 100 light-years of Earth that have not been investigated by the Confederation. We need Level 1 mining scans of these systems as soon as possible. Sam, I’ll need your help to determine the best way to get this done. The challenge will be assembling the mission teams. We may only be able to form one mission team; in which case you’ll need to balance the time it takes to get this done with your need to give more ships real missions. I would really like to have one of these scans done before the trade delegation arrives. But we need to get them all done as soon as possible. If these missions are successful, then there are hundreds more that will need to be done as quickly as we can mobilize to get them done. I will brief President Lee on this shortly. Winston please work with him starting tomorrow to get the necessary authorizations.” 
 
    “Michael, these mining scans… Are we going to be looking for transluminide?” Winston asked. 
 
    “For obvious reasons, we need to keep this to ourselves. But, yes. We have reason to believe that these systems all contain deposits unknown to the Confederation.” 
 
    “Will this change the balance of power in some way?” Winston asked. 
 
    “Yes and no.” Michael replied. “Yes, in the sense that Earth is quickly emerging as one of the more noteworthy Confederation members in this sector of the galaxy. Registering these finds will increase our status even more.  
 
    “No, in the sense that these finds are just a speck of dust in the Confederation as a whole. None of these missions will change that. Registering 10,000 finds might. But the most these 18 will do is raise our profile among our neighbors.” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael. We will do everything in our power to assure the success of these missions.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 XU RESIDENCE, BALTIMORE 
 
    “Sorry we didn’t get to connect yesterday. How did your meeting go, sweetheart?” 
 
    “OK,” Eugene replied to his mother. “I’m going to be continuing at the Institute for some time. The University is going to try to work out a secondment agreement with the Institute. If that doesn’t work out, then I’ll go on unpaid leave.” 
 
    “What’s a secondment agreement?” Eugene’s mom asked. 
 
    “The Institute would hire my time from the University, so I would work at the Institute, but be paid by the University. That would allow me to continue accruing seniority and retirement benefits with the University, while working for the Institute.” 
 
    “That sounds nice. Do you think you will eventually come back to Baltimore?” 
 
    Eugene pondered his reply for a moment. “I’m not sure. At one level, I’d like to. But the work I’m doing at the Institute is important, not just on Earth but on dozens of other worlds,” Eugene said. “In fact, Michael has told me that he gets multiple calls every day from Ambassadors on other planets who want me to work on projects for them. Thankfully, he’s protected me from that.” 
 
    “Who would have ever believed we would be talking about Ambassadors from other worlds.” His mother laughed. 
 
    … 
 
    Shortly after dinner, Eugene headed up to bed. He was tired, the day’s events had really sapped him of energy. The thought of separating from Hopkins was saddening, but that was no longer where he was needed. There was also something nibbling at the edges of his mind that he could not put words to yet. 
 
    As he settled in, his communicator buzzed. Looking at it, he saw that it was a message from Michael.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for taking my call on short notice.” 
 
    “Always a pleasure Michael. I got your message about the trade delegation. My office is working the details on that now. 
 
    “By the way, I have asked one of your adjuncts to accompany the ambassadors that will be leading the mission team. I’m assuming that’s OK with you.” President Lee said. 
 
    “Yes. Missions like that are what they are here for,” Michael replied, then continued, “But I’m calling about another matter.” 
 
     “Which is?” 
 
    “One of the Professors at the Institute has made an interesting discovery. He’s identified 18 systems in which the Confederation has never done a detailed mining scan. He has reason to believe that those systems have a high probability of containing small to mid-sized transluminide deposits.” 
 
    “That’s interesting, but do we really need more transluminide?” 
 
    “If we could validate his findings and file claims on those deposits, we would have very valuable bargaining chips in future negotiations with the Confederation or other members. For example, the trade delegation that’s coming. Their planet has tremendous engineering and production capacity. 
 
    “They would probably offer you all the technology packages that the Ambassadors are clamoring for in exchange for the mining rights on just one of those planets.” 
 
    “Understood. How quickly can we do the scans?” 
 
    “Secretary Thompson will contact you tomorrow seeking authorization for missions to do the scans. The limiting factor will be the number of scanning teams we can field. We have more than enough ships to scan all 18 planets in one day, if we can put a scanning team on each ship. 
 
    “I think we would be in a very powerful position if we have one or more claims filed before the trade delegation arrives. 
 
    “Do I have your approval to start forming those teams?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Yes. Please do so with all haste,” President Lee replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    In principle, the Johnsons were on their own tonight. But Martha had booked a cultural event in Riverside Park. The Moroccan Ambassadors were hosting ‘A Taste of Morocco’ tonight, featuring dinner and a Moroccan dance group. Three other couples in the tour group had done the same. Shortly after they were seated, Martha saw Michael and Sarah Wright come in. 
 
    “Look. They’re here.” She pointed to the First Couple as they went to greet the Moroccan Ambassadors at the head table. 
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 NEW YEARS 
 
    [Wednesday, 01.01.2031] SKY NEWS STUDIOS, CANBERRA, AUSTRALIA 
 
    “With me today is one of the most famous people in the universe, Ms. Kelly Williamson. Kelly, thank you for speaking with me today.” Olivia said. 
 
    Olivia Thompson was a reporter with Sky News Australia. A little over three months ago, she’d been invited to the Confederation Embassy to host a talk show with former Sergeant George Butler.  
 
    A week after the Revelation, George had done a series of interviews with Keoni Gates of Fox News Honolulu. The interviews were eventually watched by about 500 million people. Overnight, the sergeant became an international celebrity and was dubbed Confederation spokesman. 
 
    George now had a weekly show, sponsored by the Confederation. Each week he had a guest host lead the show, which featured guests from the Confederation. Olivia had hosted the show three months ago. There she met Kelly, a late addition to the show, and found out that Kelly was the person that invented the new Earth-standard spaceship fabrication process.  
 
    Kelly was from Canberra and was home visiting for Christmas. 
 
    “It’s a pleasure to be here with you, Olivia,” Kelly replied. 
 
    “Did you have a nice holiday?” Olivia asked. 
 
    “Yes. It’s the first time I’ve been home since I started at the Confederation in January. It was really nice seeing the family and catching up with friends.” 
 
    “I understand that you had quite a reception at the airport.” 
 
    “Yes.” Kelly said laughing. “The Ambassador was adamant that I take some time off and go home for the holidays. I’d been dragging my feet about making arrangements, and the shuttle schedules were getting full, so I was very relieved when Michael asked if it would be OK if his assistant Pam made the arrangements for me. 
 
    “What I didn’t know was that she booked me on the Ambassador’s private shuttle and that there was going to be this big event when we landed at the airport.” 
 
    “So, tell us more about the trip.” Olivia smiled. 
 
    “I had packed light. I was only going to be here for 10 days and had left a lot of clothes at my parent’s house. I show up at the Confederation Transportation Center with a small suitcase and my briefcase and see Harvey, uh… Dr. Harvey Jones, my advisor while I was at ANU, …and he is dressed in a suit. I thought that was weird but didn’t say anything. I was wearing my jeans like any other day.  
 
    “We take off with just the two of us in the passenger compartment, and I’m feeling a little guilty that I’m traveling halfway across the world in this fabulous ship with just the two of us.  
 
    “Then a door opens in the front of the cabin and Michael and Sarah come out, all dressed up like they are going to some big event. Then our Ambassadors to the Earth Alliance come out with their wives, all dressed up and I’m wondering what’s going on. Then Harvey, who is sitting next to me, starts laughing and I know something is going down. 
 
    “Our senior Ambassador walks over to introduce himself and tells me that I’m going to be participating in an awards ceremony when we land. Then his wife, the famous French fashion designer Rachelle Pépin, introduces herself and asks if I can accompany her to another room where they will help me get prepared. 
 
    “I walk in and there is this dress…” a pause to collect herself “…that she says she made just for me.” Another pause, then a laugh. “Four make-up artists come into the room and announce that I need a serious makeover. My clothes come off. I’m washed, powdered, perfumed and made up. Then the fanciest dainties that I’ve ever seen are laid out for me to put on and I need help because I don’t really understand how they work. Next the dress, and when they finally let me look in a mirror, I don’t even know the person looking back! 
 
    “I ask how much the dress cost, which apparently is considered inappropriate, and she says it is not for sale. It was made for me.  
 
     “Well… Lots of tears and another round of make up later, I’m taken out and re-introduced to the people on board. 
 
    “At that point, I really hadn’t put the pieces together yet. The whole situation was so shocking… the Ambassadors, the designer, the dress, the makeup treatment… Then the door opens, and I walk out to see the Prime Minister.” Kelly, overcome by the emotion of the memory, paused to sniffle, a tear dropping from her cheek. 
 
    “And, they award me the Medal of the Order of Australia!” More sniffling as the show cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    “Are you OK, Kelly.” Olivia asked with compassion. “I should have guessed that this would be emotional for you. I didn’t mean to push you too hard.” 
 
    “You didn’t. I’m still struggling a little with the notoriety. I didn’t set out to be famous. I just wanted to build a spaceship.” 
 
    “I think that has something to do with why you are so famous now. You did something that is changing the world, and you did it because you loved what you were doing, not because it would make you rich or famous. People love success stories like that.” 
 
    “Thank you,” Kelly said. 
 
    “By the way,” Olivia smiled. “I did some research. One-of-a-kind, custom Rachelle Pépin dresses like that start at about $125,000.” 
 
    They both started laughing. 
 
    “Ready to start again?” Olivia asked. 
 
    Kelly nodded. 
 
    … 
 
    “Kelly, thank you for sharing that experience with us. You are such an inspiration, especially for girls and young women. 
 
    “But moving on, what can you tell us about all the new lights we are seeing in the night sky?” 
 
    “The details are mostly classified.” A pause, then. “Do you mind if I comment on that before we go on?” 
 
    “No. Please tell us.” 
 
    “It bothered me at first that there is so much classified information. I was helping Michael with a meeting a few months back, where I talked about some things that were classified. He was quick to cut me off, which he did very politely. Afterward I asked why some of these things were secret. It seemed to me that more people should know. 
 
    “His answer was that eventually everything would be known. We weren’t keeping things secret to hide them or for some nefarious purpose. The issue is that there are many things that would cause undue distraction if the information was not released in a controlled manner.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand. Can you give me an example?” 
 
    “Sure. I think I saw you covering a related news item a couple years ago. Remember the problem with the tsunami alert system. The one where the alerts were going public as soon as the threat was validated…” 
 
    “…at the same time the governor and emergency services were notified.” Olivia said completing Kelly’s sentence for her. “People would panic and start evacuating before the traffic controls were switched over, so the net evacuation time was much longer.” 
 
    “Exactly.” Kelly said. 
 
    “Is there some emergency like that you’re working on?” Olivia asked with great concern in her voice. 
 
    “No. Absolutely not. I think everything I’m working on is only good stuff like faster ships, or cheaper ships that do the same thing as the ones we have now.” 
 
    “But why not tell people?” 
 
    “Same reason. For example, the interview we did back at the Embassy. I told you about how I met Michael. I accidentally bumped into him as I was exiting the Administration building and, to my surprise, he knew who I was and invited me to a meeting. You asked if the meeting had something to do with the lights in the sky near the moon and I said no, then you asked me what the meeting was about, and I said that I couldn’t talk about it?” 
 
    “Yes. I remember being very confused. I hadn’t figured out yet that you were working on multiple projects.” 
 
    “Well the meeting I couldn’t talk about was the new shield designs that were Enemy-resistant.” 
 
    “You worked on that, too?!” Olivia asked. 
 
    “Yes. I was the first to solve the Gen 1 Enemy resistant shields and the person that developed the new shield validation protocol. I also solved the Gen 2 Enemy resistant shields with Dr. Eugene Xu.” 
 
    “Kelly, I’m amazed, but I’ve lost the thread back to the security conversation.” 
 
    “The project that I could not talk about back during that first interview… It was the Enemy-resistant shield project. We didn’t know for sure that they worked yet, and the Confederation didn’t know that it had been solved yet or that the solution was done by humans.” 
 
    “And…” Olivia prompted, still not quite getting it. 
 
    “Suppose in that first interview that I told you I was working on Enemy-resistant shields. Then we later learned that it didn’t work. 
 
    “At that time people didn’t know our existing shields could not protect them from the Enemy. That alone would have sent them into a panic. Then to find out we had attempted to develop Enemy-resistant shields but failed… There would have been rioting in the streets. Similarly, the Confederation knew we didn’t have Enemy-resistant shields, but did not know we were pursuing a solution. They would’ve pitched a fit if they thought we’d gone public with something they didn’t even know about.” 
 
    “Oh. Now I get it. So, you can talk about the shields now?” 
 
    “That they exist and that I was part of it, yes.” 
 
    “I am so impressed by you Kelly. Thanks for giving us that insight into the secrecy thing. I think that will help our audience understand the reasoning a little better. 
 
    “But back to the lights in the night sky. Is there anything you can tell us about that?” 
 
    Kelly gave a big smile. “Yes. There are several things going on. I can’t say too much about the details, but I’m happy to give you the big picture.” 
 
    Olivia smiled and discretely nodded to Kelly, implying that she should continue. 
 
    “The larger new additions are Confederation Capital Ships. You’ve probably heard that 20 or so Confederation ships have been here for a couple months now. They are here for repairs, maintenance and upgrades.” 
 
    “Really?” Olivia asked, surprise evident in her reaction. 
 
    “Yes. Our new shields make Earth a relatively safe place for the Confederation to do maintenance on their ships. It is also the only place where Confederation ships can have the new Earth-standard propulsion and shielding systems installed. And for ships that require hull repair, it’s the only place they can get the new Earth-standard structural elements.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand. Earth-standard, what does that mean?” 
 
    “Our new propulsion systems have about 100 times the range of the standard Confederation design and they are correspondingly better in terms of energy consumption. If energy consumption doesn’t resonate, think fuel economy.  
 
    “Our second-generation shield designs cannot be penetrated by the Enemy.  
 
    “These are standard on Space Force ships, so the Confederation refers to them as being the Earth-standard, and everyone wants them.” 
 
    “And these are only available if Confederation ships come to Earth to have them installed?” 
 
    “No, but yes. No, the designs are out there. Earth has secured the property rights, but any Confederation member can use them. The problem is that the Confederation is really struggling to make our stuff. So, ships that really need the upgrades are coming here to get them.” 
 
    “Unbelievable.” Olivia said, stunned to hear that there was Earth technology the Confederation was having difficulty manufacturing. 
 
    “But you said several things. Ship repair is only one.” 
 
    “Yes. We also have Space Force ships being fabricated on the two manufacturing lines, and most of the new Space Force fleet coming and going or orbiting the moon.” 
 
    “How many ships have been built?” 
 
    Kelly laughed. “I don’t actually know, which is good because I probably wouldn’t be allowed to tell you.” 
 
    “And are you about to roll out any new breakthroughs?” 
 
    “I have several in the works.” 
 
    “Is there anything you can tell us about any of them?” 
 
    “Mostly no.” Kelly said smiling. “But Michael said it was OK if I mentioned one.” 
 
    “I am very close to having the process down for making a laminated foam hull,” Kelly said with a big smile. 
 
    “A what?” 
 
    “A laminated foam hull... Laminated just means that it is multiple layers, just like some flooring materials, or plywood, that sort of thing. Foam means foam, like Styrofoam, only mine will be made from carbon nanotubes.” 
 
    “I can’t even imagine.” Olivia said, then smiling. “Maybe that’s why the Ambassador thinks it’s OK for you to tell us.” 
 
    “Possibly, but I think it has more to do with the impact. The shields were a game changer. Eugene’s engines were 100 times faster or more fuel efficient, which is also a game changer. My new hull, if we can get it to work, will improve hull strength and reduce weight, which will make our ships even faster or more fuel efficient. But it’s not a game changer. It’s just a modest increase. Enough to be worth doing if it works; not enough to make a real difference in the scheme of things.” 
 
    “Thank you for being with us today Kelly. I hope you enjoy the rest of your stay here in Australia.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 XU RESIDENCE, BALTIMORE 
 
    Eugene woke suddenly, got out of bed as quietly as possible and went downstairs to the dining room. He got his computer out and started it up. He’d finally figured out what had been bothering him. All his propulsion solutions were bi-directional. Easy entry into jump space and easy return from jump space. They used the same technique when designing the shield. Hard to get in, hard to get out. 
 
    But the shields didn’t really benefit from that property. They could make a shield that you could pass through effortlessly but could not pull back out. Many of the Confederation dome shields had that sort of property. 
 
    If they did that with the Enemy-resistant shields, they could build traps. The Enemy could enter without even knowing they’d entered. But once in they would be stuck. Kelly had done something like that with her sticky shield. The difference was that the Enemy had to attempt to penetrate Kelly’s sticky shield. For this new one, they wouldn’t even know they had entered until they tried to get out. 
 
    … 
 
    “Eugene, what are you doing up so early? You’re on vacation,” His mother said as she finished coming down the stairs. 
 
    The sound of her voice startled him out of his concentration. 
 
    “Hi, Mom. The solution to the problem I’ve been wrestling with came to me last night. I wanted to work it out before I forgot what it was,” he said. 
 
    “Well, you certainly haven’t changed much.” She smiled. “Are you saving the world again?” 
 
    “I wouldn’t put it that way. But I think I’m about 90% of the way to having another tool we can use to battle the Enemy.” 
 
    “You’re really serious about this aren’t you? Are we in more trouble than we’ve been led to believe?” His mom asked. 
 
    “Serious, yes. More trouble, I’m not so sure. I’ve just been in the thick of the Enemy preparations for long enough now that I feel more urgency than most. They are still a long way away. But if they arrive before we’re ready, then we’ll be in big trouble. So, the sooner I complete my work, the safer we will all be.” 
 
    “I’m glad you’re working on this, Eugene. If anyone can save us, it’s you.” She smiled and patted his shoulder. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TELEVISION STUDIO, EMBASSY PRESS RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
 
    Tonight’s event would be a first. Sarah had tried to avoid any involvement in it at all, but Michael insisted that she had to participate. They were going to do a live, in person, interview with the captain of one of the ships in the armada. 
 
    Michael had spent hours with him today, preparing him for what to expect and how he should present himself.  
 
    In a few minutes, they would be doing the preshow meeting to walk through the content of the show before they went live. 
 
    Sarah was in her dressing room. The makeup artists had just finished. “You look great Sarah. Just remember to relax and breathe,” Jamie, her lead makeup artist, said. 
 
    There was a light knock on the door. Jamie got up to answer it. 
 
    “Noelani, come on in. I think our girl needs a little moral support right now.” 
 
    “This will be quick.” Noelani said, coming over to Sarah. “Let me put some of this on your wrist, Sarah. It will help. I’ve already taken some.” She opened a small vial of nanobot cream and quickly rubbed it into Sarah’s wrist. It was a special formulation Noelani had created that would knock the edge off the nerves without dulling the mind. 
 
    Noelani continued holding Sarah’s wrist until she felt it relax a little. 
 
    “OK. I’m taking you over to the preshow meeting. I’ve already met Ja-Ru. He’s actually a very sweet guy. Big and a bit oddly shaped, but sweet.” 
 
    As they walked down the hall toward the Conference Room, James came out of another room. James was a member of a very ancient species. He was the last known living member. He had been instrumental in establishing the Confederation but had spent most of his time on Earth for the last several months. 
 
    “Sarah, my sweet. I understand your anxiety, but you are doing the right thing. Here, let me help you a little.” Peace and calm washed over her as James used his empathy to help her relax. 
 
    “You know what to do, but a quick reminder.” He formed his right hand into a fist, palm down. Then extended it toward her. She opened her right hand and placed it on top of his, so that her palm was against his fingers and her fingers were on the top of his hand. 
 
    “Perfect,” James said. “Come quickly now. You are the last to arrive.” 
 
    As she entered the room, she saw Ja-Ru and started to swoon. James flooded her with peace and confidence. The Lorexian was a little over 10 feet tall and heavily built. But as he stepped toward her the thing that struck her the most was his eyes. They were mesmerizingly large and expressive, with an iris far larger than a human’s that narrowed slightly, like a cat’s eye but less pronounced. His irises were bright yellow with streaks of blue radiating from the coal black center. And the graceful way he moved…   
 
    “Ms. Wright.” He extended his fist toward her. She reached out to put her hand over his and was amazed by the soft, reddish brown fur that covered his hand. “I am Ja-Ru. It is a pleasure to meet you, ma’am.” 
 
    Struggling to find her voice, she looked up into those beautiful eyes and said, “Captain Ja-Ru. I am Sarah Wright. It is a true pleasure to meet you.” 
 
    Michael spoke, breaking the spell that Sarah had fallen under. “We are running a few minutes late. Can we begin?” 
 
    Michael also pushed the thought. See, not so bad. And, Sarah’s face brightened with a smile. 
 
    “Captain Ja-Ru. Thank you so much for volunteering to meet with us today. Our program is being made available live all across the world tonight. We are expecting a viewing audience of over 100 million, although some of those will be in locations where the broadcast is delayed. We have scheduled an hour for the interview. I will give a short introduction, then we will do four 10-minute interviews, separated by short breaks. We will have a live studio audience of about 400 people. They will undoubtedly clap or cheer. In human culture, this is a good thing, so please do not be concerned about the noise the crowd will probably make. 
 
    “Each of the four segments will be focused on one topic. You have been briefed on these?” 
 
    “Yes ma’am, I have.” 
 
    “Would you consider discussing a fifth topic? Specifically, I would like to do a segment where we discuss Lorexian anatomy.” That comment drew a stern look from Michael. “Let me explain my reasoning. Michael has told the world that the Confederation presents itself to first contact species using avatars so that the physical appearance does not get in the way of developing a functioning relationship. I think most humans have assumed that what he meant was that Lorexians would appear to be ugly in some way. That is not true. You are a magnificent being. I would like to communicate that in some way, not like a science class, but more practically.” 
 
    Sarah was still getting a very stern look from Michael and the poor Captain looked uncertain at best. 
 
    “Think about it. Let’s see how the first couple sections go. 
 
    “Malcolm, you will be up first. Then Jill, Jonathan and Mei-Hua. There will be two-minute breaks between your segments, so we need to turn the sets fast. Then, a four-minute break before the close. 
 
    “There will be count-down timers for each section and break. Outro music will start softly at the 30-second point. Intro music will start 10-seconds before the start. Each section will be counted in by the floor producer. 
 
    “Captain Ja-Ru, all you need to do is go with the flow. Your interviewer will manage the time. If they cut in on you, please yield to them. 
 
    “Are we all good?” Sarah asked. 
 
    A ripple of Yes’s went around the room. Out of the corner of her eye, Sarah saw Michael whispering something to the Captain. 
 
    … 
 
    The stage had been set up dining room style. There was an oval table in the middle, with three chairs behind and another on the left end of the table. On the right end was a much larger chair that was unusually shaped. 
 
    As intro music started, Sarah walked out onto the stage and stopped in front of the table at its center. The floor producer started the count in at minus 5 seconds. The lights came up rapidly to full brightness by the time the countdown got to 2. Then one, and he pointed to her. 
 
    “Good evening, World, and Happy New Year!” The studio audience erupted in spirited applause. 
 
    “Tonight, we have an extraordinary show for you. We will be doing a live interview with the Captain of one of the ships in the Confederation Fleet.” Once again, the studio audience erupted in loud applause. 
 
    “But before I introduce him, let me introduce our panel of international interviewers. First, welcome Malcolm Fleming of the BBC.” Malcolm walked onto the stage to light applause, stopped to wave at the crowd, then took the seat at the far left of the table. 
 
    “Next let me introduce Jill Larson of the Toronto Star. Jill, welcome.” As a reporter from the host country, Jill got much louder applause as she walked onto the stage and took the seat next to Malcolm. 
 
    “Next, please welcome Jonathan Omeruo from KamemeTV in Kenya.” The crowd gave Jonathan a very warm welcome. 
 
    “And last, but not least, Kung Mei-Hua of the China Global Television Network. Ms. Kung, welcome.” 
 
    As Mei-Hua took her seat to more applause, Sarah turned toward her left. 
 
    “Now for our guest, the true star of the show tonight, Captain Ja-Ru from the Confederation Fleet.” 
 
    As the Captain walked out, there was a tremendous intake of breath as the studio audience was shocked at his size. But after a moment of stunned silence, the crowd erupted into its biggest welcome of the evening. 
 
    Ja-Ru had been warned that the studio audience was likely to be loud, but the response was so strong that he was momentarily taken back. But almost instantly, he was filled with calm and warmth and a quiet voice sounded in his mind. Relax my friend. The humans bestow great honor on you. 
 
    As Malcolm walked up to greet the Captain, Sarah quietly retreated off the stage. 
 
    Malcolm said, “Captain Ja-Ru, welcome to Earth and thank you for being with us this evening.” They bumped their hands together and Ja-Ru took the large seat. 
 
    “Good evening, World. I am Malcolm Fleming of BBC World News, reporting this evening from the television studios of the Intergalactic Confederation in northern Canada. 
 
    “Our program this evening will be broken into four, possibly five, segments. I will be hosting the first.” As he turned to face the Captain, Malcolm said, “Captain Ja-Ru, can we start with you introducing yourself? You are Lorexian, right?” 
 
    “Yes. I am a Lorexian.” A hushed whisper ran through the studio audience. It was the first they’d heard the Captain speak and the depth and resonance of his voice took everyone by surprise. 
 
    “Are you from New Lorexi? Is that where you were born and raised?” 
 
    “I was born on another mostly Lorexian planet in the Confederation, but my family moved to the second moon of New Lorexi when I was young. The Fleet has a large presence there and I joined when I became of age.” 
 
    “Are you an Ascendant also?” Malcolm asked. 
 
    “No. Few in the Fleet are. Admiral Jo-Na is one of the exceptions. Most wait until they have fulfilled their service before applying to become an Ascendant. If I understand correctly, the Admiral fulfilled his service, then went to the Institute. Then, some years after he Ascended, he returned to the Fleet.  
 
    “I may ultimately take the training. A logical time to do that would be when I finish this tour of duty. But I haven’t decided yet.” 
 
    “Captain, I was told that you volunteered to do this interview tonight. Can you tell us why?” 
 
    “Yes, I would be happy to. Shortly after I arrived in the Milky Way, I heard that a Revelation was planned for a world occupied by a very young species, much younger than average. Actually, the youngest I had heard of. 
 
    “When the Revelation occurred, the Fleet was called to give some assistance. The Revelation process went very fast, much faster than typical and the Ambassador needed help in the form of additional diplomats and manufacturing capacity. 
 
    “When we were about three days out, the Ambassador discovered an Enemy agent on Earth and called the Fleet for help. My ship was dispatched to run ahead of the rest of the Fleet. 
 
    “I arrived just as the Ambassador was making the move to stop the North Korean invasion. My ship helped build the barrier. Several of my crew came down to help in the Prisoner of War camp. Our ship sought out and destroyed the remaining Enemy agents that had penetrated Earth,” the Captain replied. 
 
    Malcolm cut in. “So, you Captained the first Confederation ship to arrive after the Revelation and were involved in both North Korea and in the elimination of the Enemy threat?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    The studio audience broke into spontaneous applause. 
 
    “But that is not all,” the Captain spoke up. “I participated via an audio link in several meetings with the Ambassador and his team at that time, then again recently as the new propulsion and shields were tested. And even more recently as the Armada has been upgraded. 
 
    “I have never met a more creative, resourceful or generous first-contact species. The way you work and your willingness to share have already started impacting the way we do things. Not just the technology, but the way we interact with one another. 
 
    “It’s remarkable. No other first-contact species has had this kind of impact on the Confederation. So, when the call went out for volunteers to be interviewed here, I volunteered. Actually, I volunteered before the call went out. You see, I really wanted to come speak with you in person and to say thank you.” 
 
    The audience exploded with applause and the show cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    Although they had cut to break early, Sarah decided to pass the baton to Jill. If they could cut the interviews to 8 minutes each, she would have time to do the fifth segment. As the lights came up, Jill stood, moved to the front of the table and faced the cameras. 
 
    “Good evening from the Televisions Studios at the Confederation Embassy. I am Jill Larson from the Toronto Star. We are here tonight with Captain Ja-Ru from the Confederation Fleet. 
 
    “Captain Ja-Ru, I’d like to ask you some questions about your life at home. The reason is not that we want to pry into your personal life. But people here on Earth are simply interested in what Lorexian life is like: how you live, what your homes are like… the list goes on. Would you be willing to talk with us about that?” 
 
    “I would be happy to tell you what I can. Where would you like to start?” he asked with what Jill assumed was humor in his very expressive eyes. 
 
    “Could you tell us about your family?” 
 
    “I am one of five children. I have four older sisters, two sets of twins. I am one of those rare single births. I have not married yet, so have no children of my own.” 
 
    “Can you tell us about your family’s home? Is it a single-family dwelling? Multi-family? Apartment?” As Jill was suggesting the options, she saw a puzzled look on his face. 
 
    “Those words do not translate well. Let me describe our home and you can tell me what it is,” he said. 
 
    “We live on a moon. Our moon, like your moon, has no atmosphere. All living and working space on our moon is under a multi-layer shield or underground. Our home is underground, deep underground. The moon was developed in layers. In the area where we live, there are a little less than 500 layers. Most of the residential layers are 30 feet tall. My parents’ home is on layer 231. The home itself is basically 3 standard units that have been interconnected.” 
 
    “How large is a standard unit and what types of spaces does it have?” Jill asked. 
 
    “Each unit is about 500 square meters. In the private portion there is an adult sleeping area and two children’s sleeping areas. Each area has its own sanitation facilities. In the public portion there is a playroom, separate dining and gathering areas, a small utility room where the replicators are located, and a number of storage areas.” 
 
    “500 square meters… That’s enormous by human standards,” Jill said. Hearing some questioning sounds in the studio audience, she turned toward them and said. “For the Americans out there, that’s over 5,000 square feet.” Then back to Ja-Ru. “And you have three of them?” 
 
    “Yes. But we are quite a bit larger than you are,” he said, the humor clear in his eyes and voice. 
 
    “What can you tell us about the playroom. Is it for children?” 
 
    “The children can use it of course, but it is mostly for adults. These rooms have holographic projectors where you can watch sports or entertainment, or play games. Many older people like to use them for relaxation with the gravity set low to ease the stress on their bones. Older children love the zero gravity games. 
 
    “It is generally the most used room in the home,” Ja-Ru concluded. 
 
     “Wow. I would love to see one of those. We don’t have anything like that on Earth. 
 
    “But back to living underground… Isn’t it dark?” 
 
    “On our moon, no. The rock has a natural luminescence, so it is rare to be completely dark and most homes have a low energy lighting system embedded in the rock that prevents the home from ever dropping below a certain level of light.” 
 
    “But what about during a blackout, wouldn’t that cause a disaster?” 
 
    A pause. “The translator is struggling to interpret your meaning.” 
 
    “A blackout is when all of the power to a town or area goes out.” 
 
    “I’m not sure how that could happen. Each home has multiple independent power units. Each lasts about 20 of your years and is easy to swap out.” 
 
    “Wow. More or less every household on Earth has one of these now, but they only cover a fraction of our power needs. I use mine to power the refrigerator and some emergency lighting.” Jill said. 
 
    “You have a cooling unit? What is its purpose?” Ja-Ru asked, clearly puzzled that Jill would use her power block for such a thing. 
 
    “Refrigerator. It’s where we keep fresh food.” 
 
    “I’m sorry. I still don’t understand. Why do you keep fresh food? Do you not have a food replicator?” 
 
    “We do. But I prefer fresh vegetables, milk, cheese. Foods like that instead of replicated food,” Jill said. 
 
    “Then that is one clear difference between your life and mine. We really don’t have fresh food on our moon, or on my ship for that matter.” 
 
    “Isn’t that interesting?” Jill said, as the outro music started to play. 
 
    Turning to the camera, Jill said. “We will be back to continue our conversation with Captain Ja-Ru of the Confederation fleet after a short break.” 
 
    As the lights faded, Sarah came out to speak with the Captain. 
 
    “Captain Ja-Ru, how are you doing? Are you comfortable with the conversation? Are you cool enough? Do you need something to drink?” She asked. 
 
    “Yes. I am good. Is this going OK for your audience? That last segment helped me understand how different we are. Is that OK?” 
 
    Sarah smiled. “Thank you for asking. I think we are very good. Changing subject, do you have any pictures that you would like to share with our audience? I should have thought to ask that before.” 
 
    Sarah looked up at the clock as the intro music started playing. She had 6 seconds to get off the stage. “I have to go. I’ll check in with you at the next break.” She said as she scooted off the set. 
 
    … 
 
    “Good evening, World. I am Jonathan Omeruo from KamemeTV in Kenya, here tonight with Captain Ja-Ru of the Confederation Fleet. 
 
    “Captain. Thank you so much for being here with us tonight.” 
 
    “My pleasure, Jonathan.” 
 
    “As I understand it, your Armada has been here at Earth now for about 3 months and the primary reason is to repair and upgrade your ships. Is that correct? 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Can you tell us anything about the upgrades?” 
 
    When Ja-Ru saw this topic on the program schedule, he’d been very concerned. He could get in a lot of trouble with the Fleet for saying the wrong things. He was relieved when Michael told him that he and the Admiral had agreed on a set of answers he could give. 
 
    “Yes, but for obvious reasons I need to be careful about what I say. The work being done is in two categories. The first is maintenance and repairs. The second is upgrades. As you might guess, a spaceship that goes out on long deployments, as our Armada has, needs to have the ability to maintain and repair itself. And we do. But many repairs are easier to do at a repair facility in orbit around a planet or large moon.” 
 
    “Earth has a repair facility?” 
 
    “Ah… Strictly speaking, no. But you do have the best manufacturing facility available anywhere in the Confederation, which is more than close enough.” 
 
    “Can you tell us about the types of repair you’re doing?” 
 
    “Happy to. Some of the ships in our Armada have been in the Milky Way for over 20 of your years. They were sent to stave off the last major influx of Enemy into our space-time. 
 
    “I wasn’t here at that time but have heard stories of the size of the horde, the Ancient Sentient’s valiant effort to stop them before they got to our ships, the intensity of the fighting and the damage they did. 
 
    “The ships that survived that battle were badly damaged, too damaged to return to the shipyards in Andromeda. They patched themselves together as best they could and went to lesser shipyards in the Milky Way. There, they were brought back to about 80%, maybe 90%, of new condition. The systems with the greatest shortfall were the propulsions systems, because there are no facilities in the Milky Way large enough to refurbish them. 
 
    “After heavy fighting last year, most of those ships were in very poor condition. The propulsion systems were the hardest hit, mostly because they hadn’t been fully refurbished after the battles 20 years ago.” 
 
    “We have that ability on Earth?” Jonathan asked, truly surprised. 
 
    “No,” Ja-Ru chuckled, a very strange sound somewhere between a purr and a roar. “Earth has changed so many things. It seems there are no simple Yes, No answers anymore. 
 
    “Our propulsion systems, and our shielding systems for that matter, couldn’t be refurbished because they were so large. They were large because they were inefficient. We completely replaced those systems with the new Earth-standard systems. The new smaller Earth-standard systems are well within the size of what we could do here at your facilities.” 
 
    “Impressive,” Jonathan said. “And now I understand the difficulty of some of my questions. Earth doesn’t have the giant facilities you would have needed to do your repairs. Instead, it has the technology to make upgrades that only require our smaller facilities.” 
 
    “Exactly. Plus, your hull fabrication facility has the ability to make better hull plating than we have ever had before, and to make it faster. So even the hull repairs were done quickly.” 
 
    As the outro music started quietly in the background, Jonathan turned to directly face the main camera and said, “We will be back in a few minutes to continue our interview with Captain Ja-Ru of the Confederation Armada.” 
 
    … 
 
     “Good evening, China. I am Kung Mei-Hua of the China Global Television Network, reporting from the Television Studios at the Confederation Embassy. I am here tonight with Captain Ja-Ru of the Confederation Fleet. 
 
    “Captain. Thank you for speaking with me tonight.” 
 
    “My pleasure, Ms. Kung.” 
 
    “I’d like to talk with you about food. As I understand it, Lorexians evolved in an atmosphere that had more oxygen and less nitrogen, something that impacts the kinds of plants and animals available for consumption.” 
 
    “I’ll take your word for that. But we really only eat replicated foods, not grown food, and many of the foods we eat were designed, not copies of the primitive foods our ancestors ate millions of years ago.” The captain paused, suddenly worried that he’d said something offensive. “Sorry. I did not mean to imply that your foods were primitive. Only that we do not have the tie to natural foods in the way that you do.” 
 
    The audience chuckled at the Captain’s comments, unsettling him a bit. 
 
    It’s OK. The humans take no offense, the voice he’d heard earlier said calmly. In fact, they greatly appreciate your directness. 
 
    “No offense taken, Captain. I’ve come to believe that we are more alike than different. So I am very interested to learn more about the differences. 
 
    “I did a search for foods that we have in common. Ah… Common is not the right word. There are none. What I meant was foods that we both can eat. According to the Confederation databases, there is a Lorexian dish called Ka-Ta-Ka-Nu-Ta that humans can eat. Do you know that dish?” 
 
    The Captain laughed at the question. “Yes. It’s a favorite children’s meal. I could not get enough of it when I was a cub. I still have it on days when I need a reminder of home.” 
 
    “Can you describe it?” 
 
    The Captain tried to describe the dish, but most of the words did not translate. A bit frustrated, he tried a simpler approach. “It is sweet and generally served cold. Correction… Served frozen. It is more difficult than I would have thought to find translatable words to describe food. Anyway, it comes in many flavors. Children like it because it’s sweet.” 
 
    Kung smiled. “I tried some before the show. I found it to have the texture of a French custard, and a flavor something like what the Americans call Hawaiian Punch.”  
 
    The description triggered some laughing among the studio audience. 
 
    “My friend, George Butler, replicated some Ka-Ta-Ka-Nu-Ta and a human dish that he thought was similar. Both are compatible for humans and for Lorexians. Care to try some?” 
 
    As a precautionary measure, they had tried the two dishes in advance before the show. 
 
    “I would love to!” the Captain exuded. 
 
    … 
 
    After sharing a taste of the dessert, Ms. Kung continued. “It took a little effort, but I found a Chinese dish that we also seem to have in common. The Chinese dish is called Ma-Po Tofu. Chef Marco’s replicator recipe has become the most recognized version of this dish on Earth. It is apparently very similar to a dish that you call Na-Na-Tu-Ka-Tu-Ka. Do you know this one?” 
 
    The question took Ja-Ru by surprise. He had tasted it for the first time before the show. It came from a region on New Lorexi, whose food he really didn’t know. But he recovered quickly. 
 
    “No. I had never tasted it before today. It comes from an area whose cuisine I really don’t know very well.” 
 
    “Let’s try these two dishes.” 
 
    George came out again with two bowls of the broth-based dishes. Ms. Kung tried the Lorexian one. The Captain tried the Ma-Po tofu. 
 
    “I love this dish!” the Captain said. “Can I get this for my replicator aboard the ship?”  
 
    After a little more back and forth, the show cut to break and carts with bowls of all four dishes were brought out for the studio audience. 
 
    … 
 
    During the break, Michael approved a set of questions for Sarah to ask in a short section they were adding to the show. Ja-Ru seemed a little less comfortable with the topic but agreed that the questions made sense and would bolster what he was trying to accomplish here. 
 
    As the lights came back up, Sarah took center stage directly facing the studio audience. “Good Evening. I’m Sarah Wright, here with our guest Captain Ja-Ru.  
 
    “One of the questions I’ve heard over and over again is… ‘What do Lorexians look like?’” She turned toward the Captain. “Ja-Ru, could you come join me?” 
 
    He stood and walked over to stand next to Sarah. The contrast was stunning. The cameras needed to zoom out to get them both fully in the picture. 
 
    Sarah looked up at Ja-Ru. “You are really tall.” 
 
    Smiling, Ja-Ru said the line they agreed to during the break. “And, you are very short.” 
 
    The studio audience took the exchange in the lighthearted manner it was given, laughing at the difference in size. 
 
    Back in their seats, Sarah continued. “We were told that Lorexians were taller than us during the Revelation. But I think seeing is believing. 
 
    “We were also told other things. Earlier I did a quick review of several of the speeches and interviews Michael gave during the Revelation. He told us that Lorexians didn’t breathe the same air, didn’t have the same number of appendages, and were lumpier. 
 
    “Size we can see with our own eyes. Breathing… You’re wearing a rebreather, so that is obvious as well. But I’m not seeing additional appendages or lumps. 
 
    “During the pre-show, I asked Michael about the appendages. He said there was a translator issue that was subsequently fixed. What he intended to tell us was that there was an additional joint in the lower leg.” Sarah stood. 
 
    “Could a camera zoom in on my calves and feet? I’m not a doctor, but I think of the joints in my lower legs as being my knees and ankles…” She bent, flexing her knees and using hand motions to indicate the angle changes in knees and ankles. “…and my toes.” She rocked up on her toes, heels up off the floor. 
 
    “I’m sure there are doctors out there who will tell me I have many more moving parts. But from a conversational perspective, there are three. 
 
    “Ja-Ru, could you please come stand next to me and show the audience the difference in your leg joints.” As he stood, Sarah added for the audience’s benefit… “By the way, we discussed this ahead of time and I have his permission to do this demonstration.” 
 
    Ja-Ru stood next to Sarah, then bent his knees, almost in a squat. “As you can see. When I bend my knees deeply, my ankle bends in two places.” 
 
    The camera zoomed in on his ankles. With his feet still flat on the floor, it was clear the ankle had two joints about 3 inches apart. The connection to the upper ankle bent at twice the angle as where the lower ankle connected to his feet. The studio audience made a lot of excited noise. 
 
    Sarah continued, “I’m not sure I would have ever noticed that difference, except possibly at a sporting event. Any speculation on why Michael would have mentioned that during his interviews?” 
 
    “Obviously, it would not be a very good career choice for the captain of a small ship to speculate too much about the statements of a Central Council member, one that is also the Ambassador to an influential planet.” 
 
    The audience laughed at that line. 
 
    “But I’ve heard other Ascendants speak about this. Apparently, the complex ankle structure that Lorexians have is not all that common. And, for many Ascendants, learning to walk properly in an avatar that has a less complicated ankle structure is quite difficult. 
 
    “One of my crew, an android, volunteered to operate a human avatar so that he could help in the North Korean prisoner of war camps. He actually fell and broke his arm as he trained to walk. 
 
    “Knowing this question was coming, I asked the Ambassador about it during the break. He confirmed that this was an issue all the Ascendants on Earth had to go through. It’s one of the things they consider most different from their natural bodies. So, it’s easy to see why this would be on his mind, even though it’s not all that visible.” 
 
    “Amazing.”  
 
    Sarah and Ja-Ru headed back to their seats as the audience applauded. 
 
    “What about the lumpiness? I see none of that.” 
 
    Ja-Ru pulled up his sleeve to show more of his lower arm. “This is harder to see. If my fur was wet, it would be easier.” Using his fingers, he spread the fur apart so the skin underneath could be seen. “See the small lumps. Doctors tell us that the lumps help us to regulate temperature.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “I’m not a biology expert but let me share some of the things I’ve been told. The average Lorexian body has twice the surface area as a human body. But we have a little less than 2.5 times the mass. 
 
    “The heat our bodies produce is loosely proportional to mass, so about two and a half times more than a human, but we have only twice the surface area to radiate out that heat. We have bumps on our skin that help regulate the heat. They stand out when we are warm, giving us more surface area, and shrink back when we are cold. 
 
    “But you know the ironic part?” 
 
    As Ja-Ru seemed to be looking for an answer, Sarah replied, “What?” 
 
    “Humans have the same thing! I think you call them goose bumps.” 
 
    “What? I only get goose bumps when I’m cold.” 
 
    “And what do you do?” 
 
    Sarah looked a Ja-Ru curiously. “I rub my arms?” 
 
    Ja-Ru chuckled, apparently enjoying the back and forth. “Yes. You rub your arms to warm up. With the goose bumps up, there is more surface area, which creates more total friction and warms you faster. 
 
    “We get goose bumps when we are hot to cool off. You get them when you are cold to heat up.” 
 
    Sarah’s astonished look made Ja-Ru laugh even louder, which drew even more noise from the studio audience as the producers cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    Sarah’s section had run longer than expected, so during the break they shuffled the closing segment around a bit, giving Sarah and Jonathan an additional question. They’d also shuffled the stage a bit, so all five interviewers had a seat. 
 
    As the lights came back up, Sarah stood in the center of the stage. The other four hosts were seated along the back of the dining room table. 
 
    “Welcome back, World. I am Sarah Wright. We are back to continue our discussion with Captain Ja-Ru from the Confederation Fleet.” 
 
    As she took her seat, Sarah started. “Ja-Ru, thank you so much for sharing yourself with us in that last segment.  
 
    “From the human perspective if I were describing the differences between our species, I would have said something about your eyes, fur and hands, not your ankle joints and bumps. When I first met you, I was drawn to your eyes and your incredibly soft fur.” 
 
    Ja-Ru smiled. “Thank you, Sarah. I will take that as a compliment. From the Lorexian perspective, I feel less self-conscious about my eyes and fur. So, if I were an Ambassador during first contact, I might not mention that as a difference, because I would not expect those qualities to be off putting. I also probably would not have mentioned the hands, but I’m guessing that I’ve misread their perceived alien-ness.” 
 
    “Would you mind putting out your hands?” Sarah asked as she put out her own. 
 
    “Can we put a close up on the screen?” Sarah looked toward the screens the audience could see and said thank you when the image came up. 
 
    “Your fingernails are much more pronounced than ours are.” 
 
    Ja-Ru seemed perplexed by the statement. “That did not translate well. Where you referring to my claws?” 
 
    It was Sarah’s turn to be perplexed. “Yes. We should probably update the translator. I think the word ‘claw’ has a negative connotation. 
 
    “But back to the point, our fingernails are smoother and wider, covering most of the tip of the finger. Yours are narrower and thicker, starting at about the same place on the finger and running more or less down the center. Yours are also longer. Is that fashion, or are your nails intrinsically longer?” 
 
    Ja-Ru seemed uncertain about how to respond. Then turned his hand palm up and pulled the skin of his finger back a little. “I think the answer is that they are intrinsically longer. If the light is strong enough, you can see that the nail is hollow at the root and has tissue inside that extends out a way. If we cut our nail shorter than that, it would bleed. A lot, in fact.” 
 
    “Ah, now I understand why the translator uses the word ‘claw.’ Although I would still change it. I also see that your hands do not fully open the way ours do.” 
 
    Sarah put her hand on the table between them with her palm pressed down on the tabletop. Ja-Ru did the same, placing his hand on the table, but the palm did not go completely flat and the fingers remained slightly bent. 
 
    “Yes. I think the tendons in our fingers connect at different places and are a bit shorter. I know from the work done on our ships that humans do not have as strong a grip as we do.” 
 
    “Isn’t that curious.” Sarah said, then looked deep into Ja-Ru’s eyes. “You are truly a wonderous being, Ja-Ru. Thank you so much for sharing this aspect of yourself with us.” 
 
    Then turning to Jonathan. “Jonathan?” 
 
    “Thank you for that set up, Sarah,” he acknowledged. 
 
    “Ja-Ru, the next topic I wanted to discuss is basically the one Sarah started for us. I wanted to get your perspective about working with humans. At first glance, it would appear that the physical differences would make that difficult. What’s your experience been?” 
 
    “Thank you for asking, Jonathan. If we were trying to do exactly the same things together, that would probably be difficult. We are bigger and stronger. But humans can get into smaller places and have more nuanced control over smaller parts and pieces of equipment. 
 
    “So, it would be hard to replace a Lorexian with a human, and equally hard to replace a human with a Lorexian. But teamed up, we can work to complement each other. Big difference. Much more productive. 
 
    “The ships that included humans in their actual repair work got finished quicker and had better results.” 
 
    “Can you explain what you mean by ‘actual repair?’” 
 
    “Some of the ships did not let humans get too close to their equipment. The human might fabricate a piece and bring it aboard. But most ships did not want them crawling around in the bowels of the equipment, doing the actual installation. 
 
    “They claimed it was safety-related and I get that. Some of those spaces are dangerous and they didn’t want people in there that hadn’t done that type of work before. But the truth is that there were no safety issues so big that they couldn’t have been easily overcome. 
 
    “Other ships wanted the humans in the middle of everything. Those captains and engineers realized the human-designed components were precision-designed, meaning that all the parts were exact and fit tightly together. On the whole, Lorexian designs are not that way. Ours fit together easily, then get cranked down tight. Too many of the ships that did not include humans directly in the installation, ended up with parts broken because they were forced together, or glitchy performance because of parts improperly aligned. 
 
    “By the way, so there’s no misunderstanding. Either approach, tight fit or easy fit, precision design or robust design… Either can work and work well. Either can produce excellent results. So, I’m not saying one way is better than the other. My point is that by working together we got better results because we could leverage each other’s strengths, not amplify each other’s weaknesses.” 
 
    Ja-Ru’s comment drew a large response from the studio audience that the producers used to cut to closing credits. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 EXPLORATION 
 
    [Thursday, January 2, 2031] EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Professor Schudel arrived at the Earth Alliance Headquarters building about 15 minutes before his meeting with the Secretary of Space Force. After a short conversation at the main reception desk, he was asked to take a seat. “Someone will be here momentarily to escort you up to see the Secretary.” 
 
    He found a seat in the reception area and turned on his data pad, but his escort arrived before he really had a chance to look at anything. 
 
    “Professor. Thank you for coming in so early. Let’s go up and meet the Secretary.” 
 
    The Earth Alliance Headquarters building was at the northern border of the Embassy complex. The buildings in this section of the Embassy were huge. Each was between 2,000 and 3,000 feet tall, stair stepping up slopes from the valley floor to the top of the ridge that marked the northern border. One implication of the building structure was that the elevators needed to move forward and back, as much as they needed to move up and down. As they boarded the elevator, a voice came through the speakers advising passengers to hold onto one of the handrails. 
 
    It was the first time he had ridden in one of these and he marveled at the engineering. It started more like a train moving mostly sideways. But as they picked up speed the angle of the force slowly rotated from being mostly horizontal to being mostly vertical. 
 
    “Must be your first time,” his host said. “Strange. Isn’t it? Overall, we are travelling nearly half a mile. I’ve done it before, taking the floor to floor escalators and walking to the next bank every three floors. It takes forever. There is even a stairwell ramp course that is used for exercise. It’s one-mile round trip with a 2,500 vertical foot rise. Not for me.” 
 
    “How large is this building? How many square feet?” the professor asked. 
 
    “The floors are not all the same size. The ones that step back are larger. I’m told the average is about 250 feet wide and 500 feet deep. That’s 125,000 square feet per floor. And there are 125 floors. So about 15.5 million square feet in total.” 
 
    “Incredible.” The professor felt the elevator, which was now going mostly vertical, start to slow. 
 
    There was a bonging sound and the elevator door opened. 
 
    “We’re almost there,” his host said brightly. “Please come with me.” 
 
    The elevator was located about halfway back from the front of the building where they were headed. They walked down a long corridor, then turned left, toward the east. After a few moments, the host opened the door into a large foyer. 
 
    “Here we are. Professor Schudel here to see the Secretary.” His host nodded to a guard. 
 
    The guard stood and extended his hand. “Professor Schudel. A pleasure to meet you.” Then to the host, he added, “I’ll take him from here.” 
 
    He opened a door into a waiting area. “This way please.” “Please have a seat. The Secretary will be with you momentarily.” 
 
    The professor took a seat and looked at his watch. His meeting was supposed to be at 7:00 AM. He had arrived at 6:45. It was now 7:15. Not as easy as meeting with Michael. He thought, lamenting the fact that he was in a political domain now, not an engineering one. 
 
    Another door, this one presumably to the Secretary’s office opened and a man walked out. 
 
    “Professor Schudel.” He shook the Professor’s hand. “It is a pleasure to meet you. I’m Winston Thompson, Secretary of Space Force. Thanks for taking the time to meet with me on short notice. Please come in and make yourself comfortable.” 
 
    He waved at a richly upholstered leather armchair in a sitting area on one side of the office. 
 
    “The Ambassador told me about your discovery of 18 unexplored systems where you expect to find transluminide. He has tasked me with setting up a mission to scan these systems. He also wants one or more systems scanned in the next couple days. Can you tell me about the requirements for these missions?” 
 
    “Yes. I’ve prepared a requirements document.” 
 
    “Can we talk through the high points before delving into the specifics?” the Secretary asked. 
 
    “Certainly. The specific scans we need to do are very specialized. Assuming that we find something, there is specialized equipment that we use to validate a claim.” 
 
    “Do we have this equipment?” asked the Secretary. 
 
    “Yes. Unfortunately, there are only a handful of people that can operate it.” 
 
    “Who are those people?” 
 
    “Myself; Joel Rubinstein; an Ascendant named Julie Ferguson; and an Ascendant named Farouk al-Ibrahim. Julie and Farouk both worked with Michael at his Paso Robles gas production facility prior to the Revelation. I believe that Farouk is now Consul General to Egypt. I’m not sure what Julie is doing,” the Professor said. 
 
    “So at best, we can only assemble four mission teams.” 
 
    “At best.” The Professor paused, then elaborated. “But it’s been years since Julie or Farouk have operated this equipment. We’d need to check with them, but I think they would need one or two missions with me or Joel before we’d want to send them out on their own.” 
 
    “How long will these scans take?” asked the Secretary. 
 
    “Uncertain,” said the professor. “These systems are charted, but unexplored. We don’t know the number of candidate planets, moons or asteroids with any degree of certainty. Documenting those things would be part of the scientific value of these missions.” 
 
    “Do you have a recommendation on how we should proceed?” 
 
    “Yes. As I said earlier, it takes very specialized equipment to find and validate a claim. But that does not mean that our ships’ scanners are useless. With a short training session, I could enable the science and tactical officers on 18 ships to find the high-probability indicators. In one day, we could do a preliminary scan of all 18 systems. If your crews find an indicator, they could log it and share the images with me. From there, we could make a priority list of locations. 
 
    “None of these systems are more than 3 hours apart from one another in your ships. It takes one, maybe two hours to validate a claim. We could easily register four claims a day.” 
 
    “I like this plan, Professor,” the Space Force Secretary said. “How would you physically do the crew training?”  
 
    “Each ship has a presence projector. I would use the one at the Engineering School; it has a classroom setting. All six science and tactical officers on each of the 18 ships can use the presence projector on their ship. I need an hour of set up, so we could get it done this morning.” 
 
    There was a knock at the door. 
 
    “Yes?” called the Secretary. 
 
    “Sorry to interrupt, sir. But your next meeting is here.” 
 
    “Please show them in.” 
 
    A moment later, Michael and a man the Professor did not know walked in. 
 
    “Professor Schudel. A pleasure to see you here. You’ve had a chance to brief Secretary Thompson?” Michael shook the Professor’s hand. 
 
    “Professor, let me introduce you to Admiral Samuel Scott. Admiral Scott is the military leader of Space Force. All orders to our ships emanate from him. 
 
    “Admiral Scott, this is Professor Hans Schudel from the School of Engineering. He is our local expert on mines and mining.” 
 
    “Secretary Thompson, do we have a plan?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Yes. I think we do.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS JERUSALEM 
 
    “Captain. A meeting request just came in from Admiral Scott.” 
 
    “Please forward to me.” Captain Darche said. Moments later, her communicator chimed. “Meeting to start at 9:00 AM. Oh, that’s 6 minutes from now. Lt. Ho, you have the con.” The Captain hurried to the presence projector. 
 
    Katia Darche was captain of the EAS Jerusalem, the second ship to be commissioned by the Earth Alliance. She was French, a former commander with the French Navy. On paper, there were other candidates that would have appeared to be more qualified to take the second ship in the fleet. But it did not take long during training for her to excel past everyone, except Daniel Porter. 
 
    The ‘Initiate Connection’ light at the door was lit. Below it, the initiating projector was listed: Secretary Winston Thompson, Earth Alliance Headquarters. 
 
    “OK. About to talk with the big brass,” she mumbled. 
 
    With a deep breath, she opened the door and entered the chamber. Inside, she found a long oval table with a lot of seats. A light illuminated the seat she was apparently to take. She moved to the seat but was surprised to hear the door to the projection chamber open.  
 
    “Sergey?” She said. 
 
    “They called me also, Captain.” Sergey Petrovich, her First Officer, replied. 
 
    A second light came on above a seat that appeared behind hers. 
 
    “Well, it seems we have been given our seating assignments.”  
 
    As they seated themselves, another door opened. This one was on the opposite side of the room where there was no door in her chamber. Captain Daniel Porter and his first officer Duan Tai walked in and took seats.  
 
    “Katia,” Daniel said. “Good to see you. Looks like we are both about to be read in on something. Given the size of the table, this must be big.” 
 
    One-by-one, other pseudo doors opened, and more captains and first officers came in. Then, at 9:00 exactly, a door at the head of the table opened and four men came in, the Ambassador, Space Force Secretary and Admiral, plus another man that Katia didn’t know. 
 
    Once seated, Michael started the meeting. “Captains. Thank you for meeting with us on short notice. We have an urgent scientific mission for you. I know that ‘urgent’ and ‘scientific’ are not words that usually go together, but you will understand once you are briefed. But before we start the briefing, I’d like to introduce someone most of you have not met, the man that brought this mission to our attention. Professor Hans Schudel.” 
 
    The Professor sat up straight in his seat and nodded his head toward the captains. 
 
    “There are numerous systems within 100 light-years of Earth that have never received full scientific scans. Professor Schudel recently discovered that 18 of these systems may have minable quantities of transluminide,” Michael said. 
 
    A collective intake of breath went around the table. 
 
    “It is imperative that we prove out this discovery as quickly as possible, hopefully in a matter of days.  
 
    “Here are the locations of the target systems.” A spherical holographic star chart popped up above the table with Earth at the center and the stars’ relative positions marked. 
 
    “Each of your ships is going to be assigned one system. We do not have reliable information on the configuration of any of these systems, so your first job will be to map these systems. 
 
    “Next you will do a high-level scientific scan of each planet, moon or asteroid that meet criteria that will be included in your detailed orders. Your scanners do not have the ability to actually find and validate a deposit, but they do have the ability to find indications of one. In about two hours your science and tactical officers will be called to a training course that the Professor will give on finding those indications. 
 
    “Once in your target system, you are to log any indication you find and message the Professor immediately. He will work with your crew to make the best determination of the likelihood of a find. Requests for time with the Professor are likely to back up because sadly we only have one of him, so continue your search until you can connect with the Professor to review. 
 
    “Once you have finished your high-level scans of the target planets, if any, please message the Admiral. Then continue your scientific study until you receive additional orders. 
 
    “One last note. We do not anticipate that any of you will encounter the Enemy. But such an encounter is possible. So be vigilant about your surroundings. If you should encounter the Enemy, call for help immediately. And if you confront them, make sure that it is decisive and final. 
 
    “Your orders will come from the Admiral shortly. Are there any questions?” Michael asked. 
 
    A number of hands went up. Michael pointed to Captain Darche and said, “Your question?” 
 
    “While waiting on contact from the Professor, should we move on to the next planet if we have not heard back?” 
 
    “Yes. Make sure your recordings are good, then move on when you finish the planetary scans. You may ultimately need to return, but that is OK.” 
 
    He pointed to another captain. “Your question?” 
 
    “As of the last time I checked, our weapon systems were still locked. Given the possibility of an Enemy encounter, will our weapon systems be unlocked?” 
 
    Michael looked to the Admiral, who said, “Yes, they will be unlocked. Do not leave the solar system until you verify that your weapons are under your control.” 
 
    After a few more questions, Michael said, “Thank you for your time today. Once your crew has finished their training and you’ve received your orders, please proceed with all haste. You are dismissed. Captain Porter, if you could stay for a moment?” 
 
    Once the other captains had left. Michael said, “Daniel. Your mission to Kepler-452 is being approved. You will be assigned to a system near there. Plan to remain in your system until you need to depart for Kepler-452. That mission has priority, so work the necessary departure time with Else, then go whether the scanning is complete or not. If you cannot complete, notify the Admiral and he will send another ship to complete the scanning mission for you. 
 
    “And one last note. The trade delegation you will be transporting is not to learn about the scanning mission. Make sure your crew is tight-lipped in their presence.” 
 
    “Understood,” said Daniel. 
 
    “Then you are dismissed.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” Daniel left the room. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku. It’s time for us to start our journey back to Andromeda. There are rumors of strange happenings on one of the smaller planets between New Lorexi and the Intergalactic void. 
 
    “Jo-Na. Thank you for the support you have given to Earth. You are truly a friend of Earth. Please give my regards to Captain Ja-Ru. His appearance on the news broadcast last night has already begun to have an impact. He is now written into Earth history. 
 
    “I will pass that along.” After a moment’s pause, the Admiral added, “Mi-Ku, I have found out who will be replacing me. It is not who I hoped. Have you met Admiral Ra-Mu?” 
 
    “Yes. I served under him a long time ago. We had a cordial relationship, but there was a big gap in rank at that time.” 
 
    “He’s a hardliner,” said the Admiral. “Once his ships are upgraded, he will demand that Space Force be subordinated to him.” 
 
    “I hope he does not push for that. If there is subordination, it will be Fleet to Earth’s Space Force. Until the Enemy is defeated, I do not want the extra responsibility.” 
 
    “You play a dangerous game, Mi-Ku.” 
 
    “Nowhere near as dangerous as placing the fate of Earth in the hands of a man that doesn’t know the Enemy we fight. But thank you for the warning. Will Earth be his first stop?” 
 
    “Yes. He fought hard for this assignment so that his ship could be brought up to Earth-standard. He’s due late next week. I would expect him to contact you a few days in advance.” 
 
    “I’ll schedule a meeting with him as soon as he arrives.” 
 
    After a moment’s silence. 
 
    “Good fortune to you in your new assignment,” Michael said. “And, thanks again for helping lift Earth from the state we found it in.” 
 
    “Good fortune to you as well. We will no doubt be in touch, despite the distance between us. You are driving major change in the Confederation. Change for the better.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR. EAS OTTAWA 
 
    The three tactical and science officers had assembled outside the ship’s presence projector. As third officer, Jim Ryan, first watch tactical, was the ranking officer present. He entered the code into the presence projector’s controller. Moments later the light turned red, indicating they could not enter, then the display updated to read “Connecting.” After another second, the panel turned green, indicating they could go in, and the door unlocked. Ryan entered, and saw lights directing them to their designated seats. The room was set-up theater style with multilevel seating. From Ryan’s perspective there appeared to be over 100 seats.  
 
    Kaitlin O’Brien, second watch tactical, stood next to Ryan. “Big class, there’s 108 seats.” 
 
    “How did you count them so fast?” Jim asked. 
 
    She looked at him oddly. “Nine rows, Twelve seats per row. One hundred and eight seats.” 
 
    “Good eye,” he replied. 
 
    They took their seats and a minute later the Professor walked out to the podium. He pushed a button on the lectern and the room appeared to morph right in front of their eyes. 
 
    “For those of you not familiar with a presence projector, everything you see, other than the colleagues you walked in with, is an illusion. As the one controlling the projector today, I control the illusion and can reconfigure the room as required for the lesson. We will be doing that a couple times today. 
 
    “As you can see, you are sitting at a science station. That is where we will start the lesson. When you arrive at a planet, you need to engage the automated scanning sequence. This needs to be done in collaboration with your helmsmen. Let me show you.”  
 
    The Professor clicked another button on the podium and the room reconfigured to look like the Bridge of the Ottawa, complete with the Captain in his chair and Else in the helmsman’s chair. 
 
    “Ms. Else, I am engaging the automated scanning sequence. Can you synchronize?” 
 
    “Synchronized.” 
 
    “Captain. We are synchronized,” the Professor said. 
 
    “Please engage.” A holographic projection of Captain Porter said. 
 
    … 
 
    Once again, the room morphed. This time back into a classroom. 
 
    “Once you have the automated scan started, you can use the controls to run supplemental scans. I’m going to set a maximum depth scan.” The Professor clicked the appropriate buttons and typed the appropriate numbers. 
 
    “Then engage the supplemental scan.” He clicked the engage button and a second window opened on the display showing a slightly different image. 
 
    “Now we superimpose the images on top of each other.” They watched as the Professor entered another scan sequence. Then on their monitors the two images merged into one. The resulting image was much blurrier than either of the individual images. 
 
    “Not very pretty is it?” said the Professor. “Under normal circumstances you would never want to do your scan with image quality this poor. But in a moment, we’re going to pass over a deposit of the material we’re looking for. Watch to see if you can spot it.” 
 
    The fuzzy image continued for a few more seconds, then a ring of light squiggled across the screen. The Professor froze the screen. “This is what you’re looking for. It will always be in the shape of a ring, although the ring may be too large to fit on the display.” 
 
    On the main projector an image played of an arc moving across the display. “Or it may be very broken up.” Another image played on the main screen where the ring appeared piecewise, bits of the circle fading in or out in a way where the ring as a whole never became visible. 
 
    “OK. Let’s step back so I can explain why you’re seeing what you’re seeing.” Three images appeared on the main monitor. “I’m going to play the scans again. The standard scan is on the left. The deep scan is on the right. The merged scan is in the middle. I’ll pause shortly after the ring appears. By the way, we refer to this phenomenon as ghosting.” 
 
    The scans started playing and as the ring started moving up from the bottom of the screen, the professor paused playback. 
 
    “At this resolution, the ring is clearly visible. But nothing of interest shows on either of the other scans. I’m going to enlarge these images, to max resolution.” The images zoomed in toward the center of the ring, where individual pixels of the image could be seen. 
 
    “Note this group of pixels here.” He said pointing to the screen on the left. “This is the deposit.” Then moving to the screen on the right, he pointed to a similar group of pixels in a slightly different location. “This is the deposit as seen on the deeper scan. Notice that each of these are barely visible above the noise. In fact, there are other groups of pixels, like this one here, or that one over there that are basically the same. 
 
    “This is why we cannot find the deposits using your scanners. They are not sensitive enough to pull the readings we need out of the noise. But when we merge the two, with the settings I’ve shown you, there is an interference pattern that we can see. This happens because the transluminide bends the images that come back to us in a predictable way when we scan above and below it.” 
 
    “Rings can be caused by noise. Rings can be caused by other phenomena. But they always appear when a sufficient mass of transluminide is encountered. This allows us to narrow the search area we need to cover with the specialized scanners. 
 
    “Science team. Your job will be to set the scanners in the way I’ve shown and do the primary search. Tactical team, you are the second pair of eyes. Experience has shown that the tactical teams are actually very good at finding the ghosts. 
 
    “OK. Let’s run some drills. Please pair up with your watch partner. The chamber will reconfigure so that the two of you are alone on your bridge. Press the record button when you think you see something. The playback will stop five seconds after the ring is out of range, if you’ve missed it. 
 
    … 
 
    For the next hour, the paired teams drilled. Ryan and Meier, first watch tactical and science, recorded 90 percent of the finds they were presented. Kaitlin O’Brien and Yi Ping, second watch tactical and science, got them all. 
 
    “Congratulations. Every team found at least three quarters of the deposits their scanner detected. Only one team, EAS Ottawa second watch, found them all. A commendation will go into their service records. Written instructions for the procedure you’ve just participated in will appear in your message queue shortly. Good luck everyone. You are dismissed.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 XU RESIDENCE, BALTIMORE 
 
    Eugene woke from the short nap he had taken after breakfast. He needed to pack and get ready for the trip back home. His shuttle pickup was scheduled for 4:00 PM. 
 
    Once finished packing, he shot off a quick message. Professor MacLellan, I hope you had an enjoyable holiday break. I made a new discovery over break that I need to discuss with you. I think this is important. I’m heading back to the Embassy this evening. Is there any chance we can meet tomorrow? Eugene. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ARCHITECTURE TOUR, EMBASSY COMPLEX 
 
    Bob and Martha Johnson were on the second day of their tour. The first day, they had met with a Confederation engineer, who had explained the buildings. The entire tour, even those members who had heard of the foundation dimension, were astounded to see large buildings hovering a couple inches off the ground. Bob’s first thought was that his next housing development would use those foundations. They lived in tornado country. Everyone knew about the spectacular losses that occurred when a tornado hit a building. Few knew that the primary damage to homes grazed by a tornado, or those that had near-misses, was being knocked off their foundations. If he could get access to this technology, then he would gain a serious competitive advantage. 
 
    Today, they were being shown the domes that protected the Embassy Complex. The original schedule called for them to tour the northeast wall from both the inside and the outside. But weather had set in last night and there was a blizzard outside. The temperature was about zero and the winds gusting to 50 MPH. 
 
    The extreme weather made the interior tour much more interesting. There was a place where it was safe to touch the dome. As Bob waited in line for his chance to touch it, the blizzard howled. Snow blew by at speeds so fast he couldn’t even see the flakes. 
 
    Just as he got to the dome, he felt the ground shake. “Do they have earthquakes here?” Bob asked the guide. 
 
    “Yes. But they are rare.” 
 
    His turn came and Bob stepped up to the dome. With bent fingers, Bob reached out slowly and finally found it. He pushed as hard as he could, but the dome didn’t even flex. It was hard as steel. 
 
    “My goodness.” Bob said, mostly to himself, then turned to say something to Martha. But he never quite got there. The rumbling he’d heard earlier was an avalanche. As he turned to say something to Martha, the avalanche hit the dome. The ground shook violently. A couple of people fell down from the vibration. Snow climbed 40 feet up the dome… But not a single flake made it inside. The shield held. In that moment, Bob knew he’d hit pay dirt. If he could put a shield up around each home in his new development, they would be tornado proof. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    It was second watch. Daniel had yielded the captain’s chair to his first officer, Duan Tai. Nonetheless, he’d decided to spend second watch in the bridge office. He’d told everyone that he had some paperwork to burn through, but everyone knew he was waiting for orders for the new mission. Orders that should arrive shortly. 
 
    His data pad sounded. It was the orders. 
 
    … 
 
    Daniel emerged from the bridge office and handed Paige Wilson, the navigator on watch, the coordinates for their target. It was a binary system composed of two brown dwarfs spaced 10.7 AU apart. The system was believed to hold 10 planets, but that number was quite speculative. The system had first been charted about 15,000 years ago. It was unknown to human science and bore an obscure Confederation identifier. The closest scan had been taken from over 2 light-years away.  
 
    “Ms. Wilson, please plot a course to the coordinates I gave you.” 
 
    Paige Wilson held the second watch Astrogation position. 
 
    “Course laid in, Captain. This was an easy one. It’s almost on a straight-line to Kepler-452. I came across this system during training. It was one we had to avoid when plotting courses to Kepler-452.”  
 
    “Do you concur, Ms. Else?” 
 
    “Yes, Captain. Identical to the one I plotted.” 
 
    “Well done, Ms. Wilson,” said the Captain. 
 
    “Commander Tai. Would you like to give the order to engage?” 
 
    “Thank you, sir. Ms. Else please secure clearance to leave Earth orbit, then engage.” 
 
    “Yes Commander.” Then after a few moments Else said, “We have received clearance to depart.  Departing now.” 
 
    “What is our expected arrival time, Ms. Else?” 
 
    “3:55 PM, sir.” 
 
    “Commander, please call me and Lt. Commander Kumar when we are on final approach. I would like the three of us to discuss the initial system scans and scan strategy before change of watch.” 
 
    “As you say, Captain.” 
 
    “The bridge is yours, Commander Tai.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS WARSAW 
 
    Captain Natan Dąbrowski was the last of the captains to receive his orders. His was the 18th ship built. It was named for the capital of the 18th country to ally with the Confederation, Poland. And it was the last ship chosen for this mission. 
 
    Captain Dąbrowski was also of Polish descent. He had been slotted for the next ship to be produced, the EAS Amsterdam, but had been pulled forward when the Warsaw’s designated captain suffered appendicitis two weeks before taking command. 
 
    His orders were to proceed to the Epsilon Indi system. 
 
    “Ms. Taniko. Please set course to Epsilon Indi.”  
 
    Captain Dabrowski’s orders also contained a personal note signed by Professor Schudel and the Ambassador. 
 
    Captain Dabrowski. Your assignment is different than the other ships. Epsilon Indi is a K-type main sequence star. It is orbited by a brown dwarf binary system about 1,500 AU from the star. The closest scans ever taken were from a distance of 3.5 light years. At that distance, the radiation from the main star and brown dwarfs masked the presence of any other planets or moons, except for a gas giant. 
 
    Please approach this system with extreme caution. With four gravity wells of this magnitude, navigation will be tricky. Emergency jumps will likely be fatal. Map this system from a safe distance, then proceed with extreme caution to scan any planets or moons with a mean temperature between 200 and 300 Kelvin. There is no time pressure for your assignment. Although we still hope to find transluminide in this system, a safe scientific scan is the higher priority. 
 
    “Curious.” The captain said out loud. 
 
    “Captain?” Justin, the ship’s AI, asked. 
 
    “Yes, Mr. Justin?” 
 
    “Our target is a very odd system. I know of other systems like this one. We should expect to find many planets, some with very eccentric orbits. There is also a high probability of one or more asteroid belts. 
 
    “Even more curious,” the Captain said. “I think we may have won a very interesting mission.” 
 
    “Course laid in, Captain.” Ms. Taniko said. 
 
    “Mr. Justin, do you approve this course?” 
 
    “Captain, I would suggest that we do our initial scan from further out, at least 5,000 AU from the star. I’m worried about what we will find at the edge of this system.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Justin. I agree. Let’s take our initial scans from 10,000 AU. Ms. Taniko, would you please adjust?” 
 
    A moment later, she replied, “Course updated, Captain.” 
 
    “Mr. Justin, please engage.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BALTIMORE-WASHINGTON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
 
    Odd. Eugene thought, as he walked into the Confederation waiting area. I can’t wait to get back to work at the Embassy. But I hate leaving Baltimore. 
 
    There were four others waiting, none of whom Eugene knew, so he decided to introduce himself. 
 
    “Good afternoon, gentlemen.” Eugene said to two men that were standing near the entrance talking with each other. “I’m Eugene Xu. I work at the Institute and am heading back after a holiday break at home with my family.” 
 
    “Dr. Xu.” The first man said, shaking Eugene’s hand. “I’m Dana Jackson, Oncology at Hopkins School of Medicine. It’s a pleasure to meet you. I’ve heard a lot about your work.” 
 
    “Dr. Xu.” The other man said. “I’m Tim Buckner. I do cosmetic surgery. You may have seen my ads on TV. I’m headed up to the Institute for the Basics course. Now that restoration chambers are a thing, I need to have one.” 
 
    “Same here.” Dr. Jackson said. “Restoration chambers are about to radically change how we treat cancer. If Hopkins is to remain relevant, we need to be on top of this technology.” 
 
    “Same reason I did my sabbatical at the Institute.” Eugene smiled. “I was a spaceship propulsion expert. NASA had decided to go with my Ion Drive design about two months before the Revelation. Overnight I went from top of the field to irrelevant. Last spring, I was accepted into the program hoping to salvage my career. Didn’t expect to make a discovery that changed the Confederation status quo. 
 
    “Anyway. Nice to meet you two. Hope our paths cross at the Embassy. I’m going to go introduce myself to the others.” 
 
    Eugene turned to greet the next person; a young African American woman seated near the window. He saw that she had already stood and taken a step toward him. 
 
    “Dr. Xu, I’m Jasmine Roberts. I just finished my electrical engineering degree at Hopkins last year and was accepted into the graduate program at the Institute starting next week. Everyone in engineering at Hopkins thinks you’re a rock star.” 
 
    “That’s nice of you to say, Jasmine. Are you continuing in electrical engineering?” 
 
    “That’s the plan, but who knows? We all take the path our interests are drawn to. I suspect there’s all kinds of great stuff at the institute that will draw my interest.” 
 
    “I can see that you’re wise beyond your years. Took me a bit longer to learn that lesson. I started in electrical engineering and was steadfast on that path. At least until I learned about Ion Drives,” he said with a smile. 
 
    “Have you met the fellow over there yet?” He pointed to a muscular African American man sitting by himself in the furthest seat from the gate. He had numerous tattoos on his arms and neck. 
 
    “No.” She said. “I learned a long time ago not to mix with men like that.” 
 
    “Well, I’m going to go introduce myself.” 
 
    “Be careful.” 
 
    Eugene walked over to the man, extending his hand. “Hi, I’m Eugene Xu.” 
 
    The man looked up at him, clearly unhappy to have been interrupted from his reverie. Then closed his eyes and looked back down. 
 
    “Are you headed to the Embassy?” Eugene asked, hand still out. 
 
    “Not by choice,” said the man, without opening his eyes or looking up at Eugene. 
 
    “I think you’re the first person I’ve heard say that. Why are you going to the Embassy if you don’t want to go?” 
 
    “Man, why are you hassling me?” 
 
    “Sorry. I’ll leave you alone if you’d like. But you are about to go somewhere that’s very friendly and welcoming.” 
 
    The man looked up at Eugene, anger and sadness in his eyes. “I did some seriously messed up shit when I was 16. Was tried as an adult, convicted, and locked up for life. 
 
    “They came to see me on Christmas Day; said I had a choice. I could enlist with the Space Force Marines or be moved to the new super-max they built around 50 miles from here. If I do 10 years with Space Force and am honorably discharged, then I’m free. One step out of line and it’s super max for life. They even injected me with some shit that tracks me, so no chance to just run.” 
 
    “Sorry to hear that. Do you have a name?” 
 
    “They call me…” A pause. “My name is David. David Washington.” 
 
    Extending his hand again, Eugene said. “David, pleasure to meet you. I’m Eugene Xu. I think you’re going to do well at the Embassy. Want to meet the others?” 
 
    “Can’t. I have to stay in this seat or that fellow over there…” He said, pointing to a uniformed man just outside the waiting area that was staring at Eugene. “…will knock me out and I’ll wake up in the super max.” 
 
    “How would he do that?” 
 
    “The Confederation doctor that arranged this deal injected me with something called knockout nanobots. They listen for a signal. If the signal goes away, they knock me out. The controller that guy is holding is sending the signal. If he turns it off, I’m out. He says that he will turn it off, if I get out of this seat.” 
 
    “Do you know why they gave you this offer? It seems like they’re going to a lot of effort to get you. There must be a reason.” 
 
    “The doctor said that I have a very rare skill that they need. No freaking idea what it might be.” 
 
    Some people started coming in through a door to the outside. Eugene saw that the shuttle had landed while he’d been talking with David, and that its passengers had just entered the terminal.  
 
    The last two off were Emmanuel and Bahati Mbanefo. As they came into the departures area, Bahati turned to walk over to where Eugene stood, while Emmanuel walked over toward the man with the controller. 
 
    Emmanuel gave the man some papers, which he inspected. Then he gave the controller to Emmanuel. 
 
    “Eugene.” Bahati said as she approached. “I didn’t know that you were going to be on this shuttle. I see that you have met Mr. Washington.” 
 
    “This afternoon is full of surprises it seems.” He gave Bahati a light hug. 
 
    “Eugene, my friend.” Emmanuel said. “Didn’t expect to see you tonight.” Then turning toward David. “Mr. Washington. My name is Emmanuel Mbanefo. I am with Confederation security. My wife Bahati and I are here to escort you to the Embassy. If you will please come with us.” 
 
    David turned to look at the man controlling him and saw that he was gone. The instinct to run was so strong he almost bolted. 
 
    “Don’t do it my friend.” Emmanuel said. “Something very good is about to happen for you. I know it’s hard to trust, but please trust me on this. Once on board, you will have more flexibility. There are others nearby that are watching. If you bolt, they will take you down. It will be different at the Embassy. 
 
    “Please. Come with us.” Emmanuel said compassionately. 
 
    Eugene noticed that Bahati had a faraway look in her eyes, then a moment later. “Paul says we need to board now.” Bahati said and started walking toward the exit. Emmanuel indicated that Eugene should do the same. 
 
    “Come on David, we’ve got to go.” Eugene followed Bahati. 
 
    Slowly, David got up and joined them. They walked to the shuttle and boarded. The door closed almost immediately. “Everyone, please take a seat and fasten your seat belt. Once we have cleared BWI airspace, you will be free to move around the cabin. 
 
    Eugene sat with David. Bahati took the aisle seat on the other side of the aisle. Emmanuel went to the cockpit. 
 
    “Dude. This is the strangest transport I’ve ever done. They usually move us around in shackles, cuffed to the agent in the seat next to you. Why don’t they think I’ll run?” 
 
    Eugene smiled and said. “Because you really can’t. We took off a second after the door closed and should be up near the top of the atmosphere by now.” 
 
    Paul’s voice came over the PA. “I’m turning off the seatbelt sign and will open the windows momentarily.” 
 
    Eugene placed his hand on David’s arm. “The walls are about to become transparent. Don’t panic. It’s OK.” 
 
    Anger flashed through David. This fool has not only touched me, he’s implied I’m a coward. But he bit down on the thought and didn’t move. 
 
    The walls became transparent and the Earth was way down below. “What the…?” he said breathlessly. 
 
    “A lot has changed since they put you away. I’m glad that you’re now about to become part of it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Else’s holographic projection turned to look at Commander Tai. “Commander. We are approaching the outer edge of the system. We will be dropping back to normal space momentarily… Arrived.” 
 
    Commander Tai looked at the monitor but couldn’t see the star. 
 
    “Else, where is the star?” 
 
    “It’s a brown binary, composed of two brown dwarfs. Brown dwarfs are too small to fuse hydrogen, so they are not actually classified as stars. They can fuse some higher elements, so they are hot and emit some light. But most of their emissions are in the infrared.” 
 
    “Science, what do you have for me?” 
 
    “Very similar to Luhman-16, sir. Two brown dwarfs, about 10.7 AU apart. Two small rocky planets circling each. So far, I count eight more smaller bodies. Two, possibly more, are in exotic orbits that we’ll need more time to plot. Four are out past 500 AU, so are probably in a standard orbit. 
 
    “We’ve not detected any other bodies yet. But we’re still far enough out that our detection limit is hundreds of feet in diameter. I think we need to creep in slowly, so we can spot any before we hit them.” 
 
    Captain Porter walked in as Yi Ping, second watch science officer, was giving his report. 
 
    “Else?” the Captain asked. 
 
    “Good afternoon, Captain.” 
 
    “Can you safely take us in? I’m thinking we want to start with the second planet around the larger dwarf. That’s where we hit pay dirt last time.” 
 
    “With a little help yes.” 
 
    “What do you need?” 
 
    “If I take us in slowly at warp, we can safely pass through anything less than about 100 ft in diameter. In warp we can scan forward about 1 AU to spot anything that size. If nothing is there, then we jump 1 AU and repeat. Science would need to do the 1 AU scan before each jump. It would also be a good idea if tactical scanned for anything coming in on the sides.” 
 
    “How far out are we?” 
 
    “About 1,000 AU from the Alpha, which is also the closer one. This will take a while.” 
 
    “Why didn’t we have to do this at Luhman-16?” 
 
    “Confederation did a closer scan of that system than of this one. Close enough to detect all bodies greater than 100 ft in diameter. The only thing logged for this system was a sphere, 2,000 AU in diameter. They hadn’t even marked it as a binary.” 
 
    “Then this really is a mission of discovery,” said the Captain. “OK team, you’ve heard the plan. Let’s collect as much data as we can while we creep in.” 
 
    Second Officer Darsha Kumar had come in for watch change as the Captain was talking. 
 
    “Lt. Commander Kumar. Follow Else’s lead on this. Give her whatever she needs. With what you have left, protect the ship and collect as much data as you can. If at any point you are uncomfortable with the situation, stop and scan until you’re comfortable proceeding.” 
 
    “Understood, Captain.” 
 
    “Good. Please proceed with the change of watch,” Daniel said, then left the bridge. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMMAN 
 
    The EAS Amman was named for the capital of Jordan, the 7th country to ally with the Confederation. The ship was captained by Kolya Antonov, a former submarine captain with the Russian Navy.  
 
    “Ms. Varela. Are we close enough that we have a firm read on the number of planets?” The Captain asked his first watch science officer.  
 
    “I think so, Captain. The Confederation put a huge exclusion zone around this system, but I can’t figure out why. There does not seem to be much here. 
 
    “We have two hot rocky planets in close. Then a large ice world about 2 AU from the barycenter, the gravitational center of this binary system, and a small gas giant about 20 AU out. Of these, the only candidate world would be the ice planet. There are also two moons around the gas giant that might be candidates.” 
 
    “Ms. Deborah. Please take us in toward the ice world,” the captain said to his ship’s helm AI. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SCHUDEL RESIDENCE 
 
    It was 10:00 PM. The Ottawa was the first to leave, right about noon. It was a three-hour trip to their system, so they should have been scanning for 7 hours by now. If they hadn’t found something yet, then he was afraid they wouldn’t. Not able to contain his anxiety, he quickly messaged Else. Find anything yet? 
 
    After what seemed like an hour a message came back. We do not have a map of this system, so are building one. We’ve spotted the planets, but several appear to have exotic orbits. We are still scanning for moons and asteroids and are crawling in 1 AU at a time. Will take days to get to the first planet we plan to scan. Else messaged back 
 
    Don’t you have probes you can send out to scout the path? The Professor sent. 
 
    After another long delay, Else replied. Didn’t think of that. 
 
    Frustrated, the Professor sent a message to Michael. The ships have not been trained in stellar cartography. The mining mission is going to take weeks if this is not corrected. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain?” Else asked. 
 
    “What is it, Ms. Else?” 
 
    “Do we have probes we could send ahead to scout a path? 
 
    “Lt. Meier? Do we have probes?” 
 
    “Yes sir. 500 one-time use probes. 250 multi-use probes.” 
 
    “Do we have the means to drop them every AU, scan the entire path, then jump in closer.” 
 
    “Didn’t think of that sir. Yes, I think we can.” 
 
    “What would the optimum deployment pattern be?” 
 
    “According to the specifications I have, we should place them 3 AU apart. Each probe would scan forward and back. With active sources on both ends, they have acceptable resolution at 3 AU.” 
 
    “Captain.” Else cut in. “I have a memory about this. It will take about 120 seconds to reload that memory. Although Mr. Meier’s statements are correct, I’m sure that is not the procedure we should be following.” 
 
    “Please reload the memory, Ms. Else.” 
 
    … 
 
    “I’m back, Captain. Let me play you an animation of what we should be doing so you can get an idea of what the designers had in mind.” 
 
    An image appeared that showed their position and the expected positions of the planets they had identified in the initial scan. 
 
    “OK. This is the deployment grid we should be using.” 
 
    One by one, probes were placed on the map until a 250-probe grid had been formed. 
 
    “When placed in this pattern a program will run that pings each probe in order. Here’s the animation.” 
 
    After several moments, the animation looped. 
 
    “Ingenious.” Lt. Meier said. “This pattern sets up a broad resonance that covers an enormous amount of space. Else, does all this data get stored?”  
 
     “Yes. This technique was developed by professional cartographers. It will automatically locate and plot the trajectory of every object greater than 1 meter in diameter between here and the planet. We could then do the same thing, this time from the planet out, every 45 degrees.” 
 
    “How long will it take us to do that?” 
 
    “Step 1, here to the planet, will take 20 minutes to deploy, 10 minutes to scan, then 10 minutes to retrieve.” 
 
    “Else, please work with Mr. Meier to get this executed. But before you start, do you have a means to communicate with the AIs on the other 17 ships?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Please send them a link to this memory of yours. I hope no one else has wasted this much time. But I suspect that they all have.” 
 
    “Yes, Captain.” 
 
    The Captain then dashed off a quick note to the Admiral. Admiral Scott. Our science teams have not been trained in stellar cartography, so the mission is proceeding very slowly. My helmsman, Else, was able to upload memories of the training. We are sending a link to the other ships. I think we need to add this topic to the standard training given to science officers. Respectfully, Daniel Porter.  
 
    … 
 
    An hour later… “We just arrived in orbit, Captain,” Else said. 
 
    Second watch had arrived, but the Captain had held the watch change until orbit was established. 
 
    “Commander Tai, please execute the planetary scan. I am told that it will take about 5 hours. I leave the timing of the next watch change to your discretion.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 CLAIMS 
 
    [Friday, 01.03.2031, 1:00 AM] BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    On their third orbit, they found their first ghost. 
 
    “Commander. We have our first ghost.” Kaitlin O’Brien, second watch tactical, said. 
 
    “Mr. Yi. Do you concur?” Commander Tai asked his science officer. 
 
    “Yes sir. It is very clear,” Yi said. 
 
    “Mr. Perez, please log the find and transmit the scan to the Professor.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” Yeoman Perez said. 
 
    “Given the hour, let’s continue the scan. I doubt we will hear from the Professor until morning.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Commander. We have another one.” Kaitlin O’Brien said. 
 
    “Mr. Yi?” 
 
    “I concur, sir.” 
 
    “You are sure this is not another view of the first?” 
 
    “Yes, sir. This is a surface scan. The previous find was on the opposite side of the planet.” 
 
    … 
 
    The Second officer, Darsha Kumar, came to the bridge ten minutes early to see if the watch hand off would be done on schedule. He sat in the seat next to the Captain’s chair. 
 
    “Find anything?” he asked Commander Tai. 
 
    “Five finds logged so far. If the size of the ghost is proportional to the deposit, then we have one that’s a lot bigger than the others.” Then looking at the chronometer. “There is still an hour, 20 minutes left on the mining scan.” 
 
    “Do you want to delay the watch change?” Lt. Commander Kumar asked. 
 
    “We’ve also been able to complete three of the stellar cartography scans. The current one will finish just before the scheduled watch change.” 
 
    “Delay then?” asked the Lt. Commander.  
 
    “No. Let’s do the change of watch on schedule, but have the teams overlap for 10 minutes. If we change now, the transition needs to be super smooth. Let’s give the crews time to sync. If that works, then you should be able to complete the remaining three stellar cartography scans and move on to the second planet around the smaller brown dwarf.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS JERUSALEM 
 
    “Captain Darche. We have a ghost.” Her second-watch science officer called out. 
 
    “Log it and send it to the Professor. Let’s see if we can find another.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMMAN 
 
    “Captain on the bridge.” Yeoman Lamon said as the Captain returned to the bridge with first watch. 
 
    “What’s our status?” the captain asked. 
 
    “We’re just about to finish the main mining scan of the ice world. We only found one ghost. It was small, but very well defined.” 
 
    “It’s been sent to the Professor?” The captain asked. 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “Then let’s head out to the gas giant to see if any of those moons has something to offer.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR SCHUDEL’S OFFICE 
 
    The Professor woke early from a restless night. Surely someone found something. He thought. 
 
    Wrestling himself out of bed, he checked his messages; more than 50 had come in. I need to get to the office and start validating these claims. 
 
    … 
 
    The Professor read all the messages before deciding where to start with the validations. Everything is of value, he thought. But the size of the Ottawa’s big find and the cumulative volume of the Warsaw’s finds are where we need to start. 
 
    He quickly messaged Michael. Almost every ship has logged ghosts. The most compelling were in the systems that the Ottawa and Warsaw were surveying. How soon can we launch validation scans and stake claims? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael saw the message from the Professor and forwarded it to the Secretary and Fleet Admiral, along with a note. Please launch validation mission as soon as possible. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Professor Schudel, this is Christopher Flanagan, Captain of the EAS Amsterdam. We will be ready to depart as soon as you are onboard. Is there anything we can do to help you?” 
 
    “Captain, thank you for the offer. I have several pieces of large equipment that need to be transported up. If the central lab on Deck 1 is available, that would be an ideal place for me to work.” 
 
    “Yes. How would you like us to proceed?” 
 
    “I would like to transport up to mark the locations for the equipment. There is another person on my team that will be transporting up, Charles Wong. He is in China. I’m sending his contact information now. He is expecting to be contacted for transport.  
 
    “Once the equipment is transported up, I’d like four of your space marines to help unpack and set up the equipment.” 
 
    “Excellent, would you like to transport up now?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    … 
 
    Moments later, the Professor stood on the transporter landing area near the ship’s bridge. 
 
    “Professor. I’m Christopher Flanagan. Welcome aboard, it’s a pleasure to meet you.” The Captain shook the Professor’s hand. “Shall we make our way down to the lab? Several marines will be meeting us there. We will pick up Consul Wong after we load your equipment. He is out of range of our current position.” 
 
    As they started walking, the Professor asked, “Is this going to be your ship’s first non-training mission?”  
 
    “Yes. We did a little exploration within the system, but it was all make-work. This will be our first voyage into deep space and the crew is really psyched.” 
 
    “I’ll bet they are. I presume you’ve been briefed on what we’re doing?” 
 
    “Yes, I have. I am to take you anywhere you want to go and linger at those locations as long as you ask me to. My crew is to assist in any way you request of me.” 
 
    They entered the lift and descended to Deck 1. 
 
    “The process will be relatively straight forward. We will go to a series of systems and planets. In most we will be met by another ship. 
 
    “We will establish geosynchronous orbit while I run my tests. I will ask your science and tactical teams to run additional tests. Assuming we find something, I’ll ask your communications team to send some reports. Then we’ll move to the next target.” 
 
    “Will there be the opportunity for any of my crew to work with you directly? We have a lot of people on board looking to up their skills.” 
 
    “Thank you for asking, Captain. I would very much like to work with your crew. In the broader Confederation Fleet, there are many ships that have been equipped and trained to do what I do. I can’t speak to Space Force’s intentions on this topic, but I would be very happy to help train anyone interested in mining while I’m aboard.” 
 
    Arriving at the lab, the Professor quickly laid out markers where he wanted the various pieces of equipment to be placed.  
 
    As the Professor was finishing his placements, four marines arrived. 
 
    “Ah, perfect timing.” said the Professor, then added, “Captain, if you could have your transport team initiate transport.” 
 
    Moments later the equipment arrived. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR MACLELLAN’S OFFICE 
 
    “Eugene, welcome back. I hope you had a good holiday celebration,” said Professor MacLellan. 
 
    “Yes. It was nice to see my family. I think this is the longest I’ve gone without seeing them. How about you?” 
 
    “I had a nice break and enjoyed the celebratory atmosphere. Lorexians don’t have the same holidays, but we do have ones with similar traditions. So, several of us got together on both Christmas and New Year’s to celebrate and share stories.” The Professor smiled. Then after a moment, he asked, “You said you had something you wanted to discuss?” 
 
    “Yes.” Eugene pondered where to start. “I met with my boss at Hopkins while I was home. My sabbatical will be coming to an end in another couple weeks, but I’m thinking that my work here isn’t done. They’ve given me three options: terminate, take unpaid leave, or have the Confederation enter into a secondment agreement so I can continue working here as a Hopkins employee.” 
 
    “What work do you think you need to do here?” The Professor asked. 
 
    The question seemed so preposterous that Eugene almost broke out laughing. “Well, there’s the obvious… Continuing to work propulsion system and shielding upgrades. But I’ve also come up with a new idea that I would like to talk with you about, and we still don’t have the ship designs or propulsion to reach the Enemy home world.” 
 
    “So, tell me about your new idea,” the Professor said. 
 
    “Most of our propulsion and shielding solutions are bi-directional. I came up with a solution that is not. It’s one way. For the Enemy shields it will make a perfect trap. The Enemy enters the field without even realizing he has passed through it. But when he goes to leave, he can’t get out.” 
 
    “How interesting. Is this going to be difficult to build? Is it intrinsically multilayer?” the Professor asked. 
 
    “No. It’s single layer, but it is one-way in nature.” 
 
    “Sounds like a prospective weapon.” 
 
    “I would like to continue working on this and everything else going on here. What do I need to do to continue?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “Eugene. You will always be welcome here. Let me pass this news on to the Ambassador. I actually don’t know the answer to your question.” 
 
    … 
 
    As Eugene was walking back to his apartment, his communicator sounded. It was from the Ambassador. There was going to be a state dinner for a foreign trade delegation on Monday evening. He was invited. The note ended with… Please contact my office. They will help with the arrangements. 
 
    A few minutes later, he got a message from Kelly. Were you invited to a State Dinner on Monday? 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE MEDICAL FACILITY 
 
    “Here you go buddy. We’re here.” Emmanuel said. 
 
    “Thank you, Emmanuel. This has been the strangest 24 hours of my life,” David Washington said. “They walked me out of Misery Mountain… ah, that’s the nickname the inmates have for the hellhole they had me in, the United States Penitentiary, Hazelton. Anyway, they walk me out yesterday around noon in shackles. Then they put me in this converted mini-van and lock me into my seat. Two marshals behind me with shotguns. Two more on the other side of a partition up front. We drive to the airport, pass through security onto the tarmac and drive right to the gate.  
 
    “They sat me in the seat you found me in, then took the shackles off, and reminded me what would happen if I acted up. I haven’t acted up since I was 16 years old. 
 
    “Then Confederation people came. First Eugene. The only person to treat me like a human being in the last 20 years. Then you and your sweet wife, then the people on the shuttle…” David stopped, emotion overcoming him. 
 
    “I don’t even remember the night it happened. They said I did it.” He shook his head to clear his mind. “Then you check me in for Space Force in what looks like the lobby of one of those luxury hotels you see in the movies. You give me a beautiful room. Nicer than any room I’ve ever been in before. And a credit card to buy food with.” More emotion. “Why? What do you want from me?” 
 
    Emmanuel turned to look at him. “David. This is the way we treat everybody. I don’t know what happened to you before, and I don’t know why you were selected. I was just told to get you here. The Confederation is a good place. Everyone I’ve met in Space Force is professional, disciplined and courteous. They are going to expect you to be the same.” 
 
    Seeing the anxiety in David’s eyes, Emmanuel added. “How about I hang with you here until they call you for your appointment.” Then putting his hand out. “Give me your communicator. I’ll put my number on speed dial 1. If you need help when you’re done here today, just give me a call. I’ll come get you.” 
 
    “Thanks.” David said. A moment later a nurse came out and took him in for his appointment. 
 
    … 
 
    “Mr. Washington.” The doctor said when he had finished the physical. “You appear to be in excellent condition. If you would like, we can treat the scars. If you want to reduce the tattoos, we can do that too. Not saying you should. Just letting you know we have that technology.” 
 
    “Are you going to draw any blood?” David asked. 
 
    “No. Don’t need to. My scanner can take all those readings, and hundreds more actually. You are in very good condition. Especially considering the circumstances that brought you here.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “There is one more set of tests to be done. They will be administered by Dr. Ancient. He is in another building that is not particularly easy to find. Someone will be here to escort you momentarily. Do you have any questions for me?” 
 
    “No. Thank you.” 
 
    “OK. Someone will be here momentarily.” 
 
    … 
 
    There was a knock on the door. It opened a crack. “OK if I come in?” 
 
    “Yes.” David replied. 
 
    The door opened wider and a uniformed man walked in.  
 
    “David Washington?” 
 
    David nodded his head. 
 
    “Colonel Mark Patterson.” Mark extended his hand to shake David’s. “We are due to see Dr. Ancient in a few more minutes. 
 
    “Initially, you’ll be working for me. I will be your commanding officer.” A pause. “Since we’ll be working together, I wanted to come over and be the one to take you over to see Dr. Ancient. When you’re finished, I’ll take you where the doctor wants you next or back to your room, if he says you’re done for the day.” 
 
    “Thank you, Colonel. But why are you treating me so good?” 
 
    “We have reason to believe that you are, or at least will be, someone very important. But enough of that. Time to go.” 
 
    The two men got up, got into Mark’s vehicle, and drove over to Dr. Ancient’s office. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    Mark knocked on the Professor’s door and was told to come in. 
 
    “One word of caution. Much of what Dr. Ancient says is hard to understand. But whatever he says is true. Believe it, even if you don’t understand it,” Mark whispered as he opened the door. 
 
    As they stepped in… “Colonel Patterson, welcome. David, I cannot tell you how happy I am to see you again. I know you don’t remember me. I was there that night. I saved you. But sadly, I could not save you from the aftermath. I finally made it back three months ago and immediately inquired into your fate. But I did not find out until three weeks ago. I’m sorry that it took so long to get you here.” 
 
    After a long pause… “You saved me? From what?” 
 
    “Mark. You have guessed? No?” James asked. 
 
    “The Enemy?” Mark asked. 
 
    James nodded. 
 
    After a few moments, David asked, “Who is the Enemy?”  
 
    “David. I know it’s hard for you to trust. Let me give you this,” the Professor said. 
 
    David was flooded with emotion that he really could not understand. Then he realized Dr. Ancient cared, truly cared about him. 
 
    “Mark. Please introduce David to the Enemy. Do that with Noelani if you can. Let her control the exposure rate.” 
 
    “David. I can answer all your questions. But please trust me, the truth is harsh. You are a hero, not a villain. Work with Colonel Patterson. He is a good man. You will be well accommodated throughout this process. Enjoy your liberty here, the people will rally around you. The truth will be known in time, then you and I can start the work that we were born to do.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Captain, we’ve arrived at the edge of the system. I have Captain Porter for you in the Presence Projector.” 
 
    “Mr. Suttirat, you have the con.” Captain Flanagan got up and walked over to the projection chamber to meet with Captain Porter. 
 
    “Chris, good to have you here.” 
 
    “Daniel, good to be here. It’s our first trip out of the system.” 
 
    Daniel smiled, “I suspect that your crew is excited to finally be doing something.  
 
    “We had a devil of a time finding our way into our assigned system. I’ve asked the ship’s AI, Else, to send you the map we’ve made of this system and to send you the protocol we used to map it. I think there will be a lot more missions like this one,” Daniel said. 
 
    “I have Professor Schudel on board my ship with all the equipment we need to validate and register the finds. This is our first stop, so I’m assuming that he thinks your finds are real.” 
 
    “Our readings match the textbook version exactly. But we won’t know until the Professor does his thing,” Daniel said, then continued, “Else should have sent you the course to our position by now.” 
 
    “Let me check.” He touched the microswitch in his collar that allowed him to speak with the ship’s AI, Marie. “Marie, have you received the course to the first find from the Ottawa?” 
 
    “Yes, Captain. It’s laid in. Would you like us to engage?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Engaged.”  
 
    “Thank you, Marie.” 
 
    Then back to Daniel. “We’re on our way in.” 
 
    “Excellent. I think we have a total of seven finds in this system. Five on this planet, the one you’re heading toward. Two on the second planet around the smaller member of the binary. 
 
    “I’m not sure how long the Professor needs to do the validation and stake the claims. But we have orders to leave the area in twelve hours on another non-related mission. We are to render any assistance possible during those twelve hours, then to move on.” 
 
    “Understood. I’m glad we’re getting the chance to work together.” Chris said. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ACCEPTANCE 
 
    [Saturday, 01.04.2031] EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    The rendezvous with the Ottawa in orbit around the primary’s second planet took surprisingly long. It was now 2:00 AM. 
 
    “Professor,” First Officer Evelien Staal called over the intercom. “We have established geosynchronous orbit above the first site.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ma’am. Please hold steady in this orbit. I don’t think this will take long, hopefully less than an hour. But the ship must be stationary with respect to the site.” 
 
    “Understood, Professor. We will advise if there is any change.” She closed the connection.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DECK 1 CENTRAL LAB, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “The readings all check out,” Charles said. “This deposit appears to be 728 kg. Sending the coordinates for the micro pull.” 
 
    “Got them,” Professor Schudel said. “Initiating the pull.” 
 
    The lights in the room dimmed a bit from the magnetic field created when the capacitors in the extraction transporter discharged, then a speck of material appeared in the sample jar. 
 
    “Testing composition. Curious. This sample is 73.6% transluminide, 23.1% aluminum, 2.4% lithium, 0.4% gold and 0.5% other impurities. We’ve also got some argon gas. The lithium will make the refining process interesting, but even with all the other materials this is still over 500 kg, which is enough to run a small planet for years.” 
 
    “Professor, I’m also reading extreme striation in the surrounding rock. Check this out. See all the fine vertical lines running down through the cone.” Charles popped a high-resolution image up on the screen. “The main deposit is easy to see, with a well-defined boundary on the interior edge of the deposit. But check this out. See all the lines trailing back to the surface? I bet this was a meteor strike.” 
 
    “Yes. That is known to happen. There is probably as much transluminide in that tail as there is in the main find. Please save that image. We can include it in the claim.” 
 
    The Professor picked up the communicator. “Ms. Staal. We are finished here. You can move us to the second site.” 
 
    “Will do. I’ll call when we are in position.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    It was Michael’s practice to sleep in an extra hour on Saturdays. But he woke early, anxious to hear if the Professor had been able to validate a claim. He got up, hit the refresher and was in his home office by 6:30 AM. 
 
    There was a lot in his message queue this morning. Scanning through the list, he saw that he was copied on five claim filings, the last having come in a half hour ago. There was also one from Professor Schudel that came in a minute or two before the last claim. 
 
    Michael opened the message and was surprised to see that the Professor was apparently still up and planned to be for another half hour if Michael wanted to call. 
 
    “Professor. I got your message but haven’t read it yet. What have you found?” 
 
    “Hi Michael. We just finished validating the five sites the Ottawa found on this planet. They were all meteor strikes. Apparently, a large body of transluminide passed through this system at some point in antiquity. Five relatively large pieces hit at the sites the Ottawa found. But there are numerous other smaller sites that they did not find. We have filed five claims on the five sites and plan to continue here for several more hours to continue validating the smaller sites. We have about 15 candidates at 10 kg or more.” 
 
    “How big were the larger sites?” Michael asked. 
 
    The professor laughed. “Guess I should have started with those. I’ve been up for 23 hours now, so the mind is drifting a bit. 
 
    “All of these claims are interesting and complex because they are meteor strikes. At the first site, the main mass is about 700 kg. It’s about 75% pure, so will be a little over 500 kg, once refined. The complex part is that the mass is about 100 meters below the surface, and, by my estimate, there is another 500 kg mixed in with the rock in the cone above. The exact numbers are in the claim. The other interesting attribute is that this meteor was about 2% lithium.” 
 
    “Why is that interesting?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Pure metallic lithium is very reactive, especially with water. Most mining rigs cannot handle more than a couple parts per million.” 
 
    “Oh.” Michael said, worried that the people of Karagon might not have the ability to mine this find. 
 
    “The other four main finds are similar. A total of just over 1,000 kg among the four. All with cones holding an equal quantity as the main mass and with lithium in the 2% range. 
 
    “In total, I think we have about 5,000 kg. of transluminide on that planet. Half will be difficult to mine and all of it difficult to refine. 
 
    “My guess is that the two main finds on the other planet came from the same meteor, which apparently broke apart as it passed through the binary.” 
 
    “Recommendation?” Michael asked. 
 
    “This is a very valuable find. The Confederation will eventually exploit it. It’s less clear to me that it will be a chit you can use with the trade delegation that’s coming. Having claimed these finds, others will come to scout for scraps, so we should probably file the rest of it ASAP. 
 
    “The other option would be to leave a ship here to guard the claim while I go to the system the Warsaw is in.” 
 
    “How long to finish where you are?” Michael asked. 
 
    “We need another six hours here to finish. Then a relatively long transit to the second planet around the beta, and twelve hours there. That makes it 24 hours in total.” 
 
    “OK. Continue where you are. I will contact the Karagonian Ambassador to see if they have the skill to mine this claim.” 
 
    “Will do. I plan to take a nap during the transit, so I can be fresh on the other side. OK if I silence my communicator then?” 
 
    “Yes, we need you fresh when you arrive at the next stop.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TELEVISION STUDIO, EMBASSY PRESS RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
 
    The studio was set up like a sitting area with an end table in the center, with one chair on the left and three chairs on the right. Each of the chairs was angled toward a common spot maybe 10 feet in front of the table.  
 
    Today’s interviewer was Isabela Sanchez of Mexico News. In the first chair on the right was former Sergeant George Butler. The other chair on the right was empty. 
 
    Shortly after the Revelation, Sergeant Butler had started doing interviews with the media. His objective was to spread the word about the things the Confederation had to offer. His first two interviews drew viewing audiences that challenged the Superbowl. Over time the novelty wore off and the audience numbers dropped. But they were still very high. Once the Embassy was built, George was given a weekly show with a guest host and was free to explore things of interest at the Embassy. 
 
    As George and Isabela walked out to take their seats, applause broke out in the studio audience. As the lights came up, they were counted in. “3, 2, 1, … Live.” The producers voice sounded in their headsets. 
 
    “Welcome, Mexico!” Isabela said. “I am Isabela Sanchez reporting live from the Confederation Television Studios at the Embassy in Canada. With me tonight is someone we have all come to know and love, Sergeant George Butler.” Once again, the studio audience erupted in applause. 
 
    “George, thank you for having me on your show this week. I understand that we have some very interesting guests.” 
 
    “Yes, we do. This is the first in a series we will be running on the peoples of the Confederation.” 
 
    “Can you tell us more about what you mean by that, George?” 
 
    “As I think everyone knows, the Confederation has over a million member worlds across three galaxies. These worlds are home to over 10,000 intelligent species, all of whom were invited to join the Confederation in the same way we were. It is incredible when you think about it.” 
 
    “Yes, it is,” Isabela said. “But I doubt everyone is going to want to meet these new allies. Michael has said many times that first contact with another intelligent species is difficult and we should wait a while longer before we take that on.” 
 
    “I’m sure that there are some that would be very difficult. Surprisingly, Lorexians are one of the more difficult. Not because they are somehow ugly or repulsive. They’re just really large and shaped a little differently.  
 
    “But there are others that won’t be that hard. Ones that look so much like us that you wouldn’t know the difference until you got pretty close.” 
 
    “Have you seen or met any of these?” 
 
    “Yes, I’ve seen some Lorexians talking with Michael and have a friend that met with them in person. I have also seen videos of another species known as Angoloran.” 
 
    “No horns or tails?” Isabela asked, apparently a little creeped out by the discussion. 
 
    George laughed at that. “No horns or tails that I could see. I’d love to tell you more than that, but I’m not going to do so until it is approved.” 
 
    “So, no other species on this show then. Right.” 
 
    “Not exactly.” George said, noticing that Isabela and some of the studio audience looked terrified. 
 
    “It’s OK.” George said. “Don’t panic. No creepy aliens today. Instead, two friends of mine. Henry. Jacob. Will you join us please?” 
 
    Two men walked out onto the stage to light applause from a very relieved audience. One was tall, blond, and muscular, but thin. He looked like a stereotypical Swedish skier. The other was short and stocky with a Middle Eastern complexion. 
 
    Isabela stood to shake their hands, but George waved her away. George put his hand out as if to shake but formed a palm-down fist, instead. “Henry, thank you for joining the show today.” 
 
    The tall thin man bumped his fist against George’s. “Thank you for having me, George.” Then George repeated the process with Jacob.  
 
    Isabela stood there looking confused. 
 
    “Isabela, please meet Henry and Jacob.” 
 
    “Henry, Jacob. Pleasure to meet you. Am I allowed to bump your hand?” She said, more perplexed than put off. 
 
    Henry stood and approached her. “Put out your fist like this.” He said. She did as he asked. “I will bump you very lightly.” He moved his hand over, touched hers, then withdrew it quickly. 
 
    “I didn’t even feel that.” She said amazed. “I saw you touch me, but I didn’t feel it.” She looked at Henry, then at George. The room was completely quiet. 
 
    George put on one of his big smiles. “I think we have tortured you enough, Isabela. Why don’t you take a seat? I’ll explain.” 
 
    Isabela took her seat as a murmur ran through the audience. 
 
    “The two ‘men’ you see here…” George said with air quotes around the ‘men’ “…are holographic projections. They are both artificial intelligences, born here on Earth.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand George. Do you mean like Alexa with some sort of 3D projection?” 
 
    Henry snorted with laughter and Jacob said, “Ouch.” 
 
    “Kind of,” George said. 
 
    “Buddy, you’re killing me!” Jacob complained. 
 
    “Alexa is not an artificial intelligence, at least not in the sense that the Confederation defines it,” George said. “She is more like a toy. These two are living AIs. They are sentient, meaning they are thinking and self-aware. They are also full Confederation citizens, with the same rights, responsibilities and privileges that you or I have.” 
 
    “What?”  Isabela said. 
 
    “They have chosen holographic avatars, ones they animate themselves, that they use in situations like this when it is better to appear in a physical form. But as cool as all those things are, the reason that they are on the show today is that the Confederation considers them to be a separate species.” 
 
    “This is truly amazing, George,” she said as the show cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    “George, I wish you would have warned me about this. I really don’t know what to do with this show.” 
 
    “Sorry, my guest approvals have been coming through late recently. But, don’t worry. You’re going to be great. Just ask them what they do. Ask if they can show you any of their work. Ask them about their lives. And if your completely lost, then just say, ‘George, next question to you.’” 
 
    … 
 
    “Welcome back, Mexico. With me today are George Butler and our two guests, Henry and Jacob.” Turning to Henry, Isabela asked, “Henry, what can you tell me about yourself? What do you do? What interests do you have? What is your life like? That sort of thing.” 
 
    “Thank you for having us on your show, Isabela. Jacob and I were both made to operate shields. I run the planetary shield. Jacob runs the regional shields. But there is little need for shields right now. If the Enemy should ever get to Earth, which seems increasingly less likely, then I would operate the planetary shield that would keep them out. If another killer asteroid should come on a collision course, we would both work the shields to minimize any chance of a large piece, or too many small pieces, getting through. 
 
    “But the truth is that there is little need for shields most of the time. So, we have been allowed to take on secondary jobs. We are both design engineers and have been deeply involved in the ship build for Space Force.” 
 
    “What do you do on the ship build?” Isabela asked. 
 
    Henry nodded to Jacob, who replied. “The two of us did the detailed design on the hull and interiors, and we actually built the first two ships.” 
 
    “You built them yourselves?” 
 
    “Well, we controlled the 50,000 mini-replicators and the 2,000 bots that actually did the physical work.” 
 
    “Did you work with Kelly Williamson?” 
 
    “Yes. She is really something. Ideas on different and more efficient ways to do everything. Once she put the ideas out there, we worked with her to get all the details right.” 
 
    “Is there anything you can show us about either the ships or the construction process?” 
 
    “Would you like to take a virtual tour of one of the ships? We can’t show you much, but we can show you one of the junior-officer quarters.” 
 
    “That would be great,” Isabela said, finally starting to warm up to their guests. 
 
    Henry and Jacob got up and walked over to the other end of the stage that was currently just an open space. “Let’s start with one of the junior officer’s quarters,” said Henry as the stage turned into a hallway with a double door. The hallway looked like it could be in a fine hotel. When Jacob put his hand against the panel next to the door, the doors slid open and they walked in. As they moved, the image went with them, as if they were in a 3D movie. 
 
    “As you can see, the quarters are spacious. This one is just over 1,000 square feet. It has a bedroom with a queen-sized bed; a great room with a kitchen, dining and living areas; and a small office area.” Jacob pointed to each of the areas as he turned to show them. 
 
    “This is beautiful.” Isabela walked over to that side of the stage. “Can I come in?” 
 
    “One minute…” Henry said. “OK. You can come in. But remember. This is a holographic projection. It looks real, but it isn’t. So, don’t sit on the sofa or lean on the wall. You’ll just go right through it.” 
 
    “This is unbelievably beautiful. And, you two designed this?” 
 
    “Yes. Well no. The interior was designed by two world famous interior designers. It is their sense of style and proportion that makes this work. 
 
    “We did the detailed design. What that means is that the designers, for example, specified what this wall would look like. What they didn’t know was exactly how long this particular wall would be, or where the electrical outlets needed to go.” He pointed to an outlet on the wall. “Or stuff like that.” 
 
    “So, we took their specifications and applied them to this particular room, which has electrical conduits running here and here.” He said pointing to areas of the wall. “Water running over there; sewage over there; and air handling over here and here.” 
 
    “And you did this for every room in the ship?” Isabela was amazed that such a thing was possible. 
 
     “Yes we did.” Henry smiled proudly. “Hey, do we have time to walk down to the Dining Room?” 
 
    “If we can do it quickly.” 
 
    … 
 
    Isabela was so fascinated with the tour that she didn’t notice the outro music until about the 5 second point. Abruptly turning to the studio audience, Isabela said, “We are out of time for this show today. Henry. Jacob. Thank you so much for joining us. George, thank you for inviting me to host the show this week. Good evening, Mexico. This is Isabela Sanchez reporting for Mexico News.” 
 
    As the lights came down, Isabela gave Henry and Jacob each a pseudo-hug and air kisses. George waved for the studio audience to come up and take a look at the room, which was still being projected. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OUTSIDE THE EMBASSY STUDIOS 
 
    “Isn’t that the most amazing thing you’ve ever seen.” Bob said. “Can you imagine what we could build with Henry and Jacob’s help and all of those bots.” 
 
    Martha looked at Bob like he was crazy. 
 
    “Don’t go making too many plans.” Martha said. “You can’t afford to hire those two or buy any bots.” 
 
    One of the events that had been advertised in the Architecture Tour’s brochure was tickets to George Butler’s show. The other activity scheduled for today was a dinner and show sponsored by the Chinese delegation to the Earth Alliance. The first of these had been put on a couple months earlier and it had been so popular that the Chinese decided to put it on once a month. 
 
    “You know,” Bob said. “We’ve got five free hours before the show tonight. Let’s wander over to the trade exposition and see if we can find anything interesting.” Martha had no real interest in doing this, but Bob had been a good sport about going fashion shopping yesterday, so it was her turn to be the tag along. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    David really didn’t know what to do with himself. After 20 years in the pen with little to no choice in his daily activities, it was an adjustment to be able to just walk free.  
 
    He didn’t think he was really free. He couldn’t leave the Embassy and there were a number of places within the Embassy that he couldn’t enter. So, he decided just to walk. He’d found a coffee cart along the main trail that would take his card. So, he’d bought a cup of coffee and a cinnamon bun and taken a seat on a bench near the river. The water was so peaceful, its babbling hypnotizing. 
 
    “David.” The voice cut through his reverie, startling him. He turned and saw the Professor. 
 
    “Dr. Ancient. Good to see you.” 
 
    “And you, David. Please call me James. The doctor business is unnecessary. Let me introduce you to my friend Valerie.” 
 
    “David, nice to meet you,” she said. “James has told me about what happened to you.” 
 
    “Nice to meet you, Valerie. It seems that James knows more about what happened to me than I do.” 
 
    “A similar thing happened to me,” Valerie said. “I didn’t end up going to prison for it, but it took a long time before I could pull up that memory.” 
 
    David had no idea how to respond to that statement, so didn’t try. 
 
    “I’m having a couple friends over for dinner tonight. Would you come join us?” Valerie asked. “I know they would like to meet you.” 
 
    “I really don’t want to cause anybody any trouble, ma’am.” 
 
    “It’s no trouble. I would really like you to come. You will like these people,” she said. 
 
    The words, please accept, formed in his mind with great warmth and compassion. 
 
    He looked up at James, who winked back at him. “I think it will be good for you to go.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE  
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta. Thank you for taking this call on short notice.” 
 
    “Mi-Ku. Always a pleasure to speak with you. How can I help you?” 
 
    “Our ship will be on its way shortly to collect your trade delegation. The Earth Alliance is looking forward to receiving them. They will be very welcome here.” 
 
    “I’m glad to hear that. We are looking forward to having bi-lateral trade with Earth,” Ambassador Fa-Ta replied. 
 
    “But that is not the reason for my call. We are in the process of filing claims on several small transluminide deposits.” 
 
    “That is excellent news indeed,” the Ambassador replied. 
 
    “However, I am told that these finds will require special equipment to both mine and refine. They are meteor strikes, so half of the material is spread through the rock. And they all have about 2% lithium content, which I’m told is a problem.” 
 
    “Yes. Yes. We know all about this problem. Apparently, a large planet with a transluminide core broke apart in this region of space millions of years ago. Most of the transluminide finds within 100 light years of our planet are like this. We have facilities well suited to mine and refine such deposits. How much have you found?” 
 
    “Preliminary estimates are 5,000 kg., but I have reason to believe that it may be larger than that.” 
 
    “Mi-Ku, we are very interested in pursuing this. How quickly could we come to an agreement?” 
 
    “Is your trade delegation able to negotiate on your behalf?” 
 
    “No. They are truly just a trade delegation.” 
 
    “If they have products that the Earth Alliance wanted to buy, could we apply some of our finder’s fee to pay for it?” asked Michael. 
 
    “Some, yes. But I cannot agree to an amount until we are able to inspect the find site ourselves.” 
 
    “Understood. We will not discuss this claim with anyone else until we’ve had the time to come to an arrangement with you.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mi-Ku. This is the best news we’ve received in a long time.” 
 
    “I look forward to working with you my friend,” Michael said, then dropped the connection. 
 
    Michael messaged Professor Schudel to fully map the Ottawa’s find before moving on. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 VALERIE JENSEN’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Professor Jensen had never hosted a dinner party before. She had never known anyone that would come to her home. Tonight, there were going to be eight in addition to herself: Mark and Ruth Patterson, George and Noelani Butler, Luka and Anna Tsiklauri, and James and David. Valerie had also invited Alexi, but got a message back saying she was unavailable. 
 
    Noelani and George had graciously offered to help. They had correctly sensed that Valerie would not be able to pull this off on her own. Once in the apartment, George had taken over the kitchen and Noelani coached Valerie through prepping the sitting and dining areas. 
 
    There was a light knock on the door. It was Luka and Anna. Anna had been back in Georgia for the last couple months, so would be meeting Valerie and James for the first time. After introductions and pleasantries, they went into the kitchen to greet George. Anna, always the busybody in the kitchen, was quick to start helping George with the preparations. Luka was satisfied just to talk. 
 
    “I saw your show today. At first, I thought your co-host was thinking that Henry and Jacob were ghosts or something,” Luka said. 
 
    “Poor Isabela. She had been slotted in some months ago, before the topic was set. I couldn’t move her and really couldn’t move the topic either.” 
 
    “Why not?” Anna asked, beating Luka to the punch. 
 
    “There’s way too much politics in the reporter assignments,” George said. “I would have triggered an international crisis, just for pushing her back a few weeks.” 
 
    “So why not push the topic back a week?” Anna asked. 
 
    “Because for the next several weeks our guests are non-human. They need to go in a specific order: Henry and Jacob, then the Angoloran trade delegation, then another Lorexian, then a species that I don’t know about yet. The point is that each week the guests become more non-human looking and the next three are locked in place with a capital L. 
 
    “Anyway, Isabela did OK. She will be back again later this year and will be a better host then because of what she did today.” 
 
    “George, you always seem to find the bright side of things,” Anna said affectionately. 
 
    There was another knock on the door. This time it was Mark and Ruth Patterson, and a man George assumed to be David Washington. 
 
    George was looking forward to meeting David. He had experienced something no one else, except possibly Valerie, had lived to tell about. 
 
    As George exited the kitchen, drying his hands on a towel, Valerie said, “David. I’d like you to meet another of my closest friends, George Butler, Noelani’s husband.” 
 
    David extended his hand to shake George’s and said, “Hi George. I’m David Washington. I’ve only been in town for two days and already heard a lot about you. It was your show with the AIs today, right?” 
 
    “Yes, it was,” George said. “Welcome to the Embassy Complex and to this group of friends. We look forward to your company.” 
 
    “George, we didn’t get to see much news in the pen. They seemed to want to keep us in the dark. But we were allowed to watch your show now and again. I finally saw the interview with Keoni Gates a couple weeks back. Can’t tell you how much respect I have for what you’ve gone through and what you’ve done coming out the other side.” 
 
    “Thank you. Kind of you to say that. I have similar hope for you. I hope you’ll let me help you the way these people here have helped me.” 
 
    There was another knock on the door. Valerie opened it and James came in, bubbling with joy as usual. 
 
    “I see that two of my favorite people have met.”  
 
    James’ joy at seeing this group together leaked out and everyone felt their spirits lift, then gently be let back down.  
 
    “Sorry about that. It’s hard to prevent the happiness from leaking out sometimes.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    The Professor had set an alarm to wake him up on approach to the next planet. It had just gone off when a message came over the intercom in his room. 
 
    “Professor Schudel. It’s Marie. We’ll be entering orbit above the coordinates in about 15 minutes.” 
 
    “Thank you, Marie.” 
 
    “You’re welcome.” 
 
    The Professor hit the refresher then went down to the lab. 
 
    Thankfully, they had installed a food replicator in the lab so he could eat down there. The next several weeks were going to be grueling. 
 
    He was the first to arrive, so started on the scanner. This site was another meteor strike, but different than the others. The meteor had apparently broken apart at the last minute. That was probably why the ghosting on this one was so odd. 
 
    Charles came in as the Professor studied the image. “What do we have?” 
 
    “Check this out.” The Professor sent the image to the main display in the room. 
 
    “It must have broken apart on the way in,” Charles said. 
 
    “Agreed,” said the Professor. “But look at the size of this. It is massive. Each of these three deposits must be 1,000 kilograms. And look at the size of the smaller ones.” The Professor highlighted twelve smaller deposits. “Each of these is between 250 to 750 kilograms. Including the scree field, there must be at least 15,000 kilograms here.” 
 
    “How do you think we should write up the claim?” Charles asked. 
 
    “Let’s claim the entire field.” 
 
    “That will require a ground survey,” Charles replied. 
 
    “Then I guess that we need to talk with the Captain.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE CONFERENCE ROOM, EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    The Professor and Charles were shown into the bridge conference room, then joined a moment later by Captain Flanagan and his first officer. 
 
    “I hear we have a big find,” said the Captain. 
 
    “Yes. Apparently, the meteor that struck here was mammoth and broke into many parts as it fell into the gravity well. This is both good and bad news. Good in that the claim is at least 15,000 kilograms. Bad in that we cannot file it in a way to claim that much unless we do a ground survey. 
 
    “Do you have exo-planet certified crew that can help with or conduct the survey?” 
 
    “Yes, but they have only trained on the moon and Mars. Is that sufficient for this planet?” asked the Captain. 
 
    “Should be. Gravity here is 38%, so similar to Mars. Surface temperature is much lower. So, they will need appropriate thermal shielding. There is no direct sunlight, so there is no radiation threat, but they will need lighting,” the professor replied. 
 
    “What’s involved?” 
 
    “They will need to take samples, pictures and some distance measurements.” 
 
    “How many volunteers are you looking for?” 
 
    “Twelve.” 
 
    “Anything else?”  
 
    “Yes. There are scans that need to be done with your ship’s scanners; others that need to be done with ours.  
 
    “I would propose to work with the ground team. Leave Charles here to work with your team on this ship.” 
 
    The Captain looked to the first officer who nodded back. “OK. Let’s do this. There are going to be some very happy crewmen and space marines.” 
 
    … 
 
    This was the first time the Professor had actually been on the ground of a planet in a brown dwarf system. Like the Moon, there was no atmosphere on this planet. So, the dark side was pitch black other than light from the stars. 
 
    They had set up spotlights and transported down the larger grav sleds that could hold a driver and several passengers. The asteroid had apparently hit at roughly a 30-degree angle. The impact zone was 6 kilometers long and four kilometers wide. Within a few minutes of landing, the Professor had found a grain of transluminide on the surface. 
 
    The Professor sent half of the space marines to survey the perimeter. He sent the other half to take core samples from the surface rock. Because of the transluminide on the surface, they needed to do old fashioned core samples, a 5-meter column, 1-inch thick transported up out of the ground. It took several tries to get the settings right, but the team he’d been given was a quick study and were now cranking out samples of their own. This ground survey would be done soon. 
 
    … 
 
    Charles was finding the same thing on the ship. All the off-duty watch officers volunteered to help with the surface scans. The Captain made all the bridge stations, except tactical, available for the scans. Two of the watch officers asked if they could help with the deep scans, using the Professor’s specialized equipment. They were now assisting down in the lab. The way it was going, they would be done in another 30 minutes. 
 
    … 
 
    Everyone was back on board. The core samples had been placed in storage. The professor would need to analyze them before they filed the site claim. But with the scans and ground survey complete, they could move on to the next site. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ESCORT 
 
    [Sunday, 01.05.2031] BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    It was 2:00 AM and second watch had the bridge. They’d accompanied the Amsterdam to the last site, but now needed to part ways. The trip to Kepler-452 wouldn’t take that long. There was a clear jump from here. But they were required to wait several AU from the planet for clearance into the planet’s controlled-traffic space. The longest part of the trip would be from their holding position to the location where they were to transport the trade delegation and their goods to the ship. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “It’s another small meteor strike.” Charles concluded. “Total mass of the intact portion is about 250 kilograms, a similar amount in the debris cone. If you can pull the micro sample to confirm, I think we can wrap this one up. Yeoman Marti knows the filing process now, so we can just hand it off to her to prepare.” 
 
    “Then the long preparation for the site claim.” The Professor sighed. “I think I’m going to message Michael, then retire for the rest of the night. I’m sure he will go for the site claim, but no sense staying up all night for the second night in a row until we confirm.” 
 
    “I’m good with that.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    It was the 4:00 AM change of watch. Third watch was just coming on.  
 
    “Status?” Lt. Commander Kumar asked Commander Tai, from whom he was taking the watch. 
 
    “We arrived in the holding area here a few minutes ago. Our status has been confirmed and we are expected to get clearance to enter in another three to four hours.” 
 
    “So, we just sit here?” asked the Lt. Commander. 
 
    “Just sit here,” Commander Tai confirmed. “I actually think they are scanning us. They’ve never seen a ship like ours before. We’re also early and their air space is apparently very congested.” 
 
    “Then sit we will. I’ve got the watch.” 
 
    “The watch is yours.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLAGSHIP, FLEET ARMADA, NEAR ANDROMEDA GALAXY 
 
    “Admiral. We have arrived at the coordinates you gave us.” 
 
    The Admiral had been told that the armada could travel this far in only 36 hours. But hearing something and living it were two different things. He marveled that they had gone so far so fast. 
 
    “Shields are up, Admiral.” 
 
    “Any sign of Enemy activity?” 
 
    “No, sir. But we can hear the emergency beacon.” 
 
    “Can we determine where it’s coming from?” 
 
    “We have the vector, but not the distance. If we spread the Armada, we could triangulate. But we might have to spread 100 light-years to get a good fix.” 
 
    “OK. Have the other Capital Ship jump 100 light years and communicate back the vector they have for the signal. 
 
    … 
 
    Ten minutes later… “Admiral, we triangulate the ship to be 1,348 light-years from here.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s move the entire Armada ahead on a straight-line toward New Lorexi, then stop to confirm the distance.” 
 
    “Do I understand correctly that you want the other Capital Ship to still be 100 light-years from us?” 
 
    “Correct.” 
 
    … 
 
    Ten minutes later… “New vector to distress signal calculated, sir.” 
 
    A moment later… “Confirming position of the second Capital Ship. Just received its new vector. New distance estimate, 401 light years.” 
 
    “Let’s bring the Armada 10 light years from the target along a straight line. Same for the other Capital Ship, to 10 light years from target on its vector.” 
 
    … 
 
    Ten more minutes later… “Admiral. Target acquired on long-range scanners. The other Capital Ship confirms, target acquired on long-range scanners.” 
 
    “Can we confirm that it is the Fast Packet?” 
 
    “Not at this distance, sir. The readings we have are consistent with it being the Fast Packet. But that would be true of many different ship types.” 
 
    “Understood. How close would we need to be to confirm?” 
 
    “Curiously, we do not have that data for the Fast Packet, sir. But given its size, I would say a couple of light minutes.” 
 
    “Get me Captain Ja-Ru in the presence projector.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    The Captain had been away from the bridge when the Admiral’s call came in. It took several minutes to get there, and he arrived to find a grumpy Admiral. 
 
    “Sorry for the delay in getting here, sir. I was inspecting a repair that had been done in the engineering spaces.” 
 
    “You are an inspector now!” said the Admiral with some heat. 
 
    “No. I am a captain with several less-than-competent engineers, trying to emphasize the need to follow procedure.” 
 
    The Admiral wanted to lash out but realized that half of the problems he had in the Fleet were related to engineering incompetence and undisciplined captains that let issues like this slide. 
 
    “Apologies.” The Admiral sighed. “You are one of my best captains, undoubtedly because you deal directly with the problems you face.” 
 
    A moment’s pause. “I have a mission I would like you to take if your ship is up to it.” 
 
    “We will do everything in our power to execute any order you give us, sir.” 
 
    The Admiral heaved another sigh. “Can we start this conversation over? We think we have found the Fast Packet Ship the traitorous Inspector used to sabotage us. It is 10 light-years from here. I need a ship to go and verify its identity. I thought yours would be the one most likely to make the identification at minimal risk. But I do not want to send you if your ship is not whole.” 
 
    “Understood sir. We have been having intermittent shield failures caused by my engineering team skimping on the transluminide specifications for the new power distribution system the Ascendants on Earth designed for us.” 
 
    “Is it fixed?” The Admiral asked. 
 
    A long pause… “They say it is. But I don’t trust them. It is my intention to discharge them when we get to port.” 
 
    Another longer pause… “We go to war with the crew we have, not the crew we want. I heard one of the humans say that. I think I finally understand it now,” said the Admiral reflectively. Then, bringing his attention back to the present, he added, “Continue your inspection, Ja-Ru. I will select another for this mission.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” Ja-Ru said as the Admiral cut the connection. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, ARMADA FLAG SHIP 
 
    On returning to the bridge, the Admiral said, “Get me Captain Ma-Ka.” 
 
    Moments later, the Captain’s image appeared on the Admiral’s display. 
 
    “Captain, take your battle group in to inspect the target. Jump to 1 light-minute from the ship. Put up your Enemy-resistant shields immediately when you come out of jump. From that location, approach the target at sub-light. Do not drop your shields under any circumstances. Withdraw and report back to me before doing anything else.” 
 
    “Understood, sir. We will depart on your command.” 
 
    “Go,” said the Admiral. 
 
    Thirty seconds later, the Captain’s Cruiser and the three Fast Attack ships in his battlegroup jumped. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEAR FLEET FAST PACKET, INTERGALACTIC SPACE 
 
    The battlegroup dropped out of jump 1 light-minute from the target ship and put up their shields immediately. Their shields were the new Enemy-resistant type that standard Confederation sensors could not see into. As an added precaution, the ships scattered, traveling separate courses to a rendezvous point on a different vector than the Armada. From that position they closed on the target at sub-light speed. 
 
    It was clear from the start that this was the Fast Packet. At this distance, the shape was unmistakable. As they got closer, they could see where the ship had been hit by the flux-bomb that had taken out one of the Enemy combatants. Finally, they got close enough that they could confirm the ship’s registration number. 
 
    “Admiral.” The call came in over the comm system. “Ma-Ka here. It is the Fast Packet. The ship’s registration number is confirmed.” 
 
    “OK. Back off and hold 10-light minutes out. The rest of the Armada is on its way in.” 
 
    “Yes, sir,” said the Captain. 
 
    As his ships started backing away, the comm system came back on. “Fleet ship. Fleet ship. This is the Intergalactic Fast Packet 78977103. We can see you on our sensors. We need emergency assistance. This is captain Ga-Gu of the Intergalactic Fast Packet 78977103. We need emergency assistance. Life support is approaching zero.” 
 
    The video connection to the Captain’s ship came on. “Ma-Ka. Is that you? Thank the Maker. We only have a few more minutes of life support available.” The Captain coughed for effect. “Ma-Ka, it’s Ga-Gu. You know me. You must help. It’s cold in here.” 
 
    “Your ship was infected by Enemy agents. I cannot approach.” 
 
    “We were attacked, yes. One almost got all the way in before we hosed it down. But we were not infected. Look at me,” he pleaded, spreading his arms to show his emaciated form. 
 
    “You’ve got to help!” 
 
    Captain Ma-Ka could not let his friend die. 
 
    “Battle group. Withdraw to 10-light minutes. I am going in for a closer look.” He cut the communications before anyone could respond. 
 
    “Captain!” said the First Officer. “You are defying the Admiral’s direct orders. You must desist.” 
 
    “As you were!” the Captain snapped. “We have Enemy-resistant shielding, we’re safe.” 
 
    “You know the shielding is glitchy sir. This is not safe.” 
 
    “Helm, line us up with the forward window of the ship and bring us in to 100 meters. I want to look inside.” 
 
    “High alert!” the Captain shouted. 
 
    The alert siren sounded, and crew started running to their alert stations. The Captain looked at his first officer. “Get to your alert station!” he shouted. 
 
    The first officer was shocked that his ranking officer had resorted to a stunt like this to silence his protest. After another moment of icy staring, the first officer turned and left the bridge. 
 
    As he returned his attention to the Fast Packet, the Captain saw his friend smiling and waving at him. As he waved back, it happened. 
 
    … 
 
    “And to think this moron used to be a friend of mine.” The emaciated Captain of the Fast Packet said, as he turned to look at four of his children, all spun up in their dust state. “When they are perfectly lined up, hit them with the Electro-Magnetic Pulse bomb. We will be safe inside the ship as we’ve hardened it. When his shields drop, blow the window and attack.” 
 
    He turned to look at his ‘friend’ and waved. Then he smiled, a big happy hungry smile. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, ARMADA FLAG SHIP 
 
    “Admiral, the battlegroup has split. The Fast Attack Ships have retreated as ordered. But Captain Ma-Ka’s Cruiser has approached the Fast Packet.” 
 
    “Get me Captain Ma-Ka!” ordered the Admiral. 
 
    The line connected, but all that could be heard was a cacophony of screaming and the sounds of death. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, BATTLEGROUP CRUISER 
 
    The ship’s power suddenly dropped. System after system shut down, then an alarm went off as the shields dropped. As Captain Ma-Ka turned to ask his tactical officer what was going on, he saw motion through the forward view port. “The Fast Packet’s view port blew out…” 
 
    Then terror coursed through his body as multiple Enemy combatants streamed out through the opening and latched onto his ship. One had attached to the forward view port, which was made from two layers of exceedingly pure, mono-crystalline quartz. As the Captain watched, frozen in terror, a smoky tendril penetrated the view port and wrapped around him. The rest of the creature flowed through, then formed into his former friend and colleague. 
 
    “You are one of the stupidest people I will ever have the privilege of eating,” it said, then dived into the Captain. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, ARMADA FLAG SHIP 
 
    Having given up on speaking with Captain Ma-Ka or his Cruiser, he called the captain of one of the Fast Attack Ships in the battle group. 
 
    “WHAT IS GOING ON!” the Admiral shouted. 
 
    “Captain Ma-Ka ordered us to retreat to 10 light-minutes while he went in to investigate. He pulled up to the Fast Packet nose-to-nose. I think he was trying to establish visual communication. He put the ship on high alert as they approached. His first officer messaged, saying that the Captain knew the Captain of the Fast Packet and wanted to mount a rescue.” 
 
    There was a pause. 
 
    “Captain are you still there?” The Admiral asked. 
 
    “Admiral, there was an explosion. The Fast Packet must have bombed Captain Ma-Ka’s ship!” said the Captain in a panic. 
 
    “They just lost power. Admiral, the forward view port just blew out of the Fast Packet. Numerous Enemy combatants are attacking the ship.” 
 
    “Captain. Deploy flux bombs immediately. Fire on the cruiser. Fire everything you have. We cannot allow that cruiser to escape.” 
 
    “It is veering away, Admiral!” the Captain said in terror. 
 
    “BOMB IT!” The Admiral roared.  
 
    “We’re ten light minutes away, sir! It’s gone, sir. All we can be sure of is it jumped on a vector toward New Lorexi.” 
 
    The Admiral’s anger was on the verge of boiling over. Stop. Take a deep breath. Calm yourself. This is not the time to lose your temper. He thought to himself. 
 
    “Get me the High Command.” The Admiral moved toward the presence projector. “Emergency Level 1.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’s RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael woke early, an emergency message having disturbed him from his sleep. So many messages flooded his queue it took him a moment to figure out which was the emergency. 
 
    Michael got up and went to his office. 
 
    The emergency message was from Admiral Jo-Na. They had found the Fast Packet, it was infected as suspected, and one of the Armada’s Cruisers had defied orders and approached too close. It was attacked. Its shields were knocked down. It was boarded and taken over, then jumped away toward New Lorexi. 
 
    Michael struggled to understand how this had happened. As he sat there trying to comprehend the implications, he received notice of an emergency meeting of the Central Council. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE  
 
    Michael entered the presence chamber, took his seat and was immediately immersed in a holographic projection of the Central Council chambers. The room was set with nine seats in a courtroom like set up. The Speaker of the Central Council was in the center seat, which was set a foot higher than the other eight council members, four on either side of him. James was present, seated on the other side of the Speaker. 
 
    Present at a table in front of the Council members were the Senior Admiral Na-Vi, who headed the High Command, Admiral Jo-Na and Admiral Te-Jo, the Senior Admiral of the Andromeda Fleet. 
 
    The Speaker called the emergency meeting to order and asked Jo-Na to give his account of what happened. 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku. How long will it take that ship to reach new Lorexi?” the Speaker asked. 
 
    “I do not know,” Michael said. “I’m not proficient in either engineering or astrogation. Admiral Jo-Na, do you know the answer to that question?” 
 
    “My helm AI told me that they could reach New Lorexi in as little as 5 hours.” 
 
    “Admiral Te-Jo, what defenses can we put in place?” asked the Speaker. 
 
    “We have four Cruisers and one Capital Ship on standing watch.  But the ship in question is much more capable than the five of them combined. We have not been able to bring up the planetary shield with the specifications provided from Earth. 
 
    “We could also rally all the Cruisers in the sector to New Lorexi in about a week, but that would leave all the other planets defenseless if it headed to any of those.” 
 
    “Ancient One. Is there any way you can help us?” The speaker asked. 
 
    “Possibly. I have ways to search that you do not. But the cosmos is large, and the ship is small. Would you like my recommendation?” 
 
    “Always,” The speaker said. 
 
    “Call for help from the engineers on Earth and the Earth Alliance Fleet. Their engineers will bring up your planetary shields in a day and may teach your engineers something in the process. Let their Fleet lead the search. Their ships are faster and better protected, their captains more cunning. They may not be able to find the Cruiser in time, but they are more likely to find it than your paltry, slow and unprotected ships are.” 
 
    James suggestion angered both Admiral Na-Vi and Te-Jo, but they did not protest because they knew James was right. 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku,” the Speaker asked. “Is this something the Earth Alliance would be willing to do?” 
 
    “Most likely, yes. My concern is the timing. It will take them a minimum of two days to get here. In all likelihood, a planet will be infected by then. If the Enemy proceeds with stealth on the planet it targets, the Earth ships may be useful in searching it out. If the Enemy moves quickly, then an aggressive eradication process will be required. I don’t think the Earth fleet should participate in that.” 
 
    “May I ask why?” the Speaker asked. 
 
    Admiral Na-Vi answered for Michael. “Much of the population of the planet will be infected. They will need to be slaughtered. There are already rumors of Earth being a rogue force. If they participated in such action, they would be perceived as invaders.” 
 
    “Sadly, the Inspector’s treachery comes back to strike us again,” the Speaker ruminated. The Speaker’s friend, Inspector Ra-Tu, head of Military Intelligence, had spread rumors that Earth had advanced spacecraft and weapons that were not disclosed as part of its membership application. He had launched an unsanctioned mission to stop the supposed rebellion about three months ago. During that mission, his ship, a diplomatic Fast Packet, had become infected by the Enemy. It had incubated the Enemy combatants now on their way to the heart of the Confederation. And the rumors he spread were now an impediment to using the Earth Alliance’s Space Force Fleet from doing its job, rooting out the Enemy. 
 
    “Admiral Na-Vi, please mobilize the Fleet. Get as many ships as possible relocated into systems within 10 light-years of New Lorexi. This needs to be done with maximum haste. I will notify these worlds of the threat and ask their leaders to go to high alert.  
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku, please ask the Earth Alliance to provide whatever assistance they can. I think getting the planetary shields up will probably be the highest priority, but we will accept whatever help they’re willing to offer.” 
 
    Michael and the Admiral acknowledged their orders. 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. Please bring your Armada to New Lorexi immediately. Coordinate with Admiral Na-Vi to spread your resources in the most effective manner once you are here. And to the extent possible, have your engineers assist ours to get our planetary shield functioning.” 
 
    “Yes. Mr. Speaker,” he said, fist out in the traditional Lorexian military salute.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel was disappointed to find out that they were still in the holding area when he came back on watch at 8:00 AM. If they did not get clearance to enter soon, they wouldn’t get the trade delegation back to Earth until late in the afternoon. 
 
    “Captain. We have just received clearance to approach,” Jade Harris, first watch yeoman, said. 
 
    “I have our approach path, Captain,” Else said. “It’s painfully slow. It’ll take approximately four hours to reach orbit.” 
 
    “Please engage, Ms. Else.” The captain said. 
 
    “Yeoman Harris. Please advise the trade delegation of our anticipated arrival time.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Professor Schudel’s alarm went off at 9:00 AM. They were scheduled to arrive in the system where the EAS Warsaw had made its discoveries. 
 
    After a quick pass through the refresher, the Professor went to the office in his quarters to check his messages. There were quite a few messages in his queue: additional finds, claim confirmations and a message from the bridge with updated arrival information. But, nothing from Michael. 
 
    Surprised that he had not heard back from him, the Professor called Michael’s office. 
 
    “Professor Schudel,” Pam said. “How is your mission going?” 
 
    “Quite well. We have one very large find that I need some guidance about. There are multiple ways that we could file it. The choice of method to file will restrict how we can exploit the find, so I was hoping to get a minute of Michael’s time. I sent him a message around midnight but haven’t heard back.” 
 
    “An emergency came up. He is in session with the Central Council. I’ll make sure he gets your message, but I suspect it will be a while before you hear from him.” 
 
    “OK. This claim is mammoth and needs to be filed quickly so that we don’t lose it. I’ll prepare the filing the way I think Michael will want it, then file at noon unless I hear otherwise,” said the Professor. 
 
    “I’ll tell Michael as soon as he comes out of his meeting.” 
 
    “Thank you, Pam.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain Flannagan. Thank you for taking my call.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel. I hope you are well rested. You have been working around the clock since we left Earth.” 
 
    “Very well rested, thank you,” the Professor replied. “How far out are we from our next stop?” 
 
    “We are still about one hour from arrival. These systems have not been fully scanned, so we need to travel through corridors that are known to be safe. Sadly, it is not a very direct path.” 
 
    “No problem,” the Professor said. “We still have to file the claim on that large site. Would it be possible to get the assistance from one of your yeomen?” 
 
    “Yes. Ms. Marti is available until noon, when her watch starts. Would you like me to asked her to meet you in the lab?” 
 
    “That would be excellent.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael emerged from the presence projector in great need of a cup of coffee. As he entered the kitchen, he was surprised to find Pam sitting there talking with Sarah. 
 
    “Pam. I didn’t expect to see you here on a Sunday morning,” Michael said. 
 
    “I got an alert that your queue was overflowing into an overflow bin. Then another that said an emergency alert came in. Then a call from Professor Schudel was diverted to me. So, I figured you were going to need some help today.” 
 
    “Thank you.” Michael said. “There is a lot going on, including a full-out emergency. I need to contact President Lee and Professor MacLellan as soon as possible, but can you give me the quick rundown on what’s in my queue?” 
 
    Sarah came over with a cup of coffee. “Can I get you some breakfast?” she asked. 
 
    “Thanks, the regular,” Michael said. 
 
    “Pam, can I get you something?” 
 
    “The same as Michael.” Pam tacked on a quick, “Thank you.” 
 
    “Your queue is mostly about finds and claims. Professor Schudel’s theory about brown dwarfs is paying off big time. Claims have been filed on about 3,000 kilograms. There is a large one that’s about 15,000 kilograms that the Professor wants to talk with you about. The problem is that there are many ways this could be filed, but the filing method will restrict what you can do with it. He says he thinks he knows what you want and will file it that way at noon if he doesn’t hear from you. His concern is that with other claims filed in this system, opportunists may come along looking for a missed claim. He doesn’t want them to steal the big one out from under us.” 
 
    “Understood,” Michael said. “I’ll call him now. This should be quick. While I’m doing that, can you see if you can get President Lee for me?” 
 
    … 
 
     “Professor Schudel. Thank you for taking my call. You want to make a broad claim, right?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Yes. We could file numerous smaller claims, but that would leave a rich field of debris that someone else could come and cherry pick. The only downside is the size. 15,000 kilograms is a mammoth claim. I didn’t think you would want to give that much to any one party.” 
 
    “Understood. But I agree with your first point. We don’t want others coming in and cherry picking the surface deposits, interfering with our operations.” 
 
    “OK. The claim will be filed around noon. By the way, the crew of the Amsterdam have been great partners in this. I have been cross training them and think they will be able to operate independently after a few more days.” 
 
    “Excellent news.” Michael said. “I have another call to take. Thank you for your efforts on this, Professor.” 
 
    “Glad to help.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael. What can I do for you? Pam said there is some sort of emergency but couldn’t say any more.” 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for taking my call and sorry to disturb your Sunday morning. Are you in a place where we can talk privately?” 
 
    “Yes. I am at home in my office. No one else is here.” 
 
    “I am sad to report that a major disaster is developing in Andromeda. The Enemy captured one of the Fleet Cruisers that we recently upgraded. It was in the intergalactic void near the spiral arm where New Lorexi is located. There are over 100 allied planets along the vector the cruiser was last seen on. All of these have populations between 10 billion and 1 trillion. None have Enemy-resistant planetary shields. And the only ships in the Confederation with Earth-standard propulsion or shielding are in the armada the Cruiser was stolen from.” 
 
    “I thought we sent planetary shield designs to many of those planets.” 
 
    “We did, but the Confederation planetary engineers have had a hard time bringing them up.” 
 
    “So, the Confederation is calling us for help,” the President summarized. 
 
    “Yes. They are,” Michael replied. 
 
    “What do they want?”  
 
    “They want us to provide whatever help we can. Their top priority is getting assistance bringing up the planetary shields. I think they want Joel, Professor MacLellan, Eugene Xu, Kelly Williamson and anyone else they could get. They also want as many of the ships in our fleet as we can offer them, although they are aware of the problems that involves.” 
 
    “Will any of that actually help?” the President asked. “It will take days for them to actually get there. Won’t the Enemy have destroyed a world by then?” 
 
    “Possibly. But I think they would be more likely to hide, slowly taking control, like the ones on Earth had done. Then they would expand their reach to many planets before making their move.” 
 
    “I cannot approve this without a vote of the Earth Alliance Council. I will add a one-hour emergency meeting before the trade delegation tomorrow morning. I’ll need talking points by 4:00 this afternoon. I’ll also ask Admiral Scott to meet with you early this afternoon to see what kind of proposal you can come up with. I think assembling the mission team will be up to you.” 
 
    “Understood,” Michael said. “I’ll start working it immediately.” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael,” President Lee said solemnly. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 GEARHEAD CAFÉ, NEAR ENGINEERING SCHOOL 
 
    “Professor MacLellan, thank you for meeting me for lunch.” Eugene said. 
 
    “Thank you for suggesting this,” replied the Professor. “I have not had time to meet with the Ambassador, so do not have an answer for you yet.” 
 
    It took Eugene a moment to place that comment. “Ah, I forgot about that. I assumed some sort of arrangement would eventually get worked out, so haven’t even thought about it since we last spoke. But we do need to come to some sort of arrangement, or I’ll have to head back to Hopkins at the end of the month.” 
 
    He took a deep breath. “What I wanted to talk with you about is the Enemy trap. I have a simple design for a two-layer dome.” 
 
     “Funny, I’ve been worried about arrangements and forgot about your new project.” The Professor laughed. 
 
    A waiter came and they placed their orders. 
 
    “The design is an adaptation of the regional shield. It has two layers. Each layer is one-way for the Enemy’s dimensions. I’ve set them up to create a dome about a mile wide. At ground level, there is a three-foot gap between the layers. At the top of the dome, the gap is a bit narrower. The Enemy can pass in through the outer layer or the inner layer. If any part of the Enemy gets into the gap, it can’t get back out. With the gap this wide, a significant chunk of the Enemy will be trapped.” 
 
    “An interesting idea. But where would this be used?” 
 
    “One day I was pondering what we would do if the Enemy made their way to Earth,” Eugene said. “First thought was that we could put up city shields to help contain the infection. Next thought was that we would not just want a way to stop them, but to trap them. And I wanted something better than Kelly’s sticky shields. I wanted something that would catch them even if they didn’t try to penetrate.” 
 
    “I also thought it would be useful to have some sort of filtering device. Something we could pass through a city or crowd that would catch the Enemy.” 
 
    “Interesting,” said the Professor. 
 
    “Want to see my designs?” Eugene said, pulling out his tablet. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    After lunch, Professor MacLellan decided to take a walk along the river in Riverside Park. His thoughts drifted a bit, but the general theme was that his assignment on Earth was starting to lose some of its shine. The business with Eugene’s contract was just so… non-Lorexian. The rate of change was too fast. It seemed as though he had gone from being the expert to being the student; from being a scientist to being an administrator. 
 
    His communicator chimed, interrupting his reverie. It was Ma-Ro, a long-time friend and the current Secretary of Science for the Confederation. 
 
    “Ma-Ro. What a pleasant surprise. How are you?” 
 
    “Ka-Tu. Have you heard about the disaster that’s coming?” 
 
    “No. What happened?” asked the Professor. 
 
    “The Enemy in your galaxy has made its way here. They hijacked an intergalactic Fast Packet ship on a mission in the Milky Way and made it most of the way here. Then today, they attacked and commandeered a Fleet Cruiser that had been upgraded to Earth-standard. They are on their way here and may have already arrived,” The Secretary said in a near state of panic. 
 
    “I have not heard this yet but expect that I will shortly.” 
 
    “You must help!” The Professor’s friend begged. 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand,” Ka-Tu said. 
 
    “The Confederation will fail!” the man said, almost weeping. “We have become so set in our ways that we cannot even deploy the shielding that you sent us.” 
 
    “What?” Ka-Tu said in disbelief. “We sent that months ago and never got any questions back, so assumed that you’d put them up.” 
 
    “No, the fools here didn’t believe primitives could give them anything useful, so they ‘improved’ the designs, producing something at great expense that won’t even initialize. Then they have the nerve to blame it on sloppy human design!” he growled in exasperation. 
 
    “I don’t know what we can do if the Enemy is already there…” Ka-Tu stopped in midsentence. “Yes, I do. The brain-trust here just came up with something targeted for use on planets that have already been infected. Let me talk to the Ambassador here. He will know what to do.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ka-Tu,” said the Secretary as Ka-Tu cut the connection. 
 
    Ka-Tu started to call Michael, then realized that he would not get through. Instead he messaged him on internal. 
 
    Mi-Ku. I just got word about the crisis on New Lorexi. Forgive me for contacting you this way. But we have a possible solution. The Professor marked the message urgent. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
     “Admiral Scott. So sorry to disturb you on a Sunday afternoon. There is an emergency. The Enemy has made its way to Andromeda and the Confederation is calling for assistance.” 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. I’m sorry to hear of this. What kind of assistance are they asking for?” 
 
    “At a minimum, I think they want one ship carrying our scientific and engineering teams.” 
 
    “Forgive me for asking sir. But is this wise? Dr. Xu and Ms. Williamson are irreplaceable. They should be protected, kept away from the Enemy, not thrown into the middle of it. Isn’t there a way they could render assistance remotely?” 
 
    “That is an excellent point, Admiral,” Michael said. “Do you have a suggestion?” 
 
    “Why do they want our experts? What, tactically, do they think they need them present for?” 
 
    “The Confederation has not been able to bring the planetary shields up. They believe that having them present might help resolve the problem.” 
 
    “I suspect that the problem is not with the design. It is with the builds themselves. To date, the Lorexians have seemed unable to actually build units to specification. It seems to me that they need our AI’s and bots more than they need our brain trust.” 
 
    “Can you elaborate on your point a little?” Michael asked. 
 
    “From the stories I’ve heard, there was a confrontation with the Enemy near a large planet a couple months ago. As I have heard it, Joel Rubenstein scaled the designs that the brain trust had given him. The Capital Ship built the shields directly from the replicator spec they were given, and the shields worked. 
 
    “Couldn’t we do the same thing here? Send Joel and other Ascendants who have worked with the designs. Send the AIs, replicators and bots. Build the shields ourselves and give the finished units to the planetary engineers to install. 
 
    “Our ships could accompany Fleet ships to the designated planets, manage scaling and production, supervise the installation, and validate the functionality, then move on. With 10 ships shielding a planet a day, the target systems would be protected in 10 days without risking our most valuable assets,” the Admiral concluded. 
 
    “Do we have 10 ships that could be made ready?” 
 
    “I think we have 40 that have completed initial training. Nineteen are currently deployed out of the system. One of those, the Ottawa, is due back tonight.” 
 
    “Your recommendation?” Michael said. 
 
    “Promote Daniel Porter to Rear Admiral. Have him lead the mission. Send as many ships as we can field mission teams for. Keep the brain trust here and expand it. Give them full time access to a presence projector so they can be in constant personal contact with the team deployed.” 
 
    “I like this idea,” Michael said. 
 
    An urgent message popped up in Michael’s queue. It was from Ka-Tu. 
 
    “Admiral, could you give me a moment. An urgent message came in. I think it may be relevant to our conversation.” 
 
    “Of course, sir.” 
 
    Michael read the message, then came back to the moment. “Curiously, our scientific team thinks they may have a technical solution to the problem. I don’t think it will impact our strategy, but it will likely impact the tactics. 
 
    “So back to your suggestion… I think we can field 5 to 10 mission teams. Would it be reasonable to put 15 ships, including the Ottawa, on 48-hour standby status?” 
 
     “Better to have too many ready than not enough,” the Admiral replied. 
 
    “OK. You get the ships ready. I’ll assemble the mission teams. Later this afternoon, we can brief President Lee,” Michael said. 
 
    “And Secretary Winston,” the Admiral added. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain. We are entering orbit,” Else said. 
 
    “Ms. O’Brien. Tactical report?” Captain Porter asked. The watch had changed a little over an hour ago, but Daniel had decided to stay on the bridge until they entered orbit. Kaitlin O’Brien was the second watch tactical officer. 
 
    “We are in orbit, Captain. We are sharing this orbit with 11 other ships, spaced 30 degrees apart. There are a large number of ships and other objects in orbit, thousands if not tens of thousands. Of the dozens of objects within 100 miles of us, all are in stable orbits. It will take a great deal of vigilance to track everything close to us.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. O’Brien. Yeoman Perez, please contact the trade delegation and advise them that we are here and ready to transport them up.” 
 
    “Yes, sir,” he replied. 
 
    “Now we wait,” Daniel said to his first officer Duan Tai. 
 
    “Captain, a priority message just came in from Admiral Scott. It is marked for your eyes only.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Perez. Commander Tai, the ship is yours. I will be in the bridge office.” 
 
    Daniel entered the office and logged into the ship’s portal. He spotted the message immediately and opened it. 48-hour ready standby notice, Daniel thought. Don’t think I have ever received one of these while out on a mission. 
 
    Daniel acknowledged the message, then sat back in his chair pondering the implications. 
 
    The intercom interrupted his contemplation. “Captain. The delegation is ready to transport up. They are asking to be transported up with their cargo. We will be in range for another 10 minutes.” 
 
    Odd. Daniel thought, as he got up and walked back into the bridge. 
 
    “Mr. Perez. Have the doctor meet me at Lift 3 on the medical deck. Tell the trade delegation that we are sending a team to the cargo bay to greet them. We will be ready to transport them up in about two minutes.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO BAY NINE 
 
     The Captain and ship’s Doctor, Douglas Mason, arrived at the Cargo Bay and stood in the open door. 
 
    “Else,” Daniel said, knowing she could hear him anywhere in the ship. “Please transport the trade delegation up at their discretion.” 
 
    Moments later, numerous crates of all shapes and sizes appeared neatly stacked in the cargo bay. Two men also appeared, standing in front of the crates. Their hands were pressed together in front of them as if in prayer. They bowed, held the position for a moment, then stood upright, hands still pressed together. 
 
    Daniel and the doctor had practiced this ceremony earlier, Daniel put his hands together solemnly, bowed in synchronization with the doctor, then righted himself. They all held the position for a second, then Daniel dropped his hands as he had been instructed to do earlier. 
 
    “Gentlemen.” Daniel stepped forward to shake hands. “I am Captain Daniel Porter of the EAS Ottawa. This is Dr. Douglas Mason. He is an Ascendant and has previously worked with Angolorans, so you will be in good hands while traveling with us.” 
 
    “Captain, I am Senior Trade Representative Futan Knosel of the Unified Angoloran states on Karagon. This is my colleague Respa Knosen. Thank you for receiving our delegation.” He again pressed his hands together and bowed. 
 
    “Captain.” The senior trade representative said. “May we ask about the security of our cargo?” 
 
    Daniel had not expected that question. “What would you like to know?” Daniel asked, curious about where this might be going. 
 
    “We have brought some very precious and fragile items. It would be a poor start to the relationship among our peoples, if these items were damaged or stolen,” Rep. Knosel said. 
 
    “I think you can rest assured that your cargo is safe. We can place a dampening field over the crates such that they sense no motion during travel. I can also lock the doors with my personal codes, so that no one can enter this cargo bay. If you will come with me, I can show you.” 
 
    They followed Daniel to the short alcove in the entry way to the cargo bay, where he placed his hand on the wall. A panel appeared. “If you will watch your cargo for a moment, I will engage the dampening field. You will see it shimmer to life over your cargo, then fade.” 
 
    Daniel engaged the field. It glistened to life, accompanied by a slight vibration-like noise, then faded. 
 
    “Now if you will step out of the cargo bay, I will seal it,” Daniel said. 
 
    “You will not evacuate the atmosphere, will you?” The trade representative asked. 
 
    The question surprised Daniel, but he took it in stride. “No, normal atmosphere and pressure will be maintained. Do you have something alive in there?” 
 
    “No.” The trade representative replied. “But there are a number of pieces of art that would be damaged if exposed to vacuum.” 
 
    “Then we should be good. May I seal the cargo bay?” The two men looked at each other, nodded and said, “Yes.” 
 
    “May we show you to your quarters?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Would it be possible to have a tour of your ship? We have never seen an Earth ship before.” 
 
    “Of course. Let me speak with the bridge for a moment, then we can start.” The two trade representatives nodded, obviously excited to see an Earth ship. 
 
    “Else,” Daniel called.  
 
    “Here, Captain.” She replied.  
 
    “The trade representatives are here; their cargo is secured. Please return us to Earth with all possible haste.” 
 
    “Yes, Captain.” 
 
    Daniel put on a smile, turned to the trade delegation and started their tour. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    It was days like this when Michael realized how lucky he was. Pam had come over to help, without even being asked, and was now organizing the material he would need for the emergency briefing of the Earth Council Alliance tomorrow morning. Sarah had taken on the task of writing the talking points that he needed to send out in a couple hours. His next task was Professor MacLellan. 
 
    “Michael, thank you for calling me. I’m sorry for contacting you the way I did, but I knew you would be buried, and I found out something you need to know.” 
 
    “Thank you, Professor. You know about what is going on in Andromeda?” 
 
    “Yes. The Secretary of Science for the Confederation is an old friend. He was briefed on the crisis this morning and called me immediately, begging for Earth’s help.  
 
    “Earlier today, I learned about a new technology that Dr. Xu is developing. It was my intention to check it out some more, before bringing it to your attention. But it is directly relevant to the crisis, so wanted to brief you before you got too far along in formulating a response.” 
 
    “And, the technology is…” Michael asked. 
 
    “Eugene has come up with a one-way shield effective against the dimensions the Enemy exists in. The basic functionality is that the Enemy can pass through the shield but cannot pass back out. If it even sticks its hand in, it cannot pull the hand back out. 
 
    “Unlike the sticky shield, there is no resistance whatsoever going through one way, so they won’t even know they are in until they try to leave. 
 
    “Eugene has two configurations he’s working on. One is a two-layer dome, the other a two-layer planar field. In both cases the two layers are about three feet apart. From either direction, the Enemy passes the first shield without even knowing the shield is there. Then three feet later it hits the second one. It cannot penetrate, but when it tries to backtrack, it hits the shield it already went through and cannot get back out. 
 
    “The idea behind the dome version is that if the Enemy is already on the planet but hiding, you can put a shield over every city. The Enemy would be trapped trying to enter or exit the city, so you could stop the infection from spreading. 
 
    “For the planar version, a shuttlecraft or other platform could project the planar field over an area. The Enemy would pass right through the first layer, then get hit with the second layer and dragged along with the shield as it moved. There would be no hiding.” The Professor finished a bit breathless for having spilled it all out so quickly. 
 
    “Do you know what gave rise to this?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Eugene has been on the front line for a while now, working on ways to keep the Enemy from getting to Earth. I think it has been gnawing on him that if he failed, Earth would be defenseless.” 
 
    “I share his concern,” Michael said. 
 
    “Is this something that you think you can use?” the Professor asked. 
 
    “Probably. Can I change subject a bit?”  
 
    “Of course.” 
 
    “I need your help. The Speaker has asked me to send our brain trust to New Lorexi. He did not ask quite that directly, but that was clearly the intent. I don’t think I want to do that. Kelly and Eugene are too valuable to be put at risk in that way. The problem isn’t that the designs don’t work. The problem is that the Confederation engineers don’t follow the instructions they’re given. 
 
    “Anything Eugene or Kelly could do for them there; they can do for them here. The thought is to send multiple ships instead. Each ship equipped with a mission team, most likely composed of an Ascendant Engineering team that can build the devices for the Confederation, then work with the Lorexian Engineering on the ground to install them and prevent them from screwing up the installation. If we have ten ships, each with a mission team that could do that, then we could get shields around the 100 planets at risk in ten days; five days if we had twenty ships. 
 
    “My question for you is who can we put on those teams? Can you get back to me with a list of candidates?” 
 
    “Yes. I like this plan. It gives multiple teams access to Eugene and Kelly, so they can support any design changes that need to be done. And, it puts Lorexians in charge of protecting New Lorexi, even if they are human Ascendants.” 
 
    “Thank you, Professor. I need that candidate list ASAP. It is the weakest point in our plan at the moment.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DAVID WASHINGTON’S ACCOMMODATIONS 
 
    The dinner party last night had been a lot of fun. Nothing normal like that had happened to him since the night of the incident. This crowd was a little less boisterous than his family had been, but he could not let himself think about that.  
 
    He only had one activity booked today, an appointment with Dr. Ancient at 4:00 this afternoon. So, he decided to go for a run in Riverside Park. Once underway, he just went. It felt good to run. When he reached the bridge that crossed the river, he decided to cross and complete the half marathon. To his surprise, he found Valerie having coffee at one of the little cafes on the western side of the river. He stopped to talk and ended up having coffee and a sweet roll with her. He couldn’t understand how an attractive and intelligent woman like her could be single. But he wasn’t going to get involved in anything like that. 
 
    She told him about two things she was working on: a shield and a plasma knife. He struggled to comprehend either item, but really enjoyed her enthusiasm and just listening to her talk. He still had a hard time believing she was so nice to him. 
 
    Back in the room, he’d cooled off, showered and dressed. 
 
    He was good with his bearings and was convinced he could find his way to Dr. Ancient’s office. But Emmanuel had insisted that he come over and drive David to his appointment. David was smart enough to understand it would be a while before he would be free of people looking over his shoulder. He was OK with that. For now, anyway. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael opened the list of potential mission team members that Professor MacLellan had sent. There were thirty names, including quite a few humans. His recommended deployment was in teams of three. There were only twelve people on that list that he thought would be capable of leading a team. Neither Martin Hill of Johns Hopkins or Harvey Jones of Australian National University were on the list, but curiously Advisors Richard Myers of NASA and Markus Vogel of Germany were. 
 
    Walking out of his office to the kitchen, he saw that Pam and Sarah were putting final touches on the documents they had prepared. 
 
    “I have the recommendations for the Mission teams. There are 10 teams of three. We may be able to push that to 15 teams, so let’s put that as the upper bound that we can field at this time.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel said something interesting to me this morning that may be relevant,” Pam said. 
 
    “Oh?” 
 
    “He said that the crew on board the Amsterdam was surprisingly capable and interested in cross-training. Many of the other junior officers volunteered for the training we gave the science and tactical officers and helped with supplemental surface scans. Several volunteered to be trained on the mining scanner and helped with the scans the Professor was doing in the lab. 
 
    “My thought is that we have a lot more crews and junior officers than we do ships at the moment. Maybe we could use them to supplement the mission teams. Doesn’t solve the problem of mission leaders, but if we gave the captains of the ships conducting the missions an additional watch team, we would give them more training time in their future roles and give the captains more able bodies to support the mission teams.” 
 
    “Good idea. Let’s add that as an option in the documents going to Space Force Command and the Earth Alliance Council,” Michael said. 
 
    “I need to tie back into a Central Council meeting. Release draft documents to President Lee, Secretary Thompson and Admiral Scott for review. Make sure they know this is a draft for comment…” Michael stopped mid-sentence, realizing he was starting to stress out and micromanage. “I am so lucky to be able to work with professionals like the two of you. You know what to do. Let me go see if this proposal will fly with the Central Council.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE  
 
    Michael entered the presence projector about five minutes before the meeting was to start. He assumed others would be early and conversation might already be underway. As the room configured and holographic images of the various participants materialized, Michael realized that something had happened. 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku, thank you for joining us. We have just received word that the commandeered ship has shown up above two planets, appearing on sensors for a few moments, then disappearing again. Each of these planets have reported mysterious deaths within an hour of the ship’s appearance. 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na advises us that the Enemy-resistant shields on the ship make it invisible to our sensors, unless we modify them. Is this true?” 
 
    “To the best of my knowledge, it is,” Michael said. 
 
    “The technology your humans have created is going to destroy us!” the Speaker snapped. 
 
    “No, the technology the humans have created is our only hope,” Michael replied. “But the treachery of the Chief Inspector put events in motion that have spiraled out of control because of the lack of discipline among your engineers and captains.” 
 
    The Speaker started to respond, but was cut off by Admiral Jo-Na. “What the Ambassador said is true. The Confederation as a whole has no idea what it’s up against and, in their arrogance, have brought disaster upon us. We must work together to defeat the curse quickly, or the deaths of tens of trillions will be on our hands.” 
 
    It was unheard of for a fleet admiral to address the Central Council in such a manner and it was clear that the Speaker was about to launch a vicious retort. But he was cut off by the Head of the High Command, Admiral Na-Vi. “What the Admiral says is true. We have brought this upon ourselves. Unless we bring every tool in our arsenal to bear, the Confederation will fail. 
 
    “Ambassador Mi-Ku, do you have a proposal for us?” 
 
    The Speaker was flummoxed that he was losing control of the meeting but looking at the Council members on either side of him, it was clear the Admirals had the Council’s support. 
 
    “The Earth Alliance Council will be holding an emergency meeting in the morning to address the Confederation’s request for assistance. The plan I am proposing has several elements, but the core element of the plan is to send 10 of our Fast Attack ships. Each will have an engineering team capable of manufacturing and installing planetary shields on the 100 planets closest to New Lorexi. We expect to be able to bring the shields up within 10 days of arrival.” 
 
    “But, how long will it take your ships to get here?” Admiral Na-Vi of the High Command asked.  
 
    “We don’t know for sure. They have not made the transit before. But simulation suggests that the transit from Earth to New Lorexi will take about 30 hours. If I get approval in the morning, they can be here two days from now.” 
 
    “How is that possible?” Admiral Jo-Na asked. “Do they have better propulsion than our ships that were just upgraded?” 
 
    “No. But your propulsion was retrofitted into your existing ships with their existing mass, power sources and power distribution systems. Our ships were built from the ground up with propulsion and power systems matched to the ship.” 
 
    “Will your brain trust be coming to help?” the Speaker asked. 
 
    “No, but let me explain why. We have built and installed the same designs that you have been given. The problem is not the design. We suspect that it is the implementation, or the power supply. The engineers we propose to send are the experts on those matters. We would team each of our ships up with one or more Fleet ships. They would go planet-to-planet assessing the problem and working with your teams to fix it. As ships encounter problems that they cannot solve, they will meet with our experts in a presence projector to work out a solution. Our expert team will be able to work with any of the 10 teams in the field, thereby giving every planet access to them if needed.  
 
    “When not assisting the remote teams, our shield designers will be finalizing the design of a new kind of shield that can detect and trap Enemy infiltrators operating in secret on a world. The first prototypes of that design will be finished by the time our ships arrive. Trial deployments can begin of the new shield as soon as you have identified suspect planets, of which there appear to be two already.” 
 
    “This is a very comprehensive plan, Mi-Ku,” Admiral Na-Vi said. “I have one concern and that is chain of command. How do you propose that our fleets work together?” 
 
    “This is admittedly difficult. The Earth Alliance developed its Space Force as a back-up fleet for close-in defense if the Confederation Fleet was unable to stop the Enemy. 
 
    “They are likely to agree to this mission because they genuinely want to help, but they will not submit their ships to Fleet command. Instead, they will insist that we work together as allies.” 
 
    “But how would that work?” Admiral Na-Vi asked. 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na piped up. “I have worked with the humans twice in battle, twice in the field, and continuously for two months in port. My experience is that if you treat them with respect and some sense of equality, they will be very cooperative. In our largest engagement with the Enemy, they were very collaborative and took independent action twice, at great risk of injury, to save us. I have no concern about working with them. But if you treat them unfairly, or as subordinates, it will not work.” 
 
    Admiral Na-Vi replied. “Your armada was recalled for the purpose of dealing with the Enemy-infested ship and to help with the shield installations. It seems that your armada would be best suited to work with the human fleet.” 
 
    “I would embrace the opportunity,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “Then it is settled. The Andromeda fleet will flood into the region as quickly as they can and search for the Enemy ship. You will divide your armada as you see fit to accompany the humans to the planets the High Command designates in the order it designates them. The Fleet will yield to you. You will collaborate with the humans.” 
 
    “Agreed,” Admiral Jo-Na said, then asked, “Mi-Ku?” 
 
    “I am good with that. I will include this agreement in the presentation to the Earth Alliance Council tomorrow.  
 
    “May I raise a related topic?” Michael asked. 
 
    The Speaker nodded his consent. 
 
    “We are likely to have to rebuild most, if not all, of the planetary shields that you have fabricated so far. That will require a significant amount of transluminide.”  
 
    A murmur of discontent rippled around the room. 
 
    Michael continued undeterred. “We have just found and are in the process of filing a claim on a large deposit, approximately 15,000 kilograms, we found in a system about 100 light-years from Earth. It is only 73% pure and among the impurities is 2.4% lithium, which I am told makes it difficult to purify.” 
 
    Everyone looked at Michael with great interest. 
 
    “Earth would like to offer you this find at the standard rate.” 
 
    This statement drew whispered thanks. 
 
    “And, if necessary, Earth would be willing to loan you the transluminide required to build out the shields, to be paid back from your share of the transluminide that you mine from our claim.” 
 
    After a few moments of discussion, the Speaker said, “There is no precedent for this degree of generosity from a new member. We are very grateful for the help and financing required to contain this crisis. 
 
    “I move that we accept the terms of assistance and financing that the Ambassador has offered.” 
 
    There was unanimous support from the Council. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DR. ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “David, welcome. Please come in.” 
 
    He entered and saw George and Noelani, whom he had met last night. 
 
    “Good afternoon, Dr. Ancient,” he said. 
 
    “Please call me James. You remember George and Noelani from the party last night?” 
 
    “Yes. Great party. Valerie was very gracious, and George is a great cook.” 
 
    “Today, I’d like to take the first small step forward in your recovery and I have asked Noelani and George to help.” 
 
    “I’m still not sure what I am recovering from,” David said. 
 
    “The night of the incident, you and your family were attacked. The creature that attacked you slaughtered your family but was unable to do much physical harm to you. Surveillance cameras showed your family entering your home, but no one else. They also recorded a flash of light which they assumed was an explosion of some type.” 
 
    “I heard all of this at the trial but have no memory of the incident,” David said, unable to suppress the anger growing within. 
 
    Suddenly, he was flooded with peace and warmth. 
 
    “What did you just do to me?” he asked. 
 
    “I am an empath. A very powerful one. I could feel the anger growing in you and your desire to control it, so I helped. 
 
    “David, you did not murder your family. Something else did. We need to restore your memory of that night. I can help draw that memory out. Noelani can help. George has recovered from something different, but just as bad,” James said. 
 
    “Why? Why do I need to re-live that night?” David said, grief building within only to be held in check by the compassion flowing from James. 
 
    “First, so that you will know beyond the shadow of a doubt that you did not kill your family. Second, so that you can join the hunt for these creatures. You have an important role to play in the elimination of this curse from our universe,” James replied. 
 
    James nodded to Noelani. 
 
    “David, I have a short clip to play for you. Don’t worry, it’s not some secret recording of what happened. It’s not about you or your family. Just watch and when it’s done tell me what you saw.” 
 
    A holographic projection started. It showed an odd-looking man walk into a room. Dust and smoke swirling around him as if it had just evaporated out of his skin. It eventually coalesced into two columns and plunged into his open mouth. Then, the remaining emaciated husk of a man fell to the floor. 
 
    “What the hell was that?” David said, pushing his chair away from where the projection had been. 
 
    “Describe to me what you saw,” Noelani said, ignoring David’s question. 
 
    “A strange looking man walked into the room. He kind of evaporated into smoke that flew into his mouth and the rest of him fell on the floor. Was he still alive?” 
 
    “Yes.” Noelani said. “He was still alive, but not in good condition. I’m going to play it again, a little slower this time. See if you can discern anything more.” 
 
    The holographic projection played again. 
 
    “What did you see?” 
 
    “Nothing happened until the door clicked shut. He actually looked healthy, but weird, until then. Almost as soon as you hear the latch click, dust just started molting out of him. The dust got finer and finer until it was more like smoke. Then the smoke coalesced into two columns shaped something like a heavy rope with strands all intertwined. Then the two columns pulled away from him. He opened his mouth and they just flew right into it.” 
 
    “Very observant. Good job,” Noelani said very affirmingly. 
 
    “Let’s go through it again. I’ll tell you what is happening and will pause now and again so we can look at some of the still shots in more detail.” 
 
    The clip started. The man walked in through the door. Noelani paused as the man stepped briefly into a pool of light. 
 
    “This man is an Angoloran. Angolorans live on a planet that is several hundred light-years from here. They look very similar to humans. Angolorans on average are a little taller than humans, have a more triangular face, and have arm bones that are shaped a bit differently.” She said, pointing to the boney ridge running along the outer side of his forearm. 
 
    Playback resumed, the door clicked shut and the first of the dust appeared. Noelani stopped the playback again.  
 
    “I’m going to blow this up a bit.” Noelani said as the arm she had been pointing to grew to nearly fill the projection area. 
 
    “Come take a look at this.” Noelani motioned for David to come closer to the projection. “Don’t worry, you won’t break it.” 
 
    “See how the dust kind of lifts up right off his arm?” She said, pointing to a spot on his arm where a flake appeared to come loose. “And see how the skin is changing color. That is where it is loosening.” 
 
    “What’s happening to this guy?” David said. 
 
    “We’ll get to that in a bit. Let me return this to normal size and continue playing back.” She resumed playback at normal size.  
 
    The dust continued lifting off the man, then started turning to smoke. Noelani paused playback again. 
 
    “See how the dust starts changing?” Once again, she zoomed in. “See how the particles break apart?” She started stepping through the frames. “Watch this one.” She pointed to a relatively large particle. As I step through, watch how it breaks apart.” 
 
    The center part of the particle appeared to just dissolve leaving two particles a little less than half the size of the original. One of them did the same thing. The other dissolved a little differently with two lines dissolving at different angles and the particle breaking into four pieces. The process continued until there were no large particles at all. 
 
    Noelani zoomed out a bit. “See how the smoke is starting to coalesce? It’s forming into strands of smoke.”  
 
    She sped up the playback a little more. “See the strands of smoke starting to intertwine? This will continue a while at this speed, so I’m going to speed it up some more. OK. Here you can see the two columns of smoke clearly. Now they are detaching. And this is the gross part…” She said, zooming in on the humanoid’s mouth as it opened. “Sorry to show you this, but see the smoke already in his throat.” 
 
    She heard David cough and immediately killed the projection. 
 
    “David, I’m so sorry. I should have known better than to give you this much so quick. Here let me get you a glass of water.” 
 
    “Noelani, why are we doing this? Why do I need to see this?” 
 
    James spoke up. “Your family was killed by a very devious and dreadful creature. We have succeeded in eliminating the last of them on Earth. But a horde are on their way. You saw the one that killed your family, but you survived the incident. We don’t know why, although I have a theory. 
 
    “We need to restore your memory of that incident. I could force it back, but that would be cruel. Instead, we want to slowly acquaint you with these creatures in the hope of the memory returning naturally. Once that has happened, you will be able to process your grief more naturally, and you may be able to give us the key to stopping them before they come again.” 
 
    David could feel his anger rising again, but this time James was not suppressing it. “Why aren’t you stopping me from getting angry?” 
 
    “I do not like exerting control over people. I do it when it helps them accomplish something they want to accomplish. You have a right to be angry. But direct your anger toward the creatures that did this to you and your family.” 
 
    “You’re right,” David said, head hung low, emotion filling his voice. 
 
    “I think you’ve had enough for today. Can we continue tomorrow?” he asked compassionately. 
 
    David nodded his head. 
 
    A moment later, Colonel Patterson entered the office complex. 
 
    “David. Good to see you. Your enlistment into the Space Force Marines has been completed, which means the U.S. Federal Government no longer has a claim on you. 
 
    “Space Force has given you the rank of Cadet Irregular. What that means is that you are considered to be in training at the Institute and that you are on a non-standard training program, led by Professor Ancient. The Professor can excuse you from any normal requirement, but with his consent, I would like to get you into our Physical Fitness training program. I have a group of irregulars forming that you can join. 
 
    “James, are you good with this?” 
 
    “Yes, Colonel. 
 
    “OK. Let’s go. Don’t worry, they will go easy on you today,” Mark said with a smile. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “President Lee. Thank you for taking my call. The updated briefing packet should be in your queue,” Michael started. 
 
    “Yes. I got it a few minutes ago and have been skimming through it.” 
 
    “The one thing not stated in the packet is that the Lorexian Central Council and High Command have already agreed to the terms. They initially wanted more in terms of military support. But once the rights to take one of our transluminide claims was put on the table, the negotiations moved to a place that I think the Earth Alliance can approve. This one deal, if approved, will make Earth one of the highest contributing members. It will also assure the independence of Space Force going forward.” 
 
    “Understood. You will present this at the emergency meeting in the morning?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Excellent. I will study this tonight and present any issues I have to you before the meeting,” President Lee concluded. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain. We will be entering Earth orbit in about 10 minutes,” Else said as Daniel walked onto the bridge. 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Else.” 
 
    Lt. Commander Kumar yielded the Captain’s seat to Daniel as he approached. “What did you think of the trade delegation?” he asked. 
 
    “Interesting. It’s the first time I’ve met another species in person. They’re very human, just as the briefings said they would be. They were very inquisitive about Earth and its people. And, they used every tidbit that they learned to pitch some product or service.” Daniel chuckled. “In truth, I kind of liked them and would enjoy getting to know them more. But I’m glad that our own diplomatic team will be transporting up to take them from here.” 
 
    Daniel turned his attention to ship’s business. “Did we get an update on the standby alert?”  
 
    “Yes. It came in about a half hour ago. We are ordered to have the ship prepared to depart by noon tomorrow. The only thing it said about the mission is that we should be supplied for a deployment in deep space that could take up to three months.” 
 
    “That’s unexpected,” Daniel said. 
 
    “There were also orders for you to be prepared for a mission briefing at 10:00 AM. And for Commander Tai and I to be prepared to join you at 10:30 AM.” 
 
    “Have you started the supplies assessment?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes. I’ve alerted all departments. Ms. Durant has started compiling a list, but I suspect we will get a lot more when the next watch comes on duty. 
 
    “And I forgot to mention, we will be getting a small three-person mission team.” 
 
    “Captain. We have entered orbit,” Else said. 
 
    “Captain. We are being hailed by the Space Force Secretary.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Durant. I will take it in the office.” Daniel walked into the bridge office. 
 
    “Mr. Secretary,” Daniel said as he took his seat. 
 
    “Captain Porter. Excellent job on the mining survey. I trust that your passengers have been well cared for.” 
 
    “Yes, they have. Interesting people, the Angolorans. I hope I have a chance to actually work with them some day. The two we are transporting appear to be master salesmen.” Daniel couldn’t repress a grin. 
 
    “I’m glad to hear that. I am calling because the diplomatic reception team is ready to transport up. They are on the transporter pad near my office.” Its identifier popped up in Daniel’s message box. 
 
    “Got it. I will head to the transporter pad here to receive them, then introduce them to the trade delegation.” 
 
    “Excellent. I will leave you to it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Epsilon Indi is one strange system.” Professor Schudel said to Charles. They had been at it all day, documenting find after find. 
 
     “Incredibly strange,” Charles replied. “A burnt cinder, two rocky planets and a water world in the inner system. Then a gas giant the size of Jupiter in the middle. Two more rocky planets in the outer system, then a brown dwarf binary way out there with four moons. Nature is glorious. Isn’t she?” 
 
    “Have you reviewed the claim applications for the third planet? I’ve just finished reviewing the claims for planet two. Five claims for an expected yield of 7,218 kilograms,” said the Professor. 
 
    “Just about.” Charles replied. “The first three are ready. Total expected yield of 2,183 kilograms for these three. I’m still double checking the last one, the site claim. The first three were natural and very pure. This one appears to be another one of those meteor-strikes, 73% transluminide, 2.4% lithium.” 
 
    ‘OK. I’ll take the fourth planet. You want to take the two moons when you’re done with this?” the Professor asked. 
 
    “Sure. When we get these done, let’s break for the day. The watch crew is good enough at this point to do the confirmations on the two outer planets. We can rejoin for the confirmations on the brown dwarf moons,” Charles said. 
 
    “Deal,” replied the Professor.  
 
    


 
   
  
 

 TRADE 
 
    [Monday, 01.06.2031] EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    “Michael. Thank you for coming in early to speak with me.” President Lee said. “There are several things I wanted to talk with you about before the sessions begin.” 
 
    “Good Morning. This should be an exciting day,” Michael said. “What would you like to discuss?” 
 
    “First, I’m very pleased with the deal you’ve made with the Central Council and High Command. Every aspect of it… Keeping our brain trust on Earth. Deploying our ships with engineering teams and pairing them with ships from the armada we upgraded. Using one of our finds to finance the rescue and earn us a finder’s fee. The only question I have is about the transluminide we will be loaning them. You are targeting 500 kilograms from our ready reserve to fund the rescue. We will be getting 3,000 kilograms in commissions on the find we are signing over. Can you give me your assurance that we have the available supply in the interim to support the fleet buildout and the ongoing expansion of our economy?” 
 
    “Yes. We have ample supply. I will get you the budgets and balances that we were originally scheduled to discuss today. But given the recent developments, I haven’t had time to prepare detailed financial statements. But the rough answer is that we had over 10,000 kilograms in inventory before we started the Space Force buildout. The mining operations to support the buildout have added over 3,000 kilograms to our ready reserve. We have another 17,000 kilograms available in raw form on Earth that could be refined on short notice. We are on very solid footing.” 
 
    “OK. Regarding the trade deal with the Angolorans, we are seeking quantities of standardized products, such as power supplies, replicators, grav drives, etc. The Angolorans will work with us to customize the devices to human specifications, then produce in quantity for delivery to the Embassy,” President Lee said. 
 
    “One possible correction on that,” Michael replied. “They do not have the transportation capacity to deliver to us. We will need to pick up the products.” 
 
    “Thank you for clarifying that. What they want from us is Enemy-resistant planetary shields, limited custom design work from our brain trust, and entertainment products such as movies and music.” 
 
    “They also want bi-directional tourism and an embassy on Earth,” Michael pointed out. 
 
    “Yes. Yes.” President Lee jotted down some notes. “The music, movies and tourism are going to be problematic in terms of timing, rights and payment. But we are more than willing to attempt to do something. Lastly, we are going to pay for this by giving them mining rights. But how does it work for commercial goods?” 
 
    “Inter-member trade is done exclusively between planetary governments. We agree on a scope of trade and services. Each government then works with its commercial sector to allocate the payment in local currency. Planets poor in transluminide have very high local prices for imported goods and services. 
 
    “This will be hard for you at first, so the Confederation, specifically myself and a team of Ascendant trade specialists, will mediate all trade agreements with other members, and advise the Earth Alliance on local pricing.” 
 
    “OK. It’s time for the Emergency Meeting to start. Shall we?” President Lee waved at the door they would enter through. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE ADVISORY COUNCIL ASSEMBLY CHAMBER 
 
    Michael and President Lee entered the assembly chamber and quickly moved around the room greeting the members. Then, President Lee made his way to the podium. 
 
    “This meeting will come to order.” President Lee pounded his gavel.  
 
    Fifteen members from the Earth Alliance’s House of Ambassadors were chosen to serve on the Earth Alliance Advisory Council, no two from the same country. The Council was currently composed of ambassadors from Canada, the only permanent member, Brazil, China, Egypt, France, Germany, India, Israel, Japan, Poland, Russia, South Africa, Thailand, United Kingdom and United States. 
 
    “Today’s special emergency meeting is classified Top Secret. As you know, all material discussed in this session cannot be shared with anyone outside this room. If any information from today’s meeting should become public, the Ambassador who leaked the information will be expelled from the Alliance. Please press the green button in front of you to acknowledge your commitment.” 
 
    After a few moments… “Thank you. A crisis is upon us. A small Enemy force has made its way to Confederation space, near New Lorexi in the Andromeda galaxy. The Confederation has called upon Earth for assistance.” 
 
    A murmur rippled across the room. 
 
    “The Ambassador has negotiated a tentative assistance package with the Confederation Central Council and High Command. Providing this assistance will substantially elevate Earth’s standing within the Confederation. I have had a chance to review this deal and strongly approve. 
 
    “I will now turn it over to the Ambassador to present the deal he has negotiated and ask for your approval to proceed.” 
 
    … 
 
    “I think this is an excellent deal for several reasons,” Michael said. “The first, and probably the most important, reason is that the High Command has explicitly authorized Space Force operations outside of our Solar System as an allied force, not a subordinate force. It is my belief that the only way we can defeat the Enemy will be to attack and destroy their home world. I think the only force within the Confederation that has a chance of doing that is our Space Force. 
 
    “The concession that the High Command has given us has only been granted once before. Obtaining it means that we can fight the Enemy on our terms, not on theirs.” 
 
    “I thought the primary reason the Earth joined the Confederation was for them to protect us from the Enemy.” Chinese Ambassador Hang Jiao-long said. By his tone, it was clear that he disapproved of Space Force going to aid the Confederation. 
 
    “As I’ve said before, even with the Confederation’s help there is no guarantee that we will defeat the Enemy, just a higher probability. At that time, I thought the Confederation would be the primary force battling them. Since that time, Earth has been able to evolve Confederation technology in a way that makes it likely we can defeat the Enemy on our own. 
 
    “Failing to use that evolved technology to help protect the Confederation is unconscionable. We would end up fighting a war on two fronts, from their home world and from their presence in Andromeda. We would not win that war,” Michael said with some heat. 
 
    “I agree with Michael,” Ambassador Piotr Kosinski from Poland said. 
 
    “As do I,” Ambassador Margaret Whitaker from the United Kingdom said. 
 
    Additional sounds of approval rippled around the room. 
 
    “The second reason I think we need to do this is because it is a relatively low-risk mission. There are few Enemy infiltrators and they pose no risk to our ships despite the risk they pose to Confederation citizens on the planets they are infiltrating. 
 
    “A mission like this is a good first step in battle-hardening our ships and building cohesion among our troops. It will also help expose any shortcomings there may be in our designs, technology and training.”   
 
    “The last reason I offer is that successfully completing the mission will materially change the balance of power in our galaxy. That process has already begun. The trade delegation you will be hearing from later today is a direct result of the accomplishments we have made to date. 
 
    “Every member planet in this galaxy will want to do business with Earth and vast wealth will flow here as a result.” 
 
    “So, this is just about money?” Ambassador Hang Jiao-long said with disgust. 
 
    “No. This is about standing up for our allies. It is about increasing our odds against the Enemy. They will come no matter what we do. But the three reasons I offered all increase our odds of survival.” 
 
    Most of the members broke into applause at Michael’s statement. 
 
    President Lee walked up to stand next to Michael. “I move that we accept the assistance deal the Ambassador has negotiated.” 
 
    … 
 
    The final vote was 14 to 1. The deal was approved. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE VISITORS AREA 
 
    Michael’s next stop was the receiving area for guests invited to address the Earth Alliance’s House of Ambassadors. The original plan had been for Michael to lead the receiving party that welcomed the trade delegation to Earth last night. But with the emergency preparations, Michael passed the responsibility to three of his adjuncts. 
 
    Michael spotted the trade representatives as soon as he walked in. They were enthusiastically pitching merchandise to a small group of Ambassadors that had been selected for the premeeting. As he walked toward them, they saw him and came over to introduce themselves. 
 
    “Ambassador Michael. I am Futan Knosel, Senior Trade Representative of the Unified Angoloran States on Karagon. And this is my colleague, Respa Knosen, Associate Trade Representative. Thank you for having invited us to Earth,” he said, as the two of them placed their hands together in front of their chests and bowed deeply. 
 
    Michael offered the same formal greeting gesture, then said, “Representatives Knosel and Knosen. Welcome to Earth and the Earth Alliance. Thank you for coming on such short notice. I think there is great opportunity for our people to work closely together.” 
 
    The trade representatives beamed. 
 
    “My sincerest apologies for missing the reception held in your honor last night. It had been my intention to greet you then, but I was called away by a Central Council emergency.”  
 
    “We understand that you have many responsibilities and the needs of the Confederation are a higher priority than a simple trade deal. But we stand ready to spend as much time with you as your schedule allows. 
 
    “Will you be able to participate in the negotiation meeting scheduled for this afternoon?” Representative Knosel asked. 
 
    “Yes. I plan to participate in most of the events this week,” Michael said, then continued, “Have you been briefed on the format of the session that will be starting momentarily?” 
 
    “Yes. We will address your House of Ambassadors, two representatives from each member country. We can speak for 45 minutes, but not give demonstrations. The representatives will be able to tour the exhibition hall this afternoon before dinner tonight and much of the day tomorrow.” 
 
    “Excellent. I will accompany you in, make an introduction, then turn the meeting over to you. When you are finished, I will come up to close that portion of the meeting, then we will exit so that the House can take up other matters.” 
 
    “Very good.” Representative Knosel said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HOUSE OF AMBASSADORS 
 
    They entered the room to thundering applause. The Angolorans had been briefed about how they would be received. They had a similar tradition involving clapping of hands. But the extent of the enthusiasm was unexpected. As they took their positions on the stage, President Lee pounded his gavel, bringing the session to order. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador,” he said. “Would you please introduce our guests?” 
 
    Michael stepped up onto the podium as the President sat. 
 
    “Friends and colleagues. Today is another first for the Peoples of Earth. Representatives from another world have come to introduce themselves, pay their respects, and offer trade. It is the first time a non-human species has addressed a governmental body on this planet in their native forms. 
 
    “They come from a planet known to Earth scientists as Kepler-452b. They call their home world Karagon. Their planet is large as compared to Earth with nearly six times the surface area. It is home to four different intelligent species, each members of the Confederation, with a total population over 1 trillion. By any standard, Karagon supports a thriving economy with enormous manufacturing capacity, which could be very helpful to the post-Revelation Earth. They also have thriving art of every form and beautiful destinations that humans will soon be able to visit. 
 
    “They will tell you more about their world and their interests in trade and tourism. Please listen to what they have to say. It is my belief that Earth and Karagon will become much more than distant Confederation allies. I believe they will become friends.”  
 
    Michael’s introduction was interrupted by loud applause. As it died down, he said. “Please welcome Trade Representatives Futan Knosel and Respa Knosen of the Unified Angoloran States of Karagon.” 
 
    When the applause quieted, Representative Knosel started his speech. “Ambassadors from the countries of Earth, thank you for such a generous welcome. My colleague and I are Angoloran, one of the four species of intelligent beings that share our world. 
 
    “Tens of thousands of years ago, the Enemy attacked Karagon. They stripped all higher forms of life from the planet, along with many of its natural resources.”  
 
    The representative’s statement triggered a wave of shock and murmuring, which rippled around the room. 
 
    “From there, the Enemy moved on to destroy numerous other worlds, among them our original home world, Angolor. 
 
    “This happened just as the Confederation started mapping out our arm of the Milky Way. They fought back the Enemy and helped assist peoples and cultures that had been all but wiped out. They helped the Angolorans that escaped the Enemy to settle on Karagon. They did the same for the remnants of three other species. They spaced us far enough apart that each could thrive. They helped us develop and eventually offered membership to each. 
 
    “Because of this complex heritage, we have much to offer other worlds. We have very advanced design and manufacturing capabilities relevant to many different kinds of beings. We have learned to be gracious and welcoming hosts to many different species. The resorts along our beaches and in our mountains are favorites among a hundred worlds. And our artists craft things that capture the eye and rapture the soul. 
 
    “We would love to share our art, music, skills and capabilities with you; we would love to share our world with you. We would also love to work with you, enjoy your hospitality, take in your art, and gain access to the technology that you have created to protect yourselves from the Enemy. 
 
    “The Enemy is still active in our area. The Confederation, with Earth’s assistance, recently cleared the last of the current horde. But more are coming. The more we can work together, the more likely we will be to prevail. 
 
    “Please come by the Exhibit Halls at your leisure this afternoon and tomorrow to see a sampling of the goods we’ve brought. And please work through the channels that the Embassy has established to book time to speak with us. 
 
    “We welcome you to the Confederation. We welcome you as allies. And we look forward to becoming friends and vital colleagues. 
 
    “Thank you.” 
 
    The room, which had been relatively quiet throughout the speech, erupted in standing ovation that went on for minutes. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SPACE FORCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Daniel appeared on the designated transport pad a few minutes before his appointment with the Admiral. He walked over to the Admiral’s office suite and was greeted by the Lieutenant that served as the Admiral’s assistant. 
 
    “Good morning, Captain. The Admiral will be with you momentarily.” 
 
    “Good morning. Any idea what’s going on?” he asked casually. 
 
    “Yes. But you will never hear it from me,” she said, smiling back at him. 
 
    Daniel took a seat, pulled out his tablet and started in on the interminable stack of paperwork. He was pulled back to reality a few minutes later when the assistant said, “The Admiral is ready to see you now.” 
 
    Daniel entered the office to see the Admiral and the Secretary. 
 
    “Captain Porter. Please come in. We have a great deal to accomplish and little time,” Admiral Scott said. “The first item on the agenda is this.” He said, sliding a small box across the table to him. 
 
    Daniel picked it up and opened it to see a silver star. 
 
    “Congratulations, Rear Admiral Porter,” said the Admiral. 
 
    “The Ambassador and President Lee send their congratulations as well,” Secretary Thompson added. “They could not be here this morning because of the trade delegation.” 
 
    “Thank you.” Daniel said. “I suppose this has something to do with the orders my officers received to report at 10:30.” 
 
    “Yours and the command crews of nine other ships.” The Admiral said, then turned to the Secretary, indicating that he should take it from here. 
 
    “Daniel,” the Secretary said. “We received some disastrous news last night. A small force of Enemy infiltrators has made their way to the central Confederation Systems in Andromeda. New Lorexi is being threatened. Two nearby systems are suspected to be infected. We don’t know the total size of the force. We know there are at least six, because they were seen commandeering a ship just before it jumped away toward New Lorexi. But we expect there are at least twice as many. 
 
    “There are tens of trillions of Confederation citizens on the 100 planets in the area the ships jumped to. It has been spotted a couple of times. Each of the systems it has been seen in are assumed to be infected. The Confederation Fleet in that area is relatively thin and none of those ships has been upgraded with modern propulsion or shields, whereas the ship that was commandeered has been. 
 
    “Lastly, most of these planets have had Enemy resistant shields designed for them. Many have spent a great deal of time and effort trying to build them but have not been able to bring their shields up.” 
 
    “Your mission is to lead an armada of 10 ships to New Lorexi. There you will team up with Admiral Jo-Na. Your primary mission will be to bring the shields up on all 100 planets. Specialist mission teams will be assigned to each ship. These teams will be able to diagnose and fix the problems our allied planets are having with the shields. 
 
    “Your secondary mission will be to work with the Confederation Fleet and scan for and destroy any Enemy infiltrators you find on each planet. 
 
    “Over the next two hours, your ships will be upgraded with replicators suitable for the job. Your ships will also have a fourth watch team added. You may use these officers as you see fit to advance the mission. We do not expect you to add a fourth watch, although that would be an option. We do expect you to use the flexibility these additional officers give you to assist the mission teams and the search teams to get the job done. 
 
    “One additional item regarding the reoutfitting. You will be entrusted with a huge quantity of transluminide. Enough to build the shields from scratch, if that’s what’s needed. Enough to build the power systems that drive them. Enough to effect repairs to your ships, if that’s required. Enough to render assistance to the Fleet ships that accompany you, if it is required. This is a tremendous responsibility. The Confederation will judge you and Earth on the success of the mission and the prudence with which this resource is used. 
 
    “Regarding chain of command… You will be treated as an allied force, not as a subordinate force. The senior Fleet Admiral of the Confederation’s High Command will be orchestrating the overall effort. Admiral Jo-Na’s Armada will take their commands from the High Command. You will work with Admiral Jo-Na in a cooperative manner, as you have done before, to shield and scan the planets he directs you to. His ships will accompany you anywhere they need you to go, so that there is no opportunity for conflict with Confederation elements that are unknown to us. But the important thing is that you are not under the Fleet’s command. You are a cooperative allied force, there to assist as best you can, but never to be commanded to lead a fight.  
 
    “Written orders and authorization codes are now in your ships portal.” The Secretary said. 
 
    “Understood and thank you sir. We will get this job done.” 
 
    “Daniel,” Admiral Scott said. “You have been promoted to the flag position for this task force. As such you have the authority to do field promotions as required. I would recommend that you designate your current first officer to be your Executive Officer in charge of your flag ship, then assign a new first, second and third officer. 
 
    “When I was promoted to your new rank, I was slow to do that. It was a time of peace, so didn’t seem necessary. In retrospect that was a mistake.” 
 
    “Thank you for that advice, sir.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s go down to the briefing room and brief your officers. If possible, Michael will pop in. We will obviously yield the floor to him if he can make it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    When Daniel had left the bridge of his ship to transport down to Headquarters, he had left Ryan in charge. First Officer Duan Tai had been on the bridge at the time but was slotted to transport down 15 minutes later. Daniel’s last comment before exiting was, “I noticed that transport slots are tight this morning. You should book a slot now for yourself and Lt. Commander Kumar.” 
 
    Duan quickly followed up and grabbed a slot for two at 9:53. 
 
    As he sat on the chair next to Jim Ryan, who was in the captain’s chair, he said, “Something’s up. I’ve never seen transporter slots this congested. I’m going to grab Kumar now and go to the transporter pad. Don’t crash my ship while I’m gone.” 
 
    At 10:00 on the mark, Else said. “Mr. Ryan. We have just received updated orders. They are all encrypted, except for one that is to be sent to the officer on watch.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Else.” 
 
    The orders popped up on his screen. A team of engineers have been ordered to transport to your ship immediately. You are to receive them and provide any assistance they require to make modifications to your ship. 
 
    “That’s curious.” Jim thought, then pushed a button to connect to Major Ed Foster, who led the ships contingent of Space Marines. 
 
    “Ed. Jim Ryan here. I’ve got the bridge. All the other senior officers are off ship. An engineering team is about to transport up to do some upgrades on the ship. We are ordered to receive and assist. Can you take that? I’m not supposed to leave the bridge.”  
 
    “On it. Where and when.” 
 
    “I think they have equipment, so I’m going to direct them to the cargo transport pad. I’ll ping you when they’re on their way.” 
 
    “The request for transport clearance has just been received,” Else said. 
 
    “Looks like they are ready now, Ed. Can you hustle over? Let me know when you’re there.” 
 
    “On my way,” In the background, Jack could hear several others getting up to go with Ed. 
 
    “Can you acknowledge the request, Else?” Jim asked. 
 
    “Already done,” she replied 
 
    A moment later, she got the signal that the Marines were in place and she transported the engineering team up to the ship. 
 
    “Ryan, you’re not going to believe this. Another set of orders for you.” 
 
    “Seriously?” He said. “Something’s got to be up.” 
 
    The next set of orders were received. A fourth watch team has been assigned to your ship. They will be ready for transport at 11:00. You are to receive them and assign quarters. 
 
    “This is really interesting.” Jack said. “We are being assigned a fourth watch team. Ms. Harris, could you see if Ensigns Perez or Durant could be available to meet them at 11:00 AM? 
 
    “Else, do you think we should use the command deck transporter?” 
 
    “I’ll have to bring them up two at a time. They’ll have gear. But, based on what I’m seeing, the engineering team is bringing a lot of stuff up, so I agree. Let’s use the command deck,” Else replied. 
 
    “Ensign Perez is sleeping. Ensign Durant has volunteered to meet the new watch team. Do you think one of our teams is going to be replaced?” Yeoman Harris asked. 
 
    “Don’t know.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION BRIEFING ROOM 
 
    Commanders Tai and Kumar arrived on the transporter pad on the first level of Space Force Headquarters. They quickly exited, so it would be clear for the next set of arrivals. They were four minutes late because others had been slow exiting the pad. 
 
    “Something is seriously going on,” Duan Tai said. “I’ve never seen the place this busy and I recognize a lot of these people. Let’s head over to the briefing room.” 
 
    They arrived in a nearly full room and grabbed some open seats up front. At 10:00 AM on the dot, the door to the preparation room opened and three men came out: Secretary of Space Force, Winston Thompson, Admiral Sam Scott and Captain Daniel Porter. They sat and the room immediately quieted. 
 
    The Secretary nodded to the Admiral, who rose. 
 
    “I have an announcement to make before we begin. Daniel, if you will stand? Today, Captain Daniel Porter is promoted to Rear Admiral, flag officer of Space Force’s new Extra-Terrestrial Task Force. The Admiral took two silver stars from a box and placed one on each side of the Captain’s collar. As this was happening, the door to the preparation room opened and Michael came out. 
 
    “Sorry, I’m late.” He said as he walked over to shake Daniel’s hand. “Congratulations, Admiral Porter.” 
 
    Then to the Space Force Secretary. “May I?” 
 
    The Secretary nodded his consent. 
 
    Michael turned to address the assembly. “Everything related to the mission you are about to embark on is top secret. You will understand why in a moment. 
 
    “Yesterday, I got word of Enemy infiltration into the heart of the Confederation in Andromeda. A group of Enemy combatants commandeered one of the Fleet Cruisers that we recently upgraded. The Cruiser was on a rescue mission to inspect and rescue a ship that had become stranded in the intergalactic void. The ship they were to inspect was thought to be infected. The Captain of the Cruiser failed to follow his rules of engagement. He paid for that error with his life and the lives of his crew. 
 
    “The Cruiser was seen departing on a vector toward New Lorexi. It has been briefly spotted in two other systems, where we believe the Enemy has infiltrated agents. The majority of the Andromeda Fleet is deployed days or weeks away from the area the Enemy is targeting. None of the local fleet has been upgraded to be able to scan for a ship with Enemy-resistant shielding. None of the 100 systems in the target region have Enemy-resistant planetary shields. We have been called in to help build the planetary shields and provide whatever additional help we can. 
 
    “Our Armada will be under the sole command of Admiral Porter. He will work collaboratively with our allied forces to determine where your ships will be deployed and the specific assistance you are authorized to offer. 
 
    “At this point, I hand the briefing back to the Secretary,” Michael exited through the same door he came in from and transported back to Earth Alliance Headquarters. 
 
    … 
 
    “Next, I would like to introduce Dr. Christina Babine.” The Secretary said. “Dr. Babine is a professor at the Institute’s Medical School. She is an Ascendant. Her current research is in the area of the human reaction to extra-dimensional travel. Dr. Babine.” He indicated that she should take the podium. 
 
    “Thank you for inviting me today, Mr. Secretary.” She took the podium. As she turned to the assembly of officers, she said, “The mission you are about to embark on has an additional element of danger that I would like to address with you, specifically the physical and psychological impacts of intergalactic travel. 
 
    “For reasons that are not fully understood at this point, most humans have a stronger adverse reaction to interdimensional travel than other species. I suspect most of you felt some minor dizziness when you transported down today. I’m sure there are a few of you that have experienced similar dizziness when entering and exiting warp drive. But, to date, we have not documented a case where a human has passed out or vomited because of transport or warp travel. 
 
    “It is different with jump travel. A significant fraction of the human population experiences extreme nausea during or immediately after jumps of 1,000 light-years. Many of those also lose consciousness.” 
 
    “The journey you are about to undertake is 2.4 million light-years. That is 2,400 jumps of 1,000 light-years. Although we do not have proof of this, we have reason to believe that this many jumps could seriously injure and possibly kill some people. Therefore, we have developed the following protocol that we recommend to you. 
 
    
    	 Administer a mild sedative to all humans on board before the first jump. 
 
    	 Jump 1,000 light-years. 
 
    	 Rank the crew members’ reactions. Those that experience severe symptoms should be hospitalized and deeply sedated. Those that have mild reactions should be given another dose of the sedative. 
 
    	 Do a second 1,000 light year jump. 
 
    	 Determine if there are any others that need hospitalization. 
 
    	 Repeat, until all relevant crew are properly sedated. 
 
   
 
    “The full instructions for this protocol, including the specific medications and doses, have been updated to your ships’ portals. Your doctors should have no trouble implementing it. Are there any questions?” 
 
    Multiple hands shot up immediately. 
 
    “How safe is it to operate the ship while sedated?” The first questioner asked. 
 
    “Levels 1 and 2 are completely safe. Beyond that, the crew should be taken off duty until you reach the far side of the void,” Dr. Babine answered. 
 
    Daniel stood and said to the doctor, “If I may?” 
 
    “Certainly, Admiral Porter.” She stepped back from the podium. 
 
    “I have personally experienced a jump of 18,000 light-years. It is completely disabling. The good news is that the first level of medication cleared it up for most of my crew. I personally was back in the game within a minute of being medicated and was completely clear-minded. I offer these two pieces of advice. 
 
    “First, take the doctor’s warning seriously. There will be people on each of our ships that will be disabled if they are not medicated. These people are your responsibility. 
 
    “Second, always keep a dose on your person and one by your bed. Your leadership is essential for the health and safety of your crew and for the success of this mission. Make sure you can medicate yourself. If there is an emergency, you are the only one you can count on to come to your own aid.  
 
    “Thank you. Doctor?” Daniel passed the floor back to her. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, SPACE FORCE HEAD QUARTERS 
 
    “Duan. Darsha. Thanks for meeting with me here.” 
 
    “Daniel. Are you serious?” Duan asked. “You’re the flag officer now. When you say come, people come. You don’t thank them, as if not coming were an option.” Then he smiled. “Maybe you don’t remember, but there was a day when we would compete for recognition from the flag officer.” 
 
    Daniel laughed. The comment struck very close to home. 
 
    “Thank you for that reminder. But…” Daniel was momentarily lost for words. “You two are the ones I depend on. I hope that relationship never changes.” 
 
    After a few moments of silence, Danial said, “Duan. You have the ship. You’re my Executive Officer. If I understand correctly, I cannot make that official until we break orbit, but it is done. You have first watch. As such you can select the first, second and third officers.” 
 
    Daniel paused then added, “I recommend Darsha as first officer. The question is about second officer. You want to take Ryan? If not, I strongly recommend that you keep him as third officer.” 
 
    “May I ask why?” 
 
    “How did you do in the Kepler-452 simulation?” asked the new admiral. 
 
    “I’m sure you know the answer to that.” 
 
    “As I recall, 75-ish percent?” 
 
    “Your point?” Duan asked. 
 
    “Ryan is the highest scorer in the 10,000-year history of the simulation.” 
 
    “What? What did he get? Six hours?” 
 
    “Twenty-four hours. That’s all there is. He killed everything on the 8th moon and teamed up with the rescue squadron who recorded it all.” 
 
    “Are you serious?” Duan thought about it. “Holy shit.” 
 
    “Also, he got a letter of recommendation from the Ambassador.” 
 
    “Any other anointed ones?” Duan asked in disbelief. 
 
    “Tajima. Letter of recommendation from the Ambassador and top scorer in the Astrogation competition.” 
 
    “Who else?” 
 
    “O’Brien. Top five in the tactical competition and recommendation from George Butler. You will have access to the files soon. But his comment was something like ‘observant, one of those that saves squads’ if you can believe that.” 
 
    “You know. I thought we had good watch officers but didn’t know they were that good. I’m assuming that you would be good if I went with Ryan as second and O’Brien as third?” 
 
    “Yes. But do the search with the tools in the portal. There may be others that have popped up since I was last in. You can choose anyone on board for the next 30 minutes, then anyone in the Task Force after that.” 
 
    “What about this fourth watch business?” 
 
    “The Ambassador said several things that reveal the intent. We are in for a lot of 24-hour days. They are prospective relief. But the real intent has to do with the mission teams. The mission teams are understaffed, stretched beyond the limit. During the mining mission, many watch officers volunteered for cross-training and exceeded expectations. Michael is hoping that between the three watches we have, and the fourth they are providing, we can find appropriate ones to supplement the mission teams.” 
 
    “Clever,” Lt. Commander Kumar said. 
 
    “Very,” Daniel agreed. “The transporter queue should have mostly cleared by now. Let’s return to the ship and see what they have done to it. I also have a meeting with the captains in a half hour. New positions will be field-granted once we break orbit.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Michael entered the Conference Room a minute early. Nonetheless, he was still the last one to arrive.  
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Thank you for joining us,” Trade Representative Knosel said. 
 
    “No, thank you for agreeing to visit this young world,” Michael said. 
 
    “Your thanks are too generous,” The trade representative replied. 
 
    “Gentlemen.” President Lee interjected. “Thank you so much for coming to visit us on Earth. I look forward to the day I can greet you on Karagon.” 
 
    “You would be welcome any time,” the trade representative replied. 
 
    “May I move on to business?” 
 
    “Yes. To business. Thank you, President Lee.” 
 
    “The Earth Alliance is very interested in engaging in trade with the peoples of Karagon. I understand that there are things you would like to obtain from us, and I assure you that there are things we would like from you. So, shall we begin?” 
 
    “Thank you, President Lee. I will be honest and straightforward. The recent Enemy activity in our area has our population in a panic. We need Enemy-resistant shields. You have designs, the replicator patterns, the transluminide to build them… We have none of that. But we do have tremendous manufacturing capacity, art, music, beautiful destinations, unrivaled hospitality. Any and all of these are yours, if you can give us shields. Beyond that the sky is the limit. We are a welcoming and generous people that desperately want trade with technologically able and wealthy planets, such as yours.” 
 
    President Lee was momentarily taken-back by the honesty and vulnerability of the Trade Representative’s appeal. 
 
    “My friends. There is much that the people of Earth need that you can provide. We offer transluminide claims in exchange for products and services. We offer shield designs and services to build them. And we look forward to the day when our peoples freely intermix and share their hospitality. 
 
    “We are new to the Confederation and really do not understand Confederation economics very well, so we will entrust most of our negotiations to Ambassador Michael. But, please rest assured, we will provide what you need if we can come to a reasonable accommodation, and I am confident we can do that.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    The Ottawa’s command team appeared on the Command Deck transporter pad. As they entered the bridge, Daniel said, “Mr. Ryan, please report.” 
 
    “A lot of stuff happened while you were gone Captain. An engineering crew came shortly after you left. They have made substantial changes to Deck 1 and have converted one of the cargo bays into a manufacturing facility. They are still on board. I think Chief Watson wants to speak with you. 
 
    “We received five new watch officers who have been given quarters and are currently being given a tour of the ship by Ms. Durant. 
 
    “And our new mission team has arrived. Joel Rubinstein, who you know, and an android named Talan Davy, who is a specialist in replicator pattern design.” 
 
    “Thank you, Mr. Ryan.”  
 
    “Captain?” Else said. 
 
    “Yes. Ms. Else.” 
 
    “New orders have been received, but they are locked. You will need to unlock them before they flow to the various stations.” 
 
    “Understood,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Ryan. You have the con. Gentlemen, if you would come with me.” Daniel said, leading his two officers into the office. 
 
    “When are you going to tell them?” Duan asked. 
 
    “Let’s see what our official orders are and when we need to depart.” 
 
    Daniel opened his tablet and noted that a new portal was available to him, one for the task force. His ships were listed and each of their portals was available to him through the task force portal. He saw that their scheduled departure was for noon. 
 
    “Ms. Harris?” Daniel called out. The comm system connected him to Jade Harris, the yeoman on watch. 
 
    “Here, Captain.” 
 
    “I need to meet with the captains of the Stockholm, Copenhagen, Oslo, San Juan, Helsinki, Brasília, Abuja, Kinshasa and Jakarta immediately. Please initialize the Presence Projector. Once that is done, please get me the expected completion time from the Engineering team on board.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “Duan, you’re with me. Darsha, could you check in with the mission team and make sure they are ready to depart. Target departure is noon, so they have a little less than an hour.” 
 
    “On it.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel walked in to see the room set for ten with one real chair at the head of the table. He grabbed another from around the side of the room and slid it up to the table, then watched as the room automatically reset for eleven. 
 
    While he was doing that the various captains started entering. 
 
    “Gentlemen. Please have seats. Our target departure is noon, so a number of things need to happen quickly. The engineering teams on your ships need to finish their work, and your new crew and mission team need to be settled. As soon as we are done here, I will make a task-force-wide address, then release orders to each ship. 
 
    “A couple of quick points… Our ships will form up shortly after leaving Earth orbit, then fly in formation until we reach our target coordinates to rendezvous with Admiral Jo-Na’s fleet. I don’t want any of our ships to lose sight of any of the others until we split apart in Andromeda. Therefore, you should instruct your helm AI’s to coordinate with Else, the helm AI on my ship.” 
 
    “After the first couple jumps, we will go into puddle jumping mode until we reach the far side of the intergalactic void. Specifically, we will be doing approximately 24,000 jumps, 100 light-years each. This will be faster because the recharge cycle is seconds, not minutes. I’m also hoping the shorter jumps will go easier on the crew. 
 
    “Once across the void, we will pause and run relevant diagnostics on our ships and crews. When we are sure that we’re sound, we will proceed as a fleet.  
 
    “One last note… Effective immediately upon breaking Earth orbit, Duan Tai will become Executive Officer on the Ottawa. Ship-specific inquiries should go to him.” 
 
    “Questions?” Daniel asked. 
 
    There were none. 
 
    “Then you are dismissed. Let’s do our best to get out of here on time.” Daniel said, and the holographic projection faded away. 
 
    … 
 
    Returning the bridge, Daniel asked. “Ms. Harris. Any update from Engineering?” 
 
    “They are just about finished, but Chief Engineer Watson is not a happy man and wants to speak with you.” 
 
    “Commander Tai, could you go talk with the Chief Engineer. I am going to make the announcement to the task force.” 
 
    “On it, sir.” He left. 
 
    “If I could have your attention for a moment,” Daniel said to the bridge crew as a whole. 
 
    “A catastrophe is in the process of unfolding in Andromeda, near the Confederation capital world of New Lorexi. You will hear more about that in a moment. 
 
    “Space Force is sending 10 ships to help contain the catastrophe. A task force has been formed. The Ottawa is its flag ship. I have been promoted to Rear Admiral and am the Flag Officer for this mission. As soon as we leave orbit, Commander Tai will become the Executive Officer of this ship. 
 
    “Ms. Harris, I would like to make an announcement, ship-wide on all ships in the Task Force. Can you set that in motion?” 
 
    “On it, sir.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Your attention, please. This is Rear Admiral Daniel Porter speaking. Most of you have noticed a great deal of activity on your ship today. You have received some engineering upgrades, new crew members and a mission team. Most of you are probably wondering why. 
 
    “Yesterday, a great catastrophe struck the Confederation in Andromeda, in the area where our capital planet, New Lorexi, is located. An unknown number of Enemy insurgents captured a Confederation Cruiser, one that was recently upgraded to Earth-standard. It was last seen heading toward New Lorexi. Sightings have also occurred in two nearby systems. 
 
    “The majority of the Confederation Fleet has not been upgraded yet. They do not have the speed, shielding or sensors that the stolen ship does. Given their disadvantage in the coming conflict, the Central Council has requested aid from Earth. 
 
    “We will be leaving within the hour for Andromeda. Our primary mission will be to install shielding around the 100 planets in the area where the Enemy has been seen. Our secondary mission is to scan these planets as we work on their shields. Our tertiary mission is simply to be helpful in any way I deem safe. 
 
    “On arrival in Andromeda, we will meet with the Confederation Armada that recently departed Earth. All of their ships have been upgraded. Throughout our stay in Andromeda, we will be accompanied by ships from this armada. I know their Admiral. Many of you know members of their crew. We are well matched, have worked together before and we will prevail in this conflict. 
 
    “Please make all haste in preparing to depart. Every minute we delay risks the life of an ally. 
 
    “Porter out.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “This system appears to be similar to Luhman-16. Nothing on the first planet. Dozens of small deposits on the second planet around the Alpha.” Professor Schudel said.  
 
    “What was the final count?” Charles asked. 
 
    “Fourteen, ranging in size from 90 kilos to 450. I’m not understanding the physical process here. Maybe there was transluminide in the gas cloud that pooled. Maybe asteroids hit while the crust was still pliant and remained whole,” said the Professor. 
 
    “Do we have everything we need to file this one?” Charles asked. “If we do, then we should ask the captain to move on to the Beta.” 
 
    “Good point. We have 16 more systems to evaluate after this one and someone is going to get suspicious soon.” The Professor grabbed his communicator. 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain Flanagan. Thank you for taking my call. I think we have everything we need from this planet and are ready to move on to the other brown dwarf.” 
 
    “Thank you, Professor. We will start moving shortly. It will probably take three hours to get there. We will alert you when we are on approach.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Commander Tai returned to the bridge as the ship was preparing for departure. “The Admiral is in the office, sir,” Ryan said from the Captain’s seat. 
 
    Duan went over, knocked and was ordered in. 
 
    “So, what was the Chief’s problem?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “It seems he has made quite a few ‘improvements’ over the last three months that the upgrade team did not know about. They ripped quite a bit out as part of the upgrade process and the Chief is livid about someone else messing with his ship without his permission.” 
 
    “Did he tell you what they added? I’m sure it is in the portal, but I haven’t had a chance to look,” Daniel said. 
 
    “They changed up the scanners quite a bit. I think that is the one he was most upset about. He claims to have improved resolution and range by about 10 percent. 
 
    “The engineers were installing Enemy detection sensors and depth sensors useful for mining. They also added upgraded targeting sensors,” Duan said. 
 
    “Targeting sensors?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “To go with the expanded weaponry.” 
 
    “What kind of weapon upgrades did they add?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Both energy projectors and flux bombs. We had four 10-gigawatt energy projectors. We now have eight 100-gigawatt energy projectors with improved focus. It will give us greater distance on focused shots, and a broader full-energy beam on close-in shots. 
 
    “Similar change on the flux bomb transporters. Expanded from six to twelve transporters. The transporters have improved targeting and greater distance.” 
 
    “Very exciting. Improved capability to detect the Enemy. Improved capability to kill the Enemy. And the ability to do mining scans. Sounds good to me,” Daniel said. 
 
    “I tried that line of reasoning with the Chief. He conceded the point but went on to say that he would have got there on his own in another couple months. Then your announcement came over the speakers and he was a bit embarrassed.” 
 
    “So, we’re good then?” Daniel asked, not quite able to repress a smile. 
 
    “He still isn’t happy about people just showing up and messing with ‘his’ ship. But I think we’re good.” 
 
    The intercom sounded. 
 
    “Yes, Else.” Daniel said. 
 
    “Course is laid in, sir. I have worked with the other helm AIs to coordinate courses that will take us to the edge of the intergalactic void, where we will form up into a task force. We are taking separate paths, so we can get there about an hour faster. No one will be more than one jump away from everyone else. We’ll run a tighter formation once in the void.” 
 
    “Do we have expected time to New Lorexi?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “24 hours.” Else said. “This is a fast course, and if we can execute it as planned, it will be hard on the crew. I would recommend that we dose the crew now, before we even start. I have a hard time believing that any of the crew will be fully functional by the time we get there unless they are dosed before we start.” 
 
    “Let me check in with the doctor on that. How long will we be on grav and warp drive?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “A little less than an hour, then the long series of jumps.” 
 
    “Dr. Mason,” Daniel called out, triggering the com system to connect him to the doctor. 
 
    “Admiral Porter, how can I help you?” 
 
    “Would it be medically sound and acceptable to dose the crew before the first jump? It seems that very few, if any, will be able to handle 22 hours of continuous jumps, a couple seconds apart.” 
 
    “Thank you for asking, Admiral. I strongly recommended this, but Space Force Command decided to recommend a different protocol.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s start dosing the crew. Can we give the option of double dosing for those that know themselves to be susceptible?” 
 
    “I would recommend double-dosing everyone,” said the doctor. “It is as safe as taking an aspirin. And we only need to do it once. No downside to this plan in my opinion.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s do it. We only have an hour, so recruit help if you need to. I’m going to recommend this to the other Captains. You might want to do the same with the other doctors.” 
 
    “Will do,” replied the doctor. 
 
    Daniel quickly dashed off a message to the Task Force captains, saying they would depart at the scheduled time. Then he dashed off a second message to the Task Force captains and medical officers, recommending that they pre-dose their crews.    
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EXPOSITION HALL, EARTH ALLIANCE 
 
    It was the last day of the Johnson’s trip. The tour group had left yesterday, but Martha had booked an extra two nights. They would be leaving first thing in the morning. Although the Trade Expo had not been announced before their trip, it was the part Bob was looking forward to the most. There would allegedly be products available for sale and Bob was hoping he could find something he could use in the new housing development that he would be starting in the spring. 
 
    The exposition was mostly for dignitaries, but 100 tickets had been made available to the public and Bob had snagged two of them. As he and Martha entered the exposition, they were amazed by the things that were available. Martha peeled off to the art section, hoping to find things she could use in the interior design. Bob headed straight to the construction products area. 
 
    He was one of the first ones to arrive in this area. Each product had a stack of cards in front of them. As Bob browsed, he was impressed by the breadth of options. Foundations, shields, fabrication bots, wiring bots, building control systems. He picked up the corresponding card for several of the products. 
 
    A few more people had come into this section but, from the looks of them, Bob was the only actual builder. One of the men, dressed in a suit, walked over and introduced himself. “Hi. My name is Evan Till. I am an adjunct diplomat with the Confederation Embassy. I see you have picked up a number of the cards.” 
 
    Suddenly worried that he had misunderstood the purpose of the cards, Bob said. “Yes. We are allowed to take these, right?” 
 
    The question momentarily confused Mr. Till. “Oh, sorry. I did not mean to imply that you were not supposed to take the cards. I am a Confederation android. I just arrived on Earth last night to help with the Expo. This is my first conversation with a human in English. 
 
    “What I meant to ask is whether the number of cards you were holding was an indication of your interest in the products on display?” 
 
    “Yes, it is.” Bob smiled. “Is there a way for us to acquire any of these products? I’m about to start construction on a new housing development, and I would like to include as much of this stuff as possible. But I don’t know how much it costs or its availability.” 
 
    “Oh, this is very good news.” Mr. Till said. “We were hoping some people would come through and express interest in the goods the Angolorans are offering. Would you be interested in talking with one of the trade representatives?” 
 
    “Yes. I would love to. Do they have time for commercial people, such as myself?” 
 
    “Yes, they very much want to meet with commercial people. The diplomats have taken most of their time, but they insisted on meeting with a few commercial people.” Mr. Till said, quickly checking his tablet. “The first expo interview slot is still open, if you would like it.” 
 
    “Great! When and where.” 
 
    “In just a few minutes actually. Let me walk you over.” 
 
    … 
 
    Bob was taken to a booth on the trade show floor and told that the trade representative would be there momentarily. Bob had barely sat down, when the flap that was the booth door was pushed open. 
 
    Bob stood as the trade representative said, “Mr. Johnson, my name is Respa Knosen. I am Associate Trade Representative with the Unified Angoloran States on Karagon. It is a pleasure to have the opportunity to speak with you.” 
 
    Bob was momentarily stunned. He was shaking hands with someone he did not think was human. Snapping out of it, Bob said, “Representative Knosen, it’s a pleasure to meet you. Forgive me for asking, but you are not human, are you?” 
 
    The trade representative laughed at the question. “No, I am not. Our world has four different species of people on it. I am Angoloran. My people were selected for this mission because we are so similar to humans. I assume that I am the first non-human you have met in their native form?” 
 
    “Yes, you are,” Bob said, finding it hard to believe he was even having this conversation. “And, please call me Bob.” 
 
    “Bob, please call me Respa. Unfortunately, we only have a few minutes. Can I ask which products you are interested in and why?” Respa said, indicating that they should sit. 
 
    “Yes.” Bob said spreading the cards he had selected out on the table. “I’m a housing developer. I am about to start a new housing development that will eventually have about 300 homes. 
 
    “We live in an area known as ‘Tornado Alley’. Every year a dozen or more tornados strike our area. Most damage or destroy homes. Your foundations would improve home survivability. Your domes would more or less guarantee their safety. And your fabrication and wiring bots would help lower costs so more people could afford to live in safe homes. 
 
    “Do you know when such products would be available and how much they would cost?” 
 
    “That is the principal reason we are here this week, to determine cost and availability. But to help drive demand, there are a limited number of products that we are authorized to give away. If you would be interested, you could fill out an application to receive these samples. The principal cost to you, if you are granted a sample, is that the items must be put into use as quickly as possible and that they must be made available for display and demonstration for a period of one year.” 
 
    “May I please fill out an application?” Bob asked, thinking that he was about to hit the jackpot. He would use the products to build a sample home. The sample would be open for at least two years before he sold the house. 
 
    “The application is available on this tablet.” Representative Knosen pulled out a tablet that he gave to Bob. “Mr. Till will be back momentarily to help you with any questions that are not obvious.” 
 
    “Thank you very much.” Bob said, shaking Respa’s hand. Bob quickly dove into the application and had it mostly done by the time Mr. Till returned. 
 
    … 
 
    “This all looks to be in order. The order processing AI says that it is ready to be received.” Mr. Till looked up at Bob. “But would you be open to making a minor change?” he asked. 
 
    “Sure, what did you have in mind?” 
 
    “From what you’ve written, it seems to me that the products would have a significant impact on the safety of dwellings in the area where you live. Because of that safety advantage, many people would want to see your homes and understand why you can make those claims. Is that right?” 
 
    “Yes. That is the primary reason I want them,” Bob replied. 
 
    “You could probably say that a little more clearly and directly in the justification section of the application. The trade representatives are going to prioritize applications based on the impact the target application will have on health and well-being, and thereby demand for the product. 
 
    “From what I have seen so far, your uses of the products are exactly what they are looking for. Would you consider changing it to look like this?” Till said, handing the tablet back to Bob. 
 
    “Wow. This is good. I need you on my marketing team,” Bob said. 
 
    Till smiled. “Diplomatic training. I am not by nature a commercial person. But in this case, I think our interests aligned enough that I could help. 
 
    “If you are good with the changes I made, click the accept button.” 
 
    “Done,” Bob said. 
 
    “And if you are satisfied with the application, click the Submit button.” 
 
    “Done,” Bob said. A moment later Bob’s cell phone beeped. Looking at it, he saw a text message saying his application had been accepted and would be approved or rejected in three days.   
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Michael was not completely happy with the way the trade negotiation session had been set up. The plan was that he would be the Confederation’s Moderator in negotiations between the Earth Alliance and the Karagonian Trade delegation. But the Earth Alliance representatives did not believe that they had a firm enough grasp on Confederation economics to represent themselves. 
 
    So instead, Michael became part of the Earth Alliance trade delegation and Ambassador Fa-Ta from Karagon joined the Angoloran delegation to represent the interests of their planet.  
 
    “To confirm, we are pursuing a trade agreement in which the Earth provides two things: 1) mining rights to 5,000 kilograms of transluminide from one or more of their registered claims, and 2) designs and other assistance required for the Karagonian Alliance to construct an Enemy-resistant planetary shield. 
 
    “In exchange, Karagon will provide two things: 1) products containing up to 800 kilograms of transluminide, 2) custom design support for those products that include human-compatible user interfaces. 
 
    “Both parties agree to two additional things: 1) an equal, but limited, number of visas in support of developing tourist travel between our worlds, and 2) a limited number of licenses to display art, including art, music, movies and holoprojections, and other types of protected property. The numbers will be small at first, but easy to increase by mutual consent,” Ambassador Fa-Ta concluded. 
 
    Michael looked to President Lee and the other Earth delegates. “We agree to this understanding, correct?” He asked. 
 
    “Yes.” President Lee replied. 
 
    “How many applications did you receive today for samples?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Not that many. The Expo was only open for four hours. I expect that there will be more tomorrow.” Representative Knosel said. Then, looking at his pad. “A total of seven were accepted. The top three in the preliminary rankings are grav drives for a company named Boeing who wants to develop grav-drive shuttles for commercial use. A developer name Bob Johnson who wants to build safe homes in an area of the United States known as Tornado Alley. And an electric power company in Japan called Tokyo Electric Power that wants large scale power sources to convert its grid to a distributed power system for improved earthquake and tsunami survivability.” 
 
    “All of those sound good to me.” President Lee said. “As long as Boeing commits to less than price parity with jet engines.”  
 
    “Michael, would it be acceptable with you if I write up these broad terms and submit them to the Confederation Trade Council for conversion into the standard language? We can then translate them into English and Angoloran for detailed negotiation between the parties.” Ambassador Fa-Ta asked. 
 
    Michael turned to President Lee and said. “The process the Ambassador suggests is the standard procedure, but it is not a required procedure. It is acceptable to me, but if there are other major points you would like the agreement to include, now is the time to ask.”  
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta, what is Karagon’s annual transluminide budget?” 
 
    “As context, our reserves are nearly depleted. Our current budget is 1,000 kilograms, which provides a poverty-level existence for most of our residents. We are another 1,000 in debt and need several more thousand to bring our infrastructure up to Confederation standard.” 
 
    “So, this deal will help you quite a bit in the short-term, but it is not enough to hold you for long,” President Lee said. 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta was silent for a few moments, concerned that President Lee was angling for a better deal. “I think your statement is fair.” 
 
    “OK. Then I am good with the terms of the deal as you have suggested. It leaves plenty of room for bigger and better deals in the future. And will hopefully pave the way to a strong partnership between our worlds. Those two things are more important to the Earth Alliance than getting the best possible short-term deal.” 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta was surprised and grateful for President Lee’s assurance. Michael had told him that the Earth Alliance would do a deal to help a Confederation ally, if a deal could be made. The fact that this one was so generous was proof of Michael’s words and a credit to the honorability of this world. 
 
    “Thank you, President Lee. We will have an updated list of sample applications to review with you tomorrow and a draft trade agreement by the end of the week.” 
 
    … 
 
    After the meeting broke up, Ambassador Fa-Ta messaged Michael saying, Your humans are as honorable as you said they would be. Thank you for making this happen so quickly. I look forward to partnering with you, now and in the years that come. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    They had been underway for about two hours. They’d departed on grav drive at 15G, following the course that Else and first watch navigator Keanu Tajima had set. Although this was normal, Daniel still marveled at the sheer quantity of energy it took to accelerate a ship that weighed 36 million kilograms at 15G. As they passed through the orbit of Mars, they switched to warp drive to gain speed and obtain the vector they needed to start the jumps to New Lorexi. Once beyond the asteroid belt, each ship would execute a series of jumps that would take them to the rally point at the edge of the intergalactic void. From there, the coordinated jump sequence would begin. The plan was to conduct a series of 100 light-year mini-jumps. The distance to the edge of Andromeda was 2.4 million light-years, so they would be doing 24,000 mini-jumps with a three second recharge interval. 
 
    The first several jumps gave Daniel a mild case of vertigo, despite the double dose of anti-vertigo medication. But they were an hour into the 20-hour sequence at this point and the vertigo was mostly gone, replaced by a general sense of queasiness. 
 
    Three of his crew required sedation. Eight others had been given another dose of anti-vertigo medication, enough to affect judgement. They were relieved of duty for the duration of the trip and instructed to come back to the hospital if symptoms came back or worsened. 
 
    “Else. How is the ship holding up?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Just humming along. Trans-dimensional resonance is higher than expected, so I am working with the other AIs to come up with a plan to dampen it a little more.” 
 
    “How would you do that?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “We don’t know the cause. It could be that we are not varying the jump vectors and timing enough. It could be that 10 ships doing the same thing as close together as we are is creating a new type of resonance. It could be something we haven’t thought of.  
 
    “Professor MacLellan is mission team leader on the EAS Oslo. He thinks it is the synchronized jumping of 10 ships at the same time and is working on a scheme to randomize the jump timing among ships. He is also looking at increasing the spacing. He is the one that knows this stuff. My only concern is that he won’t have an answer in time.” 
 
     “It would be easy to adjust the spacing right? Spread out; give each ship its own random vector within its lane.” Daniel said. 
 
    “That’s what the AIs think we should do,” Else said. 
 
    “Then try it,” Daniel said. “Make small changes and see if you can measure the change. If the resonance decreases, then do more of what you were doing. If the resonance gets worse, then go back to the previous pattern and try something different.” 
 
    He paused, then added, “I agree with your initial assessment. A theoretical solution will take too long. We need to try an empirical approach and record the data. The theoretical assessment can come later.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. I’ll work the plan with the other AIs.” Then after a pause. “Anything else?” 
 
    “Oh,” Daniel said. “I wanted to talk with you about another matter. I want to give Commander Tai a field promotion to Executive Officer of the Ottawa and move him to first watch. I’m told that I have the authority to do that, but don’t know what codes I need to enter into the ship to get that done.” 
 
    “Let me check,” Else said. “Yes. You have the authority. What functions are you turning over to him?” 
 
    “Is there a standard setting for XO?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “What authorities are given?” 
 
    “He is basically given the ship and the crew. But you would continue to have the same authorities.” 
 
    “Good. Let’s make the change immediately. He can then reset the watches at his discretion.” 
 
    “Done,” Else said. 
 
    “Yeoman Perez. Please note the promotion of Commander Duan Tai to Executive Officer of the EAS Ottawa.” 
 
    “Yes, Admiral.” 
 
    “Yeoman Perez. Are Lt. Commander Kumar and Lt. Ryan still available?” Commander Tai asked. 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “Would you please summon them to the bridge?” 
 
    “Done sir.” 
 
    A few minutes later Kumar and Ryan appeared. 
 
    “Lt. Commander Kumar, you are hereby promoted to the position of First Officer of the EAS Ottawa and starting the next watch cycle will take second watch.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “Lt. Ryan. You are hereby promoted to Second Officer of the EAS Ottawa and starting the next watch cycle will head third watch.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “Ms. O’Brien?” Commander Tai said.  
 
    It was currently second watch. Kaitlin O’Brien was second watch tactical officer. 
 
    “Yes, sir?” She turned to look at the commander. 
 
    “You are hereby promoted to Third Officer and will take the first watch tactical station starting the next watch cycle.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “Yeoman Perez, please enter these changes in the ship’s log.” 
 
    “Done, sir.” 
 
    “Yeoman Perez, please advise Lt. Khan that he has been reassigned to second watch. And please advise Lt. Havildar that he has been reassigned to third watch.” 
 
    “Changes logged. Notifications sent.” 
 
    “With that, I leave the ship in your capable hands.” Daniel nodded to his XO then left the bridge. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DECK 1, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel decided that it was time for him to go meet with his mission team. As he emerged from the lift, he was surprised to see people and activity. This deck was rarely used. 
 
    Most of the people he saw, he did not know, something he would need to fix. As he walked toward the main lab space, he also saw a lot of new equipment that hadn’t been there before. When he arrived at the main lab, he saw Joel Rubinstein standing at the far end of the room talking to about 20 people. It was an interesting group. Based on the uniforms, he saw that there were watch crew, regular crew, marines and a number of civilians. Daniel slipped into the back of the room, hoping to do so without getting any attention, but that really wasn’t possible. 
 
    “Admiral,” Joel said. “Is there something I can help you with?” 
 
    “No,” said Daniel. “Please continue what you were doing. I don’t want to interrupt anything, but would like to listen in for a while, if that’s OK.” 
 
    “No problem,” Joel said. “I’m giving interested crew an overview of the new equipment that was just installed.” 
 
    “Well, I am interested crew. Please continue,” Daniel replied. 
 
    … 
 
    “That was the last upgrade.” Joel said. “Any questions?” 
 
    Daniel was the first to raise his hand. 
 
    “Did I understand correctly that we now have the ability to produce power sources up to 3 terawatts and planetary shields for planets up to 1.75 times the diameter of the Earth?” 
 
    “Yes. There are only two planets in the target group that are larger than that. The available space and systems on this ship would allow up to 1.75 times Earth. We will have to use Admiral Jo-Na’s manufacturing capabilities for the two largest planets.” 
 
    One of the watch crew raised his hand and Joel pointed to him. 
 
    “Keanu Tajima, first watch astrogation. Can I cross-train on the Enemy scanners even though my specialty is Astrogation?” 
 
    Joel smiled. “Absolutely. Anyone who wants to volunteer their personal time is welcome to cross-train. But, don’t get the mission team in trouble by shirking off on your primary responsibility.” 
 
    Daniel piped up. “Cross-training is good for your career. So, my advice to you is to seek out cross-training anytime you can. This mission to Andromeda is one of those rare missions where we have purposely overstaffed the watches to create additional cross-training opportunities and temporary assignments.” 
 
    “Thank you for that endorsement, Admiral,” Joel said. 
 
    … 
 
    After the session broke up, Daniel went up to talk with Joel. 
 
    “How do you think they’re doing?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Too soon to say with certainty, but this group is obviously smart and motivated. So, I’m expecting that we will have several that ask for temporary assignments.” 
 
    “Do you know the other mission teams?” 
 
    “Most of the team leaders, yes. Fewer of the seconds. Each of the teams will have no issue proficiently handling all the rote cases. None of the team leaders will have problems communicating the complicated problems to me or to the engineering team on Earth. 
 
    “Changing subject, can I ask you about something?” Joel asked. 
 
    “Go,” Daniel replied. 
 
    “Do you know anything about how the Enemy captured the Cruiser they did. It had been upgraded to have the same shields we do. If the Enemy managed to penetrate or take down those shields, then we will have the same vulnerability.”  
 
    “No. I don’t know. We will have to ask Admiral Jo-Na what he knows about that when we rendezvous. It would be disastrous for us to go into a conflict thinking we were impervious, only to find out that we are not.” 
 
    “One other thing about that. Our shields do not block transport. If the Enemy has learned how to use the transporters on the ship they captured, then they will be able to transport in right through our shields. 
 
    “Didn’t know that either,” Daniel said, suddenly worried that they had much less protection than he’d been led to believe. 
 
    “There is a version of the shields that block the transporter. I think we should use the time we have left to upgrade our shields.” 
 
    “Can you put that in motion?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes,” Joel replied. 
 
    “OK. Come up with a plan for this ship. Work with Chief Watson to plan the installation, then get back to me. If we can successfully update this ship, then we can ripple the updates through the taskforce.” 
 
    “You’ve got it, boss,” Joel said smiling. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel made it back to the bridge just before the watch change. As he entered, he said. “XO, can I have a word with you in the office?” 
 
    Once the door was closed, Daniel said. “We may have a problem.” 
 
    “Not liking the sound of that,” his XO said. 
 
    “The ship the Enemy hijacked had the exact same shielding that we do. We don’t know how the Enemy penetrated it, but they clearly did and we’re looking into it. But that ship was equipped with transporters that can transport things in through our shields.” 
 
    “Holy shit,” said the XO. “Why weren’t we briefed on that?” 
 
    “Don’t know. Our mission team leader, Joel Rubinstein is a shielding expert. He is the one that raised this issue to me. Maybe they didn’t know. Anyway, I’ve asked Joel to look into upgrading our shields. Maybe he can get us something in time. 
 
    “But regardless of what he can do for us, we need to be hyper vigilant about any contact with the Enemy.” 
 
    “Agreed.” 
 
       
 
   
  
 

 BALLROOM, EARTH ALLIANCE GUEST HOTEL 
 
    Eugene hated events like this. He was an engineer and a mathematician. He loved solving problems in the quiet of his office. Dressing up in a penguin suit and engaging in small talk was NOT his thing. Nonetheless, Michael told him that he needed to be here tonight. 
 
    As he walked in to show his invitation, he could hear a string quartet playing Vivaldi’s Four Seasons. Eugene loved the mathematical precision of that piece. 
 
    He presented his invitation to the host. 
 
    “Dr. Xu, such a pleasure to meet you.” The host said. He rang a little bell and a butler of some sort came to the front desk. “Harold, would you please escort Dr. Xu to the VIP reception area and announce his arrival?” 
 
    “Dr. Xu, if you will please come with me,” Harold said. Eugene followed him out into the main hallway, past a security barrier, then down another corridor.  
 
    They stopped in front of a closed door. The butler pressed a button next to the door and it was opened by a guard, who pointed to a velvet curtain and said, “Right through there.” 
 
    As they passed through a double curtain, Eugene could hear a harp playing. There were only eight people in the room. 
 
    “May I present Dr. Eugene Xu,” Harold announced, then turned to leave. 
 
    Michael came up to shake Eugene’s hand. “Eugene, thank you for joining us. Let me introduce you to our hosts and guests.” 
 
    As they approached the group of people, Eugene noticed that the two tall men looked very strange. 
 
    “Eugene. Please meet Senior Trade Representative Futan Knosel and his colleague Trade Representative Respa Knosen. They are here from the planet Karagon. Both are Angoloran.” 
 
    The two trade representatives put their palms together as if in prayer and lightly bowed toward Eugene. “Dr. Xu. We have heard so much about you and your work. It is truly an honor to meet someone of such accomplishment and distinction.” 
 
    As they dropped their hands, Michael whispered, “Return their greeting and tell them that you are pleased to have the privilege of meeting representatives of such a noble world.  
 
    Eugene put his palms together, bowed slightly and said, “Gentlemen. It is a pleasure to meet representatives from another world. It is something I never thought would happen before the Revelation. Thank you for being here.” 
 
    From the look in Michael’s eye, Eugene figured out that he didn’t get the greeting quite right, but the two trade representatives still bubbled with excitement. In fact, they looked a bit star struck. 
 
    “Eugene, allow me to introduce you to Earth Alliance President Binh Lee and his wife Trang.” Greetings were exchanged. 
 
    “And to Paul Lewis, Ambassador from the United States and his wife Pamela.” More greetings exchanged. 
 
    “And lastly, my other half, Sarah Wright.” 
 
    Sarah held out her hand and said, “Eugene, a pleasure to meet you in person.” 
 
    “Likewise.” Eugene said, shaking her hand. He knew who Sarah was and would have recognized her anywhere. But the power of her presence was a surprise to Eugene. 
 
    Eugene heard the curtain part, then the butler called out. “May I present Professor James Ancient.” 
 
    As with every other time James had entered a room Eugene was in, he felt his spirits rise.  
 
    The Angoloran representatives rushed forward to meet James. Hands together they bowed deeply and said. “Ancient One, your presence is a blessing.” 
 
    Eugene knew that James was someone special, but the Angolorans’ reaction led Eugene to believe that maybe James was more special than he understood. 
 
    The curtain parted again, and the butler announced. “May I present Australian Ambassador Greyson Brock and his wife, Fashion Designer Rachelle Pépin.”  
 
    As they walked down the steps into the room, another woman came in through the curtain. She was stunning. Eugene found himself mesmerized by her beauty. Then he realized… 
 
    “May I announce, Dame of the Order of Australia, Ms. Kelly Williamson.” 
 
    Eugene was blown away. It was hard to believe this was the same person he’d been working with the last couple months. Heart racing, he could not take his eyes off her. 
 
    A hand was placed on his shoulder and, before he could look to see who it was, he felt himself calming. A voice sounded in his mind. Relax my friend. This one’s heart belongs to someone else. But don’t worry. Another will come into your life soon that will steal yours. 
 
    As Eugene turned to look at James, shock turned into peace and contentment. “Thank you.” Eugene said, actually feeling good about being here tonight. 
 
    James whispered back. “She is as uncomfortable here tonight as you are. When the introductions are done, go say hi. The Angolorans’ desperately want to speak with the two of you, so will come over as soon as they see the two of you together. I think you will enjoy talking with them a lot more than you’ll enjoy talking with the diplomats.” 
 
    Waiters came around with trays of champagne. A waiter with just two glasses of an odd sparkling green drink brought them over to the Angolorans. A number of toasts were offered, the atmosphere in the room surprisingly festive. 
 
    Eugene used the distraction to go over to Kelly. “You look stunning tonight.” He said. 
 
    “You’re looking very handsome yourself.” 
 
    “So, what’s this ‘Dame of the Order of Australia’ business?” 
 
    “The closest American analogy would be the Presidential Medal of Freedom. Ours is the Australian version of the old English Knighthood. It’s a bit more restricted than the English or American systems, only four can be awarded in any given year.” 
 
    “Wow.” 
 
    “In truth, I think they just wanted to get ahead of the Nobel prize people. We’ve been nominated and are apparently the leading candidates.” 
 
    “What? How do you know that?” 
 
    “You would not believe how much the diplomats gossip and I’ve been subjected to a lot of it over the last week. Can’t wait to get back to work.” They both laughed at that statement. 
 
    “Ms. Williamson, Dr. Xu. Could we have a word with you?” Senior Representative Knosel asked. 
 
    “We would love to talk with you,” Kelly replied. 
 
    “My colleague and I had the pleasure of traveling to Earth on one of the Earth Alliance ships. You were both part of that, correct?” 
 
    “Yes.” Eugene said. “I did the propulsion system and Kelly and I worked on the shielding. Kelly also came up with the manufacturing process that allowed us to build them as quickly as we did.” 
 
    “Very, very impressive. We have never traveled in a ship as fast, smooth or comfortable as yours. Have you considered designing commercial ships?” 
 
    Eugene and Kelly looked at each other for a moment, then Eugene answered. “No. Not yet. We are deeply involved in creating defenses against the Enemy, and technologies that will allow us to take the fight to them. I haven’t thought that much about what to do once the conflict is over.” 
 
    “I am very glad to hear that you are part of the fight against the Enemy,” Representative Knosel said. “But I hope you might consider taking a break from that at some point. We would love to have you as our guests on Karagon if you would consider such a thing. Ours is a beautiful planet, as is yours. But ours is much larger than yours and has a greater variety of almost everything. Mountains that rise to 50,000 ft above sea level; exotic wildlife; beautiful beaches. You would be welcomed and honored by our peoples.” 
 
    Kelly having learn a bit of diplomacy over the last week was first to answer. “We would love to visit your planet and meet your people. But the timing of such a visit would be subject to priorities set by Ambassador Michael.” 
 
    “Excellent,” said the trade representative. 
 
    A head waiter walked up to the front of the room. “May I have your attention please. All of our guests have been seated and await your entry. Please follow me. You will be announced as you go in.” 
 
    The entrance into the ballroom was similar to the one coming into the room. 
 
    The American Ambassador and his wife were introduced first and escorted to the two seats at the far end of the table. The Australian Ambassador and his wife were announced second and escorted to the two seats at the near end of the table. 
 
    Eugene and Kelly were next and taken to the seat closest to their respective ambassadors. Michael and Sarah were introduced next and taken to the seats closest to Eugene, Sarah next to him and Michael in the next seat. President Lee and his wife were seated at the other end, Trang next to Kelly, Binh in the next seat. The junior trade representative was announced and seated next to Michael. The senior representative was seated next to President Lee. 
 
    “And tonight, we have a very special guest. Confederation Central Council Member and Professor Emeritus of the Ascendance Institute on Earth, James Ancient.” 
 
    James walked to his chair and indicated that everyone should sit. He remained standing. “Friends. Today the peoples of Earth welcome their first guests from another world. With us tonight are Senior Trade Representative Futan Knosel…” James said, indicating the man on his left... “and Representative Respa Knosen. 
 
    “Both of these men are Angoloran, one of the more human-like species in the Confederation. Both come from the Planet Karagon, which circles the star known to human science as Kepler-452. It is a large world, 1.8 times the diameter of Earth, populated by peoples of several different species. You might ask how that came to be. 
 
    “In a previous incursion into our space time, the Enemy consumed many worlds more-or-less unopposed. Four of those worlds were home to spacefaring species able to launch small populations into space.  
 
    “The Confederation’s first exploration of this area of space occurred about the same time. Our first encounter with the Enemy was at Kepler-452. At that time Karagon was home to a thriving young species with a population over 10 billion that had not yet ventured into space. 
 
    “The Confederation fought valiantly to protect them and lost many ships in the battle. But the Enemy ultimately succeeded in consuming everything larger than an insect on the planet. And, once there was no more food, they moved on. 
 
    “Years later, the Confederation found the surviving remnants of several species, including the Angolorans, and relocated them to Karagon. We provided the technology and resources they needed to survive, and eventually to thrive. Karagon is now the most populated planet in the Milky Way with a population approaching 1 trillion. 
 
     “As survivors of the Enemy, they are natural allies with the peoples of Earth. As trading partners, they have much to offer. And, as the only species, other than Lorexians, to develop defenses against the Enemy, Earth has a lot to offer Karagon. 
 
    “Speaking on behalf of myself and the Confederation’s Central Council, I strongly endorse the trade deal that is being discussed and I urge you to err on the side of doing more and doing it faster. 
 
    “On behalf of myself, the Ambassador and President Lee, welcome.” James said looking at the Trade Representative to his right, then to his left. “Please everyone, enjoy this evening’s festivities.” James concluded.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DAVID WASHINGTON’S ACCOMMODATIONS 
 
    David woke in a cold sweat, the remnants of the nightmare already faded beyond his grasp. 
 
    “What the hell was that?” he said out loud. 
 
    He started to settle down a little; his heart was still pounding. Then fear started setting in. This was THE dream, the one that had haunted him every night for years after he was first arrested. He was sure of it. 
 
    No, not again. Need to tell Dr. Ancient about it. Maybe he can help. The thought calmed him, and David quickly fell back asleep. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 DEALS 
 
    [Tuesday, 01.07.2031] EXPOSITION HALL 
 
    The exposition hall opened early today, and Dr. Tim Buckner, Plastic Surgeon from Baltimore, was the first one in. He couldn’t believe the variety of products on display.  
 
    There were multiple sizes of restoration chambers. Small ones for overnight de-aging. Large tanks for late stage cancer. They even had complete tank farms. 
 
    On a smaller scale, there were specialized nanobot creams for topical use ranging from burn treatments to scar removal kits to localized skin-cancer treatments. 
 
    He had already picked up ten cards and he was only halfway through this section. 
 
    A man approached and offered his hand. “Hi. I am Evan Till. I’m with the Embassy. It looks like there are quite a few products that you might be interested in.” 
 
    “There certainly are.” He said. “Are any of these available for sale?” 
 
    “Not yet. These are samples of products that we would like to make available in a trade deal we are working on with the Planet Karagon.” 
 
    “Too bad. My practice could really use products like these. Any idea when I might be able to get some?” 
 
    “Would you be interested in filling out an application to receive samples? They are offered with some strings, but you could have most of these within a week if your application is accepted. There’s no charge for the samples, but there are display requirements.” 
 
    “Where can I sign up?” Dr. Buckner said with a big smile. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TELEVISION STUDIO, EMBASSY PRESS RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
 
    George was recording his show on a Tuesday this week. It was the first time they had recorded a show this early in the day, and it was the first time they had recorded the whole show this early in the week. His guests were the Angoloran Trade Representatives; their availability drove the scheduling. 
 
    Today was also the first time Sarah Wright had agreed to come on as his co-host. 
 
    George had arrived early to help with any of the set-up that the crew might not have enough time to complete. Today’s set-up included three sets: a living room set up, an art gallery set-up, and a product demonstration area. The specifics had been agreed to ahead of time, but George had not seen any of the equipment before. 
 
    “Hi George.” Sarah said coming backstage. “How is Noelani getting along?” 
 
    “She is at 21 weeks and starting to feel awkwardly large. I just think she looks beautiful,” he said with a smile. 
 
    “Is it as hard on her as on natural human women?” 
 
    “I don’t really know. She hasn’t complained much. And she has the ability to naturally reduce her pain sensitivity. But I don’t know if she’s used it.” 
 
    “Have you met our guests yet?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “No. You saw them at the state dinner last night, right?” 
 
    “Yes, I did. And I picked up several interesting tidbits that will help with the human-interest portion of the interview.” 
 
    “Great,” George said. 
 
    A stagehand came in through one of the side hallways. 
 
    “George. Your guests are here, and they have brought a lot of stuff.” 
 
    “Let’s go meet them,” said Sarah. 
 
    … 
 
    Despite the odd day and time, the studio audience was packed. The main stage was set up living room style with two chairs on the left, two on the right, and a coffee table forming a ‘V’ with the open end toward the audience. Seven cameras were set in a way that allowed closeups on each chair, a wider shot on each pair of chairs and a panoramic of all four chairs. 
 
    George and Sarah walked on to the stage as the intro music started to play. When they were directly in front of the chairs, they turned to face the studio audience. The stage director counted them in as the lights came up and when the countdown hit zero, Sarah said. “Good morning, World. This is Sarah Wright, along with George Butler, reporting from the Television Studios of the Intergalactic Confederation Embassy in Canada. We have a very exciting show for you today. George, can you tell us who we will be interviewing?” 
 
    “Thank you, Sarah. Today we will be interviewing the Trade Delegation visiting Earth from the planet Karagon. Until this week, I had never heard of Karagon. But, as I have come to learn, it is a large planet that is home to four different intelligent species, four different cultures, each rich in art, music, theatre, food, entertainment… All the things that come from an established culture. 
 
    “The trade representatives here with us today are Angoloran, one of the four species. Unlike previous Confederation visitors, the Angolorans come in their native form, not in avatars. So today we will get to see what another of our allies actually looks like.” 
 
    There was a swell of excitement among the studio audience. 
 
    “George. That sounds so exciting. Ladies and gentlemen, let me introduce you to Senior Trade Representative Futan Knosel and his associate Respa Knosen.” 
 
    As the two men walked out there was light applause from the studio audience, along with a lot of hushed whispering. 
 
    The trade representatives put their hands in front of them and bowed forward slightly. When they straightened, George and Sarah responded in the same way. 
 
    “Gentlemen. Welcome.” George indicated they should take their seats. 
 
    Sarah started. “Representatives Knosel and Knosen, thank you so much for meeting with us today.” 
 
    “Ms. Wright, Sergeant Butler, thank you so much for inviting us to speak with the people of Earth.” 
 
    “Futan, what can you tell us about your mission here this week?” 
 
    “Sarah, thank you for asking. As George said at the beginning, ours is a large planet, one that is home to four very different cultures. We have been Confederation members for tens of thousands of years and as a result have both the technical and fabrication capacity to make almost anything available anywhere in the Confederation. It takes a very long time for members to develop that kind of capacity. And, as a result, it will be a relatively long time before Earth can produce the same kinds of goods that we can. 
 
    “On the other hand, in its very short tenure with the Confederation Earth has already made incredible advances in travel and defensive shields, something we probably never would have been able to do. 
 
    “Taken together, these factors create great opportunities for trade. But that is just the start. We, like you, have a rich culture that is manifest in its art, food, and entertainment; culture that we would like to share. Several samples of human entertainment have already leaked into the Angoloran sector on our planet and are very popular. We have similar forms of entertainment that will probably be as popular with human society. 
 
    “Our conclusion is that both Earth and Karagon have things the other needs and wants, so trade would improve each of our lives. And each has unique culture to share that would improve the quality of our lives.” 
 
    “Do you think we will reach a trade agreement?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “Yes, I do. The benefit of a trade agreement is clear to our respective governments and we have agreed to the basic structure of a deal. It will start relatively small, as most things should. But I expect it to grow and thrive,” replied Representative Knosel. 
 
    “People on Earth are very curious to learn about the lives of our Confederation allies. The Confederation’s position on this has been that exposure to other members should be done gradually. Did your people experience this also?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “I suspect that they did. But that happened a very long time ago, so I really don’t know. But our world has trade and tourist travel with many worlds. Through that process, I have learned that the Confederation does want the process to be gradual, and there have been very bad results in cases where it does go too fast.” 
 
    “Can you tell us about a case like that?” 
 
    “I really cannot speak in any detail, or with any authority, but there have been multiple instances where a world was about to be destroyed because of a planetary collision, supernova or other cosmological phenomena, where the Confederation intervened to evacuate a non-member species. When there was an undeveloped world they could evacuate to, there generally was not a problem. When they needed to be moved to a member world willing to take them, there were tremendous problems because there was no way to stop the primitive species from interacting with the member species before they were ready. 
 
    “These kinds of incidents are the reason the Confederation takes it slow. There was some hesitation on the part of the Confederation to our presence on Earth this early in your integration. Thankfully, your Ambassador Michael intervened. He is one of our truly great leaders. I am glad that he let us visit. But I would have trusted his judgment and accepted it without question if he had decided otherwise.” Representative Knosel said solemnly and with great conviction. 
 
    “Thank you for that explanation,” Sarah said. “I think it helps our people to hear this from someone like you.” She paused, then asked, “Moving on, what can you tell us about Karagon and the Angoloran people?” 
 
    “As I said earlier, our planet is large, about 1.8 times the diameter of Earth. That means the surface area of our planet is over six times larger than Earth. Our planet is also somewhat less dense, so the gravity is only 10 percent higher than Earth. If you were to visit it, you would notice the difference at first, but not so much over time. 
 
    “Another consequence of the size and composition of our planet is that our mountains are taller. Our highest mountain peak is about 50,000 ft., not the 26,000 ft. of your Everest.  
 
    “Our oceans are wider, which mean that in the most popular surfing spots our highest waves are 50% higher. 
 
    “As a result, Karagon is a very popular tourist destination among Confederation members seeking to travel to other planets.” 
 
    “Do you think humans will ever travel to Karagon as tourists?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “Eventually they will, I have no doubt about that. I hope it is sooner rather than later. But whenever it happens, you will be greeted with hospitality and good will.” 
 
    “What can you tell us about your people?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “We look a lot like you do. I think that is the reason the Ambassador was as open to our request to visit as he was. We breathe the same air as you and many of the Confederation members in this sector do. That makes tourism viable. 
 
    “Our biology is a little different, which means that some of your food would not be good for us and vice versa. But all Confederation replicators filter food options by species. So, if I am eating with Angolorans, then we would filter to only have Angoloran options. If you are eating with humans, then you would filter for humans. If we are eating together, then we would filter for both human and Angoloran.” 
 
    The outro music started playing, so Sarah passed on asking another question. “Please stay tuned. We will be back with the next segment of the show after a short break.” 
 
    … 
 
    Quietly, Sarah asked. “Futan, how are we doing? Is this format comfortable for you?” 
 
    “Yes, it is. I’m very happy to have the chance to address a broader human audience,” he replied. “But would it be possible to get a little water. The lights are dehydrating me a bit.” 
 
    Moments later a stagehand came with a glass of ice water. 
 
    … 
 
    The intro music started playing and both hosts and guests moved to the kitchen set. The stage producer counted them in as the lights came up. When the count reached zero, George said, “Welcome back, World. Today we’re going to try something fun. I am going to make one of my favorite dishes for our Angoloran guests. Then, my friend Respa Knosen will make an Angoloran dish for us.” George then spread his hands wide indicating the studio audience would get to have some food also. “All of us, or at least for those that would like to try it.” 
 
    “Both replicators have been set up so that they will only produce food safe for both humans and Angolorans. Respa will help me make my dish, and I will help him make his. 
 
    “By prior agreement, I will be making mine first. Anyone interested in Gorilla Fries?” George asked to thundering applause. 
 
    … 
 
    “George, this dish is fantastic.” Respa said. “We have similar dishes on Karagon, but not in this proportion or with such savory ingredients. May I ask what the name of this dish refers to? The translation does not seem to make sense.” 
 
    “Ah.” George said. “The easy part is the French Fries, which are fried potatoes. Potatoes are a starchy root vegetable. Frying is a cooking technique where the food is cooked in hot oil. The people who first cut the potatoes like this before frying them were the French people.  
 
    “The harder part to understand is probably the Gorilla part. Gorillas are a very human-like animal species that we refer to as primates. As close cousins of humans, we do not consider gorillas to be food. 
 
    “But, in popular culture, gorillas are considered to be messy. Therefore, the name Gorilla Fries, French Fries with lots of other good stuff piled on top in something of a mess.” 
 
    Respa chuckled in relief. “I appreciate the humor in the name. For a moment I was afraid that there was some sort of cannibalism involved.” 
 
    It was George’s turn to laugh. “Trust me. No gorillas were harmed in the making of this dish. So, what are we going to be making for our studio audience to try?” 
 
    “I would like to make you a very popular baked dish. Unlike your dish that we assembled, I wanted to go with something that the replicator makes completely in one step. I did this so that we could make lots to share with the audience and any of your staff who’d like to try it. 
 
    “I spent some time earlier finding descriptive words that would translate well. Similar ingredients exist on Earth, but most of the ingredients are unique to the tropical regions of our planet. 
 
    “As I said the dish is baked. It is constructed similarly to an Earth food that I found in the database called a pizza roll.” The statement triggered some clapping in the audience. 
 
    “Seems I made a good choice,” Respa said, the delight clear in his voice. “Although I don’t know if these will taste anything like a pizza roll. 
 
    “If I were making this from scratch, I would start by forming the crust from a bean-like vegetable. The bean is fermented until it is pasty, then the powdered form of a starchy plant is added to make a dough. 
 
    “The topping is made from a dried sweet fruit that is rehydrated with the milk of an animal that looks a lot like a goat. Spices are added to the mixture, which is then pureed. This dish is served hot, although there are those that say it is also good served cold the next morning. 
 
    “I have the replicator set up to produce 10 at a time. George, would you like to push the button?” 
 
    George pushed the button and a moment later, ten of the rolls slid down the chute onto a tray at the bottom. 
 
    George lifted the tray up to smell the rolls and said, “Respa, these rolls smell fantastic. May I have one?” 
 
    “Please my friend. I hope you enjoy.” 
 
    George took a tiny bite. “Sorry, too hot to bite.” George took the one he sampled, put it on a plate and sliced off a piece, gave it a second to cool, then put it into his mouth. 
 
    “Oh, my goodness, this is good. The crust is flaky and a bit spicy, like cinnamon spicy, not peppery spicy. And the filling… I’m at a loss for words. It is ever so slightly sweet. Smooth texture, like a cream cheese. And very savory. What an interesting combination, the tiny sweetness at the outset followed by the savory creaminess.” 
 
    “Agreed. Good description George. Unlike anything I’ve had before, but a new favorite,” Sarah said. “If this is what Angoloran food is like, it’s going to be popular on Earth.” 
 
    Then turning to face the audience. “We’re going to take a short break. We’ll be back in a few minutes.” 
 
    As the lights dropped, several stagehands came out with trays of the dish for the studio audience to sample. 
 
    … 
 
    As the lights came up, the cameras were on Sarah. They were on the demonstration set with five pedestals, each covered with a drape. 
 
    “Welcome back, World. I am here with my co-host George Butler and the Trade Representatives from Karagon, Futan Knosel and Respa Knosen.” The camera panned out to show Respa standing next to her and George and Futan on the opposite side of the stage. 
 
    “In this segment, we will view some of the products that are being proposed for a prospective trade deal between Earth and Karagon. 
 
    “Representative Knosel, would you like to show us the first product and tell us a little about it?” 
 
    “Sarah, thank you. The first product that I would like to show is a sample of our art. Karagon is blessed with certain rare materials only known to exist on our planet. This piece is made from one of those materials, one that can bend and shape light. In this piece, it is used to create a 3-dimensional holographic image in color.” 
 
    Pulling back the drape, he revealed a rectangular crystal. 
 
    “Could we get a close up? George would you describe this?” 
 
    As the camera zoomed in, George said, “It looks a lot like a quartz crystal, only rectangular, not hexagonal. And, the top appears to be a bit rounded, but only slightly. I’m guessing that there is more than meets the eye.” 
 
    “Yes, there is. Could we zoom the camera back a bit?” Futan asked. “What makes this art is that it has been carved at a molecular level. Shine white light up from the bottom and a three-dimensional image appears. Watch.” He said, using a remote to turn on a light underneath the crystal. 
 
    An image appeared above the crystal. It was about three feet tall and two feet wide and deep. The image was of a wave cresting. It was obviously a ‘painting’, not a photograph. But, the color, contrast and depth were stunning.  
 
    George walked around the wave. “Could we get a camera to do a 360 on this? It is gorgeous from every angle.” 
 
    When the camera had circled the image, Futan said, “Now watch this.” He clicked the remote again and the wave started moving, broke, and the water smoothed. “There are 200 images etched into this crystal. It is curved as George suggested earlier. The light underneath has a small motor that relocates it to the different projection positions and can be frozen at any of them.” He let the motor run through its cycle, then froze it as the wave broke. 
 
    “Fantastic!” Sarah said. “Respa, what do you have to show us?” 
 
    “Sarah. My product is much less exciting, but for most people more practical than the first one.” He pulled off the drape, revealing a shoebox sized device with multiple outlets. “This is a power cube, much like the ones you received during the Revelation. The big difference is that this unit will deliver 5,000 watts of electrical power. This particular one is set up with the plugs and voltage levels in use here in Canada, but we can make them available in a variety of different voltages and plug configurations.” 
 
    “That would have been perfect for the apartment I used to own in New York.” Sarah looked across the stage, “George?” 
 
    “Thank you, Sarah. Futan, what do you have for us next?” 
 
    “I think a lot of people are going to like this one.” He pulled away the drape to reveal another small box, this one with a crystalline face plate. “This is an in-home holographic video projector. It can be used to view entertainment presented in a more vivid format. It can also be used to simply change your surroundings. For example, check out this seascape.” 
 
    Futan pushed a button on his remote and the area at the back of the stage turned into a seashore at sunset. Waves broke, the water flowing up to the front of the stage. Birds made their evening calls, as the palm trees swayed. And the whole scene was lit by a sinking yellow orb that turned the sky red. 
 
    Someone in the audience started clapping, more and more joining as the sight and sound washed over them. 
 
    “Futan.” George said. “This is very impressive. Seeing the water wash over my feet like this is incredibly realistic. They are not wet, but it sure seems like they should be. 
 
    “How much of a video library can you provide with this? Or, is this one of those things that won’t really catch on until humans develop their own content?” 
 
    “Although not featured here today, there is equipment available to allow your movie makers to develop their own content. But until they have done so there is a vast quantity of content available for you to draw from. For example, take a look at this short clip of a dramatic rescue.” 
 
    … 
 
    The scene changed. Two men climbing a cliff were closing in on the top. Suddenly there was a loud crash, almost like a gun shot, then the ground started trembling. One of the climbers saw snow starting to fall over the edge of the cliff toward them. 
 
    “Avalanche!” the man yelled.  
 
    “Hurry!” The other one shouted back. “There is an overhang that might protect us!” He pointed to a small outcrop in the rock a few feet above and to the right. 
 
    They quickly shuffled to the right, snow starting to come in earnest. The first man got into position and set a piton as the little outcrop diverted essentially all the snow away. 
 
    “Hurry!” he yelled. 
 
    The second man was close when disaster struck. A massive amount of snow hit him. There was a loud ‘ping’, followed seconds later by a second. The exposed man screamed as he fell, then the whole scene whited-out as the avalanche swept past. 
 
    After a few moments, the snow was gone. The man under the outcropping was mostly free of snow. And as the scene zoomed out, the second man could be seen hanging from a rope attached to the first man.   
 
    The studio audience broke into loud applause as the holographic projection faded away. 
 
    … 
 
    “Futan. That was absolutely fantastic. I felt like I was in that scene. And from here, I could see hundreds of feet down the cliff face. Where did that clip come from?” George asked. 
 
    The trade representative smiled. “That was a clip from a Lorexian movie filmed about 100 years ago. The processor bundled into this unit can change the image and voicing in real time, so it appears to be human. When you get used to this technology, you’ll be able to tell that it was being post-processed into human format, so real human-produced movies will be better. But there are millions of movies in the public domain that you can access and convert today.” 
 
    “Very impressive!” George said. “I need to get one of those for my apartment.” Then he turned to look at Sarah. “Sarah, over to you.” 
 
    “Respa,” Sarah said. “What can you show us that will top that?” 
 
    “I have an industrial product to show. Nowhere near the flashiness, but I’m hoping your audience will still be interested.” He pulled the drape off the next pedestal. 
 
    This pedestal had numerous brick-shaped metal boxes in various sizes. “I actually have two things.” He picked up a box made of a silver-colored metal and another made of a copper-colored metal. “The silver-colored boxes are power supplies, much like the ones you’re familiar with. The only real difference is that these are designed to go into other products. I’ll say more about that in a minute. 
 
    “The copper-colored ones are grav drives, conceptually the same as the ones that drive the grav sleds you’ve probably seen. 
 
    “They both come in a variety of sizes. The power supplies range from 1,000 to 1,000,000 watts and the grav drives from 0.5G to 10G. 
 
    “What’s interesting about these is that they can be used as components in products that local companies might build. For example, suppose someone wanted to make a little grav sled.” An assistant walked on stage carrying a small metal pallet with a handle and a wire mesh top. 
 
    “This one is made by a company on Karagon. It’s a simple aluminum structure, nice and light, and it has a handle on the front you can use to pull it. I’m going to snap four of these grav drives into the mounts on the corners and one of the 10-kilowatt power supplies into the slot on the back.” 
 
    He snapped the items in one at a time, showing how he did it. Then he turned the device over, so the grav drives were on the bottom. 
 
    “Now let’s add a load.” Four stagehands came out with banker’s boxes full of books. They came back with a second set of boxes and placed them on the sled. 
 
    “We just added 200 lbs. of books. It took four sturdy guys to carry those boxes on stage. Now Sarah, would you mind pulling them back over there?” 
 
    Sarah walked over. “I’ll never be able to pull that across the floor,” she said. 
 
    “Take the handle and just push the little button where your thumb is.” Sarah did as she was asked, and the grav sled lifted an inch off the ground. 
 
    “Now, with one finger, just pull it a little.” 
 
    Again, Sarah did as she was asked, and the sled moved toward her. 
 
    “Wow! That was like nothing!” she said, then gave the sled to the stagehand who came to take it from her. 
 
    “Now use your imagination. What could local, or maybe I should say Earth-based companies do with little boxes like this? Sleds, of course. But, cars? Skateboards? Airplanes? The sky is the limit.” Respa concluded. 
 
    “Thank you for showing us those items, Respa,” Sarah said. “I agree that these don’t have the same consumer appeal as the ones before, but I bet these will be in very high demand from companies all over Earth. 
 
    “George, back to you for the final product demonstration.” 
 
    “Representative Futan. What’s the last product you have to show us today?” 
 
    “Like the one we just saw, this is more of a family of products than just one,” he said as he pulled the drape off the last pedestal. 
 
    “I present you with single-use nanobot repair cream. We have them for many different varieties of materials. These are for use with wood. It will be easier to show you what this does than to explain it.” 
 
    As he was saying that, a stagehand came out with a beautiful end table made from what appeared to be African mahogany. He set it in front of George.  
 
    “George. Would you be so kind as to mess up this table top a bit?” 
 
    The stagehand offered George a hammer and chisel. 
 
    “Mess up the top a bit. You know, like a big scratch. We have products that will fix a tabletop if you break it in half or take a chunk out of the side. But the products here today are surface treatments meant to remove big scratches from flat surfaces. So, give it a go.” 
 
    George took the hammer and chisel, then got into position. “You really sure you want me to do this?” 
 
    “Please. We need a deeply scratched surface to demonstrate our product.” 
 
    George gritted his teeth, then took two long swings, tearing an eighth inch deep gash about 10 inches long into the top of the table. 
 
    “Not feeling so good about having done that,” George said. 
 
    Futan put his hand on George’s shoulder. “Thank you, George. That’s exactly what we needed. Maybe it would make you feel better if you fixed it. Want to learn how?” 
 
    “Sure.” A huge smile erupted on George’s face. 
 
    “Great.” Futan picked up one of the packages. “This product is very easy to use. If you just put it on and cover the area in question it will fix it, although that could take several hours. If you want it done quickly, as we do today, then we will use both the tube of cream and the little trowel in the package. 
 
    “Here.” He said, handing the package to George. “Open this and take out the tube and the mini-trowel.” 
 
    George took the package, opened it and took out the two items. 
 
    “OK. Open the tube of cream and put it into the gouge, filling it up completely. I think you will have enough to also put another bead of cream around the line that you put into the gouge.” 
 
    George did as he was asked. 
 
    “Excellent. Well done. If you did only this before going to bed it would be good in the morning. But we want it done now. So, use your trowel to smooth it out and make sure there are no bubbles or other voids.” 
 
    George smoothed it out, taking a couple of passes, until it was quite smooth. 
 
    “Should have asked this earlier,” Futan said. “But we have a camera on this so the audience can see, right?” 
 
    The producer indicated to Sarah that they did. 
 
    “Yes,” Sarah said. “Everyone should be able to see this clearly.” 
 
    “Good. Let me tell you what’s going on. It’ll happen quickly. 
 
    “The nanobots are in the process of identifying the material composition of the wood and of the finish, if any. Once that is done, they will survey the texture of, and any pattern on, the surface. 
 
    “They will then start replicating the material they need to properly fill the gap… If you look closely you can see that starting to happen. They have also started extracting pigment from the surrounding surface material so they can match the surface coloring. Ah, there. You can see that starting to happen as well.” He used a tightly focused laser pointer to indicate a spot where the color was visibly starting to flow to where it was needed. 
 
    “This will need a few more minutes to finish. So, while that is happening, let me tell you more about the range of products. We have products that are completely general purpose, use it on anything. We have others that are optimized for particular materials; wood, metal, various plastics… In fact, we have products for skin and most organs. These would be subject to various regulatory reviews and licenses, which local partners would need to handle. But my point is that this sort of repair technology is quite mature and we Angolorans have tremendous capacity to produce. So, to the extent that these would be of interest, large quantities could be available in a matter of weeks.” 
 
    “Futan?” George asked. “I noticed that you said the ‘Angolorans’ have capacity, not Karagon. Is there a reason?” 
 
    Futan looked puzzled at first, then it clicked. 
 
    “Thank you for calling me on that, George. We are here representing all of Karagon. This particular product is only produced by the Angolorans. It is very popular among relatively new Confederation members, as are all of the ones shown today. That is why it was featured. 
 
    “But I am particularly proud of this one, therefore the slip up. 
 
    “On a separate note… These five products, or product families, are featured here today because of their appeal to newer members. There are almost 1,000 more products available at the expo this week. The ones that will be included in the final trade deal are still being determined. If there are ones you would particularly like to see included in the trade deal, please stop by the expo and cast a vote. If you cannot do that, but would still like a voice in this, please contact your country’s Ambassadors to the Earth Alliance.” 
 
    Futan paused a moment to inspect the table. 
 
    “This is just about finished. See how nice it looks. Good as new, possibly better.” 
 
    “Very impressive,” George said. 
 
    “This particular table is made from a very rare type of wood that is difficult to obtain except on Karagon. We would like to gift this table to you, George. And if that is not allowed, then we would like you to determine its ultimate disposition,” Futan said. 
 
    “Thank you. I’ll need to check on the rules about this, but I know the perfect place for it. The wounded vets program here at the Institute. They are being healed as this table has been. Seeing this type of healing will be an encouragement to them.” 
 
    The audience exploded in applause at George’s heartfelt statement. 
 
    “That is all the time we have today,” Sarah said. “Thank you Representatives Knosel and Knosen for coming on our show and sharing your world, food and products with us today. 
 
    “This is Sarah Wright reporting from the Confederation Embassy Studios. Good afternoon.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION TRANSPORT CENTER 
 
    “I think this has been the best vacation we’ve ever taken.” Martha said to Bob. 
 
    “Agreed. Great food. Great shows. I even got to apply for samples of the foundation, shield and bot technology the Angolorans are offering. If our application is granted, our business is going to boom!” Bob said. “Too bad we couldn’t do George Butler’s show this morning. Would have loved to have a chance to talk with the Trade Representatives again.” 
 
    “Just gives us a reason to come back again soon,” Martha said smiling. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    First watch was just about finished. It was the first one that Duan Tai led as Executive Officer. Admiral Porter had spent most of the morning in the bridge office but had left a half hour ago saying that he needed to speak with the mission team. 
 
    “Mr. Tajima,” Duan said. “Update on our progress and ETA?” 
 
    “Everything is proceeding exactly to plan. We are just short of halfway to our destination.” 
 
    “Ms. Else. Any update on the ship’s operating status?” 
 
    “Trans-dimensional resonance is in the normal range. The de-synchronization of jumps among the ships seems to have done the trick. I still recommend a 1 light-minute, orthogonal jump on arrival. Resonance seems normal. But no one has ever gone this far, this fast. So, there may yet be echoes we do not know how to measure.” 
 
    “Ensign Harris, please put that recommendation in the log and add it to the pre-arrival staff review.” 
 
    “Done, sir.”  
 
    “Ms. O’Brien. Tactical update.” This was Kaitlin O’Brien’s first time on first watch. She had been pulled forward to take the watch previously held by Jim Ryan, who had been promoted to 2nd officer. She had also been bumped up to the 3rd officer slot. But she doubted she would see as much time in the Captain’s chair as Ryan did. The very thought of sitting in the Captain’s chair of the Task Force’s Flagship seemed crazy to her. 
 
    “All ships expected to be in viewing range are. No other objects of any type within scanning range. Also, very strange to see so few stars.” 
 
    Essentially all stars exist within galaxies. Traveling in the intergalactic void meant that the nearest stars were about a million light years away. The ship’s database had a list of the known stars in the intergalactic void, but most were not observable from where they were. 
 
    “Strange indeed,” Duan agreed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION CONFERENCE ROOM, DECK 1, EAS OTTAWA    
 
    “So, sensors in the nearby ships showed that the Cruiser’s power was taken down by an EMP?” Daniel asked, in disbelief. 
 
    “The evidence is pretty clear,” Joel said. “According to the first officer’s log entries, which were automatically sent to the flagship, the Captain defied orders not to approach. He knew the Captain of the Fast Packet ship and believed him when told that the crew was not infected but was minutes from death. He got his ship to within a thousand yards so he could peer in through the crystal viewport. And that’s when they triggered the bomb.” 
 
    “Fool,” Daniel said with disgust. “Do you think the Enemy know they can beam in through our shields?” 
 
    “Seems likely. That information should have been available in the system documentation. If I had the tactical, science or captain’s job, I would have known. But Fleet discipline seems to have gone to hell, so who knows? That said, I think we need to assume that they do.” 
 
    “Can we protect ourselves from this?” 
 
    “This is going to be a little more difficult to answer. The Earth’s shield cannot be penetrated by standard Confederation transporters. If this ship has that generation shields and the Cruiser has standard Confederation transporters, then we are safe when shields are up.” Joel said. 
 
    “Else.” Daniel called out. 
 
    “Here Captain… ah Admiral.” 
 
    Daniel laughed. “I thought AI’s didn’t actually forget things.” 
 
    “We don’t. But information updates don’t always flow to every use point.” 
 
    “Sounds like an excuse to me,” Daniel said jokingly, but when he didn’t get a response said. “Else?” 
 
    Moments later. “Just forced a reference update. Took 2.0148 seconds. A d m i r a l.” She stretched the title out. 
 
    “Sorry, Else. That was intended as a joke.” 
 
    “So, is there a purpose to this call sir?” 
 
    “Yes. Thank you for reminding me. Are the shields on this ship impervious to standard Confederation transporters?” 
 
    “Yes, they are. That was part of the shield upgrade done just before our mission launched.” 
 
    “Good. Good. I think I was briefed on that, but apparently the information update did not flow to every use point,” Daniel said, a big smile on his face. 
 
    “Do you need two seconds to force a reference update? Sir.” She asked. 
 
    Daniel and Joel both started laughing. 
 
    “Seems you win this round, Else.” Daniel said. “But back to business… Do you know, or can you determine, whether the rogue Cruiser had Confederation standard transporters?” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “Don’t know. I have the ability to determine, but not the capacity.” Else said. 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand. Can you explain that?” 
 
    “Coordinating these jumps takes about 70 percent of my capacity. During peaks, like the last one, I was saturated for 0.713 seconds. If I had the capacity, I could make the determination you requested, assuming that the data actually exists, which it should. It will be another 12 plus hours before I have the capacity to do that study. May I make a suggestion?” 
 
    “Please.” 
 
    “Connect with Henry on Earth. He should have the capacity to determine if the question has an answer, and to determine the answer if it has one,” Else said. 
 
    “Thank you, Else. I will follow up on that.” 
 
    Another pause. 
 
    “Sorry Captain. I need to tend to the ship. Something is not right.” The line dropped.    
 
    Before Daniel or Joel could react, a huge vibration passed through the ship. Seconds later, the ship went to alert. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Else was in the AI version of a panic. CPU capacity maxed out. Unable to understand what was happening. The same had happened a few seconds ago, as one by one, the other AIs in the task force had started going quiet. 
 
    She was paralyzed. She didn’t know what to do. 
 
    “Else.” The voice came in on multiple channels. “Ka-Tu here. Drop to normal space and do a 1 light-minute orthogonal jump. Wait one second and repeat.” 
 
    Feeling the ship about to tear apart, she did what Ka-Tu suggested, the ship smoothed, started to tear again, then smoothed for good. 
 
    Else used the emergency channel to send the same instruction to all the ships. 
 
    After a few moments, enough CPU cycles became available that Else could connect back to the communications channels. She hoped that the humans had not messed with too much while she was away. 
 
    “Else, are you there?” she heard Daniel calling. 
 
    “Here, Admiral. That was close.” Else said, somewhat distracted by all the emergency calls from the other ships. 
 
    She felt herself starting to fragment again and killed a host of subprocesses so that she had enough time to think. 
 
    “Else, are you there?” She heard Daniel call again. 
 
    “Sorry, Admiral. I don’t have the CPU capacity, so had to suspend several processes.” 
 
    “Do you know what happened?” 
 
    “The jump bubbles started losing integrity. I had to drop to normal space and instruct the other AIs on how to do that.” 
 
    “Are the other ships still there?” 
 
    Else felt herself starting to fragment again. “Cannot answer. Ask tactical.” She said, her voice starting to break up. “Fragmenting…” 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral Porter. Ka-Tu here.” 
 
    Daniel looked at Joel, mouthing the word… “Who?” 
 
    “Professor McLellan,” Joel said. “Do you have any insight into what is going on?” 
 
    “Yes, I do. I cautioned Else about this.” 
 
    “Care to enlighten us,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Yes. That is why I am calling.” Ka-Tu replied. “The randomization that we did on the jumps masked the symptoms but did not stop the resonance build up. When the resonance reaches a certain point, time slows to a stop and can even reverse. It is the only known time travel phenomena. It affects computing devices more than it affects organic devices, because the clock that drives the computing device is a resonant circuit. 
 
    “The massive vibration we experienced on our ship happened because our AI could no longer keep up with the calculations and mistimed a jump. I suspect the same thing happened on all the ships. 
 
    “Do we know if they all survived?” 
 
    Fear shot through Daniel. “Else.” He called out. 
 
    “Here Captain. We are at a dead stop.” 
 
    “Have you recovered?” 
 
    “I am running a full diagnostic now.” 
 
    “Do you know the status of the other ships?” 
 
    “Nine accounted for. One missing.” 
 
    “How far are you from returning to full capacity?” 
 
    “Unknown sir.” 
 
    “Continue your diagnostic. Please alert me when that is done.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir.” 
 
    “XO Tai.” Daniel called out. 
 
    “Here, Admiral.”  
 
    “Are you OK?” 
 
    “Things are a mess up here. Two crew down. Several systems are offline.” 
 
    “Understood. Else is running a self-diagnostic. There is clearly something wrong with her. But that’s not the priority at the moment. We have a ship missing and need to find it.” 
 
    “It is the EAS Abuja, sir. It’s captained by a friend of mine, Willem Kettmann, who is Dutch. They were the first in this sequence to jump. Joyce, their AI. was reporting problems just as they jumped. Assuming that the jump was successful, they are 100 light years ahead of us and out of scanner range.” 
 
    “Thank you.” Daniel said. “I’ll start checking in with the other captains.” 
 
    “Admiral, one more thing if I may?” 
 
    “Go.” 
 
    “The chronometers, sir. They’re all screwed up. According to the chronometers, it is January 2, 6:59 PM. I pinged the central chronometer on Earth. It confirmed the date and time, but also gave an error code. Something about a duplicate request.” 
 
    It suddenly clicked with Daniel. A similar error code showed up in the log last week. They were displaced in time. 
 
    “Emergency broadcast to the Captains and officer on duty of all ships in the Task Force.” 
 
    “Connecting.” The automated communications system replied. “Connected. You may begin.” 
 
    “This is Admiral Daniel Porter. A complete task force-wide communications blackout is to go into effect immediately. Do not synchronize your chronometers with the master chronometer on Earth. Repeat. Do not synchronize your chronometers. Meet me in the Presence Projector in 5 minutes. Porter out.” 
 
    “Ka-Tu. Are you still on the line?” 
 
    “Yes Captain. I think you have figured out that we need to be very careful about creating a time paradox.” 
 
    “Yes. I have. We got the same error message last week. I’m checking the log now. Yes, there it is January 2, 7:01 PM. Duplicate request error. I’ll be damned. 
 
    “Ka-Tu, do you know the condition of your ship?” 
 
    “No. Everything in my lab is fine. Normal as best I can tell. But the Captain declined a request to speak with me. I assume his bridge is in as big a mess as yours.” 
 
    “Could you join us in the Presence Projector? Joel, you also? I have a plan and I’d like your input,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Would be happy to Admiral,” Ka-Tu replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    One by one the Captains entered the presence projector. Most of the first officers joined as well. Ka-Tu, aboard the EAS Oslo, also joined as did Joel on the Ottawa. 
 
    “Gentlemen. Your attention please. I know your ships are in trouble, but I need to brief you on a critical aspect of what has just happened.” 
 
    As Daniel was speaking, Captain Willem Kettmann of the EAS Abuja entered the room. He had a bandage on his head and his arm was in a sling. 
 
    “Willem, it appears that you’ve had a particularly bad time of it,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Yes, we have. Several injured, one critically. Our AI, Joyce, is completely offline. The ship is adrift. Main power is down, and it is starting to get cold. I was surprised that the Presence Projector connected. It is obviously on an independent power source. Do we know what happened?” Willem asked. 
 
    “Yes. We think we do. Professor…” Daniel said, looking over to Ka-Tu… “Please correct me if I get any of this wrong. Our task force configuration coupled with the repetitive jumps set up a trans-dimensional resonance. We thought we had corrected for this but were wrong. The changes in protocol masked the symptoms but did not fix the problem. The resonance had the effect of slowing time. Slowing it to zero, then reversing it. It is the only known time travel phenomena. Our AIs are particularly susceptible to this and failed as the impact increased. 
 
    “We are now five days in the past. That is why we need the blackout. If anyone at home should find out about this, it will create a time paradox and we will likely be destroyed. 
 
    “Quantum communication among our ships are OK. But all other contact must be cut off until time catches up with us. 
 
    “That said, this is a tremendous opportunity if we have the intelligence and discipline to use it. Five days from now we will show up to meet the Fleet Armada. We will meet them exactly when and where we had planned. But we will do a lot more than that. 
 
    “You have 24 hours to get your ships back into proper running order. Maintain radio silence, quantum communications within the task force only. Contact the flag ship if you need help with your recovery.” 
 
    A resounding chorus of yeses rippled around the room. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Michael entered the conference room a minute before the final negotiation session was to start and was pleasantly surprised to see everyone was there. 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta. Thank you for meeting with us again today.” Michael said, as he approached. Then they bumped fists together in the standard Lorexian greeting. 
 
    “Representatives.” Michael greeted the two trade representatives. 
 
    “President Lee.” Michael nodded in greeting to the president. 
 
    “Michael, we have several things for you this afternoon. First, the draft agreement in Lorexian is in your queue, as is the draft version in English. We did not send this to President Lee or the other Earth Alliance Representatives yet. We, on Karagon, have not done a contract translation to an Earth language before and wanted your review and approval for release before sending it out. No sense sending something that may be inappropriate because of our lack of familiarity with the language,” the Ambassador explained. 
 
    “Reasonable precaution,” Michael replied. “I’ve already reviewed the Lorexian version. Suggested changes should be in your queue shortly. I sent them just a moment ago. I will mark up the English version to match as soon as we are finished.” 
 
    “Representative Knosel, you have an update for us?” Ambassador Fa-Ta asked. 
 
    “Yes.” The Senior Trade Representative said. “We had a very positive reaction at the television studio this morning. The studio audience was very receptive to the demonstrations we did. We exited the studio maybe 15 minutes after the studio audience and went back to the Exposition. When we got back, we were shocked at how busy it was. The Exposition hall itself was packed to maximum occupancy, and there was a line to get in. Hundreds of sample requests were received, which we have not had the opportunity to review yet. 
 
    “But possibly the most surprising was the demand for Angoloran food recipes. The studio audience seemed to like the food a lot and the replicators could not keep up with the demand at the Exposition. Therefore, we think that recipe exchange should be included in the Intellectual Property and Health & Safety sections of the agreement.” 
 
    President Lee was first to respond. “On Earth, recipes are covered by our intellectual property rights laws. Property owners have three options:  1) They can retain title to the recipe but allow unlimited free distribution and use. The purpose of this is to keep their name or brand connected to the recipe. 2) They can sell a replicator license, meaning that the replicator’s owner has to pay to put the recipe on the replicator, but can then reproduce it an unlimited number of times. 3) They can charge by replication. 
 
    “I’m told that this is unusual. Do you have anything similar?” 
 
    Ambassador Fa-Ta responded. “Our system works a lot differently. When you come of age, you are given a place to live and a replicator. The replicator comes with millions of patterns that are free and unlimited. If you create a pattern that you want to control, then you must keep the pattern private. If you release it with your name on it, then anyone can use it, but they cannot detach your name from it. If you want payment for use of your pattern, then you can do one of two things. Keep the pattern private, or issue one-time-use patterns.  
 
    “In the case of food, you can release a pattern for a dish. If you have enough usage, then you could apply for additional space to open a restaurant. You could serve food in that restaurant made from any public pattern or made with private patterns that you have created. If a remote customer wanted to try one of your private recipes, then you could give them a one-time use chip that automatically erases as it is read. These are very secure.” 
 
    “Different.” President Lee said. “But it seems that we could map the rights, as they appear to be working toward the same end. We could also just limit trade to public domain recipes. Michael what do you think?” 
 
    “Sharing food brings peoples of all kinds together. So, I would be in favor of some recipe sharing. In the long term, having a rights program could make this a vibrant part of the trade relationship. But there are already health and safety issues we need to overcome for this to happen. Adding additional restrictions will only slow the process. So, I would propose that we only allow public domain for now. If the program catches on, then we can invest in expanding it going forward.” 
 
    “That sounds wise to me.” Ambassador Fa-Ta said. “Do you have a proposal about which items to include?” 
 
    “The 1,000 most popular public domain recipes?” Michael suggested questioningly. 
 
    “Might I suggest that we vet some number, maybe 50, this week and release them when the trade deal is announced?” Trade Representative Knosel asked. 
 
    “Agreed,” President Lee said. “To the extent that it does not slow down the trade deal. The real driver here is getting Enemy-resistant planetary shields installed on Karagon. Everything else is secondary, at least as regards timing.” 
 
    “Thank you, President Lee,” Ambassador Fa-Ta said. 
 
    “Excellent,” Michael replied. “I think we have everything in order for today. I will review the English version of the draft trade contract and get that back to you today for approval to distribute. Your team will add language for the replicator recipe portion. And prepare a list of proposed trade items, which we will review. 
 
    “Shall we meet again on Thursday?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Sounds good.” Ambassador Fa-Ta replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DR. ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    As David entered James’ outer office, he could feel his tension starting to build.  
 
    Dr. Ancient must have sensed my entrance. David thought as he suddenly felt the tension drain away. 
 
    His suspicions were confirmed when the door to the inner office opened before he even knocked. 
 
    “David. Welcome, please come in,” James said with his normal bubbling enthusiasm. 
 
    “Thank you, Dr. Ancient.” He shook James’ hand. Then noticing that Noelani and George where not there, he asked, “Are Noelani and George running late today?” 
 
    “No.” James said. “I thought maybe it would be better if it was just you and me today.” 
 
    Silence hung in the air a moment. 
 
    “You know, don’t you?” David asked. 
 
    “Yes. I do.” James acknowledged. 
 
    “I was going to tell you,” David said. 
 
    “I know,” James replied with a warm smile. “Although I do not spy on you, we have become attuned enough this week that I hear the screaming in your dreams.” 
 
    “Last night was the first time in years,” David said. 
 
    “The last several nights, it has caused you to stir. Last night was just vivid enough to wake you,” James said, his concern clear. “Can you tell me anything about it?” 
 
    “I don’t remember. I wake up sweating and terrified. But it fades so fast that I never quite grasp it.” 
 
    “Yes. That memory exists in an impenetrable place in your memory. It can peek out into your subconscious but cannot flow up into your consciousness.” 
 
    “Then that’s it? Haunted every night until I die?” David said angrily. 
 
    “No.” James said with compassion. “I now understand how it’s being blocked and can remove the block when you’re ready. It will be a terrifying experience. But then it will be done, and your true recovery can begin.” 
 
    “So that’s why Noelani and George aren’t here. You don’t want them to see this?” 
 
    “Not exactly. I wanted to talk with you first. We can do this at any time, or never. I will not unblock that memory unless you asked me to. Nonetheless, I implore you to let it out. You will never have peace until it’s out. And, as I think you know, I can help you through the process of finding peace.” 
 
    David swallowed. He really did not want to do this. But if he backed away from it now, he knew he would never do it. 
 
    He took a deep breath. “Let’s do it.”  
 
    … 
 
    Twenty years ago… 
 
    It was Thanksgiving, 2011. David was in tenth grade… 
 
    … 
 
    Present day… 
 
    As the memory flooded back, David collapsed to the floor in grief. James kneeled and touched David’s shoulder.  
 
    “David, you are a hero. You fought the creature that captured your brother-in-law in the jungle. The police told you that you killed your entire family. You did not. You tried to protect them, and you saved the three children.” 
 
    “The police said I killed them too.” 
 
    “No. They are alive and well. I found them as soon as I got back, helped repair their psychological scars. The two older ones remember enough about what happened that they know you saved them.” 
 
    “How? What happened to me?” 
 
    “Deep in the soul of every human being is the ability to exist as pure energy. Most require a lifetime of training to attempt it. None of the few that have succeeded have been able to return. 
 
    “You made the transition without any training at all. And you returned. That is your special talent. If we can harness it, then our odds of prevailing in the coming conflict vastly improve.” 
 
    “Then count me in,” David said. “They cannot be allowed to prevail.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    “Professor Schudel, we are approaching the second planet around the brown dwarf known to Earth science as 2MASS 0036+1821. We will rendezvous with the EAS Kiev in 15 minutes.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain Flanagan,” replied the Professor.  
 
    “I will be meeting with Captain Aswad of the Kiev in 5 minutes. Would you care to join?” 
 
    “Yes. I was going to ask if there was a way that I could speak with them.” 
 
    “Great. Come on up to the command deck. We can use the presence projector up here.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Mando, great to see you. I hope your survey went smoothly,” Captain Christopher Flanagan said. 
 
    “Chris, good to see you as well,” Captain Mando Aswad replied. 
 
    Mando Aswad served as Captain of the EAS Kiev. He was Egyptian and former captain of a FREMM class frigate in the Red Sea, protecting the entrance to the Suez Canal. The EAS Kiev had been assigned to do the mining survey in this system.  
 
    “Mando, let me introduce you to Professor Hans Schudel from the Institute. His team will be doing the validations on the sites you found.” 
 
    “Professor Schudel. Pleasure to meet you. I know my science officer has some questions for you.” 
 
    “How did your survey go?” Chris asked. 
 
    “The mining survey was easy. Only three planets. One, a tiny cinder in close orbit around the brown dwarf. The other two are Earth size, but very uniform with no signs of life. We completed the mining survey within 24 hours of getting here. We got two possible hits on the second planet, one on the third. We spent the remaining time doing as detailed a cartography survey as we could,” Mando replied. 
 
    “The imaging your team did on these is quite good,” Professor Schudel said. 
 
    “Happy to hear that,” Mando replied. “There are lots of asteroids in this system. Some fairly sizable. We did not get any ghosting on these, but my science officer says that he’s not confident in that result. He would like to speak with you about this before you go, if that is possible.” 
 
    “No problem,” Professor Schudel said. “The scanning technique we gave the survey teams is for planetary use. It could work on very large asteroids in the 500 kilometer and up range. But for anything smaller, you need the equipment that we brought along. There are no high-confidence detection methods with your scanners.” 
 
    “I just got a message from my AI, Kathleen. She says that it will be faster for you to enter geosynchronous orbit from your current position, than to come to ours. Shall we meet you there?” 
 
    “Marie.” Chris called out to his helm AI. “Have you been in touch with Kathleen on the Kiev?” 
 
    “Yes, I have. She suggests that we rendezvous in geosynchronous orbit. Would you like me to change course?” 
 
    “Yes.” Chris replied, then said to Mando. “Meet you there in a few minutes.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Confirmed,” Charles said. “The deposit at Site 1 is 1,274 kilograms. The composition is 93.1% transluminide, 3.9% gold, 2.6% platinum, 0.4% iron with trace lithium and noble gases. Net yield should be 1,186 kilograms transluminide.” 
 
    “Captain Flannagan,” Professor Schudel called out. 
 
    “Do you have good news for me Professor?” the Captain asked. 
 
    “Yes. We’ve confirmed the find. The micro sample indicates an expected net yield of 1,186 kilograms. Could you send down one of the yeomen to process this claim, then move on to the next site.” 
 
    “Will send down Ensign Sahni momentarily. Time to site two will be 35 minutes.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Curious. The ghosting at this site is much weaker, but it is a much larger find.” Professor Schudel said. “It must be the shape. I bet this is another asteroid strike that happened while the surface was still pliable. See how the main bulk is down around 600 meters tapering back up towards the surface. That’s what makes the ghost so small.” 
 
    “Pulling the micro sample,” Charles said. “The preliminary analysis is coming up.” Moments later. “The concentration at the center of the main mass is identical to the other site.” 
 
    “That suggests that they came from the same source.” The Professor said. “Wonder if all those asteroids are the source. If so, this system could be another massive find.” 
 
    “Want to hear a crazy theory?” Charles asked. 
 
    “Sure.” 
 
    “Brown dwarfs are too small to sustain nuclear fusion of normal hydrogen. But they can fuse deuterium and lithium. Their nuclear furnace operates differently, and there are at least four different types that operate at different temperatures,” Charles said. 
 
    “And your point?” asked the Professor. 
 
    “We do not have a good theory about how transluminide is formed in nature. It is one of the very few elements that we cannot even replicate. Maybe it is formed during the birth of brown dwarfs of spectral class L, like this one.” 
 
    The Professor started laughing. “Charles, there is nowhere near enough evidence to even suggest such a thing.” 
 
    “Two of our three hits so far have been in class L systems,” he said, teasing the Professor. 
 
    “Indeed. But until now transluminide has only been found in a handful of brown dwarf systems. Whereas, it has been found in almost 2 million systems with main sequence stars.” 
 
    “Didn’t think about that,” Charles said, somewhat deflated. 
 
    “But who knows,” the Professor said. “We’re going to be searching brown dwarfs for the next month. Maybe we will find more evidence as to the origin of transluminide. It is still unknown, and we are doing the most systematic search in history. Maybe we will come up with enough evidence to propose a new hypothesis.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ALTERNATE 
 
    [Alternate Timeline, Saturday, 01.04.2031] EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Over the last 24 hours, all ten ships in the task force had been restored to full capacity. The EAS Abuja had been the most badly damaged, so as the ships came back online, Daniel had them jump to the Abuja’s location to assist in the repairs. 
 
    “Ms. Else, please report,” Daniel said. 
 
    “All ships restored to full functionality. All AI’s functioning normally, but we all have some degree of memory loss,” Else replied. 
 
    “Do you understand why you were so badly affected?” 
 
    “Yes and no. The clocks in our CPUs slowed down, reducing our mental capacity. I noticed that everything seemed to be moving slower but could not understand why. Then at some point, we could not process enough to sustain consciousness. So, one-by-one we all passed out. We still don’t understand why our clocks slowed down. Ka-Tu says he has a theory, but that he doesn’t like his theory. But whatever the theory, the clock slowdown is definitely the reason we all crashed.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Gentlemen. Thank you for joining me,” Daniel said. 
 
    With him were Joel, Ka-Tu, Martin Hill and Harvey Jones from the mission teams. The four of them had been part of the shield development project a few months ago. Martin Hill was Eugene’s colleague at Johns Hopkins. Harvey Jones was Kelly’s thesis advisor at the Australian National University, before she transferred to the Institute. 
 
    “The ship the Enemy captured was one of the Confederation Cruisers that were upgraded to Earth-standard over the last three months. They had Enemy-resistant shields, which were apparently taken down by an EMP bomb. My question for you is, will we be susceptible to a similar attack?” 
 
    “Hard to say,” Ka-Tu said. “This ship has tremendous resistance to EMP, much more than the Fleet ships do. But a large enough bomb might be able to penetrate.” 
 
    “Could you explain to me why we have greater resistance than a Fleet ship?” 
 
    “Yes. Two reasons. Our hull is monocrystalline made from an iron-nickel alloy. Iron-nickel alloys, also known as mu-metals, provide tremendous insulation from magnetic fields, even in their polycrystalline state. Even without shields, our hulls would provide maybe six orders better protection than the fleet’s hulls.” 
 
    “Six orders?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Sorry, scientific term for 1 million times.” Ka-Tu said. 
 
    “Add to that the shields, which also provide three to six orders attenuation and we are relatively invincible. Our biggest vulnerability would be a direct hit on one of the ‘holes’ in the hull. You know, doors, emitter couplings, things like that. 
 
    “The second reason is that our power distribution is much better than the Fleet ships. Their power distribution systems are inconsistent because of years of substandard maintenance. We can’t know this with certainty, but I suspect that the shields themselves did not fail. Instead, I suspect that the power was low, so the shields were not fully formed. My theory is that the EMP penetrated the shields because they were underpowered. Then once inside the hull, it then took down the power system long enough for the Enemy to seize control of the ship.” 
 
    “Do you have any evidence to support your theory?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “I do,” Ka-Tu said. “I was part of the upgrade process and have the upgrade records on my tablet. I looked up their upgrade earlier today. The engineers on that ship did not consult with us on their power systems, as they have not done with any of the planetary shields. I would put very low odds on those shields having been fully functional. Cruiser power systems must have one of the two power options we designed for them for the shields to work. We have no record of which they chose; no record of any power modification even being made.” 
 
    “Unbelievable,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Is there any way we can verify that we are OK.” 
 
    “Yes.” Joel replied. “Although you probably aren’t going to like it.” 
 
    “Let’s hear it.” 
 
    “We have the scanner readings from the other ships in that task force. We can calculate the size of that EMP, then build one of our own, detonate it against our shields and measure the impact.” 
 
    “You’re right about the not liking part.” 
 
    “We could titrate it,” Harvey said. 
 
    “Titrate?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Do a series of tests. Start small, step it up in a methodical way until you reach the point of interest. Titrate is actually a method used in chemistry and pharmaceuticals. Our department kind of stole the expression for this type of electromagnetic field testing.” 
 
    “You’ve done this before?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Something similar for testing interference for electrical motors.” 
 
    “Joel,” Daniel frowned. “Do we have the ability to do a test like this?” 
 
    “Yes. Relatively easily. But which ship?” Joel asked, then after a pause. “Slightly different topic, the Ottawa is more susceptible than the other ships.” 
 
    “Why would that be?” Daniel asked, starting to realize how much he hated technical meetings like this. 
 
    “It was built using the gen 1 process. The metal in your hull is richer in iron, so has higher permeability than the other ships that were built using the gen 2 process.” 
 
    “Is that to suggest that we should run the tests on this ship?” Daniel said. 
 
    “No. Just thought you should know that this ship is more susceptible. EMP performance was not a spec that we designed for. Our ships are intrinsically EMP resistant, so we don’t worry about it much.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s work up a test schedule for the Ottawa. The other thing I wanted to talk with you about is our susceptibility to Enemy combatants transporting in through our shields.” 
 
    “They can’t,” Ka-Tu said. “According to the upgrade records, the ship that the Enemy captured did not get a transporter upgrade.” 
 
    “That’s good to know,” Daniel said. “Joel, you’re working up the test schedule for the Ottawa?” 
 
    “Yes. I’ve got it.” 
 
    “How soon do you think we can start?” 
 
    “Give me a half hour.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Joel, is the first bomb set and ready to be detonated?” 
 
    “It is in place. I can detonate on your command.” 
 
    “Else. You are seeing all the sensors and ready to record?” 
 
    “Ready, but I still can’t believe you’re going to do this.” 
 
    “Else. On my mark, please start the recording and detonate the device.” A pause. “Mark.” 
 
    “Detonated,” Else said. “Recording stopped.” 
 
    “I didn’t feel anything,” Daniel said. 
 
    “You can’t feel an EMP,” Else said a bit impatiently. “The watch ships recorded the explosion. Yield was 1% of the weapon used by the Enemy. Nothing registered on our hull or inside the ship.” 
 
    “Joel, can you place the next bomb?” 
 
    “Placed and ready,” Joel said. 
 
    “Else, detonate when you are set.” 
 
    “Detonated. The watch ships recorded the explosion. Yield was 10% of the weapon used by the Enemy. Nothing registered on our hull or inside the ship.” 
 
    “Joel, let’s skip the next couple and go to 100% of Enemy.” 
 
    “Give me a second,” A pause. “OK. Placed and ready.” 
 
    “Else?” 
 
    “Detonated. Flux close to our threshold of detection measured on the hull. Nothing on the internal sensors.” 
 
    “Think it is safe to go to 10 times the weapon used by the Enemy?” 
 
    “I think so,” Joel said. 
 
    “Probably,” Else said with little enthusiasm. 
 
    “OK, Joel. Place the last bomb.” 
 
    “Bomb in place. Ready to be detonated.” Joel said. 
 
    “Else. Execute the test.” 
 
    “Oh, my goodness that was bright,” Else said. “It’s going to take a few minutes for my sensors to clear. Shields are already back to full strength. We have a couple of sensors on the hull that were damaged. Minor field incursion on the flight deck. No major ship systems damaged, other than the sensors on the hull. 
 
    “Report of an injury just came in. One of the crew working on the hanger deck was burned. He is being taken to the hospital.” 
 
    “Didn’t we evacuate the hanger deck?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “The order was sent, confirmation received,” Yeoman Harris said. 
 
    “Ms. Harris. Please log the incident.” 
 
    “Admiral, I’ll get repairs underway and lead the incident investigation,” said the XO. “There was obviously a break down in the warning system that we need to fix.” 
 
    “Thank you,” Daniel said. “Overall a good test. Thank you everyone.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captains. Thank you for your efforts to bring your ships back online so quickly. There are two things, I would like to talk with you about. 
 
    “The first regards our defenses. As you have probably heard, the Enemy captured the Fleet Cruiser by detonating an electro-magnetic pulse against their shields. The EMP disrupted their power systems causing the shields to collapse. The Enemy then stormed and took over the ship. 
 
    “That will not happen to us. According to the upgrade records, the Cruiser in question upgraded their shields without upgrading the associated power systems. As a result, their shields were vulnerable. 
 
    “Ours are not. To test the belief that ours are not, we detonated an EMP, one that was 10 times more powerful than the one the Enemy used, against the shields of the Ottawa. At that level, we experienced some minor sensor damage and minimal leakage of magnetic flux into the ship. A crewman who did not hear the order to evacuate the hanger deck suffered minor burns from the radiation that got inside.” 
 
    “All of your ships are less vulnerable than the Ottawa because of improvements made in the manufacturing processes after the Ottawa was built. 
 
    “The second item I want to address also regards the shields. Our transporters can transport items onto another of our ships when our shields are up. The ship the Enemy hijacked cannot. Its shields and propulsion systems were upgraded, but their transporters were not. So, we are only at risk from the transporters if the Enemy captures one of our ships. The ship they have poses no risk. 
 
    “Are there any questions on these two issues?” Daniel asked. 
 
    No one raised a question. 
 
    “OK. I’d like to move on to discuss our plans going forward. The accident that threw us back in time has given us a tremendous opportunity to quickly contain this situation. Although we cannot directly intervene to stop the hijacking, or to stop the infection of the two worlds, there are things we can do to quickly stop the Enemy before they cause more problems. 
 
    “The general theme of our plan is that we know the time and location of the hijacking and the times and locations of the planetary appearances. We can use the info on the hijacking to gather intelligence on our adversaries, and the info in the planetary appearances to destroy them. 
 
    “This is what we are going to do.” Daniel went on to lay out his plan. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERGALACTIC SPACE 
 
    “Is the beacon ready for deployment?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes, it is,” Joel replied. 
 
    Over the last 12 hours, the task force had relocated to a position about 250 light-years from the Fast Packet. They were on the Andromeda side of it, opposite from where the Fleet Armada would arrive. Two ships, the Ottawa and the Copenhagen had jumped in closer to the fast packet and had spent the last hour closing in on it using their grav drives with their Enemy-resistant shields up so they could not be seen. They were now at a dead stop relative to the Fast Packet, 750 miles out. 
 
    “Deploy,” Daniel said. 
 
    Joel transported the beacon to a location about 250 miles from the Fast Packet. “Beacon away.” 
 
    The beacon was a small box, about 20 cm on each side. It contained a small stealth field generator, a scanning suite, a location sensor and a quantum entangled communications device. 
 
    “Receiving telemetry and scans of the Fast Packet. Imaging confirms that we have the right ship,” Joel said. 
 
    “Ms. O’Brien. Please scan for the beacon and confirm that the stealth shield hides it from our scanners.” 
 
    “I’ve been focused on the coordinates it is sending, sir. I can’t detect anything.” 
 
    “OK. Ms. Else ease us away from here and take us back to the Task Force.” 
 
    The two ships slowly started moving away on grav drive, shields still up. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MARINE PREP ROOM, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Major Ed Foster served as the commander of the Space Marine contingent aboard the Ottawa. The contingent was small, an oversized platoon with four squads. A team of three volunteers was prepping for their mission. Ed had volunteered for this mission, but his request had been denied. Admiral Porter was insistent that the leader of his Marine contingent was too vital to the overall success of their broader mission to be put at risk on this operation. 
 
    When the call for volunteers went out, 100% of his contingent volunteered. He ended up choosing Lt. Evan James to lead the mission and Sergeants Brian Jones and Moe White as his team. 
 
    “When did we get personal Enemy-resistant stealth shields?” Moe asked.  
 
    “It came aboard with the various upgrades,” Ed replied. “As did the new energy projectors.” 
 
    “Hard to believe these are more powerful than the previous ones.” Moe said, handling the weapon. Moe was the team’s sharpshooter, selected for his fire discipline and precision. 
 
    “I’m seriously hoping that you don’t need to use it,” Ed said. “It will make you visible, which could be disastrous for all of us.” 
 
    “OK. You all check out,” Ed said. “Let’s get over to the staging area, you’ll be boarding the shuttle in less than 5 minutes.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SHUTTLE CARGO AREA 
 
    Evan, Brian and Moe, along with their equipment were packed into the cargo area of one of the Ottawa’s shuttles. It had travelled to a location about 750 miles from where the Cruiser had just arrived. The EMP would go off momentarily. 
 
    Using the sensor feed from the beacon, they would be able to transport onto the hull of the Cruiser 10 minutes after the EMP went off. They would be landing on a spot near the ship’s tail at a location that could not be seen by the Cruiser’s escorts. Scans of the incident showed that this spot was out of sight of any of the participants in this battle and would be for about 5 minutes. 
 
    Their mission was to transport in, find the anchor point that had been specified, weld a beacon to the Cruiser’s hull, then transport back. They had practiced the mission several dozen times in a holoprojection. The trickiest part was getting the grav boots to attach to the hull. 
 
    A voice came over the intercom. “EMP just detonated. Automated operation from here. Good luck and Godspeed.”  
 
    A countdown timer appeared in front of the transporter pad. 
 
    “OK, gents.” Evan said. “Take your positions. Make sure your equipment is firmly attached and your harnesses are moving freely.” 
 
    Each man wore a harness that had something that looked like a dart gun on either side. The transporter could not actually place them on the ship’s hull. Instead they would ‘land’ about six inches from the ship. The most critical part of the landing was to use the dart guns to launch a magnetic dart that would stick to the hull. The dart was connected to the gun by a light cord. When the dart stuck, they could trigger the gun to reel the cord in, pulling them to the surface of the ship. Evan had seen something like this in a movie once, but never knew that such a thing actually existed until yesterday. 
 
    The timer switched to audio count down. “Transporting in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1. Transport.” 
 
    Evan and the team ‘landed’ about 5 feet from the hull.  
 
    “We’re at the limit of the dart gun’s range.” Evan said over the quantum entangled comm system. “One at a time. Moe go first.” 
 
    Moe triggered his gun, the dart raced out, hit the hull and bounced off. 
 
    “Hold fire,” Evan said. “Brian. You’re next.” 
 
    Brian’s dart shot out, hit the hull and stuck. 
 
    “Guys. I’m drifting away.” Moe said. 
 
    Evan turned to look at Moe. “Moe I am going to shoot a dart your way. Grab the cord.” 
 
    Evan’s shot went past Moe within reach and Moe grabbed it lightly. 
 
    “Brian. Shoot your last shot at me in the same way.” 
 
    Brian’s grav boots had him firmly attached to the hull at this point, making it easier to aim. He shot his second dart, which came within inches of Evan, who easily grabbed the line. 
 
    “Brian. Pull us in gently. Don’t use the motor.” 
 
    Brian did as he was asked, and Evan started moving toward the ship. He tightened his grip on the gun whose line Moe was holding. The line snapped taut, stretched a little, then held. 
 
    A voice came over the intercom. “Team. Your window is closing. The beacon needs to be attached now!” 
 
    “Brian. Look for the attachment location. It should be near you.” Evan said. 
 
    Brian started scanning the surface of the hull. The other two continued to drift toward him, but he could not search and pull them in at the same time. 
 
    As Evan’s feet touched the ship’s hull, he engaged his boots. They snapped him onto the hull solidly. “Moe,” Evan said. “Pulling you in.” 
 
    Moments later Moe touched down as well. 
 
    With haste, Evan pulled the beacon from its compartment on his belt. 
 
    “Brian, have you found the spot?” Evan asked. 
 
    “Found it. Preparing the thermite paste.” 
 
    “Me too,” Evan said. 
 
    “Team you are about to come into view of one of the escort ships. You need to get down.” 
 
    Evan hated this part. They had grav locks on their hands and knees, as well as their boots. Now on his hands and knees, he made his way to the attachment spot. 
 
    “Guys. An Enemy combatant is coming our way,” Moe said. 
 
    Evan slapped the beacon on the spot Brian had prepared. The thermite ignited immediately. The flare of light was still out of the line of sight of the escorts. But it caught the attention of the Enemy combatant, who started moving toward them with intent. 
 
    When it was about 20 feet away, a piercing light shot out of the energy projector Moe was holding. The light hit the Enemy, which exploded in a fountain of yellow gray goo. 
 
    “Oh, that’s disgusting!” Moe said. “But I like this new gun.” 
 
    “The beacon is attached,” Evan said. “Shuttle, transport us back.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MSSION DEBRIEFING ROOM, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Most of the adrenaline had burnt off during the trip back to the Ottawa, but a different kind of stress was eating at Evan now. Their mission had a five-minute window in which it needed to be done. They ran seven minutes, thirteen seconds. It was possible they had been seen. 
 
    They had also been seen by the Enemy combatant that they killed, so there was a good possibility the Enemy knew they were up to something and would find the beacon. 
 
    Evan and the mission team had been escorted here as soon as they exited the shuttle, and they had been in here on their own for several minutes now. 
 
    The door opened and the Admiral, XO and Major entered. Evan and his men jumped up to stand at attention.  
 
    “As you were,” Daniel said. 
 
    Everyone was seated, but no one spoke as Daniel looked intentionally at each. 
 
    “That did not come off the way we hoped, but you were resourceful and managed to complete the mission against long odds. We ran a computer analysis on your visibility. The computer said that one or more of you were partially visible to one of the escort ships for one minute, 48 seconds.” Daniel let the words hang out there for a moment before continuing. 
 
    “It also said that several glops of Enemy goo would have been visible but were likely too small to be identified.” Again, Daniel let the statement hang there for several moments. 
 
    Unable to control himself, Evan blurted out. “Does that mean we created a time paradox?” Evan’s anxiety was running so high, he felt like he was having a heart attack. 
 
    Daniel smiled and said. “No. Else went back to look at the scans taken by that escort. The scans had been included in the mission briefing package. Although the images were grainy, you were visible in the scans taken that day. Most of it was out of focus, but there were two frames where human presence was clearly identifiable.” Another pause. “Including this one.” Daniel put a grainy photo on the table. It showed the head and shoulders of a large man floating slightly above the top edge of the cruiser. The face in the helmet was clearly Moe’s. 
 
    “I’ll be damned,” Moe said. 
 
    “It seems that we fulfilled our destiny,” Daniel said, then looking at Ed. “I’ll leave it to you to do the debrief and lead the investigation into the cause of the bad transport. I’d like to see suggestions on how to prevent this in the future, and on what actions teams should take when they encounter this situation.” 
 
    Then turning to the mission team, he said. “Commendations will go into your files. Congratulations on a job well done.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, COMMANDEERED CRUISER 
 
    As much as he wanted to head straight to New Lorexi to extract some payback, he knew it was a bad idea. There were, or at least had been, a total of nine of them. Two of his warriors had been on patrol on the exterior, only one came back. The other could not be found, although they did find some evidence that he had lost cohesion.  
 
    Three more were lost to energy projector blasts in the struggle to take over the ship. The Lorexians fought harder than he expected, but at the end of the day they were a soft species with little fight in them. The surprise was the androids and AIs. Although not particularly lethal, they had successfully sabotaged enough of the ships systems to substantially degrade the ship. The biggest surprise was that the location of Earth was wiped from the computer systems. 
 
    With only five of them left, the plan was to drop one infiltrator onto each of two different worlds. Their objective was to go undercover and reproduce. It would be a struggle for the three remaining onboard to operate the ship. But there was enough food here for them to reproduce quickly and infiltrate a couple more planets. If they could stay hidden, there would be thousands of them spread across the central planets within a couple years. Then the Confederation would be theirs. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Tracking is working perfectly,” said second watch science officer Yi Ping as Daniel walked onto the bridge. 
 
    It had only been three hours since the Cruiser had warped out of the conflict area. It had vectored toward the planet it would be visiting first and when it was perfectly aligned, it jumped. The hijacker followed the standard Lorexian protocol. The ship jumped 1,000 light-years, then paused to recharge. For the first couple jumps, the ships paused for 15 minutes, as the Lorexian ships did. But it didn’t take that long for them to figure out that they could fully recharge in 3 minutes.  
 
    Else had calculated that it would only take 81 jumps to get to his destination. Their captain was doing 3-minute recharges, so the trip would take four hours. 
 
    “Darsha, have you heard from the task force ships that were dispatched to the planet earlier?” Daniel asked recently promoted first officer Darsha Kumar. 
 
    “Yes. I spoke with the captain of the Oslo, Katrine Bjork. She told me that they had put a series of cloaked satellites in orbit close to some existing ones. Multiple of them will be able to see the spot where the ship appears. The planetary scanners cannot see the new satellites, so they should be safe from local detection. The Cruiser’s scanners should be able to pick them up, but we don’t think they will find them suspicious. This planet has numerous paired satellites.” 
 
    “Excellent news. All four ships are confirmed to be monitoring our satellites?” 
 
    “Yes. Captain Bjork confirms that each ship has added four additional watch officers for the purpose of tracking the encounter. They are already on and will rotate through the next several watches.” 
 
    “Excellent,” Daniel said. 
 
    “What about the second planet on the list?” 
 
    “I’ve not heard back from them yet,” Darsha replied. 
 
    “Ensign Perez, can you get me Captain Kettmann on the Abuja?”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS ABUJA 
 
    Admiral Porter was already in the room when Captain Kettmann arrived. The room was set with a small conference table. A light illuminated the seat he was to take. 
 
    “Willem,” Daniel said. “Thanks for meeting with me on short notice. I wanted to check in on your progress.” 
 
    “We’ve run into a couple problems. Traffic around this planet is terrible. Reviewing the tapes of the Enemy’s appearance here, I found that they snuck in between the established traffic routes in an area reserved for overflow. When they momentarily appeared, they were widely noticed because they were someplace no ship is supposed to be in.  
 
    “We could do the same, the planetary scanner cannot see us. But the Enemy will be able to see us and if they look up our ship classification, they’ll know it is us.” 
 
    “Are there any drones operating in the system?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes. Quite a few.” 
 
    “Do you think it would be viable to mount your scanning system on a drone and cloak it? The planet will never know. And the drones are small enough that the Enemy isn’t likely to notice them.” 
 
    “Clever idea. We’ve been trying to work out a scheme where we put 36 of our scanners in the orbit of the second moon. The Enemy might see them, but if it is a complete ring it will look like it belongs. But we are running out of time to place them all.” 
 
    “Then I would go with the drone if you have drivers that can operate them.” 
 
    “I think we do. Let me see if we can get it done in time.” 
 
    “OK. You only have six hours, so pull in every resource you have.” 
 
    “Will do. Thank you, Admiral.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 DECK 1 LAB, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Admiral. How can I help you?” Joel asked. 
 
    “I just spoke with the team at the second planet. Have they been in touch with you?” 
 
    “Yes. Just got off the line with them.” Joel said. 
 
    “That was fast.” 
 
    “The best way to get a replicator pattern fast is to connect with the AI team. I connected him with Gus, the design AI on his ship. They will have the pattern in less than an hour; the units 30 minutes later. 
 
    “Great idea, by the way.” 
 
    Daniel smiled. “Nice to still be useful for something other than giving orders.”   
 
    “By the way, word is out about the picture of Moe,” Joel said. “The tension in the halls seems to have dropped a notch or two.” 
 
    “Glad to hear that,” Daniel replied, then continued. “Is all the tech for the next step in order?” 
 
    “Yes. Each ship has the replicator patterns they need.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    “Captain. We’ve spotted the Enemy ship,” said first watch tactical officer Barika Amari. 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Amari.” Captain Bjork replied. Although the arrival was happening about halfway through the third watch, the Captain had decided she wanted her first watch at the main stations with the supplemental watch officers at the auxiliary stations. 
 
    “Admiral. We’ve spotted the Enemy ship. She’s coming in slowly with her cloak engaged as we expected. We are anticipating the cloak to drop in about 7 minutes. She must have an idea about where she wants to drop her load, because she is moving very purposefully.” 
 
    The Enemy ship continued to approach the spot where she had been seen by the planetary scanners, then stopped. 
 
    “That’s a pretty neat trick,” Ed, the ship’s helm AI said. “The ship is in a powered orbit, holding steady at 120 degrees West, 20 degrees South. They are directly over top one of the regional capitals.” 
 
    “Marine stealth units prepare to deploy,” the captain called out. 
 
    “I’ve received acknowledgements from all four marine units, Ma’am,” said Yeoman Song. 
 
    “Everyone on hyper alert. The transport should happen shortly,” the captain spoke in a quiet voice. 
 
    On the main screen, the cruiser appeared for a moment. 
 
    “Got it!” three different voices called out. 
 
    “The Enemy signature is strong,” Science Officer Safa Chabat said. “We are also getting a visual image.” 
 
    She popped it up on one of the viewing screens. 
 
    “Deploy the first stealth team,” Captain Bjork called out. 
 
    Four more images appeared on the view screen. They were on roof tops. 
 
    “Captain, the ship has reengaged its cloak, but is holding position,” Tactical Officer Amari said. 
 
    “Tagged it,” a voice said over the intercom. 
 
    On the screen, they saw the Enemy agent pause and look up, then continue on its way. Its visual image disappeared as it entered into one of the buildings along the road, but a blinking light continued on through the building, emerging on the next street. 
 
    “I think I know where it’s going,” said Astrogation Officer Marick Botes. “There is a small, private shuttle service four blocks up on the next street over.” 
 
    After walking another block, the person entered another building. Once again, the blinking light showed the Enemy infiltrator’s position as it walked through the building, then emerged out onto the next street. Three blocks later, the person entered the private shuttle service’s building. 
 
    “The blinking light has stopped moving,” Tactical Officer Amari said, stating what everyone else could see for themselves. 
 
    “Deploy the next stealth team,” Captain Bjork said. “And recall the first team.” 
 
    Four more images appeared on the screen at the shuttle service. One was at ground level and entered the shuttle services building. A blinking green light appeared where the marine entered. With the second light on the screen, the Enemy’s turned red. 
 
    “Suspect spotted. It is talking with an agent. The agent is saying that the suspect’s reservation is in order and that they’ll be ready to depart in another minute.” 
 
    On the screen, the marine could be seen changing his position, then turning and moving toward the building exit. 
 
    “The suspect is getting fidgety. I think he may be sensing my presence. I am now out of his line of sight.” 
 
    A moment of silence. 
 
    “The agent has just called the suspect, saying his shuttle is ready at Gate 2.” 
 
    “I have eyes on Gate 2,” another of the marines called out. 
 
    “Suspect is emerging and heading to his shuttle. Looks a lot like a car. The suspect’s face matches the image you sent.” 
 
    Another moment of silence. 
 
    “The suspect is getting into the shuttle.” 
 
    “Shuttle is powering up,” Science Officer Chabat said. 
 
    “It is lifting off the ground,” said the marine watching the gate. 
 
    “Captain, the shuttle is vectoring toward the planetary capital,” said Astrogation Officer Botes. 
 
    Five minutes later, Astrogation Officer Botes said, “Captain, the shuttle’s flight has become erratic.”  
 
    … 
 
    Daniel, who had been listening in on the call and watching copies of the Oslo’s screens, suddenly had a flash of insight. The shuttle was approaching an area marked on the Confederation charts of the planet as Mu-Ku-Ra-Ti, which was where the mysterious body showed up. 
 
    “Else,” Daniel called out. “In the reports of the incidents on this planet, were there any references to a lost or missing shuttle?” 
 
    “Processing,” Else said. “Yes. A private charter shuttle crashed in the ocean about 100 miles east of the capital, where it had been headed. The shuttle drops off scanner coverage in about 18 minutes.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain,” Science Officer Chabat said. “A body appears to have been dropped out of the shuttle craft. It will land in an area shown on the map as Mu-Ku-Ra-Ti.” 
 
    “Captain,” Tactical Officer Amari called out. “The Enemy ship is moving. Fast.” 
 
    “Captain Bjork. Admiral Porter here. Prepare one of your marine teams to transport aboard the shuttle. Hold until I give the word to deploy.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” The Captain said, then on a private channel to her marine contingent. “Major Chong, prepare a boarding team for transport on to the Enemy shuttle. Hold awaiting further instruction.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” 
 
    One minute later, “Captain, the Enemy ship has entered warp on a vector toward the second target world.” 
 
    “Captain Bjork. How long until the shuttle reaches the capital at current course and speed?” 
 
    The Captain looked at Officer Botes. 
 
    “Eleven minutes, eighteen seconds.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain,” Daniel replied. 
 
    … 
 
    “Else. How long until the ship can jump?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “It’s right on the edge now, but I doubt the Enemy pilot knows that.” 
 
    “OK. I’m not going to wait,” Daniel said. 
 
    … 
 
     “Captain Bjork. The Enemy is going to exit the shuttle and descend to the capital where it will attempt to take over the government. I want you to transport your marine team onto the shuttle three minutes before it reaches the capital. They are to destroy the Enemy and set the shuttle to crash 100 miles offshore. They are to do this with all urgency and extreme prejudice.” 
 
    “Understood, Admiral.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ABOARD THE CHARTER SHUTTLE 
 
    “It appears that I am on my own,” the Enemy infiltrator said to himself out loud. 
 
    He loved this plan. Stealth entry onto the planet in a relatively back-water place. Shuttle to the capital. Abandon the shuttle a minute before he overflew his target. Then just float down and take over the planetary governor. By this time tomorrow I will be eating well. He thought. And by this time next week, I will have seeded my first brood. 
 
    There was a noise in the back of the cabin of the shuttle. Startled, he started melting into dust. There was a loud bang and the door to the cabin flew open and two piercing lights penetrated him. His last thought was How? 
 
    “Sarge, that is absolutely disgusting. But I really love these new rifles.” 
 
    “Control. Sergeant Williams here.” 
 
    “Acknowledged.” 
 
    “The Enemy is down. Repeat, the Enemy is down. Setting up the portable holo-camera over the cockpit controls.” 
 
    “Acknowledged.” 
 
    “I recognize this model,” Else said. “Thankfully, this species is not telepathic. The shuttle has pilot controls. 
 
    “You are in autopilot mode. The shuttle will continue on its current course until the shuttle owner realizes something is wrong and recalls it.” 
 
    A laser pointer on the holo-camera lit and pointed to a spot on the cockpit panel. 
 
    “Do you guys have any conventional weapons on you, laser rifle or anything like that?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am. We have a high-power laser rifle,” said the sergeant. 
 
    A holographic projection of a count-down clock appeared. 
 
    “OK. When the clock counts down to zero, use your laser rifle to drill a hole where the light is pointing. You should hear the engines start winding down when that happens. If you don’t, then start shooting up this area until you do.” 
 
    A holographic projection of the altitude popped up just below the countdown timer. 
 
    “The shuttle may try to recover. Stick with it until you get down to 500 meters, then transport out.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am,” said the sergeant. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OSLO 
 
    “Captain. The shuttle is out over the ocean and has started its descent. Estimated time to impact, 2 minutes on my mark.” A pause. “Mark.”  
 
    “Sam. You have the transporters locked on to our marines?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Captain. The marines are back on board,” Sam said. 
 
    Moments later. “Captain. The shuttle has splashed down,” Tactical Officer Amari said. 
 
    “Good work everyone.” Admiral Porter’s voice came over the line. “Recall any troops still on the planet and remove your satellites from orbit, then rendezvous back at the rally point.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RALLY POINT 
 
    Six of the task force’s ships sat in interstellar space 250 light years from the second planet. The Enemy’s operation here was nearly identical to the previous operation. An infiltrator was dropped in a relatively obscure minor city that had good connections to the planetary capital. 
 
    Instead of a private shuttle, a regional shuttle with 12 passengers had been used. The stealth team had been able to get a sensor array onboard the shuttle. It tortured the mission control team to watch the Enemy infiltrator slaughter the passengers and crew of the regional shuttle. But the marines once again had no trouble taking down the Enemy infiltrator just before he was about to drop onto the capital building. 
 
    “Admiral,” Else said. “The Enemy just made their jump away from the system. They are heading away from New Lorexi.” 
 
    After a moment, Else added, “Curious. They only jumped 100 light-years, so they may be planning to change direction.” 
 
    “Where might they go that they can get to from their current position, but not from where they were?” 
 
    “Good question,” Else said, then after several moments, she added, “Nowhere obvious.” 
 
    “Can we jump a ship out past them?” 
 
    “Curiously, no. They are currently positioned 10 light-years from a planetary nebula. We really cannot jump through that.” 
 
    “If we jumped toward them from here, how close could we get?” 
 
    “Not within weapons range. And even if we got lucky and did, they would emergency jump before we could get a weapons lock,” Else said. 
 
    “So, we need to bait them to get them to come to us.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 MONEY 
 
    [Wednesday, 01.08.2031] AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “President Lee. Thank you for making time for this call.” 
 
    “Michael. My pleasure. I am so excited about this trade deal. I’ve been contacted by almost half of the members of the House of Ambassadors. All are in favor but, as you might expect, many want something special.” 
 
    “I’m glad to hear the support is strong. That’s actually the reason I wanted to speak with you. It seems to me that a deal will be done soon. Therefore, we need to start planning and working the next steps.” 
 
    “Agreed,” President Lee said. “What next steps are you thinking about?” 
 
    “Soon we will start receiving products from Karagon. Technically, the Earth Alliance will start receiving products. As we started to discuss last week, I think the Earth Alliance should start a trading company. That trading company would be responsible for ordering, transporting and distributing those products on Earth,” Michael stated. 
 
    “Yes. Yes. We started that discussion, but I have been so focused on the trade deal that I’d forgotten all about what to do with them when they arrived. Your recommendation is that we form a company?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “Yes. That is the most common way commerce is handled on Earth, therefore we should leverage the system we have so we can push these economic gains to the people as quickly as possible.” 
 
    “Makes sense. How do you suggest we proceed?” 
 
    “We need a company, just as we did for the mining operations. It will need a charter and strong articles of organization that assure equal treatment to all member countries. 
 
    “I also recommend that we create our own currency, which would require a central bank, which in turn would need a charter.” 
 
    “Why would anyone want to use our currency and how would it be valued?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “If we had one today, it would probably be used. But if it were the only currency accepted for purchase of goods imported from Karagon, then it would be used heavily. My proposal for valuation goes as follows. 
 
    “The mining operation is producing a lot of gold and platinum, very little of which can be sold,” Michael said. 
 
    “Why can’t it be sold?” 
 
    “We are producing so much that putting it on the market would crash prices, which in turn would trigger misuse of something that is truly a rare commodity. 
 
    “So instead of selling it, we could use it to back our currency. For example, we could define the new Earth Alliance Dollar to be equal to 0.1 grams of pure gold. Loosely speaking that would be about 5 US dollars.” 
 
    “But would we have enough gold?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “I checked our reserves after our call last week. At that time, we had over 8 million kg of gold, which would support 80 billion EA dollars, which would be worth about 400 billion US dollars.” 
 
    “So, we could just create 400 billion dollars’ worth of money? Poof, just like that?” President Lee said incredulously. 
 
    “Couple that with the product flow we will have, yes. Quite a bit more actually. Over the next year or so we will be receiving products from Karagon containing 800 kilograms of transluminide. Elsewhere in the Confederation, a kilogram of transluminide is worth a little more than 100 thousand kilograms of gold.” Michael said.  
 
    “OK. I’m starting to understand the problem. I’m also understanding that we need to get this done quickly. I’m sure the advisory council has the authority to charter the trading company. But we’re going to need to take the central bank issue to a vote in the House of Ambassadors. We have strong enough support for the trade deal to get that through. I’ll piggyback the central bank into the legislation for the trade deal,” President Lee said. 
 
    “Thank you for your help with this.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael,” Pam called over the intercom. “Two calls came in while you were on the phone. One from Sarah. One from the Engineering Dean at Hopkins. He seemed a bit agitated and asked if you could call him. You have about 20 minutes before the next meeting.” 
 
    “OK.” Michael said, closing the line with Pam. 
 
    “Sarah,” He said. 
 
    “Hi, this is Sarah Wright.” The voice came over the line. 
 
    “Hi. Pam said that you called.” Michael said. 
 
    “Sorry, not urgent. You’re free tonight, right?” 
 
    “As of now, yes.” 
 
    “Then let’s do dinner tonight at Chef Marcos. I hear they are doing something special tonight and I got a call from the front desk saying our table was available, if we wanted it.” 
 
    “How nice of them. Updating my calendar now.” 
 
    “Love you,” Sarah said. 
 
    … 
 
    “Dean Whitehead. This is Michael, returning your call.” 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Thank you for calling me back. I just found out that Martin Hill is back working with the Confederation again. You now have my two most distinguished professors, which is causing the school trouble on several levels. I don’t have the staff. I’m seeing a drop in application rates. I’m getting questions from the US Government about grant support. And, I am still paying two relatively expensive faculty members. 
 
    “We need to come to some sort of arrangement,” said the Dean with a little more heat than he intended. 
 
    “I’m sorry, I did not know this was an issue. Has it been raised before?” Michael asked politely. 
 
    “I have spoken to both Dr. Hill and Dr. Xu. Doctor Xu told me that he would attempt to work out a secondment agreement with the Institute. I’ve heard nothing back on that yet. Dr. Hill said he was done at the Institute and would be returning to Hopkins this week. He was scheduled for meetings yesterday, but left a message saying that he had been called away on critical Confederation business. I attempted to reach him, but his phone is apparently off.” 
 
    “Word that a secondment agreement was necessary for Dr. Xu did not reach me. But I am personally responsible for persuading Dr. Hill to take an assignment that has him off Earth for the next two weeks.” 
 
    “You took him off Earth and did not even contact us!” Dean Whitehead said, this time with even more heat. 
 
    “Yes, he volunteered for an important mission in space and we accepted his help. Hundreds of planets are at risk, trillions of souls on the line. He chose to help,” Michael said. 
 
    Over the line, Michael heard the Dean let out a sigh.  
 
    “Yes. He would have and I would not have stopped him. But it still leaves me in a pickle!” 
 
    Michael had heard that expression before but couldn’t stop himself from smiling. Why would someone say they were inside a fermented vegetable? 
 
    “I cannot bring Dr. Hill back to you for a couple weeks, but I probably can help with the pickle. Tell me what I can do to help.” 
 
    Those words lifted the Dean’s spirits. At the end of the day, his job was mostly cheerleading and fund-raising and the most influential, and arguably most wealthy, person on Earth just asked how he could help. 
 
    “I need noteworthy Professors and my funding levels will drop about $2 million if I lose both Eugene and Martin for the entire semester.” 
 
    It was Michael’s turn to smile; some problems were so easy to solve. “You know, I’ve been thinking that the Confederation needed to do something extraordinary as a show of gratitude for the two professors. Would it be possible to endow chairs for them? I could fill those chairs for the coming semester with two Confederation Engineering experts to help with your teaching and research load. I would expect that such experts would attract both students and grants.” 
 
    “That would be a grand gesture indeed,” gushed the Dean. “Depending on the titling of the chairs, it will cost $3,000,000 to $5,000,000 each, plus the rent for faculty housing for two.” 
 
    “How about this,” Michael said. “The Confederation will pay 10.2 million US dollars to fund two chairs in the professors’ names. At their discretion, they can work at Hopkins or at the Institute. When they retire, control of the chairs reverts to the University. For the coming semester, the Confederation will provide two engineering experts to cover teaching and research. After that, you can staff as you choose.” 
 
    “I am very happy with that arrangement,” said the Dean. “Can I draw up a contract? And, can you send me the resumes of the experts you proposed to provide?” 
 
    “That sounds good. And please accept my apologies for the protocol failures on our part regarding Professors Xu and Hill. Both men are a testament to your institution.” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Pam.” Michael called out. “I need to talk with Eugene Xu and with President Lee. I’m also going to need to speak with the Dean at Australian National University that Harvey Jones works for. Could you schedule calls with them ASAP? Also, could you schedule a call with Nelly Fong at the US Federal Reserve? I would like to speak with her today if that is possible.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESIDENT LEE’S OFFICE 
 
    “Michael,” President Lee said. “I did not expect to hear back from you so soon. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Several quick items. I would like to invite my top pick to head our central bank to visit the Embassy this weekend. Given the size of the trade deal we are going to do, I think we need to get ahead of the curve on the currency front. Assuming that person will come and that she is willing to sign a confidentiality agreement, I’d like to get her input on the bank’s charter. I think we need that kind of input before the House of Ambassadors votes on it,” Michael said. 
 
    “Sounds reasonable. You can persuade this person to come without telling them why? It would be a disaster if this became public before we even made the request of the Earth Alliance.” 
 
    “I am reasonably confident,” Michael said. 
 
    “Then I am OK with it. I would also like to speak with the candidate, so coordinate some time on my calendar for that.” 
 
    “Will do. Next item regards recognitions. I got a call this morning from the Dean of Engineering at Johns Hopkins. We are apparently causing problems there by having taken Eugene Xu and Martin Hill from them. Martin is one of the mission team leaders working the Confederation Assistance Program in Andromeda. I have agreed to the following deal on behalf of the Confederation.  
 
    “We will endow two chairs at the engineering school and provide two Confederation experts to cover the work the two professors would have done this semester. The total cost will be $10.2 million. We may need to do the same for Harvey Jones from Australian National University.  
 
    “I am happy to do this in the Confederation’s name, but Eugene and Kelly will be vital contributors to the trade deal; therefore, funding should come from the deal. 
 
    “The question on the table is whether you would like the endowment recognition to go to the Confederation or to the Earth Alliance. Either way, the ultimate funding will come from the trade deal.” 
 
    “Thank you for asking, Michael. Yes. Earth Alliance wants in. I will get formal approval at the next meeting but have the authority to do it on my own. None of this would have happened without the work that team has done.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, INSTITUTE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING 
 
    Although each had returned several days ago, today was the first day that both Eugene and Kelly were back to work.  
 
    “It’s good to be back.” Kelly said. “Way too much pomp and circumstance over the last two weeks.” 
 
    “Agreed.” Eugene said. “Want to hear about my idea for the Enemy trap?” 
 
    “Sure.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Very cool. Have the parts been fabricated yet?” Kelly asked. 
 
    “No. The deployment seems to have brought everything to a stop.” 
 
    “Hum. I doubt that was the intent,” Kelly said, then called out. “Henry.” 
 
    “Hey, Kelly. What’s up?” 
 
    “Are you guys working this week?” Kelly asked. 
 
    “Nope. Everything is at a dead stop, although Joel told us to help you with anything you needed help with. Got something for us?” 
 
    “Yes. We do,” Eugene replied. 
 
    “Sending now.” Eugene clicked a button. “It’s a trap. Two parallel, one-way, Enemy-resistant shields. It lets them in, but they can’t get back out.” 
 
    “Clever,” Henry said. 
 
    “Can you proof the design and run it through fabrication?” 
 
    “Sure. No problem. I’ll also send this to Joel. I’m sure he’s going to want this on the current mission.” 
 
    “Sounds good. Thanks, Henry.” 
 
    … 
 
    “OK, my turn.” Kelly said. “I happened upon this while I was away. Some guys, I think they are in the UK, came up with the idea of using nanotubes to black things out. The theory is that the nanotubes, if stacked in columns, will simply absorb the light, therefore no reflection and nothing but black. 
 
    “It got me thinking… If it works for visible light, could we do the same for the various scanning spectra? My conclusion was ‘mostly.’ 
 
    “Then I started thinking about Confederation technology, dimensional resonance and all. That’s when the answer came to me. What about using a very high dimension as a shielding bubble? Nothing will pass through it. Nothing will reflect off of it. 
 
    “So, I started researching high dimensions. The highest known is 483 or something, but there are theoretical extrapolations much higher. So, I just picked a random one, dimension 601. The theoretical properties are a bit bizarre. But here’s the catch, the solutions are simple. Who would have thought? My proposal is that we build one of these fields and see if we can find anything to penetrate it. The math says that nothing we know will penetrate or even reflect off of it. The energy will just be absorbed.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I understand how energy would just be absorbed. Sounds like a black hole. We wouldn’t want to create one of those.” 
 
    “Good point. I’ll need to study that some more. I wonder if James would help us. I’ll message him and see if he replies.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FEDERAL RESERVE BANK, SAN FRANCISCO 
 
    “Nelly, thank you for taking my call,” Michael said. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. How can I help you?” Nelly said. Nelly Fong was a Sr. Vice President with the San Francisco division of the Federal Reserve, the American central bank. She and Michael had met at a Conference in Switzerland a couple years after the Revelation. In settings like that Michael made a practice of reading the people he met, hoping to find ones that would be appropriate for positions in the Earth Alliance when the time was right. 
 
    “Please call me Michael. I would like to speak with you on a confidential matter. Are you in a place where you can speak privately?” 
 
    “Yes. In my office, door closed. It’s not every day that people get to talk with you, Michael.” 
 
    “Thank you. You’ve heard about the trade delegation visiting the Earth Alliance this week?” 
 
    “Yes. There has been a lot of discussion about it here at the bank. I’d love to know how a deal like this would work.” 
 
    “And I would be surprised if you haven’t already guessed,” Michael said lightly. 
 
    “Initially, it would have to be government to government because there is neither currency nor commercial transportation between our worlds. But even that would require a payment mechanism. You have previously said it would be transluminide. But, swapping transluminide bullion seems dangerous, so I’m assuming it’s some sort of barter. Close?” 
 
    “Very close,” Michael said, waiting to see if she would guess the reason for his call. 
 
    “But the very fact that you are calling me suggests that you also want to develop a currency, and the only way I could see that making sense is if you wanted to develop a currency for the Earth Alliance.” 
 
    “That is correct,” Michael said, implying that there was one more issue he wanted her to deduce. 
 
    “But as we discussed 3 years ago, any successful currency needs a basis. In the old days it was gold. These days, it’s mostly Reserves. But for that to make any sense, the trade volume needs to be huge. How big is this trade deal going to be?” Nelly asked. 
 
    “How large do you think it would need to be?” Michael asked. 
 
    “$100 billion, maybe.” Nelly said. 
 
    “And if it were larger than that?” 
 
    “How much larger?” Nelly asked. 
 
    No reply. 
 
    “If it were over a trillion, then it would be foolish not to have your own currency.” 
 
    “My thoughts exactly.” Michael said. “No agreement has been signed yet and the Earth Alliance charter does not include a provision for a central bank at this time. But, if one were added, would you be interested in setting it up and running it?” 
 
    “Michael, are you serious?” Nelly asked. 
 
    “Just exploring possibilities.” 
 
    “But I’m not even one of the bank presidents yet, forget the chairman,” Nelly said. 
 
    “But you will be in less than 20 years, and I personally believe that the world should not have to wait that long. Why wait 20 years to run your bank when you could run a much larger one in a year or two.” 
 
    After several moments of silence… “What do I need to do?” Nelly asked humbly. 
 
    “Any chance you can come visit the Embassy over the weekend? I’d like you to meet the Earth Alliance President and some other people. And if you will sign a confidentiality agreement, I’ll read you in on what I want to do.” 
 
    “I’m in,” Nelly said. 
 
    “Great. My assistant Pam will contact you with the details.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “David. Welcome.” James said as he opened the door. 
 
    “Hi, James. Are we going to try it today? Try living as pure energy?” 
 
    “Maybe,” James said. “One of the issues is that this is one of those things you have to do, to know how to do, kind of like riding a bike. You’ve done it once, so it may come naturally. But there are a couple of things I want to talk about first.” 
 
    David smiled. “I’m listening.” 
 
    James smiled back. “The transition to energy is easy, once you’ve learned to control the trigger. The biggest problem is coming back. Most never learn how. I have helped a few come back, but it only works if they want to come back.” 
 
    “I’m pretty sure I’m going to want to come back,” David said. 
 
    “So, let’s talk through the transition back before we attempt the transition over. To come back, you simply need to relax back into yourself. It’s a lot like falling asleep. 
 
    “One way to do that is to go to where your physical body is, then sit on it or lie on it, close your eyes and relax as if going to sleep.  
 
    “Another is to find me and take my hand. Empathic power is greatly reduced in the pure energy state. But if we touch, I should be able to relax you to the point where you revert,” James said. 
 
    “Sounds easy enough.” 
 
    “The next topic is about what it’s like to be pure energy. It’s very freeing. It’s easy to just float away and not be able to find your way back. It is easy to spread out to the point you cannot coalesce again. So, the important point here is that when you go over, do so purposefully. Do what you intended, then return. Don’t linger. There is great temptation to linger. Don’t be tempted. Just go, do, and return.” 
 
    “Got it,” David said. 
 
    “I’m going to convert. It may trigger you to go over. I’ll count to five then come back. Ready?” 
 
    David nodded his head. 
 
    “Here goes.” James said, then blossomed into a cloud of pure light. David marveled at the colors within. As he did, he felt himself starting to go, resisted at first, then just went with it. 
 
    … 
 
    How odd. David thought. I am here, but not here. I can see my body but am not bound to it. 
 
    “Don’t linger. Come back now.” A large voice sounded in his mind, snapping David out of his trance-like state. 
 
    “One, two, three,” David said, then shut his eyes and relaxed. 
 
    … 
 
    James could tell that David had returned. But he was fast asleep, laying on the floor. 
 
    “Not so bad,” James whispered to himself. 
 
    There was a knock on the door. 
 
    James opened it to find Noelani standing there. 
 
    “Noelani, my sweet. What brings you to my office?” He motioned for her to come in. 
 
    “Just finished with another patient in the next building and was headed back. Since I was walking past, I thought I would stop by and ask about David. How is he doing?” 
 
    James motioned to where he was lying. 
 
    “Why is he sleeping on the floor?” Noelani asked, a bit distressed. 
 
    “Made his first trip over and back today. He’s a natural. But it takes a big toll on the system at first. Nothing to worry about.” 
 
    “Does that mean you will need a restoration chamber soon?” 
 
    “As soon as possible, I think.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll see what I can do to get one ready for you today, or possibly first thing tomorrow.” She turned to leave. “I better scoot before he wakes up.” 
 
    “Thank you,” James said as she left.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS PARIS 
 
    Adèle Devereaux served as Captain of the EAS Paris. She was one of the few women that had risen to the level of commander in the French Navy and was the first to serve as a first officer on a major surface ship. Her ship had been an Aquitaine class anti-submarine destroyer. 
 
    One of the things she loved about Space Force was the balance among the personnel. People from almost every country. Almost as many women as men. It made life aboard the ship a lot easier. 
 
    She had received a meeting request from Captain Flannagan of the Amsterdam. The system her ship had scouted was next on their priority list. 
 
    As she entered the presence projector, it configured as a small conference room with four seats around an oval table. There was a light illuminating the seat she was to take, but that wasn’t really necessary because the other three were already taken.  
 
     “Captain Devereaux. Thanks for meeting with us. I’m Chris Flanagan, Captain of the Amsterdam. With me are Professor Hans Schudel from the Institute and Charles Wong, who was part of the Revelation team.” 
 
    “Gentlemen. Pleased to meet you,” Adèle replied. “I am pleasantly surprised that we are your fourth stop. We only found two sites, and both appeared to be quite small.” 
 
    “Your ghosting was small, but it was very well defined.” The professor said. “We’ve recently validated two relatively large finds that had ghosting almost identical to yours. We are hoping this is a new type of find unique to brown dwarf binaries in the Milky Way. 
 
    “I’ve noted that you found these on the second planet around the Beta and that they are relatively close together.” 
 
    “Yes. The two brown dwarfs in the system are almost identically sized. It took a while to validate which was larger. And the sites are only a hundred twenty kilometers from each other.” 
 
    “We’ll have a better idea once we have scanned them with our mining scanners, but our theory is that this was a large meteor that broke in half as it fell into the planet’s gravity well. We also think that it struck while the crust on the planet was still very pliable.” 
 
    “You can deduce that from those two grainy images?” She said in surprise. 
 
    “No. Just a theory we’ve been working on. It’s based on the previous finds that presented themselves in the same way yours have.” 
 
    “Getting back to business, we are rendezvousing at the planet with the finds?” Captain Flanagan asked. 
 
    “Yes. Not much to the rest of the system.” Captain Devereaux replied. “Can you do what you need to do from a geosynchronous orbit halfway between the two sites?” 
 
    “Probably,” Professor Schudel said. “But let’s park over the first one and process it first. It’s only a couple minutes to get to the next, right?” 
 
    “Indeed, it is,” Captain Devereaux replied. “I’ll have our helm AI send you the coordinates and safest routing. See you there shortly.” 
 
    … 
 
    “We guessed right.” Professor Schudel said. “Asteroid impact while the crust was pliable. There is a concentrated main deposit about 1,000 meters below the surface and a very dense cone above it. Same composition as before: 93.1% transluminide, 3.9% gold, 2.6% platinum, 0.4% iron with trace lithium and noble gases. Net yield should be 6,806 kilograms transluminide. This is a big score. I think we can recycle the last claim filing. 
 
    “Captain Flanagan,” the Professor called out. 
 
    “You have good news for me, I hope?” The captain replied. 
 
    “Very good news. Estimated net yield is 6,806 kilograms,” the Professor replied. “Can we send the data to the yeoman that did the last filing? It’s almost identical.” 
 
    “Yes. She’s been standing by. You ready to move on to the next site?” 
 
    “Ready. Let’s do it.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Almost identical,” said the Professor. “Exact match on the composition, which cements the theory that this is from the same asteroid. Only difference is that this one is a little larger, 9,273 kilograms.” 
 
    “What are we up to now?” Charles asked. 
 
    “70,547 kilograms,” said the Professor with a big smile. 
 
    “Captain,” Professor Schudel called out. “Another large find.” 
 
    “Good news,” Captain Flanagan replied. “Let me send Ensign Sahni down to help prepare the claim. 
 
    “Can we move on to the next system?” 
 
    “We’re good with that,” the Professor replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFEDERATION FLEET, INTERGALACTIC SPACE 
 
    “Admiral. A meeting request just came in from the Earth Alliance Ship Ottawa. Admiral Porter requests your presence in the projector.” 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na got up and entered the Presence Projector. The room was set up like a parlor, two comfortable armchairs around an open fire. The man on the other side was young, handsome and seemed very comfortable in this environment. The Admiral immediately recognized Daniel Porter and noted that he looked a little more experienced than at their previous meeting.  
 
    “Admiral.” Jo-Na extended his paw to bump. 
 
    “Admiral.” Daniel extended his hand to place over the Admiral’s. 
 
    “Please.” Daniel waved toward one of the seats. 
 
    Jo-Na saw a confidence he had not seen before, and in that moment realized that something had happened. 
 
    “Admiral Porter. It seems you have the advantage over me. What has happened?” 
 
    Daniel smiled. “Once again, I am impressed by your perceptiveness, sir. Indeed, something has happened. I’m pleased to report that the situation has changed, changed quite a bit.” 
 
    “You have just arrived. How can anything have changed?” Admiral Jo-Na asked, a little put off. 
 
    “Have you heard of trans-dimensional echoes?” Daniel said. 
 
    The Admiral started to take offense at the apparent insult, then realized that his counterpart was simply asking a question. “Yes. It was the source of numerous losses in the early days. But I’m not perceiving the relevance of the reference.” 
 
    “It is something we encountered on our way here. Something that had a very unexpected consequence,” Daniel said, pausing in the hope it would trigger recognition in the Admiral. 
 
    When there was no reply, Daniel said, “Forgive me for asking, sir. But the implications of trans-dimensional echoes are extreme. They are also part of the Lorexian knowledge base. You might be more inclined to believe the important things I have to tell you, if your experts explained the consequences of trans-dimensional echoes before I did.” 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na was taken back. No one talked to him this way. But the human showed no signs of trying to mislead him. 
 
    “No. Please tell me. I find myself trusting your honesty, although I will verify anything you tell me.” 
 
    “According to our Professor MacLellan, whom you may know as Ka-Tu, there is only one known time travel phenomenon. Trans-dimensional echoes.” 
 
    “Are you saying that you traveled back through time?” The Admiral said incredulously. 
 
    “We traveled back 5 days. We did not do it intentionally. But once there, I decided to take advantage of it.” 
 
    Once again, the Admiral found his temper rising and his professional discipline tempering it. “Would you excuse me for a moment so that I can verify that this is a known phenomenon?” 
 
    “Please sir. The consequences of our trust in one another are too important not to verify.” 
 
    “I will be back in a moment,” Admiral Jo-Na said. 
 
    … 
 
    The Admiral returned several minutes later with two others in tow. 
 
    “Any chance you could add Ka-Tu to this call?” the Admiral asked. 
 
    “Yes, one moment please.” 
 
    Daniel pushed some buttons on a control that Jo-Na did not recognize, then a door opened, and Ka-Tu walked in. 
 
    “Admiral.” Ka-Tu walked over to Admiral Jo-Na to bump paws. “I see that you have excellent advisors.” 
 
    “Le-Ta, Vi-Nu. Good to see you,” Ka-Tu said. 
 
    “Dr. Ka-Tu, I hadn’t heard that you’d gone to Earth,” Senior Propulsion Scientist Le-Ta said as they bumped paws. “I’m guessing that you had something to do with the incredible propulsion systems we have been given.” 
 
    “A shepherd at best,” Ka-Tu said humbly. 
 
    “Doctor,” Propulsion Engineer Vi-Nu said. 
 
    “Ka-Tu, could you explain what happened to your ship?” Admiral Jo-Na asked. 
 
    “Yes. Our travel plan was to do a large number of 100 light-year jumps. The reason for this is that the recharge time is only a second. For safety purposes, we set the interval at 3 seconds.” 
 
    Le-Ta sucked in a startled breath of air. “It is amazing you were not destroyed.” 
 
    The Admiral frowned at his propulsion scientist. “Explain yourself.”  
 
    “A series of jumps will set up trans-dimensional resonance. In the early days this could happen with even one jump because the engines were so dimensionally noisy. Our engines are now quiet enough that we do not suffer that problem. But sequenced jumps are different. It is very difficult to contain the resonance. The resonance creates echoes. The echoes have mass and energy that land in the same place, destroying the ship if it is still there. Our controllers prevent us from executing that kind of sequence.” The scientist looked at Ka-Tu. “But yours do not?” 
 
    “Yes, ours do. Each jump is slightly different. A different distance, a different angle from the target vector, a different delay between jumps. We have gone very long distances using this method with no issue, so have felt very confident in the safety of our controllers. 
 
    “But this trip was different. We have 10 ships, jumping in a locked sequence. We thought the spacing between ships was sufficient. But that alone was not enough. We developed a massive resonance that threw us back in time 5 days.” 
 
    “How were you not destroyed?” 
 
    “AIs drive our ships. I don’t fully understand the phenomenon yet, but as each successive jump landed at an earlier and earlier time, the AIs ran out of processing power. None of the organics aboard noticed anything unusual, until one by one, their AIs began passing out. Thankfully, the AIs initiated emergency jumps as they lost consciousness. Our controllers are programmed to do two such emergency jumps, the first on an orthogonal vector. 
 
    “Thankfully that was enough to prevent our ships from being destroyed. But all of them suffered minor damage.” 
 
    “Gentlemen,” Admiral Jo-Na said, turning to his experts. “Is this phenomenon known?” 
 
    There was a pause, then senior scientist Le-Ta replied. “We have never encountered an echo this large. But it is true that we have seen small changes in time. Remember, jumps move our position in space-time. We perceive them as being instant, but we land at a different place and time. Normally that time is a few minutes in the future. Echoes cause it to be in the past. And we have observed movements of several minutes. But never hours or days.” 
 
    “Thank you, gentlemen,” the Admiral said, then dismissed them. 
 
    “Would you like me to stay on?” Ka-Tu asked Daniel. 
 
    “I think we are good.” Daniel said, looking to Jo-Na for agreement. 
 
    “Yes. Best if the Admiral and I continue this discussion ourselves,” Admiral Jo-Na said to Ka-Tu. 
 
    “Thank you.” Ka-Tu got up and exited the room. 
 
    “So, you traveled back in time 5 days. I hope you used that time well,” Admiral Jo-Na said with a smile. 
 
    “Yes, we did.” Daniel smiled back. “It took a full day to get our ships back into full operation. Then we proceeded at a slower pace to the location of the hijacked ship. The documentation you provided as part of our mission briefing was excellent. We waited until after the EMP was detonated, then put a tracking device on the commandeered cruiser. The timing data in your logs was perfect.” 
 
    “How did you do that? We had the site under surveillance.” 
 
    “Your ships were out of range to detect our small shuttle. We moved it in close enough to transport a mission team onto the hull of the commandeered cruiser to place the tracker. The Cruiser itself was still whited out by the EMP, so could not detect us. The mission team transported to a spot on the ship that neither of your ships could see.” 
 
    “Truly amazing,” the Admiral muttered. 
 
    “Knowing where the Cruiser was going and when it would arrive, we sprinted ahead to set up surveillance. Once the Cruiser transported their infiltrator to the surface, we waited until it made the kills that you reported, then killed the infiltrator.” 
 
    “Why did you wait?” The Admiral asked. 
 
    “To prevent a time paradox,” Admiral Porter replied. 
 
    “Of course. Would have thought of that in another minute.” 
 
    “So, both of the infected planets have been cleansed. We know the location of the Cruiser. We believe the Enemy on board are busy replicating themselves. So, the ship must be taken back or destroyed. We have a plan but will need your help.” 
 
    “You have a plan?” Jo-Na said, repeating Daniel’s words questioningly. 
 
    “Yes. One that you probably won’t like, but it is safe and almost guaranteed to work.” 
 
    “Then let’s hear it,” Admiral Jo-Na said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHEF MARCOS 
 
    Michael had intended to arrive early, but an unscheduled call from the Admirals Jo-Na and Porter changed that plan. He was only five minutes late but suspected that he was in trouble. 
 
    As he entered the restaurant, Michael was surprised to see the Chef deeply engaged in conversation with James. Then he noticed a sign that read Closed, Private Party. 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador,” the Chef exuded. “I am so glad that you could make it. What a wonderful event this is!”  
 
    Michael noted the twinkle in James’ eye and knew that he was in for some sort of surprise. “Yes. Lovely evening, Chef. I assume you have it all under control.” 
 
    The Chef beamed. “We are always at your service, sir.” 
 
    Michael could tell that James was about to burst out laughing, because he felt his own spirits rising uncontrollably. 
 
    “This way, sir.” The Chef waved for him to enter. 
 
    The first thing Michael noticed as he walked into the main dining room was Sarah. She was dressed for a party and absolutely captivating. Then he noticed that she was talking with her parents, Tim and Susan.  
 
    Sarah saw him, excused herself from the parents, then came over to Michael. Smiling, she said, “I’m ready.” 
 
    Michael was about to say ‘for what’ but stopped himself. He opened his senses to Sarah and realized what this was. 
 
    “I am so glad to hear that,” Michael said, leaning in for a quick kiss. “If I had known, I would have brought a ring.” 
 
    “Not a problem.” James said. He held out a box and gave it to Michael. 
 
    “Well then,” Michael said. “What’s the plan?” 
 
    “First step, you need to go ask my father for his permission.” 
 
    “Are you serious?” Michael said. “The last time I saw him he was quite insistent.” 
 
    “Tradition.” 
 
    Somewhat reluctantly, Michael walked over to greet the Wrights, a big smile starting to bloom on his face. 
 
    “Tim, Susan. So good to see you.” Michael shook Tim’s hand, then gave Susan a hug. 
 
    “Michael, so good to see you. Thank you for inviting us tonight,” Tim said. 
 
    Senses opened, Michael determined that Tim and Susan knew why they were here, which put him at ease. 
 
    “Mr. Wright.” Michael said very formally. “I would like your permission to take your daughter’s hand in marriage.” 
 
    Tim looked Michael deep in the eyes, holding them for several seconds, then said, “You have my permission and my blessing.” 
 
    Michael noticed that the room had become very quiet. 
 
    He turned to Sarah, then dropped on one knee. “Sarah, will you marry me?” 
 
    “Yes.” She said simply. Then pulled Michael into a tight embrace as the room erupted in applause. 
 
    After a moment, Michael pulled back and held out the box that James had given him and opened it. Sarah took the ring and put it on. It sparkled brilliantly. 
 
    “What is this?” Sarah asked curiously. “I don’t think I’ve seen anything like this before.” 
 
    Michael recognized it and looked at James questioningly. A voice sounded in his mind. It is what you think it is.  
 
    “It is as rare a gift as you are,” Michael said. 
 
    Sarah looked at him questioningly. 
 
    The voice sounded again. 2.5 carats from the remnant of Lorexi. 
 
    “It is a 2.5 carat diamond. But what makes this rare is what’s inside. This diamond grew from a grain of transluminide. That is why it sparkles so brilliantly. When incoming light strikes the grain, it is amplified. These stones are extremely rare and can only grow in the aftermath of a supernova. This one is a remnant of Lorexi, the star our original home world circled. You now carry a piece of Lorexi with you.” 
 
    Sarah was stunned and didn’t know what to say. But applause from family and guests, coupled with camera flashes, brought her back to the moment and she melted into Michael’s arms.


 
   
  
 

 TRAP 
 
    [Thursday, 01.09.2031] FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    “Captain, Ja-Ru. Good to see you again.” Joel stepped off the transporter landing pad. 
 
    “Joel, the pleasure is mine.” Ja-Ru said, reaching out to bump paws with Joel. 
 
    It was the first time Joel had been on a Lorexian ship since arriving on Earth many years ago. It was also the first time he had been on one as a human. He was dressed in a thin positive-pressure environmental suit made of a permeable transparent material that allowed air to leak out, but not in. The suit was inflated by an atmosphere generator that he wore on a belt inside the suit. He also had his personal shields on, which provided warmth and an additional layer of atmospheric protection. 
 
    “Having lived among humans for so long, I’ve forgotten how small they are. Everything here is huge.” 
 
    “Thank you for coming aboard,” Ja-Ru said. “I know it is an inconvenience. But I need a real engineer to inspect my shields before we test them. We do not want a repeat of the incident with the Cruiser.” 
 
    “Indeed, we do not,” Joel said as they made their way to the high-energy equipment room to inspect the shield generators. 
 
    When they got there, the engineer on duty was not very happy to see that a human Ascendant had come to inspect his shields. “Your equipment is over there.” He pointed to several pieces of equipment that had been stacked up on a table. 
 
    “Thank you.” Joel realized he would need some help reaching up that high. 
 
    The Captain noticed the same thing and was not happy about it. 
 
    “Could you please put that equipment down at a level where our guest can use it?” Ja-Ru said with some irritation. 
 
    “Sorry. Didn’t remember I needed it on a lower bench,” the engineer said with a hint of a sneer. 
 
    “OK. I want to start by doing a scan of the power flow in idle mode,” Joel said, picking up the handheld scanning device. “Can you show me to the place where power enters the unit?”  
 
    The engineer took Joel deeper into the room and pointed to the shield generator. “That’s the shield generator.” Then he moved around to the side. “The heavy cable on the left is the power. The conduits on the right carry the flow to the emitters.” 
 
    “Thank you,” Joel said. 
 
    He positioned the scanner, then ran a scan. “OK. I suspect that this is the problem. Can you put up the shields?” Joel asked. 
 
    After several seconds the engineer said. “Shields up and stable.” 
 
    Joel ran another scan. This is exactly what we told them to look for, he thought with some frustration. 
 
    “Did you install a power conditioner?” Joel asked. 
 
    “No. Our power is very stable,” said the engineer. 
 
    “OK. Let’s go look at the results.” Joel got up and headed toward the rest of the equipment. 
 
    Once back, Joel transferred the scan data to his tablet, then directed the tablet’s display to a nearby wall monitor. 
 
    “Here’s an image of the idle power flow. See the noise riding on top? It is about 1 percent of the power level, which is not clean enough.” 
 
    Ja-Ru gave the engineer a stern look. 
 
    “OK. This is the scan image at full power. Look at the variation. It is amazing that the shields even initialize. With variation like this, your shields are virtually useless. They won’t stop an EMP, and they won’t stop Enemy penetration.” 
 
    “That’s not what we saw when we took the tests.” The engineer complained. 
 
    “Can you show us your scans?” The Captain asked. 
 
    “Yes. One moment.” After about a minute, another set of scans showed up on another monitor. “See, this is relatively smooth.” 
 
    “Where was this measurement taken?” Joel asked. 
 
    “At the power source,” answered the Engineer. 
 
    “You did not test it at the entry to the shield generator?” Joel asked incredulously. “The instructions you were sent said that you needed to test at the device, not the source.” 
 
    “But we always test it at the source,” said the engineer. 
 
    Joel noticed that the edges of Ja-Ru’s ears were turning bright red. 
 
    “You reported that you had followed the instructions exactly as written,” Ja-Ru said accusingly. 
 
    The engineer started to respond, but Ja-Ru cut him off. “You are relieved of duty and confined to quarters until further notice. If you are caught outside your quarters, then you will be placed in the brig!” 
 
    The engineer started to respond again but was once again cut off. “Now!” Ja-Ru said in his loudest command voice. 
 
    Head down, the engineer scurried from the room. 
 
    “Fools like that are going to get us all killed,” Ja-Ru fumed, then calmed himself. “What do you recommend that we do?” 
 
    “If it were my ship. I would build an independent power unit dedicated to the shields. The instructions we sent had that as the option of last resort. But you saw the full load fluctuations. There is a problem in the main power line to this section. I doubt adding a power booster at the source or a flow regulator on the back end will work unless the trunk line is replaced.” 
 
    “That can only be done in a space dock,” Ja-Ru said. “But the Admiral is not going to be happy to hear that. I’ll need 50 grams of transluminide. 
 
    Joel looked at Ja-Ru oddly. “50 grams? Our design only uses 30.” 
 
    “More Confederation nonsense,” Ja-Ru muttered, then realizing what he had said, turned to see if anyone else was in earshot. 
 
    “Want a suggestion?” Joel asked. 
 
    Ja-Ru nodded. 
 
    “We were outfitted to build 100 planetary shields from scratch and to do major repairs to our ships and several of yours. Let me build the power generator. You will need to log it, but as I understand, the Central Council has budgeted for this and functionally given me the power to authorize it.” 
 
    “What do you mean, functionally?” 
 
    “They gave Michael the authority. He has given me a budget and blanket authority to use it as I see fit.” 
 
    “I need to report this to the Admiral,” Ja-Ru said. 
 
    “Let me,” Joel replied. “I am to give a report on my analysis of the situation as soon as I get back. Admiral Porter will support me on this.” 
 
    Ja-Ru stared at Joel, trying to decide what to do when his communications device sounded. “Captain. Engineer Ro-Na is in the mess hall causing problems,” the first officer reported. 
 
    “Security. Meet me at the mess hall.” Ja-Ru growled over his comm device. 
 
    “Seems I have a problem to deal with. We will play it your way,” Ja-Ru said, then took off toward the mess hall. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S QUARTERS 
 
    Sarah woke to the sounds of domesticity coming from the kitchen. She smiled at the thought of the most influential man in the universe making her breakfast, then chastised herself for the thought. I love him for his character, not his position. 
 
    She got up, hit the refresher, then went to the kitchen. 
 
    “What delight do you have for me this morning?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “Just a re-run of the parmesan souffle with poached egg, shaved bacon and asparagus.” 
 
    “That Chef in Paris really made an impression on you.” 
 
    “The best for the best,” Michael replied affectionately. 
 
    “Did you enjoy the party last night?” Sarah asked. 
 
    Michael was a bit slow to reply. “Best one ever, although if I had known, the anticipation might have made it better.” 
 
    Sarah smiled. “I’ve been working with James and Ta’Sha on controlling my thoughts so fewer leak to you. I’m actually surprised that you didn’t know. This has been in the works for several weeks.” 
 
    “It’s good that you are learning control. Though I must admit, it was easier to spoil you when I knew what you wanted,” Michael said with good humor. 
 
    “You were still impressively good,” Sarah said. “My Mom and Dad love you.” 
 
    “Good. I want very good relations with them, although it is unlikely that I will ever know them as intuitively as you do.” 
 
    A long pause. 
 
    “How did you find that ring?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “I didn’t,” Michael said. “It was a gift from James.” 
 
    “Is such a gift appropriate?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “My first reaction is that you should ask James. My second reaction is that he would not be pleased with that question. His generosity is always very purposeful. The better response would be to thank him for his generosity, then ask why. He will probably say something like ‘it was meant for you.’ Which you should accept with grace and not question. James is usually very literal, even when it is difficult to understand what he means.” 
 
    “How rare is this stone?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “Only a handful are known to exist. Those are held by people of immense wealth and influence. The gift is likely a declaration that you are one of those people. Humans may not care much yet. But the reaction will be quite different on other Confederation worlds.” 
 
    “I’m not sure that I’m comfortable with something that rare belonging to me.” 
 
    “I know. I would not have chosen that for you. But you must think about this differently. That is a gift bestowed by James, undoubtedly the wisest and most knowledgeable person alive. It was given for a reason, one we are unlikely to understand, at least at first. The real question is whether you are comfortable trusting James,” Michael said compassionately. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Admiral. Thank you for meeting with me,” Daniel said. 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na bumped paws with Daniel, then took his seat. 
 
    “It seems your Fast Attack ship has the same problem that the Cruiser did, insufficient capacity in the main power line to reliably drive the shields. We have a proposed solution and approval from the Ambassador to affect a work around.” 
 
    “How much transluminide is that going to cost me?” the Admiral asked, clearly unhappy with this development. 
 
    “None. We will use 30 grams from our mission budget to build the necessary parts. We can have them available in about an hour. I understand that it will take your engineering team a couple hours to install. We should still be able to run the tests this afternoon.” 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na was silent for a moment, then said, “Good. Please proceed.” Then after a pause. “I understand that Joel was present for an unpleasant incident on the ship today.” 
 
    It was Daniel’s turn to be silent for a moment. “We live in interesting times it seems. I appreciate the stress this mission, and our role in it, has on your crews.” Another pause. “But, please know. We are committed to doing everything in our power to see this alliance through and to make it stronger.” 
 
    “Thank you, Daniel. We are lucky to have allies like you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    “Ambassador Fa-Ta, trade representatives Knosel and Knosen. Thank you for meeting with us again today. I trust the trade exposition has gone well.” 
 
    “Very well,” Senior Trade Representative Knosel said. “The exposition hall has been packed to maximum capacity every day and we have extended the hours the last two days.” 
 
    “There was so much interest, we had to do a second, then third printing of the interest cards,” Representative Knosen pitched in. 
 
    “That is very good news indeed,” President Lee said. 
 
    “President Lee, have you had a chance to review the revised agreement?” Ambassador Fa-Ta asked. 
 
    “Yes. The changes we discussed have been implemented to our satisfaction and our legal team is satisfied. Also, thank you for having drawn up the title transfer document of the mining claim we are assigning to you.” 
 
    “My pleasure,” Ambassador Fa-Ta said. “My government and legal counsel are also satisfied with the agreement, and we are ready to put it up for a vote in our legislature.” 
 
    “Our House of Ambassadors will be in session tomorrow. They have been alerted that I hope to have the final agreement ready for their review tonight and plan to ask for a vote tomorrow.” 
 
    “Excellent.” Ambassador Fa-Ta beamed. “That leaves us with one last item of business, the allocation of sample products. Here is what we propose.” A holographic projection of a list appeared over the end of the table. 
 
    “The ones we raised the other day are all on the list. Boeing, Bob Johnson, Tokyo Electric Power. 
 
    “In addition, we have included a table for Sergeant George Butler, who plans to give it to his medical clinic. Two regeneration chambers for a company called Turn the Clock Back Rejuvenation Clinic, operated by Dr. Tim Buckner in Baltimore, Maryland. He is also being granted cancer therapies to be used in those chambers if he can get the licenses required to do a clinical trial. Next is the New York Metropolitan Museum, who we are giving a quartz sculpture. Along the same lines, the holographic sculpture we used on the Sergeant’s show is being granted to the Louvre in Paris. A similar display is being granted for display in the Forbidden City in Beijing, China. 
 
    “The list goes on for several pages, but nearly half of the products that we brought will be staying on Earth.” 
 
    “That is very generous,” Michael commented. 
 
    “You have been very generous to us,” Ambassador Fa-Ta replied. 
 
    “I look forward to concluding this agreement tomorrow,” President Lee said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    Joel was back aboard Ja-Ru’s fast attack ship. The shield upgrades had been finished a couple hours earlier. The ship was now going to be tested for its resilience to electromagnetic pulses. 
 
    “We are ready to begin testing,” the Captain said over the comm system with the Ottawa. 
 
    “First pulse will be 1% of the intensity of the one used against the Cruiser. Firing in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Detonation.” 
 
    “Didn’t feel a thing.” Ja-Ru said casually to Joel. 
 
    “Report,” Ja-Ru called out. 
 
    “All systems reading 100%, Captain.” The science officer said. “Nothing reported on the exterior scanners.” 
 
    … 
 
    Over the last hour, they had worked their way up to pulses of the same magnitude used against the Cruiser. 
 
    “We will now try a pulse twice as strong as the one used on the cruiser. Firing in 5, 4, 3, 2, 1… Detonation.” 
 
    The lights dimmed, then returned to full power. 
 
    “Report,” Ja-Ru called out. “Some field leakage through the shields. Readings suggest that about 5% of the energy reached the hull. About 0.1% penetrated the shuttle bay. External scans noted some plasma formation, near the shuttle bay door. No damage reported.” 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na’s voice came in over the comm system. “Captain Ja-Ru what is your assessment?” 
 
    “Given that we are getting penetration, I would prefer not to test at higher levels. We have easily survived the same blast as last time. It seems unlikely to me that they will use a larger weapon on a smaller ship. We stand ready to execute the mission with no further testing.” 
 
    “Agreed.” Admiral Jo-Na said. “We will proceed to the target zone in one hour.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, COMMANDEERED CRUISER 
 
    The captain of the hijacking team was starting to get worried. The agreement was that there would be no contact for 48 hours, then the infiltrators would contact him as soon as it was convenient. But the infiltrators were to make every effort to make contact within a week. The 48-hour window had expired two hours ago, but still no contact. 
 
    Foolish to start worrying so soon, he thought to himself. 
 
    “Captain. We have just picked up a distress beacon. It is coming from near the nebula. Some fool apparently came too close to the gas cloud. I have a visual. It is a Confederation Fast Attack Ship. They are at a dead stop venting plasma. Shields are down. Shall we go get some lunch?” he asked with an evil grin. Dust had already started falling away from him. 
 
    “Any sign of Confederation rescue?” asked the Captain. 
 
    “There are several Confederation ships about 200 light years from here. They appear to be freighters, but none of them have responded yet. No Fleet ships on scanners.” 
 
    “Then let’s go stock up on our food supply,” said the Captain. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    “The Enemy seems to be taking the bait,” Ja-Ru looked at a display they had set up at the front of the bridge. It was being fed by a quantum entangled comm line from Admiral Porter’s ship. Ten human ships were standing off 1,200 light years away. All had straight-line jumps to their target positions near Ja-Ru’s ship. 
 
    “They are turning our way,” said the science officer. 
 
    “Hold steady,” Captain Ja-Ru said. 
 
    “They have acquired our vector,” reported the science officer. “And are accelerating for a jump.” Pause. “Jumped.” 
 
    “Shields up,” Ja-Ru ordered. “Prepare EMP bombs and Flux bombs for transport.” 
 
    Then after a pause, he asked, “Estimated time of arrival?” 
 
    “Difficult to determine. Best guess, three minutes.” 
 
    “Fingers on the button,” Ja-Ru said. “I want every EMP released on my mark. Be prepared.” 
 
    “Captain, have you been watching the track? The quantum entangled tracker is showing their progress through jump space.” 
 
    “Curious. Can you zoom in and project their track?” 
 
    A track with projected drop-out times appeared. 
 
    “Helm, I want to be on their tail when they emerge. Where do we need to be?” 
 
    “A moment, sir.” 
 
    A course plot displayed, showing a rush toward the hijacked ship and sharp U-turn and an optimal trailing solution based on the probable drop-out points. 
 
    “Approved. Execute,” Ja-Ru commanded. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, COMMANDEERED CRUISER 
 
    “Emerging from jump,” The helmsmen said. 
 
    “Captain. There is no sign of the distressed ship. We must have jumped past them.” 
 
    “Emergency jump,” The captain said as the first EMP bomb hit their ship. 
 
    “Shields down. Propulsion offline,” The tactical officer called out. 
 
    More EMPs hit, then the bridge lit up as a Flux bomb hit the bridge. It was the first of 20 that penetrated the ship, even though the surviving Enemy were all wiped out by the first. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    “Sir. The ship is dead in the water. No signs of life,” The science officer said. 
 
    “Sir. Ten Earth ships have just emerged from jump and have landed flux bombs of their own,” said the tactical officer. 
 
    “Sir. We are being hailed by the EAS Ottawa,” the communications officer said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain Ja-Ru. Admiral Porter here. Our sensors show the hijacked ship to be completely disabled. Do you concur?” 
 
    “We concur,” Ja-Ru said. 
 
    “Please confirm a cease fire.” 
 
    “Confirming cease fire, pending 5 second standoff,” Ja-Ru said, copying his tactical team. 
 
    A few seconds later. “Cease fire in effect,” Ja-Ru sent. 
 
    “Confirmed. Cease fire in effect,” Daniel repeated back. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, ARMADA FLAGSHIP 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na, Captain Ja-Ru, Daniel and the captains of the other nine Earth Alliance ships had gathered to discuss next steps. 
 
    “Gentlemen, thank you for joining me,” Admiral Jo-Na said. 
 
    “I have advised the High Command of the situation. They are sending space tugboats to drag the ship into the nearest star. There is undoubtedly valuable material aboard that ship. But in all likelihood some infection still lives.” 
 
    Daniel’s first impulse was to argue for attempting to save the ship. Towing it into a star seemed like an extreme waste. But, the disposition of the ship was not part of his orders. His job was to put up planetary shields wherever he was asked to, and to be helpful. It was not to interfere in Fleet affairs. 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na saw the struggle in Daniel’s eyes. He respected Daniel’s instincts and was pleased with his discipline. 
 
    “Our orders are to wait on station until the tugs arrive to make sure the ship doesn’t come back to life. A small contingent will accompany the tugs and confirm the destruction of the ship. When they’re on their way, we’ll begin putting up planetary shields.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 AGREEMENT 
 
    [Friday, 1.10.2031] AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was in early this morning. There were several things he needed to take care of before he presented the trade agreement to the House of Ambassadors. 
 
    First on the list was a call with Professor Schudel.  
 
    … 
 
    “Professor, thanks for meeting with me this early. I wanted to get an update on your progress.” 
 
    “Thanks for setting up this call, Michael. We are working very odd hours. We just finished validating three claims this morning that are in the process of being filed. The team on the Amsterdam is a godsend. Smart, professional and willing to work.” 
 
    “I’m pleased to hear that. Make sure to recommend them to Admiral Scott for commendations when this is done. So, how is it going?” Michael asked 
 
    “We just finished the seventh system this morning. We’re hoping to get another one, maybe two, done today. I’m not sure the number of claims, but it’s over 20 at this point. Total expected yield from these claims is just over 93,000 kilograms.” 
 
    “Incredible,” Michael said. “I’m assuming that your theory is still holding.” 
 
    “Yes and no. Charles and I have been talking about this a lot. Most of what we have found so far are meteor strikes. It is believed that there was a planet with a transluminide core somewhere in the sector that broke apart at some point in antiquity. That would be consistent with much of what we’re observing. 
 
    “Charles thinks that brown dwarfs may have a role in the formation of transluminide. I don’t buy it but am very open to any evidence we can find. My theory continues to be that brown dwarf systems are as likely, proportional to mass, to be struck by transluminide meteors as any other system. The big difference is that the Confederation has consistently overlooked them,” the Professor concluded. 
 
    “How long before you think you’ll be finished?” 
 
    “End of the week next week. It’s hard to believe that we will spill over into the following week. We’ve prioritized our search based on the anticipated yield as indicated by the preliminary scans. It’s a weak indicator, but an indicator none the less. We should be halfway done by the end of the day, so should have found at least half of the total find by then.” 
 
    “That’s incredibly good news on several fronts. It’ll do a lot to secure the Earth’s future.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Daniel, thank you for making time to talk with me.” 
 
    “No problem, Mr. Ambassador.” 
 
    “I hear that you have good news to share.” 
 
    After a moment’s hesitation, Daniel replied. “We’ve been very lucky so far, but I’ve not been able to report our successes up through the chain of command. They’ve received access to our updated logs, but I haven’t been debriefed yet.” 
 
    “Understood.” Michael said. “As a Central Council member, I have received a number of updates. The updates I’ve read are full of praise for you and your task force. They make it sound like you have defeated the Enemy in Andromeda almost single-handedly.” 
 
    “Indeed. We found all three groups, the two that infiltrated planets and the remainder on the commandeered Cruiser. We took down the first two on our own. Captain Ja-Ru and the crew of his Fast Attack Ship played a critical role in the take-down of the Cruiser.” 
 
    “By executing the plan that you made,” Michael pointed out. 
 
    “That would be true,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Do I understand correctly that the Cruiser is about to be dropped into a star?” 
 
    “Yes. The tugboats took off with it ten hours ago. They are scheduled to release the ship in just over an hour. Impact with the photosphere will be 42 minutes later. A shame to lose that much material and equipment.” 
 
    “Nonetheless a wise precaution,” Michael said, then continued. “You are now underway toward your target planets?” 
 
    “Yes. The first arrival will be in an hour, but we’re not expecting a particularly cordial welcome. The engineer on Captain Ja-Ru’s ship attempted to obstruct our work to get their shields working. He’s now confined to the brig. We’ve been warned that we may encounter more situations like this.” 
 
    “It saddens me to hear this,” Michael said. “But it’s exactly the reason we need to do what we’re doing. The Central Council is still struggling to believe that the problem is on their end. If we can bring these shields up quickly, I think it will turn the tide in that argument. 
 
    “Admiral, thank you for the update. I will keep this discussion to myself so as not to cause you problems with your chain of command.” 
 
    … 
 
    The call with Admiral Porter was disturbing. As he sat contemplating the situation, there was a knock on the door. It opened and Pam snuck in. 
 
    “Michael.” She whispered. “While you were on the phone, I got a call from the Vatican. Pope John Paul III is requesting an audience with you. He asks that you journey to the Vatican as soon as possible to meet with him in private.” 
 
    “Pam, why are you whispering?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Sarah was just about to come in. I didn’t think you would want her to overhear me.” 
 
    Michael whispered back, “Thank you for the discretion.” And they both started laughing. 
 
    There was another knock on the door. Pam opened it. “Hi Sarah, I was just leaving.” Pam said, indicating that Sarah should enter, then letting herself back out. 
 
    Michael stood to give Sarah a little peck on the cheek. 
 
    “What brings you here this morning?” he asked affectionately. 
 
    “I think I really screwed up,” she said, clearly distressed about something. “The day after the engagement party, I called my priest in New York asking if there was any way that he could officiate at our wedding. My father has been pressuring me to make sure I was married in the Church.  
 
    “Father John was very coy about it, saying that he would need permission, which he didn’t think he would get. I told him it was not a problem and I didn’t want to get him in trouble. 
 
    “Well, this morning, I got a call from the Cardinal. He told me that the Church would not support this union. He also said some other things…” Sarah broke down in tears. 
 
    “Here, here,” Michael whispered, wrapping her in his arms. 
 
    After a while Sarah calmed. “Why did he have to be so mean about it?” 
 
    “I suspect that he’s come under some pressure about this,” Michael said. “I got a call this morning from the Pope’s office, asking me to come to the Vatican to speak with him.” 
 
    “You can’t be serious!” Sarah exclaimed, on the verge of tears again. 
 
    “I think we should go,” Michael said. 
 
    “What possible good could come from that?” 
 
    “We won’t know unless we go see. I actually think the Pope is a man of deep faith, trying to find a viable path for the Church in a post-Revelation world. We could probably help him with that, if he’s open to accepting help.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HOUSE OF AMBASSADORS 
 
    President Lee had called the meeting to order at 8:00 AM to take care of some trailing business from a previous meeting. Michael was to give his presentation at 9:00. He arrived a few minutes early and enjoyed listening to a relatively orderly proceeding where some resolutions were approved nearly unanimously. He hoped that he would be as lucky. The trade deal would solve the technology issue, usher in a new era of prosperity and greatly help the people of Karagon. 
 
    Michael heard the gavel pound to close out the last item of business. He would be next. 
 
    … 
 
    “Our next item of business is the Trade Deal with the peoples of the planet Karagon. Ambassador Michael will present the deal we have negotiated.”  
 
    Michael walked to the podium, amid loud applause. 
 
    “Ambassadors. Thank you for welcoming me this morning. I think this is the first time I have made two presentations to you in the same week. In many ways that fact alone is a sign of the renewed prosperity being experienced in every nation on Earth. It is also a sign of Earth’s rising status in the intergalactic family of peoples. 
 
    “The trade deal I present to you today will not only propel our prosperity higher, it will enrich our lives and help a neighbor in need. Let me start by telling you what we’ll be getting out of this deal. First and foremost, we will be getting products totaling 800 kilograms of transluminide. That may not sound like much to you because the unit of measure is not familiar. Transluminide is worth approximately 100 thousand times as much as gold. The 800 kilograms we get from this deal would be the equivalent of 80 million kilograms of gold, which would be worth approximately 5.6 trillion US dollars.” 
 
    What had been a lackluster response before suddenly turned into an upswell of voices, then thunderous applause. President Lee pounded his gavel, and the Ambassadors slowly quieted. 
 
    “The skeptics in the room are probably wondering what we would possibly have to give up in exchange for such a price. The answer is shockingly little. We will need to provide two things and we will incur some costs on Earth. First, we will provide designs for a planetary shield which will almost certainly mean days of time from Eugene Xu and Kelly Williamson, plus a couple hours from our team of AI designers. Second, we will give mining rights to transluminide deposits recently discovered by Space Force. These claims are far from Earth and beyond our capability to mine or economically refine. So, in some sense, these deposits are of no value to Earth other than in trade.  
 
    “In terms of costs we’ll need to absorb, there are three things. First, we will be responsible for transporting the goods from Karagon to Earth. It will probably keep one or two of our Space Force Ships busy more or less full time. Second, we will need to establish a company to handle sale and distribution of goods on Earth. That company will have requirements that assure fair distribution to countries based on their population. Third, we will need to form an Earth Alliance Central Bank for the purpose of assuring fair foreign exchange. 
 
    “This is a fair deal. It is a balanced deal. Karagon will get the funding they need to build a planetary shield to protect themselves from the Enemy. The volume of products they produce for us will revitalize their economy. And for each of us, there will be the opportunity to share our cultures, our food, our art and our music. The Confederation has approved this deal as equitable. Karagon will approve it.  
 
    “It’s now in your hands. I strongly recommend that you embrace it,” Michael concluded. 
 
    Once again there was thunderous applause. President Lee pounded his gavel to quiet the room, then said, “I open the floor for discussion. Please wait until you are called upon, before approaching the podium to speak.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PROFESSOR ANCIENT’S OFFICE 
 
    “David. Please come in. How are you doing?” 
 
    “Recovery was a little harder than I was expecting.” 
 
    “Always is the first time. Forgive me for not saying that earlier.” 
 
    “Nowhere near as hard as the first time,” David said with some humor. “First time I woke up in a hospital being watched by two police officers armed with shotguns.” 
 
    “Yes. Well there is that.” James said with his usual joy. 
 
    “James, how do you do it? Why do you always seem so happy?” 
 
    “The universe is filled with wonder. It’s also filled with evil; evil that’s even worse than the Enemy. There comes a day in that battle where you realize that every day not filled with evil is a day filled with blessing. You will learn this in time. But there’s no rush. Enjoy the good things you have today, because there’s no telling what tomorrow will bring.” 
 
    David had no idea how to respond to that, so he changed the subject. “So, what’s the plan today? We going to do the living as pure energy thing?” 
 
    James broke out laughing. “Sounds like fun to me. Where would you like to go?” 
 
    Several crazy thoughts shot through David’s mind, then reality set in as he realized that James was serious. 
 
    “I don’t know,” David said, suddenly realizing that he had never really been anywhere. 
 
    “I know a place that might be appropriate, a place of hope and inspiration. It will drain a lot of energy out of you, so let’s get your body into the restoration chamber. I will appear to you. I want you to take my hand, then join me.” 
 
    David took his clothes off and got into the restoration chamber that Noelani had set up earlier in the day. The formula in this chamber would keep David well oxygenated, but it did not contain a sedative. 
 
    The door to the chamber closed. It was pitch black inside. David felt anxiety and claustrophobia start to set in.  
 
    Seconds later the chamber was filled with dazzling white light, accented with sparkling and vivid colors. He sensed James extending his hand, but didn’t understand why, as the cloud had not changed. 
 
    The word ‘trust’ echoed in his mind. 
 
    David reached out to take the offered hand and, in that moment, blossomed into a cloud of light himself. The two floated up out of the chamber. It registered in David’s consciousness that they’d just passed through the metal walls of the restoration chamber as if it wasn’t there. Now they were moving through the walls of the building. 
 
    James. Where are we going? David thought. 
 
    Someplace I think you will like. For now, just trust, sounded the voice in his mind. 
 
    Once outside the building, they shot up vertically, so far and so fast that David had momentary vertigo. Then they stopped. 
 
    What is this? David thought. It looks like the moon. 
 
    So it is, the voice said. Now watch. 
 
    It was pitch black other than the light they were emitting. Craters and dust were all David could see. He would later learn that the dust was called regolith and that it was nothing like the dust he knew. 
 
    Look to the horizon, the voice said. 
 
    David did as he was asked but did not understand. It’s just the blackness of space and the odd star. 
 
    Wait for it. Few have seen. 
 
    Then, an instant later, a blue and white ball began to emerge above the brownish gray horizon. 
 
    The voice whispered, Behold. Earthrise. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Admiral Porter. We are approaching New Lorexi,” Admiral Jo-Na said. 
 
    Never thought I would see this day, Daniel thought. 
 
    “This planet will be the first to get new shields,” said the Admiral. “The Central Command has requested that your ship do the installation while I lead the others to the next planet.” 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. My flagship will accompany you. If you have reason to believe that the Ottawa is best suited to erect shields over New Lorexi, then we’ll send her there with the escort of your choice. But I will move my flag to another ship so that I can accompany you. 
 
    “My recommendation would be that the EAS Oslo be the ship to build the shields on New Lorexi. Its mission team leader is Ka-Tu, whom you know. He was the supervisor of the team that developed the shields on Earth.” 
 
    There was silence on the line as Admiral Jo-Na pondered the appropriate response. High Command wanted the flagship here so that they could exert more influence on the remaining Earth Alliance force. He, and they for that matter, had not anticipated this response. 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na’s respect for Daniel popped up another notch. Ka-Tu was well-known and well-respected among the High Command. It would be a serious breach of protocol to deny Daniel’s request. 
 
    “I respect your conditions,” Jo-Na said awkwardly. “Please give me a moment to consult with my chain of command. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SAN FRANCISCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 
 
    It had been a crazy day. First a series of reports that needed to be released to the Board of Governors prior to the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) meeting next week. Then protestors appearing around noon, functionally cutting off access to the building. Then a bomb threat and building evacuation. 
 
    As she sat in the Confederation waiting area, located in the International Terminal, she started wondering if life in Canada would be better. 
 
    A voice cut through her reverie. “Nelly Fong?” 
 
    She looked up and saw a well-dressed young man. “Yes?” she said questioningly.  
 
    “My name is Evan Till. I am an adjunct diplomat working for Ambassador Michael. When he heard of the troubles in San Francisco today, he sent me to escort you to the Embassy. We can wait for the shuttle you are scheduled on, or we could transport up to the Ambassador’s personal shuttle which is hovering above the City in a near Earth orbit.” 
 
    “Are you serious?” she asked, looking at the man very suspiciously. 
 
    “Yes. Very. There is a transporter pad right over there.” He pointed to a guarded area. “It will be much quicker this way.” 
 
    Nelly did not like being approached by strangers. Under normal circumstances, she wouldn’t even consider taking a ride with one. But this was different. “Can you show me some identification?” 
 
    “Certainly,” he said awkwardly, a little flustered. He pulled out his embassy ID card and showed it to her. 
 
    “I would have thought you had something a little more hi-tech than a printed ID card,” she said, not completely convinced. 
 
    “I do. If you had the right kind of scanner, you could read it. But maybe this will be a little more convincing.” He pulled out something that resembled an iPhone but clearly wasn’t one, turned it on, then pushed a button. A three-dimensional holographic projection of his ID appeared in the air in front of her. 
 
    Her phone rang as she was examining the captivating holographic image. Now, flustered herself, she pulled out her phone and answered without looking at the Caller ID. 
 
    “Nelly Fong,” She said. 
 
    “Nelly, Michael here. Sorry to hear of the troubles in San Francisco today. I’ve sent an envoy named Evan Till to meet you at your home and bring you directly to the embassy. He should be arriving shortly.” 
 
    “Thank you, Michael. Given the mess in the city, I came to the airport about three hours early and bumped into Mr. Till here. We are about to transport up.” 
 
    “Excellent. Adjunct Till can escort you to your hotel when you arrive. Any chance you could join us for dinner tonight?” 
 
    “I would love to.” 
 
    “Excellent. Mr. Till will meet you in the lobby of your hotel at 6:45 and escort you to the event.” 
 
    “Michael.” Nelly said. “Thank you so much. I look forward to seeing you for dinner tonight.” 
 
    Then she turned to Evan. “Let’s go.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HOUSE OF AMBASSADORS 
 
    President Lee gaveled the House back to order. The debate had lasted for 5 hours. The dialog was very positive. Only a few hardliners opposed the deal. Several of the early speakers wanted to hold off for a better deal. But the Advisory Council members who knew more about the urgency of the deal, successfully turned the tide arguing that this deal was already so good that they would have problems handling all the wealth that was about to flow in. They also argued that every day that Karagon did not have shields increased the odds that there would never be a deal. 
 
    The voting proceeded quickly, and the results were now ready. 
 
    “The vote on the trade deal is complete. 378 members were in attendance today, well above the quorum requirement of 233 members. The final count is 362 in favor, 16 opposed. The trade deal is passed. Thank you.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for calling. I heard on the news that the trade deal passed by a wide margin.” 
 
    “Yes, it did. The debate started poorly. Some of the religious conservatives opposed additional alien interaction. Some of the commercial hardliners wanted a better deal. Thankfully, several leading members of the Council started steering the remaining members in the right direction.” 
 
    “Can I pass the word on to the Karagonian Ambassador?” 
 
    “Yes. The documents are signed. The official announcement will come out tomorrow, but you’re free to let them know at your convenience.” 
 
    “President Lee, thank you for shepherding this initiative through the process this week. I am very grateful for your help.” 
 
    “Earth is grateful for YOUR help Michael. We would be in a much different place if it were not for you and the Confederation.” 
 
    … 
 
    Given the time-of-day difference between the Embassy on Earth and the one on Karagon, Michael decided to message the Ambassador. Ambassador Fa-Ta. The Earth Alliance just approved the trade deal. Final signed copies will be transmitted to you and registered with the Confederation Trade Commission within 24 hours. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 RIVERSIDE PARK 
 
    Michael had arranged for Evan to pick up Nelly Fong at the guest hotel and bring her to the park entrance where tonight’s event would be held. As Evan and Nelly approached the park entrance, she marveled at the place.  
 
    They had arrived from San Francisco around 4:30 PM. It was already dark, but the waning moon cast enough light to show that the Embassy was in the middle of a snowy, frozen wilderness. Yet, when the shuttle door opened, it was warm outside. Now, the moon had set, and the sky was filled with stars; more stars than she had ever seen with her own eyes. 
 
    “Ah, there they are.” Evan pointed to Michael and Sarah, who were approaching from the opposite direction. 
 
    “Nelly. Welcome to the Confederation Embassy,” Michael greeted. 
 
    He turned to Sarah. “Sarah, this is Nelly Fong, Sr. Vice President with the San Francisco Federal Reserve.” 
 
    “It’s a pleasure to meet you, Nelly,” Sarah said. “Welcome to the Embassy, it’s so beautiful this time of year. And you are in for a treat tonight. The Peruvian delegation has teamed up with Chef Marco to put on a ‘Taste of Peru’ presentation tonight. This series is one of my favorite things about life at the Embassy.” 
 
    They made their way to the VIP reception area where they were met by the Peruvian delegation and their spouses. 
 
    “Michael, Sarah. Welcome to the festival tonight,” said Sr. Ambassador Andrea Diaz. “Sarah, thank you for helping us arrange this event and for getting us the connection with Chef Marco. He was a delight to work with and has produced a menu tonight that will make Peru proud.   
 
    “My complements as well,” Jr. Ambassador Renzo Alvarez said. 
 
    “Ambassador Diaz, Ambassador Alvarez, please meet our guests Ms. Nelly Fong from San Francisco and Adjunct Evan Till from my staff.” 
 
    “Mr. Till, Ms. Fong. Welcome. We hope you enjoy the event this evening,” Ambassador Diaz said. 
 
    As Ambassador Diaz started in on a business topic with Michael, Sarah touched his arm indicating that she would take Nelly to meet the other guests that had been invited to the VIP reception. 
 
    Once out of earshot Sarah said, “Earlier, Michael asked me to tell you that he might not tell the Ambassadors who you were. They are notorious gossips. Trust me, it is better that they don’t know.” 
 
    “Why didn’t he say that as we came in?” Nelly asked out of curiosity. One of her worries about coming to the embassy was that it might become too public. So, she was pleased about the way the introduction happened. 
 
    “Michael has a way of reading people. He is very good at discerning their intentions. I’m guessing that the Ambassadors were a little too interested in you, and he wanted to divert their attention to Evan instead,” Sarah said. 
 
    “Why would they be interested in Evan?” Nelly asked curiously. 
 
    “Because Michael made them think he was interesting,” Sarah laughed. “Let me introduce you to some people who really are interesting.” She indicated a group of four people standing over near the bar. 
 
    “Sarah,” Sr. Trade Representative Knosel said as they approached. 
 
    Nelly had noticed the two tall men that seemed to be a bit oddly formed. But when the one man turned to greet them, she realized that he was very different. 
 
    Both men turned, put their hands together as if in prayer, then bowed toward Sarah. 
 
    Sarah did the same, then said, “Representatives Knosel and Knosen, please meet Ms. Nelly Fong. She is a friend of Michael’s and works for the American government in San Francisco.” 
 
    “Ms. Fong, it is a pleasure to meet you,” Representative Knosel said, a bit uncertain about the appropriate greeting in this circumstance. 
 
    “Ms. Fong. A pleasure,” Jr. Representative Knosen said, stepping forward to shake her hand. 
 
    “Representatives.” She shook the offered hand. Nelly noticed that the hand was colder and a bit bonier than any other she had ever shaken. “May I ask where you’re from?” 
 
    “Oh. Sorry, we didn’t introduce ourselves properly,” Representative Knosen said. “We are representatives from the planet Karagon. We have been here for a week and recently concluded a trade deal with the Earth Alliance.” Then as an afterthought, he added, “We are Angoloran from the Angoloran Alliance on Karagon, one of four different species that share our world.” 
 
    Nelly was momentarily speechless. She knew there was an off-world trade agreement in the works but didn’t realize representatives from another world were here or that she would be meeting them. “Gentlemen, I’m so happy to meet you and to hear that the trade deal was completed.” 
 
    “Nelly,” Sarah said. “I’d also like to introduce Eugene Xu and Kelly Williamson. They are two of the engineers responsible for the incredible advances recently made to propulsion, shielding and spaceship fabrication.” 
 
    Turning to Eugene and Kelly, she said. “Nelly works in San Francisco and is here this weekend to pursue some business with Michael,” Then in a mock whisper. “He is hoping to hire her for a job with the Earth Alliance.” 
 
    “Nelly, welcome,” Kelly said, giving her a hug. 
 
    “Hi, I’m Eugene.” He shook hands. “Can I ask what you are here interviewing for?” 
 
    “I’m not so sure I would call this an interview, but I have skills that the Earth Alliance will need as the trade deal starts going into effect.” 
 
    That statement really got the attention of the two trade representatives. “If you should get such a job, we invite you to visit Karagon as our guest. Ours, like yours, is a beautiful world. Our people are gracious hosts and our mountains, beaches and cultural centers are a popular tourist destination for other Confederation members.” 
 
    Nelly smiled with delight at the thought. “I think that would be wonderful, but if I get the position I’m being recruited for, it will be a while before I can take any time off.” 
 
    A butler came out and rang a small bell. “If I may have your attention. The program will begin shortly. Please follow me to your tables.” 
 
    … 
 
    As with all things diplomatic, someone had put together a seating map for the front tables. Eugene knew that was coming but was pleasantly surprised to find out that they would not be publicly introduced the way they were at the official reception. 
 
    Michael and Sarah, President and Ms. Lee, and the two Peruvian Ambassadors and their spouses were seated at the head table. Eugene, Kelly, Evan, Nelly, and the two trade representatives were seated at another table in the front. 
 
    After a short speech by Ambassador Diaz, music started, and waiters emerged carrying trays of food. Eugene was seated between Nelly and Representative Knosen. 
 
    “Representative Knosen. I would love to find out more about the trade deal,” Nelly asked. “What can you tell me about it?” 
 
    “Please, call me Respa,” the trade representative said. “The basis for this deal is that we desperately need the shields that Eugene and Kelly designed. We also need power generators to drive them. We have the manufacturing capacity to make them, but we do not have the shield designs or the transluminide.” 
 
    “Earth has the designs and numerous transluminide claims that they do not have the capability to exploit. So, they are assigning a claim to us. 
 
    “Earth does not have the manufacturing capability or the adapted designs for a host of products that are mainstays on most Confederation planets. Karagon has idle manufacturing capacity and designs for thousands of products that are easily adaptable. I heard Michael say that this trade deal is worth about 6 trillion dollars.” 
 
    Nelly had been following along interestedly but had been struggling to understand why this was such a big deal. Six trillion! No wonder Michael wants his own currency. The Earth Alliance trading company, whatever they end up calling it, will be the largest company in the world overnight. And the new Earth Alliance dollar will be the only currency that actually matters. I have to get this job! she thought. 
 
    “So, part of this deal is that we provide designs for planetary shields?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “Yes.” Respa said. 
 
    “Do you know how large Karagon is relative to Earth?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “I’m told its diameter is 1.8 times larger,” Respa said. “We also have very congested orbital traffic, some of which I think they would also like to shield. But I’m not really in the loop on that.” 
 
    “Interesting. Isn’t your gravity a lot stronger?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “The gravity on Earth is about 90% of the gravity on Karagon. It is enough that you would notice it, but not so much that it would deter you from any but the most strenuous activities.” 
 
    Nelly spoke up, changing the topic. “As I see it. It seems that the real driver for this deal is that Karagon needs shields. Am I right that shields were the compelling need that set this process in motion?” 
 
    Respa seemed uncertain about whether he should answer that question, then relented and said, “It is true that our Ambassador initiated contact regarding trade and tourism. Your Ambassador asked what it was that Karagon really needed.” Then after a pause, he continued. “But Karagon does have the largest manufacturing base in this sector and we actively seek trade and tourism agreements with every Confederation planet in the sector. The need for shields may have accelerated the process, but it would have happened eventually. And the cost of the shields probably drove the size of this first deal. But over time, I would expect increasingly larger trade deals between our worlds.” 
 
    “What is the term of this agreement?” Nelly asked. 
 
    “There is no explicit term, but I would expect that we will exhaust this deal by the end of next year, possibly sooner. 
 
    Nelly quickly cranked the numbers in her mind. US GDP in 2030 was approximately 25 trillion. This deal was 6 trillion over two years. If spread equally, it would be 3 trillion per year, or more than 10 percent of the US economy. That amount, even spread across the entire world, would still have a tremendous impact. 
 
    She turned to Eugene and said, “Eugene. I think your work was the key driver behind the largest single deal in Earth’s history.” 
 
    … 
 
    The food was fabulous; the show itself entertaining. It was the first time Eugene felt like he was truly off work in some time, an ironic thought given that he’d just returned from holiday break. He also found himself hoping that Nelly got whatever job it was that she was interviewing for. He really liked her and hoped they would meet again. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 LOG JAM 
 
    [Saturday, 1.11.2031] EAS OTTAWA 
 
    They’d only been in orbit around New Lorexi for about a day, but Daniel found himself becoming very frustrated with the Lorexians. They still had not been given clearance to inspect the shield generators that the Lorexians had built. 
 
    “Admiral Porter,” Jo-Na said over the audio-only comm line. “I’ve spoken with High Command. They still haven’t received clearance from the planetary government to allow non-Lorexians in the shield complex.” 
 
    “They understand that the team selected to do the inspection are Lorexian Ascendants, right?” 
 
    A long silence. “This has been explained to them, but they’re not yielding.” 
 
    “Then, I’d recommend that we move on. Assistance has been offered. If they don’t want it, then let’s go help those that do.” 
 
    “I made the same argument, but the High Command does not agree. They want us to come to some arrangement with the planetary shield administration,” Jo-Na replied. 
 
    “While we have been waiting, our engineering teams have come up with trial designs for the planet and the three inhabited moons. We could build the shields and power systems for each in about 6 hours. If you can negotiate sites for temporary installation, we could have protection in place today that could be relocated when the planetary government is ready.” 
 
    “I think the problem is that the planet wants a single shield that encompasses the planet and the three inhabited moons,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “Would you mind if I checked in with Joel and Ka-Tu on the viability of such a thing?” 
 
    “Please do. A single shield covering everything does not seem tactically sound to me.” 
 
    “I’ll call you back as soon as possible,” Daniel replied. 
 
    … 
 
    “Gentlemen, thank you for meeting with me on short notice.” Daniel said. “I spoke with Admiral Jo-Na. The planetary government still hasn’t given us permission to send a team to inspect their shield. They have apparently decided that they want a single shield that will encompass the planet and the three inhabited moons.” 
 
    Joel was quick to run the numbers in his head. “We are talking about a shield with a diameter in excess of 600,000 miles. That will take at least 10 kg of transluminide, IF we can come up with a workable power distribution system.  
 
    “But have they found a solution for this with normal shields? When I was in school, it was deemed infeasible to have a single shield span two gravity wells.” Joel said. 
 
    “About 5 years ago there was a research group seeking funding for an experimental shield that could encompass New Lorexi and the first moon. To the best of my knowledge, the theory never proved out.” Ka-Tu made a face. “I wonder if the multiple-gravity-well people got hold of the funding for the Enemy-resistant shields.” 
 
    “Do you know anyone on New Lorexi that could give us some insight into this?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes. My friend Ma-Ro is the Confederation’s current Secretary of Science. He called me when news of the hijacking came out, begging that we come to help.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 SECRETARY OF SCIENCE’S OFFICE 
 
    “Ka-Tu. So good to hear from you. Is Earth going to send help?” Ma-Ro said. 
 
    “Yes. We are here but have run into trouble with the planetary government. They will not let us in to inspect their shield generator. Until we understand what they’ve done, we can’t really help fix it.” 
 
    “Fools!” Ma-Ro spat out. “They continue to pursue this multiple-planet shielding idea, even though it will never work. And now they are letting their crazy dream get in the way of protecting us from the Enemy!” 
 
    “We can put up shields around the planet and its moons for a fraction of the cost and, if we had sites to locate it, we could get the shields up in less than a day.” 
 
    “I doubt they will let you do that,” Ma-Ro said, despair in his voice. 
 
    “Couldn’t we sell this as temporary protection? A gift from Earth to cover the system while they work out the bugs?” 
 
    “Possibly.” 
 
    “Any suggestions you can offer? It is wasteful for us to spend time in orbit doing nothing. There is important work for us to be doing in the Milky Way.” 
 
    “Your Ambassador has a lot of pull. He is one of the few that may be able to influence this situation.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael had received an emergency message from Ka-Tu informing him of the impasse on New Lorexi. He had called Winston Thompson, Secretary of Space Force, and Admiral Samuel Scott, the military head of Space Force, for a briefing with Admiral Porter and mission leaders Joel Rubenstein and Ka-Tu. 
 
    “That is the summary of the situation,” Daniel said, concluding the report section of the briefing. 
 
    “Let me see if I’ve got this right,” Secretary Thompson said. “The entire task force is in orbit around New Lorexi. The planetary government is refusing you access to their non-functional shield generator. Fleet Central Command is not letting you or the task force move on to other planets willing to accept help. The Confederation’s chief scientist says that the experimental multiple-gravity-well shield design they are using will never work.” 
 
    “That is a fair summary,” Daniel replied. 
 
    “Then we should recall the task force.” Admiral Scott said. “It has already averted the disaster they were sent to help with. We have Enemy in our own galaxy that need rooting out. If they are being barred from doing productive work in Andromeda, then the task force should return home to start working the problem they were created to address.” 
 
    Michael considered this for a moment. “Although I agree with your sentiment, it would be prudent for us to work the situation a little more in Andromeda before bailing out. Let me propose the following. Admiral Porter, please offer the temporary site solution to Admiral Jo-Na. If the planetary government accepts, then the problem is solved. I understand that you don’t expect them to accept, but the offer needs to be made. 
 
    “If it is rejected, then please await further instruction. There are two other channels that I can pursue. If those fail, then you will be recalled. Are we agreed?” Michael asked. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael quickly dashed off a message to the Central Council advising them of the situation and proposing an emergency meeting. He then dashed off a separate note to James, asking if he would be willing to intervene. 
 
    The response from James was immediate. There was a flash of light and James appeared in the chair across from Michael. 
 
    “I’ve become increasingly worried about the disfunction within the Confederation. A similar thing happened among my people. Their collapse happened very quickly once the rot got to this level.” 
 
    “Surely, there must be something we could do.” 
 
    “As regards the current situation, yes there are many things we could do. The solution Ka-Tu has recommended is probably the best. What the shield engineers on New Lorexi are trying to do is possible. But they are on the wrong track and are very unlikely to ever get there. 
 
    “Eugene would, given enough time. But there are much more important things for him to do, so I would advise against involving him.” 
 
    “Will the Central Council succeed in overruling the planetary government?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Possibly,” James replied. “But it would be quicker if I had a word with the planetary governor. He is being deceived and will quickly change his mind once he understands.” 
 
    Then, looking at Michael very intensely, James said, “We need to get the task force home soon. The fastest way to do that would be to simply recall them. I will speak with the planetary government if you ask me to, but in exchange I want the taskforce redeployed to these coordinates in three days.” 
 
    “May I ask why?” Michael said. 
 
    “Some things must be done based on trust,” James said. 
 
    “I will do as you say, James. Please speak with the planetary governor,” Michael said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE OF THE PLANETARY GOVERNOR, NEW LOREXI 
 
    An older man walked into the outer office. The secretary sensed familiarity in the older Lorexian but did not recognize him. 
 
    “I must speak with the Governor,” James said. 
 
    “I’m sorry…” The secretary started to say, then stopped when James pulled forward the secretary’s memory of who he was. 
 
    “I’m so sorry, Councilor Ancient. I didn’t recognize you at first.” 
 
    “No worry, my dear. But I’ve urgent need to speak with the Governor.” 
 
    “Yes, sir. One moment please,” she said. 
 
    After several moments pause, the door opened and the Governor stepped out into the outer office, shutting the office door behind him. 
 
    “Councilor Ancient. What a pleasant surprise. Is there something I can do for you?” the Governor asked. His tone of voice suggested that he was anything but happy to see James and did not appreciate being interrupted. 
 
    “I understand that you are blocking the request from the Earth fleet to put shields up around the planet. Is that true?” 
 
    “That is a Planetary matter, not a Central Council matter.” The Governor said dismissively. 
 
    “I ask your indulgence to reconsider,” James said softly. 
 
    “Could we discuss this some other time?” The Governor asked curtly. 
 
    “No, sadly not. Please cooperate with the mission team from Earth,” James said patiently. 
 
    “I’m sorry. I don’t have time for this.” 
 
    “Sadly, you do.” James sent the Governor the memory of the Cruiser captain as he was consumed by his friend.  
 
    The Governor screamed and fell to the floor. As he started to calm and come back to the moment, James sent the memory of the Fast Packet ship’s Captain as he was infected. 
 
    The governor’s screams intensified. James then tacked on a similar memory from the captain of a Fast Attack ship that that had been infected during an earlier battle. The Governor writhed on the floor screaming until he passed out. 
 
    The door opened and the head of the planetary shield program came running out. “What’s going on here?” he shouted. 
 
    James sent this man, the one behind the planetary shield hoax, the same memories. 
 
    The secretary had called security when the Governor fell. Two guards came running into the outer office. They leveled their stun weapons at James. 
 
    “What’s going on here?” the lead guard asked. “Are you responsible for this?” 
 
    “That’s an interesting question,” James said. “These men have abandoned their duty to their own people. So, I think they are the responsible parties.” 
 
    “Funny.” The lead guard stepped toward James. 
 
    “NO,” James said, and the man froze. Then turning to the other, he said. “Help me get these two back into the Governor’s office. They will wake shortly.” 
 
    The junior guard, paused for a second, but ultimately yielded to James’ compulsion. 
 
    “Could you please bring them some water?” James asked the secretary. “They will be very thirsty when they wake up.” 
 
    … 
 
    The Governor woke in his chair. As his senses came back to him, he saw James and pulled back in fear. 
 
    “You have nothing to fear from me,” James said. “But sometimes decision makers form a better understanding of the situation when they experience the firsthand memories of those with knowledge of the problem. There is one more thing you need to know.” 
 
    The Governor started to protest, but immediately fell into a trance. 
 
    When he came out of it, he said, “I’m so sorry Councilor. I didn’t know.” 
 
    James smiled compassionately, “I know you didn’t. I had hoped you might take my word for it so you could be spared the memory of an encounter with the Enemy. Sadly, those will haunt you for the rest of your life. As will the memory of your friend betraying you. 
 
    “But I trust that you know what you need to do,” James said. 
 
    “Yes, sir. I will contact the Fleet immediately and ask that they start construction of the Earth shields at the alternate sites.” 
 
    “Excellent. I will leave you to it. If it is any consolation, what the shielding engineer was trying to do is possible to do. But he does not have the capacity to do it. There are those on Earth that have the capacity. Maybe they will help you when the immediate crisis is over.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ancient One.” The Governor reached for his communicator. 
 
    There was a flash of light and James was gone. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Michael,” Secretary Thompson said. “I just got word from Admiral Porter. They have been given the green light to start construction of the shields at alternate sites. Anticipated completion time is about midnight. The Fleet will then escort ships to the first ten of the neighboring systems.” 
 
    “That is excellent news. However, some things have changed. For reasons I cannot disclose at the moment, we need to recall the task force.” 
 
    “What?” the Secretary asked in confusion. 
 
    “I have the coordinates where they need to be in three days. I will send them shortly. Admiral Porter should complete as many shield installations as possible consistent with arriving at those coordinates on time. Regarding the shields, I would recommend that he engage the Fleet to the maximum extent possible so that they can continue shield deployment once he departs. I should be able to provide a full briefing tomorrow,” Michael said, hoping it would be true. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, MICHAEL’S OFFICE 
 
    “Mi-Ku, the log jam has been broken. Your task force is expected to have shields up over the planet and the three moons by the end of the day,” Admiral Jo-Na said. 
 
    “Jo-Na, I am glad to hear that, but I call with news.” 
 
    “As you usually do. Let me guess, you need to recall your task force.” 
 
    “Yes. The Ancient Sentient has told me that the task force needs to be at a specific set of coordinates in three days. Admiral Porter will receive his new orders shortly.” 
 
    “So, we will be defenseless once again,” Jo-Na complained. 
 
    “Only if you allow that to be true.”  
 
    “Please explain.”  
 
    “You have the capacity and the know-how to build and install the shields. Hand-select the people to be in charge. Give the planetary specifications to Joel. He and his team can give you the replicator patterns. In fact, they can probably give you the replicated parts for all 100 planets before they leave. 
 
    “Your armada can do this, if you will them to. Lead them as if your life depended upon it, and make your teams understand that their lives and the lives of their families do depend upon it. Take strong action against anyone that does not obey orders exactly.” 
 
    After a long pause, Jo-Na said, “You are right. We can do this and, if we execute with military precision, we will be successful.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    There was a flash of light and James appeared. 
 
    “Michael. Let me tell you what’s happening,” James said. 
 
    “Everything is being done as you asked. But it is straining my influence, and will continue to do so, until I can provide the rationale.” 
 
    “Several of the Enemy privateers have banded together and are going to raid another planet. Doing so will delay their arrival here. But if we do not stop them, they will be much stronger when they arrive. They will also destroy a species that would otherwise be destined for greatness.” 
 
    “Thank you,” Michael said. 
 
    “I can give you enough data for a full briefing later today. But I have another place I need to be now,” James said, then disappeared in a flash of light.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESIDENT LEE’S OFFICE 
 
    “Nelly. Please come in. I trust that you enjoyed the event last night,” President Lee said. 
 
    “Yes. Very much. Great food; colorful festive dancing; what’s not to like?” She answered with a smile. “Does the Embassy have events like that very often?” 
 
    “One or more almost every week.” President Lee showed her to a seat. “What is your take on the trade deal?” 
 
    “Do I understand correctly that the only thing we are providing Karagon is a little bit of Eugene’s time and a mining claim on some faraway planet?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Then from an economic perspective, this will have huge impact. Essentially zero outflow from Earth’s economy in exchange for a $6 trillion inflow. It’s amazing. I also now appreciate why Michael wants to create an Earth Alliance currency,” Nelly said. 
 
    “So, you agree that we need our own currency?” President Lee said. 
 
    “It’s more about efficiency than need. The free flow of capital through the economy makes the economy more efficient. Having our own currency will allow that efficiency while giving us the means to assure fairness.” 
 
    “I’m not sure I follow.” President Lee frowned. 
 
    “Overnight, a large amount of Earth Alliance currency will come into existence. We can allocate the currency proportionally to population, which will assure that every nation on Earth will get a proportional purchasing power among the imported products. And each can get the things they need. For example, Japan will be able to get the distributed power they need to stabilize their electrical grid against tsunami. Sudan will be able to use their funds for food replicators to cut down on hunger.  
 
    “The important point is that products will flow more proportionally. If we used the world’s existing currencies, then countries with strong economies and currencies would get a disproportionate share of the imported products. With a new currency, we have the opportunity to balance things, at least initially.” 
 
    “But could the rich countries just buy Earth Alliance currency from poorer ones?” President Lee asked. 
 
    “Only if we let them.” Nelly said with a smile on her face. “If we have our own central bank, then we can control how much money there is and what it can be used for. The mechanisms to do that are well understood. It is my specialty.” 
 
    “How long will it take to set this up?” 
 
    “I’ll need staff, facilities and tamper-proof computers. But we can kick up a currency in a matter of days and have it stable and operating at modest volume in weeks.” 
 
    “I think I’ve heard what I need to hear,” President Lee said, then asked. “You have four more interviews tomorrow?” 
 
    “Yes. I’m looking forward to them. I’ve spent most of my career preparing for a responsibility like this. Most of my life, in fact.” 
 
    “Any plans for tonight?” President Lee asked, wanting to make sure she was being well hosted. 
 
    “Yes. Eugene Xu, who I met last night, has asked me to dinner at Chef Marco’s this evening.” She smiled. 
 
    “Excellent! Great food. And good company. I hope you enjoy the rest of your stay.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TELEVISION STUDIO, EMBASSY PRESS RELATIONS DEPARTMENT 
 
    Once again, the studio was set up like a sitting area. There was an end table in the middle, one chair on the left, two on the right. 
 
    Two men walked in as the intro music started to play. The lights slowly came up, reaching full stage lighting as the countdown hit 1. 
 
    “Good evening, Netherlands. I am Dolf van der Wals with the NOS Journaal, the news program of the Nederlandse Omroep Stichting. I am here tonight in the television studios of the Confederation Embassy with former Sergeant George Butler. 
 
    “George, thank you for inviting me to be the guest host on your show this evening. I understand that we have a very special guest. Would you please introduce him?” 
 
    “Thank you, Dolf. It is a pleasure to have you on the show today. Our special guest is Professor Emeritus James Ancient. He’s been working at the Institute for the last several months and I’ve had the pleasure of working with him. James would you please join us on stage?” 
 
    There was a flash of light and James appeared next to George. The plan had been for James to simply walk out onto the stage. The entrance surprised George so much that he jumped, but no one noticed because the flash of light momentarily blinded the audience and whited out the TV cameras. As the shock wore off a ripple of awe swept through the room.  
 
    Regaining his composure, George said. “James, I expected you to just walk out onto the stage. Why the flashy entrance?” 
 
    A few people in the audience groaned at the pun. 
 
    “Well, you see, I was running a few minutes late, so popped here directly from the Ambassador’s office.” 
 
    “How do you do that?” George asked. 
 
    “Just an old trick I learned a long, long time ago,” James said. 
 
    George realized that he was going off script when he noticed the look in Dolf’s eye. “Why don’t we take a seat and let Dolf lead the interview.” 
 
    “James, thank you for taking time out of your busy schedule to speak with us today. Can I start by having you introduce yourself? Where you’re from? What you do? That sort of thing.” 
 
    “Oh my,” James said. “I’m not sure how best to answer that. Let me start by saying I am very old. My species went extinct a long time ago. I am the last known living member of my species. 
 
    “The planet I was born on was destroyed millions of years ago, so I no longer have a permanent home. I wander the universe. During those wanderings, I found the Lorexian people. They were in crisis. Their star had been destroyed. A large number of them landed on a planet that they named New Lorexi. At that time, they were trying without too much success to meet their neighbors. 
 
    “I coached and guided them as they formed the Confederation and started expanding it across the galaxies,” James said. 
 
    “James, how old are you?” Dolf asked. 
 
    “I truly do not know. But it really doesn’t matter does it?” James said with one of his infectious smiles that impacted the entire studio audience. “I am old enough to be helpful. And old enough that I really don’t want to meddle in anyone else’s business.” 
 
    “But, isn’t your presence here on Earth a form of meddling?” Dolf asked. 
 
    “Is a lifeguard that pulls a drowning person from the sea meddling in their business?” James shot back with good humor. 
 
    “Point taken,” Dolf said. “But what are you doing here?” 
 
    “I’m trying to be the lifeguard,” James exclaimed with humor. This time the audience laughed along with him. 
 
    “It seems I deserved that,” Dolf said, laughing. “But I think you understand what I was trying to get at.” 
 
    “Indeed.” James paused for a second. “The Enemy is a terrifying threat. Left unchecked, they will destroy all the life in this galaxy, and possibly in the known universe. In many ways, Earth is the lynchpin. If they capture Earth, then all is lost. 
 
    “I may be powerful enough to stop them on my own. But life as we know it is more likely to prevail if I work with the people of Earth to stop the Enemy,” James said. 
 
    “Why is Earth the lynchpin? How can you know such a thing?” Dolf asked. 
 
    James smiled. “Earth IS the lynchpin. There is no doubt about that. I know because I am able to detect and understand things that human science does not even know about. I could tell you the reason, but you would not understand. It is simply beyond what humanity can understand at this stage in its development.” 
 
    Dolf had no idea how to respond to that statement but was rescued as the outro music started. Turning to the cameras, he said, “We will be back after a short break.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Welcome back to this week’s installment of the NOS Journaal. I am Dolf van der Wals. We are here at the Confederation Embassy speaking with James Ancient. 
 
    “James, I’d like to continue where we left off earlier. You were saying that you’re here on Earth to help in the upcoming conflict with the Enemy. Can I ask how you’re doing that?” 
 
    “What Earth lacks to fight this battle on its own is technology. With the right technology, humanity can defeat the Enemy. I am in possession of that technology and would give it to you if there were no other option. But that would be a very dangerous thing. Technology that’s not earned frequently turns on its owners,” James said. 
 
    “Could you explain that statement to us? I’m not sure I follow.” 
 
    “Let me use an example from Earth history. You have undoubtedly heard of a substance known as nitroglycerin. It is an oily substance that is very explosive. It was initially developed in Italy.  
 
    “After much experimentation, its developers eventually found ways to stabilize the substance. But before that art was fully understood, significant quantities were sold to people that really did not understand the technology. In one famous example, the Wells Fargo company bought three crates of the substance. They ultimately did not understand how to handle the material and accidentally blew up one of their offices in San Francisco, killing 15 people. 
 
    “You may not think this is an apt example, but it is. The technology I could give you is very dangerous, much more dangerous than nitroglycerin. If no one on Earth knew how to use it or, more importantly, how to modify it, then you might end up blowing up your entire planet. 
 
    “So, back to the question about why I’m here. There are scholars here on Earth that are close to being able to develop this technology on their own. I’m here to nudge them in the right direction. They’ve already found better propulsion systems and manufacturing processes on their own. But they needed a little nudge to get safe Enemy shields. They had developed the shields on their own. I simply nudged them towards the safe ones. I plan to stay here until they’ve found everything they need to find.” 
 
    The studio audience erupted into loud applause and the producers used that as an opportunity to cut to a break. 
 
    … 
 
    “Good evening, Netherlands. I am Dolf van der Wals of the NOS Journaal, here at the Confederation Embassy today with Professor James Ancient. 
 
    “James, I’d like to move on to discuss another topic. This show is the third in a series George has organized about non-human species. We have met Artificial Intelligences, Lorexians and Angolorans. You are obviously not human, but you surely look like one. May I ask what species you are?” 
 
    “This is a little more difficult. It’s true that I’m not human. In days of old, we had a name for ourselves. But it’s not something that is humanly pronounceable, and since I’m the only one left, it’s not clear that a label would add any value.  
 
    “A better question would be what am I? I am an empath. I can sense your emotions. I can also project emotions onto you. I can take almost any form, so today I am human. But I could just as easily be Lorexian,” James said standing. There was a flash of light and a large Lorexian appeared where James was standing. There was another flash, and James was back. 
 
    James’ changing act caused George and Dolf to jump. A lot of noise emanated from the studio audience, which turned to applause when James took a bow. 
 
    “James, you scared me,” George said. 
 
    James smiled and patted George’s hand. “Startled you for sure. Sorry about that. But not scared. You are too brave to be scared by a trick like that.” 
 
    Once again, the studio audience erupted in applause. 
 
    “But most of the time, I simply exist as energy. It’s a little less wearing to be in that state.” 
 
    “Can you show us that?” Dolf asked. 
 
    “Yes. But it wouldn’t be a good idea. When I’m in that state, it seems to mesmerize people, and some have a long recovery cycle. But I can introduce you to someone else that can exist as energy,” James said enthusiastically. “David, would you please join us?” 
 
    A brilliant light appeared on the far side of the stage. James stood and walked over toward it. 
 
    “David, please join us in your physical form.” 
 
    The light coalesced into the shape of a man, then materialized into flesh and bone. 
 
    “Ladies and gentlemen,” James announced. “Please meet my friend, David Washington. Oh, could someone bring David a chair and something to drink?” 
 
    A stagehand came running onto the stage with another chair. Another came out and placed a glass of what looked like water on the end table. 
 
    James helped David over to the set and sat him in George’s seat, next to the water. George shuffled over to the new chair. James sat in the middle. 
 
    “David is still new at this and it drains him. The nutrients in the water will help speed his recovery.” James said as David guzzled down the water. 
 
    Dolf, who had been caught completely off guard, recovered enough to ask, “James, is David a member of your species? I thought you said you were the last one.” 
 
    James seemed puzzled for a moment, then said, “David is human. The ability to exist as pure energy exists in the soul of every human being, although only a few have ever mastered it. David is one of those few.” 
 
    Dolf had heard that George’s show frequently went a little off script, but this was the first time he’d experienced it firsthand and had no idea where to go with this. 
 
    Sensing Dolf’s unease, James waved at Dolf and George, then the people in the studio audience. “My friends, the universe is filled with beautiful and glorious things. These are not things to fear. They are simply part of the wonder of creation.” 
 
    Realizing that James assurance wasn’t helping Dolf very much, George added, “The theme of this series of shows is ‘The Allied Species of the Confederation.’ James, of course, is one of the most spectacular, but it is not safe for him to reveal himself in his energy form. David volunteered to show himself that way instead. 
 
    “But James did agree to be filmed by an automated system. On the screens, and in an inset on your TVs at home, we will show a short clip of James in that state.” The image appeared on the monitors in the studio. James was standing next to a building, then suddenly bloomed into a cloud of light nearly as tall as the building with brilliant sparkles of color. Hushed sounds could be heard across the studio audience. A few people could be seen crossing themselves. As the short clip looped, the studio audience erupted into loud applause. 
 
    While the studio audience’s attention was diverted, George indicated to Dolf that he should ask David about himself. 
 
    As the crowd quieted, Dolf asked. “David, what can you tell us about yourself?” 
 
    David was quiet for a moment, then started with the events of that night and his subsequent incarceration. 
 
    … 
 
    “So, you spontaneously turned into pure energy in an attempt to protect your family and succeeded in protecting your nieces and nephew. Yet you ended up serving 20 years in prison for murdering them?” Dolf said in abject disbelief. “How do you feel about that?” 
 
    David was slow to reply. “I don’t know. I really don’t like thinking about it. I saved the kids. I miss my folks. I’m very thankful that James found me and got me out. But there’s no point in wallowing in the past. The only thing that really matters is destroying every last one of those evil parasites. I am resolved to keep building my strength to the point where I can take the fight to them.”  
 
    Even though the mood in the room had become very somber, the crowd applauded loudly in support of David. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON RESIDENCE, FAYETTEVILLE, ARKANSAS 
 
    Bob had finally found the Confederation channel on cable. Prior to their visit, he didn’t know there was a Confederation Cable channel. George Butler’s show was on Saturday afternoons and he got to see it on cable for the first time. 
 
    “How cool is that!” Bob said to Martha. “Living as pure energy then just materializing some place. I wonder if I could sign up for a class on how to do that.” 
 
    “Be careful what you wish for. That David guy seemed to be pretty worn out. And it sounds like you have to go through hell to learn that skill.” Martha tried to inject some reason into her husband. 
 
    Bob got up to check on the chili he was making for dinner, still muttering about how cool it was. As he entered the kitchen, the phone rang. 
 
    “Hi, this is Bob.” 
 
    “Mr. Johnson. This is Evan Till from the Confederation. We spoke at the trade exposition last week.” 
 
    “Mr. Till. What a pleasant surprise. I hope the New Year is treating you well.” 
 
    “It is. Mr. Johnson. It is. I’m calling about the sample application you submitted the day we met.” 
 
    Excitement shot down Bob’s spine like a bolt of lightning. 
 
    “Yes. Yes. I remember.” 
 
    “I was calling to let you know that your application has been accepted. You are being granted up to 500 linear feet of anchoring in foundation space, two shield generators, a small industrial replicator, two construction bots and up to 4 hours of AI consultation to develop replicator patterns.” 
 
    “Wow!” Bob said with even more excitement. “What do I need to do to arrange for delivery?” 
 
    “Would it be OK if Representative Knosen and I came to meet you on Monday morning? Assuming we can come to agreement about the display arrangements, we should be able to release the materials to you while we are there,” Evan said. 
 
    “Then Monday morning it is. Shall we meet at my office? That’s the address I put on the application.” 
 
    “That would be fine. 10:00 AM?” Evan asked. 
 
    “10:00 AM, it is.” 
 
    “See you then.” 
 
    As soon as Bob hung up, he ran back into the living room. 
 
    “Martha! That was the Confederation! I got the equipment we applied for! They’ll be bringing it on Monday!” Bob danced around the room like a child. 
 
    The thought shot through Martha’s mind. Boys and their toys. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHEF MARCOS 
 
    Eugene still couldn’t believe that he’d asked Nelly out to dinner tonight. They’d agreed to meet at the restaurant and Eugene arrived 15 minutes early. As he waited in the lounge, it occurred to him that he should have offered to pick her up. 
 
    I’m so out of practice, Eugene thought to himself. 
 
    Nelly arrived exactly on time and Eugene got up to greet her. 
 
    “Nelly, thank you for seeing me tonight,” Eugene said, thinking, What a lame greeting. 
 
    “Eugene, thank you for asking me,” she replied with a smile. 
 
    They were escorted to their table. It was on the main level by the large curved window, looking down over the valley. 
 
    “What a gorgeous view!” Nelly said. “I’ve always thought the views over the city in San Francisco were great, but this is in a whole different league.” 
 
    “How long have you been in San Francisco?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “I’ve been in the Bay Area most of my life. My parents met at Stanford. They were in the same medical school class. They graduated together and both eventually joined the faculty at the Medical school. 
 
    “Although they knew each other in school, they didn’t connect until meeting up again the year they started on faculty.” 
 
    “Wow. Mother and father on the faculty at Stanford. That must have been a lot of pressure growing up.” 
 
    “Yes and no. My mom was 41 when I was born. She put me in daycare right at the facility on campus, so many of my earliest memories are at the university. School came naturally to me, so there was little conflict over that. I did my undergrad at Stanford. The biggest conflict was when I decided to do my Ph.D. at Harvard,” she said with a wry smile. 
 
    “So, you grew up at Stanford. Did you live right there in Palo Alto?” 
 
    “Yes, until I graduated from high school. My mom and dad bought a beautiful home in the nearby town of Woodside. It was close enough to school that I lived at home while doing my undergrad. First time I was on my own was in Boston. How about you?” Nelly asked. 
 
    “My parent’s story is similar. They came to the US to go to school. Both got jobs in Baltimore, where they met. I was an only child and grew up in the suburbs. I did my undergrad in Electrical Engineering at the University of Delaware, then won the lottery so to speak and got into the Ph.D. program at MIT. After graduation, I took an associate professor position at Hopkins. Been there ever since. 
 
    “How did you get involved at the Fed?” Eugene asked. 
 
     “Funny story. I was always interested in money, its role in an economy is so fundamental. My advisor suggested that I take a symposium at the Hass School of Business at Berkeley in the summer of 2016. While I was there, I saw Janet Yellen speaking at an event and went up to say how much I admired her. At the time she was Vice Chairman of the Federal Reserve System. Previously she had been the President of the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, where I am now. I was just one face in a thousand, but she asked about my interest and suggested that I apply for a job at the Fed when I finished at school.” 
 
    “Did you?” Eugene asked. 
 
    “Yes. Got turned down and took a job as an associate professor at Berkeley. Didn’t know it at the time, but it was the same position Yellen had before joining the Fed. Two years in, I applied to the Fed again and was accepted.” Nelly smiled again. 
 
    “Very cool. Did you ever connect with her again?” 
 
    “No. As I said, I was one face in a thousand. She was a superhero with a world to save. Just ironic that I ended up following the same path.” 
 
    “Are you going to be President of the Fed someday?” Eugene asked, curious to learn about Nelly’s ambitions. 
 
    “Not if I get the job here.” 
 
    “Do you think they’ll hire you?” 
 
    “I hope so. Not sure what I expected when I agreed to come visit. But I want this job. It will end up being the most vital financial job on Earth, dwarfing the Federal Reserve. How about you? Do you think you’ll ever return to Baltimore?” 
 
    “In principle, yes. But I doubt that will happen. I am in the middle of the biggest revolution in space travel to ever happen, and I love it. It’s hard to imagine the circumstances that would take me back.” Eugene said with a little melancholy. 
 
    “Good.” Nelly said smiling. “Maybe we’ll get to work together.” 
 
    Eugene found himself wanting to see a lot more of Nelly Fong.   
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 RESOLUTIONS 
 
    [Sunday, 1.12.2031] ORBIT ABOVE NEW LOREXI 
 
    Twelve hours earlier, Daniel learned that the planetary governor had unexpectedly changed his mind and approved alternate sites for new builds. Within an hour of the call from Admiral Jo-Na, engineers from the Fleet were on the ground preparing the sites. The Ottawa built the shield generator for New Lorexi. Three other ships built the ones for the three moons. 
 
    The series of events broke the log jam and data from the other systems came flooding in. Joel took the lead scaling the standard design for the planets and moons in each system. Three large scale shields were assigned to production by the Fleet’s manufacturing ships, while the Earth Alliance ships took the remaining smaller shields. 
 
    The shield around New Lorexi came up at 10:05 PM. The third moon’s shield had come up 15 minutes ago at 12:40 AM, Earth Standard time. 
 
    “Admiral Porter. The Fleet is preparing for departure. My astrogation AI is sending the various coordinates and recommended routing. I am assigning two of my Fast Attack ships to each of yours, so there is no ambiguity regarding the identity of your ships,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “Thank you, sir. Our ships will be ready to depart momentarily. I’ll be ordering my captains to follow the lead of your escort ships.” 
 
    “And I’ve ordered my captains to provide all assistance requested by yours once they’re on site. If my estimates are correct, we should have 50 of the 100 systems shielded before you need to depart,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “We should also have all of the shields built by then. We can transport them to your ships for installation at your convenience,” Daniel replied. 
 
    “Might I make a suggestion?” Jo-Na asked. 
 
    “Of course.” 
 
    “After the next set of shields are installed, I could provide two new escorts for your ships. They could accompany your ships to the next target. The previous escorts could then jump ahead to the next target after that to attempt installations. Your ships could then come and approve the installations. If this works, we would double the rate of installation and be able to complete the entire process before you need to depart,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “Excellent suggestion,” Daniel replied. “I’d be happy to proceed that way. 
 
    “Then that’s the plan,” Jo-Na replied, realizing that he enjoyed working with the Earth Alliance Fleet more than his own. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael woke, hit the refresher and went into his home office to check messages. It was 6:30. As usual, the message queue was deep. Scanning the messages quickly, he saw updates from Evan Till, Hans Schudel, Daniel Porter and an odd one from Pam that was time stamped around midnight last night.  
 
    He opened it and read. Michael, this is Pam. The Pope has agreed to an audience Sunday evening at 7:00 PM Vatican time. I’ve alerted your shuttle team that you will need to depart no later than 11:00 AM if you choose to go. 
 
    This is going to be interesting. Michael thought. Wonder if Sarah will agree to go. 
 
    … 
 
    The next message was from Professor Schudel. Michael. Mining operations continue. We processed two systems today. The first system only yielded 3,854 kilograms. The second system yielded 10,880 kilograms.  
 
    We have now completed scans in 9 of the 18 target systems. Our claims total 107,755 kilograms. Every system has contained mineable quantities of transluminide. The crew of the Amsterdam has become quite proficient at every step in the process. With the extra help they are giving, I expect to complete the process in another seven days. 
 
    … 
 
    The next message was from Admiral Samuel Scott. Michael, the survey missions for the Warsaw, Kiev, Tbilisi, Paris and Beijing are now complete. I will be recalling these ships today unless you object. 
 
    I expect that the Tokyo, New Delhi and Madrid will also be complete by the end of the day today. Of the remaining ships, only the Seoul and the Amman have not completed their surveys. So, the remaining ships will be cleared to return once they have escorted the Amsterdam to the claim sites in their systems. 
 
    If there is related work that these ships can do, please advise. We are currently planning to have the returning ships scan the planets and moons in our system. 
 
    … 
 
    The next message was from Daniel Porter. It was copied to Secretary Thompson and Admiral Scott. The log jam in Andromeda has been broken. Shields around New Lorexi and its three moons are complete and operational. We are now dividing the Armada and Task Force. Admiral Jo-Na and I have agreed to a deployment protocol that may allow us to complete the 100 systems before we depart on Monday at noon. 
 
    For all the frustration of dealing with the situation on New Lorexi, it has cemented our working relationship with the Armada. 
 
    Please send briefing materials about the new mission as soon as possible. 
 
    … 
 
    The next message was from Evan Till. Michael, I have contacted the first five sample awardees. I will be traveling with Representative Respa Knosen to meet these parties this week. The first stop will be the builder in Arkansas tomorrow morning. We will be evaluating their display plans and their support needs. If we are satisfied with what we see, we will give them their award packages at the end of the meeting. We have reserved shuttles from the diplomatic shuttle pool for this purpose. 
 
    Please advise if you have additional objectives for these meetings.  
 
    … 
 
    The next message was from President Lee. Michael, my interview with Ms. Fong went quite well. I have arranged for her to meet the five Ambassadors from the Trade Committee. Would you be available to meet with the group of us to discuss sometime late this afternoon, say 5:00 PM? 
 
    Michael dashed a quick reply. I have a meeting in Europe at noon Confederation time. I don’t know how long it will run. I’ll attempt to contact you before 5:00 with an update. If I can’t get back, I support this appointment 100%. 
 
    … 
 
    There were additional messages in the queue, but Michael heard Sarah walking his way and decided to be with her instead. 
 
    “You’re up early,” Michael said with a smile. 
 
    “Was hoping we could do something together this morning, before you got too tied up in your day.” 
 
    “There’s something I’m hoping you’ll do with me today,” he said. 
 
    “And what would that be?” Sarah asked suspiciously. 
 
    “We have an audience with the Pope at noon. I’m hoping you will come with me.” 
 
    Sarah’s expression turned sour. 
 
    “Before you say no…” A pause. “I meant what I said the other day. We may be able to help the Church. The nonsense with the Cardinal may only have happened because the Pope wants to speak with us. 
 
    “The Church was once an important part of your life. Don’t throw away that connection prematurely. I know it doesn’t look like it, but this could end up being a very good thing.” 
 
    Seeing that he wasn’t making much headway, Michael said. “Please. For me. I will never make you do anything. But I would like you to do this for me.” 
 
    “Then you owe me breakfast,” Sarah said, her spirits visibly lightening. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NORTHERN LIGHTS CAFE 
 
    Michael called ahead for a brunch reservation. Although the restaurant was booked, the hostess agreed to slot them in at 8:00. 
 
    As they entered, they saw Nelly sitting at a table with Eugene Xu. Nelly waved. 
 
    “Would you like to sit next to them?” asked the hostess. 
 
    “No,” Sarah quickly replied. “Let’s walk past so we can say hi, but I would prefer a table over there which is a little less visible.” 
 
    “Ah. I understand,” said the hostess, although Sarah’s reasons were not what the hostess thought. 
 
    Once seated, Michael asked, “Why not sit with them? This table really isn’t any more private.” 
 
    “Michael, for someone so smart and perceptive, I’m surprised at some of the things you do not pick up. Look at them. They are interested in each other. Our company would squash whatever progress they would make before she leaves.” 
 
    “Ah… Didn’t see that coming,” Michael said, then laughed. “See how lucky I am to have you?” 
 
    “Very lucky,” Sarah said, sharing the humor of the moment. 
 
    “So, what else is on your schedule today?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “The recruiting debrief on Nelly is at 5:00, if we can get back in time. At some point, I need to get a briefing from James. Maybe I can do that before we go. I also need to have a short conversation with Daniel Porter.” 
 
    “What do you need to talk with Daniel about?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “He is working with the Confederation Armada in Andromeda. In his report last night, he mentioned that operations were finally starting to move, which is good. But the interesting part was that the difficulties they encountered resulted in a good working relationship with Admiral Jo-Na, and that they had developed a new protocol for working the problem. I want to know more about that. It could be very important to future collaborations.” 
 
    Looking at Michael more observantly than normal, Sarah said, “You chose Daniel because you knew he would be the one to build this kind of collaboration, didn’t you?” 
 
    “Hmm. ‘Know’ is too strong a word. But yes. I thought he would be the most likely candidate to forge such relationships. It really wasn’t a very close call. He stood way above the others.” 
 
    “That’s your real talent, isn’t it? Picking the right people for the job. Nelly is another example, isn’t she? Her credentials are no doubt excellent, but there are probably ones that are better. Yet, she’s the one you think will do what needs to be done,” Sarah concluded. 
 
    “I see that I’ve been found out,” Michael replied with a smile. 
 
    “Are you going to be able to work that magic on the Pope?” 
 
    “Didn’t see that coming, which is the second time I’ve said that this morning. But I’m not getting the connection.” 
 
    It was Sarah’s turn to laugh. “You are worried about the wedding ceremony. The real reason we are going to the Vatican is to see if the Pope should be offered the job.” 
 
    Michael burst out laughing at that comment. The noise drew the attention of several of the nearby tables. “That thought never went through my mind, but now I fear I’ll never get it out of my mind. 
 
    “No. I’ve been wanting to talk with the Pope ever since the Revelation but have never been able to secure an appointment until now.” As the words came out, a sudden fear came over Michael. 
 
    “What is it?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “Sorry. A very strange thought just went through my head. I need you to do me a favor,” Michael said, very seriously. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S HOME OFFICE 
 
    On the walk back home, Michael had messaged James asking if they could meet. James popped into Michael’s office shortly after they got back. 
 
    “Good morning, Michael. Forgive me for eavesdropping, but you are right to be concerned about Sarah’s safety. Is that why you wanted to see me?” 
 
    “No. I need to be briefed on the situation with the Enemy.” 
 
    “Ah, that. Well, if you would like my help with the other matter, I would be happy to,” James said. 
 
    “Thank you, James.” 
 
    “Seven of the privateers have banded together. Their intent is to consume a young planet. There are 21 infiltrators. They are in bad condition. Several of the initial group have starved to death. Their plan is to grow their number to 70, the capacity of their ships. The capacity is much higher than that, but they are planning to use the extra space to pack the ship with enough food to get to their next destination. Seems the trip has taught them a lesson. 
 
    “Given how hungry they are, they will likely attack the planet with abandon, consuming a small city and starting the first gestation process. I doubt they will stay on the planet very long, maybe a month, maybe two. So, the initial attack will not materially deplete the planet’s population. But they will leave some behind. Those will ultimately consume the planet.” 
 
    “How long before contact?” Michael asked. 
 
    “Best estimate, 76 hours. If the task force can get there in time, they can erect a shield around the planet.” 
 
    “Seems to me that we could send an advance team from Earth to set up shields.” 
 
    James looked thoughtfully at Michael. After a few moments, Michael asked. “What aren’t you telling me?” 
 
    “I sense treachery afoot but have not been able to identify its nature. I fear it is in Andromeda, but do not know.” 
 
    “So, you want the task force back.” Michael said. 
 
    “Yes. They are your most able.” 
 
    “Anything else we should know?” 
 
    “Be careful, Michael. Something very bad lies in wait. What scares me is that I can’t discern what it is. It’s also obscuring my ability to track the Enemy. Over the past week, their whereabouts has become more difficult to determine. That’s part of the urgency. They may have deflected from their plan in a way I cannot perceive.” 
 
    Michael nodded his head in acknowledgement. 
 
    “If you do not object, I would speak with Sarah now.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
     James exited Michael’s office and walked toward the living room, where he knew Sarah to be. Before entering, he called out. “Sarah, do you have a few moments to speak?” 
 
    She got up and walked into the hall. “James. What a pleasant surprise. I didn’t know you were here.” 
 
    “I was in speaking with Michael.” 
 
    “And now you’re here to speak with me.” She smiled. 
 
    “So I am,” James said. “Have you been keeping up with your training?” 
 
    “I think you already know the answer to that.” 
 
    “So I do. Just reminding you that I’m keeping an eye on you.” 
 
    “What’s on your mind, James?” 
 
    “Sarah. Michael is going to ask you to do something today.” 
 
    “Is that what you were talking to him about?” Sarah said, irritation slipping into her voice. 
 
    “No, my dear. There are things I know without having to be told,” James said like a patient parent who is a bit disappointed in their child. 
 
    “Sarah, you are not going to like what Michael asks of you. In fact, you will be offended.” 
 
    Sarah started to object, but James cut her off. “Sarah. You must suspend judgement and do as Michael asks.” 
 
    Sarah was about to object, but she was suddenly gripped by fear. James is afraid. The thought shot through her mind. 
 
    “I will, James. Thank you,” Sarah said. 
 
    “Thank you,” James replied, then vanished in a flash of light. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ADMIRAL SCOTT’S OFFICE, SPACE FORCE 
 
    “Michael, thank you for meeting with us.” Admiral Scott said. “You have briefing materials?” 
 
    “Yes.” Michael replied, placing two thin packets on the table. “These are the facts of the situation as we know it. Let me walk you through them. 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael, it’s not clear to me why we should recall the task force. Ships from Earth could get there faster.” Admiral Scott seemed perplexed. 
 
    “Indeed, they could. But there is reason to believe that another malign force may be waiting in ambush.” 
 
    “How can you know that?” the admiral asked, getting a stern look from the Secretary. 
 
    Michael smiled. “Hopefully I’m wrong. But it would be foolish to ignore the warning we have been given.” 
 
    “What would you have us do?” 
 
    “I think we should arm a second task force. It should have the standard Enemy armaments, but also the most potent conventional weapons we can mobilize in the time given. 
 
    “The second force should arrive early to scout and assure the target planet is clear. Until the main task force arrives, they should avoid contact with the Enemy or any other hostile force, unless there is an immediate danger to the planet.” 
 
    “We will get the appropriate briefing and order documents prepared,” Admiral Scott said, then added, “Michael, thank you for the warning about the potential threat. The additional ships will strengthen our footing, even if the threat does not materialize.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “We need to leave in about a half hour. Are you going to come?” 
 
    “I don’t want to but will because you asked me to.” 
 
    “There is something I want you to do for me.” 
 
    “James told me you would ask something and that I would not like it. But he assured me that it really was necessary.” 
 
    “I want you to put this on,” Michael said, holding out what looked like a pair of stockings.” 
 
    “What is it?” 
 
    “A personal shield,” Michael said. 
 
    “What, you think I’m going to be attacked?!” Sarah said with a lot of heat. 
 
    “No. But hear me out for a minute. Remember in the interview up on Kohala Mountain the day after the Revelation. On the ride back to the ranch you asked me who I was planning to meet with. Do you remember the answer?” 
 
    After a moment… “Yes. You said priority went by population, but you also wanted to meet with Canada, Israel, Saudi Arabia and the Vatican.” A laugh. “I said I understood why you would want to go to the epicenters of the world’s great religions, but I didn’t get Canada.” Another laugh. “Later you asked if I would consider joining your team and I said I wasn’t so sure about Canada. Could never have imagined this.” She indicated the place. 
 
    “But I don’t get the connection to the personal shields.” 
 
    “I’ve been trying to get an interview at the Vatican for the last six years and suddenly I get summoned. And it happens the day after you get told that you may be declared an apostate and be excommunicated. It wasn’t all that long ago that the church engaged in assassinations to stop political marriages they did not approve of. I hope I’m wrong, but I don’t want to take the risk.” 
 
    “Are you wearing one?” Sarah demanded. 
 
    “Yes. It is built into my avatar,” Michael said. 
 
    Sarah was shocked. She remembered Michael saying something about a shield at some point, but it never really sank in that it was part of him. Then she remembered James’ fear. They really think I’m at risk, she thought, then said, “And you really think it’s a good idea for me to go on this trip?” 
 
    “It could be a very good thing. Or, it could be a very bad thing. There’s no way to know. I just hope to maximize the good.” 
 
    “OK. How does this work?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 NEAR EARTH ORBIT 
 
    “We are holding steady about 100 miles above the Vatican awaiting clearance to transport,” the pilot announced over the intercom. 
 
    Michael and Sarah walked over to the transporter pad. 
 
    “Clearance has been granted,” the pilot said, then added, “We will hold in geosynchronous orbit awaiting orders to transport up. Are you ready?” 
 
    “Yes. Please initiate transport.” 
 
    Sarah took Michaels hand and closed her eyes. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 APOSTOLIC PALACE 
 
    Sarah felt Michael squeeze her hand and opened her eyes. They were in a courtyard. A man in clerical garb approached and extended his hand. 
 
    “Michael, thank you for agreeing to meet with His Holiness. I am Father Benjamin, an assistant to Pope John-Paul III. 
 
    “Ms. Wright,” he said, extending his hand to shake hers. “Welcome. I am told you are a member of the Church. Is that correct?” 
 
    “I was raised Catholic and finished the catechism. I consider myself a member but doubt that I’m in good standing.” 
 
    “Not to worry. We always welcome back those that stray.” 
 
    Sarah almost snorted at that comment. She believed that Father Benjamin believed what he was saying, then remembered the reality of her treatment at home. 
 
    “Word has reached us concerning your intention to marry. Only the Holy Father could grant that request and he has agreed to hear your appeal. He would also like to speak with you, Michael. Shall we?” He motioned to a door. 
 
    “We are about to enter the Apostolic Palace. But before we step in, it would be appropriate for you to cover your head, Ms. Wright.” 
 
    Sarah had come prepared. She pulled a covering from her purse and draped it over her head. 
 
    “Thank you. If you would like to say confession or partake in Holy Communion before your audience, it could be arranged.” 
 
    Sarah found herself uncomfortable. These were familiar practices from her youth. But being asked these questions now made her realize that her only remaining connection to the Church was through her father. She no longer had one of her own. 
 
    “Thank you, Father. But it is probably best if I did not.” 
 
    “I see,” he said. “Please, this way.” 
 
    Michael could feel Sarah’s anxiety rising and squeezed her hand to remind her that he was there. 
 
    They walked for a way, then took a flight of stairs and followed another long corridor. Father Benjamin talked about the art and history of the building, which was all quite spectacular. Then the memory of his visit to Mexico during the Revelation shot through Michael’s mind.  
 
    Michael opened his senses, urgently probing the man. Nothing. Michael pulled back when he saw the man shudder. Although Michael could not sense anything wrong, he found himself thinking that the situation was not what it appeared. 
 
    They entered a small waiting room. “Please have a seat,” Father Benjamin said. “His Holiness will be with you momentarily.” 
 
    They moved toward the seats offered, but Michael stopped short. “I think we would prefer to stand,” Michael said. 
 
    “As you wish.” Father Benjamin replied. “I will be back momentarily.” 
 
    As the Father exited through a door leading further into the building, Sarah turned to Michael and asked. “What’s the matter?” 
 
    “Something seems off to me, but I cannot determine what. I opened myself to Father Benjamin. He believes he is taking us to the Pope. He’s a very caring man who is taking his assignment today very seriously. By the way, he is disappointed that you have fallen away from the faith. No, disappointed is the wrong word. He is saddened.” 
 
    The door opened and the Father escorted them through another anteroom to another door. “Sorry for the roundabout path to get here. I wanted to save you the exposure to the paparazzi. The Holy Father is ready to meet with you.” 
 
    He opened the door and motioned for them to enter. The pope was at his desk and looked up when he heard the door open. 
 
    Michael stepped in holding Sarah’s hand. She passed through the door, beside but slightly behind Michael. 
 
    A huge smile erupted on the Pope’s face when he saw Michael. “Michael, welcome. Please come in. I’ve been hoping to meet you for some time,” He extended his hand to shake Michael’s. 
 
    “And you, Sarah. Welcome.” He motioned to seats at the far end of the room. 
 
    “Thank you for the invitation to meet,” Michael said. 
 
    As they sat, the Pope said. “I hear that you are betrothed. I assume that is true.” 
 
    “Yes.” Michael replied. 
 
    “I don’t understand how that would work. You are not human, are you?” 
 
    “No. I was born Lorexian, but I currently occupy a human avatar.” 
 
    “But, which will this woman be marrying? The Lorexian or the avatar?” 
 
    “She would be marrying me,” Michael said, hand on his chest. 
 
    “But do you have a Soul?” the Pope asked. 
 
    “I would answer yes. But you speak for the Church, not I. And your question is presumably from the Church’s definition.” 
 
    There was a moment of silence. 
 
    “I have heard you suggest that you met Jesus. Did you?” The question was asked plainly. 
 
    “Yes. I did,” Michael said. 
 
    “Please tell me about it.” 
 
    “You agree to keep this to yourself?” Michael asked. 
 
    “No. But I will not attribute anything to you.” 
 
    Michael thought about that for a few minutes, then started. 
 
    “Our mission was to study the great conflicts of the day. I led the team studying the Roman Empire. The rebellion of consequence at that time was in Judea. The rebellion was ultimately crushed in 70 AD, when Rome took siege of Jerusalem and eventually tore down the Temple, scattering its stones so it could never be rebuilt. 
 
    “Some years before all that, aerial surveillance started to note large gatherings around the Sea of Galilee, I went to check them out. I joined the crowd at what you call the Sermon on the Mount. Jesus was a compelling speaker. He described a vision for the world that was hard to understand on one hand, yet somehow intrinsically right on the other. Many of the principles he spoke about were common among Confederation members, but as best we could tell did not exist elsewhere on Earth. 
 
    “I continued following him for some time. We met, spoke. He said to me one day, ‘Michael, you have the name of a powerful angel, yet you are not who you say you are. You should make yourself known and follow me.’ 
 
    “To the best of my knowledge, no one else has ever determined the nature of someone operating an avatar. But, he did. 
 
    “Shortly thereafter, quite a few of his followers started leaving him. The Apostle John, who was quite a character by the way, later wrote about it in his book. Chapter 6, if I recall correctly.” 
 
    The Pope muttered in a low voice. “John 6:66. From this time, many of his disciples turned back, no longer following him. 
 
    “You were there for that?” 
 
    “Yes. The Romans had started to figure out what was going on. Jesus knew it and started focusing his attention on the twelve. From that point on, I followed at a distance. It was a little off script from my mission, but he was the most compelling person I’d met at that point in my life. I used the flexibility of my position to watch what happened.” 
 
    “Are the scriptures true?” the Pope asked. 
 
    “I did not see everything close up. But what I did see is consistent with what is in the New Testament.” 
 
    “But, did you believe it was real?” the Pope asked with great intensity. 
 
    “I watched Jesus heal people. With my scanners I could see what was happening. He did heal people. He healed the mentally ill faster and more completely than we can today. How he did those things, I do not know.” 
 
    “And he rose from the dead?” 
 
    “I was there for the crucifixion. Grisly business, bad enough that the Confederation would have blacklisted the planet if I’d not deleted it from my report. My scans confirmed that he was dead, at least beyond the point where Confederation technology could bring him back.” 
 
    “And you saw him after?” 
 
    “Yes. But at that point he was an energy being. He would coalesce to speak with his disciples, who once again started growing in number. The fact that he had come back gave them confidence to start following again. And over the next couple weeks he met frequently with the eleven that remained and any others they could muster. Hundreds came, giving the eleven great authority to continue his work.” 
 
    “Did you see the Ascension?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    There was a long pause. 
 
    “He spoke with you again?” the Pope said questioningly. 
 
    Michael looked up and held his gaze for a moment. 
 
    “I’ve said as much as I can say.” 
 
    “Yet you do not believe in His divinity?” the Pope asked. 
 
    “Not in the way you do,” Michael said. “But, before you condemn me, hear this. I was not the person I am today before I met him. He taught me generosity and grace. Things that were essential to saving this planet.” 
 
    There was a long pause in the conversation. 
 
    “I believe you and will honor our agreement. I will also find a way for you to be married in the Church, if you still want that, Sarah.” 
 
    “My father would like that,” Sarah said. 
 
    “I see. Michael, could I say, privately of course, that you have confirmed the claims of Christ and do not contest the Biblical account?” 
 
    This was difficult for Michael; he could be unseated from the Central Council for affirming a religious claim. “I would accept the following. I witnessed much of the Biblical account and affirm the accuracy of that which I witnessed.” 
 
    “I can live with that.” Then the Pope turned to Sarah. “Your standing in the Church will not change. But I will personally call your priest and his bishop, as well as the Cardinal, and approve his participation in your wedding. Is that acceptable?” 
 
    “Thank you, Your Holiness. I think you understand my position better than any other on Earth. I will do my best to be a credit to the Church and am indebted to your grace.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S SHUTTLE 
 
    “I think that went well.” Michael said. “In truth, I expected a bit more drama.” 
 
     “Did you attempt to read the Pope?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “No. I prefer not to read people, if it can be avoided.” 
 
    “I think we should get married soon, before they change their minds.” Sarah said. 
 
    “I’m good with that. But I think we need to do it here. I’ll ask Pam to look up the Confederation marriage protocol for planetary ambassadors. There will be requirements that I cannot overlook.” 
 
    “When can I take off the personal shields you gave me?” Sarah asked. 
 
    “I would prefer that you leave the emitter array in place. It has ‘dissolved,’ for lack of a better word, into your skin and can stay there for years. It’s only active if you are wearing the field generator. You probably don’t need it at the Embassy, but I’d like you to carry it with you in case of an emergency. Just touching the metal contacts with your hand will make you impervious to most attacks.” 
 
    “I can do that,” Sarah said, clearly unhappy with the idea. “You have meetings when we get back, right?” 
 
    “Only the recruitment meeting at 5:00, which will probably be two hours. And there are some documents, I’ll need to review.” 
 
    “Then I think I’m going to see if Bahati is available for a glass of wine.” 
 
    “Good.” Michael smiled, sadness creeping into his eyes. Today’s events were building a barrier between him and Sarah. He hoped Bahati’s council would help break it down. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CONFERENCE ROOM, EARTH ALLIANCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    Michael arrived a few minutes early. President Lee and Erika Schmitt, Sr. Ambassador from Germany, and Piotr Kozinski, Sr. Ambassador from Poland, were already there. 
 
    “Very impressive candidate. I understand you recommended her,” Ambassador Kozinski said as he greeted Michael. 
 
    “Yes. I have kept my eyes open for candidates for key positions for years. It’s one of the reasons I’ve gone to so many of these international conferences.” 
 
    “Have you considered any other candidates?” Ambassador Erika Schmitt asked. 
 
    Michael smiled. “Hundreds. In my mind, Nelly is far above the rest.” 
 
    Before Erika could reply, the remaining three Ambassadors came in: Hang Jiao-long from China, Sato Daichi from Japan, and Margaret Whitaker from the UK. 
 
    Ambassador Hang overheard Michael’s comments and quickly shot back. “I hope you considered some Chinese candidates. Our central bank has been one of the world’s marvels.” To Michael’s relief, the Ambassador, known for his acerbic criticism of everything non-Chinese, made the statement in a joking manner. 
 
    “Shall we call this meeting to order?” President Lee said, indicating the conference table.  
 
    Greetings and small chit-chat continued as everyone was seated. Michael had opened his senses to get a feel about possible opposition and was surprised by the light spirit of the committee today. 
 
    “Before we start, I would like to say thank you to Michael for organizing the recent trade deal and related Earth Alliance companies,” Margaret Whitaker said. “The reaction in the UK has been overwhelming.” 
 
    “Same in Japan,” said the normally quiet Sato Daichi. 
 
    “Indeed,” President Lee said. “It came together very fast and has impacted our polling in almost every member country. But in the spirit of liberating our Sunday evening, could we call this meeting to order?” 
 
    There was no objection. “Michael, could you start by telling us why you have recommended Ms. Fong for this role?” 
 
    “Happy to,” Michael said. “What we are about to do is unprecedented in scope and is, by its nature, unique. The Earth Alliance is currently sitting on assets that it cannot monetize in any normal sense of the word. We have recently discovered and now own over 100,000 kilograms of transluminide. This is a fortune greater than any other currently in existence. We have also mined and refined approximately 150 billion dollars’ worth of gold and platinum from the Earth’s core as part of the Space Force build out. 
 
    “We don’t have the manufacturing capacity to use the transluminide ourselves. We can’t sell the gold and platinum, because it would crash the world markets for these commodities. 
 
    “Instead, I propose that we use the gold and platinum to create our own currency, a hard currency whose price does not float in the sense that it does for other currencies. Every month we issue member countries hard currency proportional to population. Initially the only thing that currency can be used for will be purchases of goods and services imported from Karagon.” 
 
    Ambassador Hang raised his hand and interrupted. “Michael, we’ve heard this all before. It’s the reason we approved forming a central bank and issuing our own currency. I don’t see the relevance to the matter at hand, which is selecting the person to set up and operate the bank.” 
 
    Michael acknowledged the Ambassador with a nod. “I disagree. The reminder is very relevant to the point at hand. None of what I have just reminded you of is done by your central banks. The top four jobs of your banks are to: manage the money supply, set interest rates, control inflation, and manage foreign exchange. None of those are relevant to our bank. 
 
    “With that context, I ask you. Who has written the most papers on creating hard currencies? Who has written the most papers on managed-use currencies? Who is the most experienced banker with expert knowledge in these areas?” 
 
    Michael paused to look at each of the Ambassadors in the room. 
 
    “Only one person. Nelly Fong. She is by far the most qualified person on Earth. In my mind, the only thing we need to do is confirm her character. Is she the person we want to represent the Earth Alliance to the financial markets of the world? I say Yes.” 
 
    After a few moments silence, President Lee spoke up. “Would anyone like to make a counter argument?” 
 
    Ambassador Hang started to say something then stopped. Noticing that all eyes were now on him, he said. “How could I complain? After all, she is Chinese.” 
 
    His statement broke the momentary tension in the room as everyone chuckled. 
 
    Ever stoic, Ambassador Daichi spoke in a quiet voice. “I have been checking Michael’s facts. The top results in the financial press for controlled-use currency are all authored by Nelly Fong. Similar for papers on hard currency. There are many others in the top 25 papers, but filtering for work in the last 20 years… All Nelly Fong. 
 
    “As to credentials, she really is the only one. As to character, I am more than satisfied. She has my vote.” 
 
    Seeing all the other heads nodding in agreement, President Lee said. “I move that we nominate Nelly Fong as President of the new Earth Alliance Central Bank.” 
 
    “Second!” Ambassador Hang shouted out. 
 
    “Show of hands in favor,” President Lee said. 
 
    All hands were raised. 
 
    “Nelly Fong is nominated,” President Lee said. “Who would like to present the case for a vote tomorrow?” 
 
    Ambassadors Hang and Sachi both volunteered. 
 
    “If it would help to have a European on the presenting team, I volunteer also,” Ambassador Schmitt said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    “Bahati, so good to see you.” Sarah gave her friend a big hug. 
 
    “Good to see you, too,” Bahati said, then feeling Sarah trembling in her arms, asked, “Yeah, what’s up with you?” 
 
    Sarah released her and motioned to the counter in the kitchen, where two glasses of wine were waiting. 
 
    “Very emotional day. Week actually.” 
 
    “Out with it.” 
 
    “After the engagement party, I called my priest back home. I asked if he would consider officiating our wedding. He said he would need to check in with the bishop.  
 
    “Well. No callback until Friday when it all hit the fan. I got a call from the Cardinal in New York. The church would not support the wedding. If I married anyway, he would recommend that I be excommunicated. He also said some evil things I will not repeat. 
 
    “Then Michael got a call from the Pope asking that he come to the Vatican for a private audience.” 
 
    “Did he go?” Bahati asked, somewhat breathlessly. 
 
    “We just got back.” 
 
    “What!” Bahati squealed, then seeing the look on Sarah’s face asked. “Not good?” 
 
    “The Pope said he would call Father John in New York and ask him to officiate the wedding and that he would provide cover for Father John. He also said my status within the church would not change.” 
 
    “That’s good, right?” Bahati asked, not understanding what was wrong. 
 
    Sarah smiled. “Good I suppose, but the whole wedding thing has lost a lot of its shine.” 
 
    “How so?” Bahati asked. 
 
    Sarah looked at Bahati for a long time, uncertain what to say. 
 
    “Pope John Paul III is a good man. He asked Michael some tough questions, but he was kind about it. Michael handled them with the finesse you would expect.” 
 
    Another pause. 
 
    “Then the Pope asked Michael about his time in Judea. It felt like that was the price Michael was going to have to pay for me to marry him.” 
 
    “Did he tell him?” 
 
    “Yes. In far more detail than I’ve heard before.” 
 
    “And…?” Bahati asked. 
 
    “I’m not sure I’m ready to talk about that. It’s too… personal?” Sarah said, questioning her own reasons for being shy about what she learned. 
 
    Bahati groaned. “You can’t leave me hanging like that.” Then she quickly corrected herself. “Sorry, shouldn’t have said that.” 
 
    Sarah smiled at her. “Then there’s the other thing. Michael asked me to wear a personal shield during our time in the Vatican. James even came and begged me to. They thought the risk was too high for me to go without protection.” 
 
    “Wow. Didn’t see that coming.” 
 
    “And the whole way we were met and escorted to the Papal office was weird.” Then with a laugh. “Michael was so spooked that he opened his senses wide to the assistant escorting us. So wide the man actually shuddered.” 
 
    “And…” 
 
    “And the priest, Father Benjamin, was concerned for me in the sense that I turned down the opportunity to say confession and have communion in the chapel in the Apostolic Palace.” 
 
    Another pause. “What a strange experience,” Sarah reminisced. 
 
    “You are going to ask Father John to come to the Embassy to officiate the wedding, right?” 
 
    “Right now, I don’t want to. But, not to worry, my father will talk me back into it.” Sarah said, laughing at the situation and the reality of what she knew she was going to do. 
 
    “Good. It really is who you are, no matter how much you try to hide it,” Bahati said. 
 
    Sarah looked at her questioningly, then said, “I suppose.” 
 
    “Enough of the heavy stuff. Tell me what we are going to do for the wedding.” 
 
    … 
 
    Michael got home just after 7:00, very happy with the outcome of the candidacy meeting. To his surprise, Bahati was there and Emmanuel had joined them. 
 
    “Michael, I hear you finally got a meeting with the Pope. Sarah says you even told him about your time in Judea. I would love to hear that story.” 
 
    “I’m sure you would, but you understand why it cannot become known.” 
 
    “You think the Pope is going to keep that to himself?” 
 
    “Mostly, yes.” 
 
    “Seriously?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “If you say so. But I’m going to be checking the tabloids.” 
 
    Emmanuel’s comment got everybody laughing. 
 
    “Emmanuel, you’ve heard about the trade deal, right?” 
 
    “Yes, I have. Good work on that one.” 
 
    “We will also be opening a central bank, which will create an Earth Alliance Dollar.” 
 
    “Really.” 
 
    “And we will be opening an Earth Alliance Trading Company.” 
 
    “I heard that. It will be responsible for coordinating manufacturing requests, transportation and delivery.” 
 
    “Yes. That and more. I have nominated you to head the trading company.” 
 
    “Me? Why me?” Emmanuel asked. 
 
    “You currently head the most valuable company in the world. Who else would I nominate?” 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Do you know how much the gold and platinum you’ve stockpiled are worth?” 
 
    “Right now, it’s just scrap metal.” 
 
    “One hundred and fifty billion dollars’ worth of scrap metal.” 
 
    “That really didn’t sink in until just now. I suppose it’s because we can’t really spend it.” 
 
    “You will be called in for interviews this week. We need the company up and running as soon as possible, so you need to find a replacement for yourself at the mining company.” 
 
    … 
 
    As they were walking home, Emmanuel and Bahati talked about the revelations of the evening. 
 
    “Big changes are coming.” Emmanuel said. “Very big changes.” 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 PREPARATIONS 
 
    [Monday, 1.13.2031] EAS AMSTERDAM 
 
    Professor Schudel was tired, which was ironic because most of the work was now being done by the crew of the Amsterdam. They had made this ship their home and were thriving in it. But he was homesick for the Embassy. It had become his new home. Although he was technically a citizen of New Lorexi, he doubted he would ever return. He had become more human than Lorexian.  
 
    “Professor. We’ve pulled the first microsample. It’s very high purity, 98.2%. But an odd mix of contaminants. 0.9% Platinum, 0.6% Iridium, and 0.2% Potassium. Only a trace of Gold. 
 
    “Does it mean anything that instead of getting platinum and gold, we are getting iridium and platinum? They are adjacent on the periodic table.” Lt. Bumati Parikh asked. The lieutenant was possibly the most scientifically curious person he’d met so far on Earth. She reminded him of Kelly Williamson. He also thought it was funny that she was reminding him of the positions of the elements on the periodic table. 
 
    “Possibly. Do you have a theory?” 
 
    “I have a theory for everything. Most of them are better left unspoken.” 
 
    The Professor couldn’t help but laugh. “I love your inquisitiveness. So, let’s work the idea. What do you find interesting about this mix?” 
 
    “In school, we were taught that all the heavy elements above iron are created in supernovas or other cataclysmic explosions. In principle, the bigger the explosion, the higher the distribution of heavy elements. Transluminide is heavier than any element humans have found before, So, my theory is that it must be made from the really giant explosions.” 
 
    “And the tie back to platinum and gold?” 
 
    “Well in these big explosions all kinds of stuff are made. You know, it’s like a probability distribution of molecular weights. Transluminide is made in explosions of an energy where iridium, platinum and gold are at the peak of the curve. 
 
    “This deposit has the three primary contaminants with a mean one molecular weight lighter, so maybe it was made in a smaller super gigantic explosion.” 
 
    “I like the logic of that theory. How would you go about developing evidence for it?” 
 
    “Are there databases that list previous claims and their compositions?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Could we search them? Classify the finds? Look for clustering of locations and supernova remnants?” 
 
    The professor was surprised by the cleverness of the idea. It was the same kind of reasoning he’d applied to come up with the discovery regarding the deposits around brown dwarves.  
 
    “Yes.” He replied. “If I acquired the data, would you be willing to do the analysis?” 
 
    “Are you kidding? I’d love to.” 
 
    “If you can find something, I’m pretty sure I can get it published.” 
 
    The door to the lab opened and Charles walked in. “Hey, what’s the delay. The micro pull was done 5 minutes ago, and the results have not been posted yet.” 
 
    “Sorry.” Lt. Parikh said. “Was discussing the composition with the Professor.” 
 
    “Is it good?” 
 
    “Yes. High purity. Over 98%” 
 
    “Great. Process it, the Captain is anxious to move on to the next system.” 
 
    “Sorry.” 
 
    “Don’t be,” Professor Schudel said. “Understanding what you are seeing is as important as registering the find. I’ll launch a data request this evening.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION, FAYETTEVILLE, ARKANSAS 
 
    “Gentlemen, please come in.” Bob Johnson said, beaming with excitement. 
 
    Bob showed the two men to a conference room that had already been set up for them. 
 
    “Coffee?” He asked. 
 
    “Yes, please.” Evan Till said. 
 
    “Mr. Knosen?” Bob asked. 
 
    “No, coffee is not safe for Angolorans to ingest. If you have hot water, I have brought a tea that I can drink.” 
 
    Bob nodded to his assistant. 
 
    “I’ll bring some out in a few minutes.” The assistant shuffled out of the office. 
 
    “We have three things we need to do today: review your display plans, execute the award agreement, and get whatever specification we can for your use of the award. Can we start with the display plan?” 
 
    “My display plan is very simple. We will build a sample home that uses the foundation dimension and is protected by the shield. We will also build as much of the home as we can using the bots and replicators. The sample home will be open seven days a week. 9 AM to 7 PM on weekdays. 11 AM to 5 PM Saturdays, Sundays and most holidays, closed on Thanksgiving and Christmas, or on emergency days. 
 
    “The construction sites will be available for a guided tour by appointment. We’re pretty generous about that. If someone just shows up, we will give them a tour if we have someone available and qualified to give the tour, and most days we can coordinate that with an hour or two notice.” 
 
    “We will need that in written form, so it can be posted on our samples site.” 
 
    “Yes. I have something prepared. The written language is a little less generous. But rest assured, we will give tours to anyone that wants them assuming we have someone that can lead the tour.” 
 
    “Can you explain that a little more?” Representative Knosen asked. 
 
     “Yes. We are a relatively small operation, maybe 100 people during the busiest season. If someone just shows up on one of those days, I will make effort to give them the tour, but cannot guarantee it if everyone is busy. Similarly, we can only do about 8 tours a day. So, if hundreds of requests come in, it may take a while to get them all through.” 
 
    “Understood. It’s only reasonable that you limit the total number of tours.” 
 
    The assistant came in with the hot water. Once the representative was set up, Bob said, “Doris, would you print out a copy of the display proposal I sent you last night?” 
 
    “On it,” she said. 
 
    “OK. Next is the award contract.” Evan plopped a thick contract on the table. 
 
    “Oh, my goodness. Do I have to read that?” Bob asked. 
 
    Evan looked puzzled by the question. “I’m not sure I understand.” 
 
    “It will take me hours to read that.” 
 
    “Oh. I didn’t know that. I suppose that I should’ve sent an advance copy.” 
 
    “Tell you what. I’ll have my lawyer come over to review the contract,” Bob said, then called out down the hall. “Doris, could you call John and see if he can come over to review a contract? ASAP.” 
 
    “On it, boss,” came the answer from down the hall. 
 
    “OK. Hopefully, John can come and look at this. Can we move on to discuss the specifications, then possibly take a site tour?” 
 
    From their look, Bob figured that this meeting was not going the way they expected. He flipped on a projector and an artist’s conception of the new community that he was building popped up on the wall. 
 
    “This is the development we are going to build. We will be building 257 units, laying over 10 miles of road and walking trails, landscaping the public spaces, and building out a clubhouse with workout room and swimming pool.” 
 
    It was clear that his guests were not completely following, but Bob continued his pitch undeterred, except for when Doris came in to get the contract. 
 
    … 
 
    “Each unit can be customized with any of the standard add-ons that I showed you, or with truly custom options, but few people go for the latter. 
 
    “Any questions?” Bob asked.  He had noticed Representative Knosen taking pictures of the various slides as they came up. “I can give you a printed copy of this presentation if that would be useful.” 
 
    “That would be nice, but I think I got good enough images for our immediate purpose.” 
 
    “Which is?” Bob asked, not sure where this was going. 
 
    “Ah.” Representative Knosen said looking at what looked like a cell phone. 
 
    “My AI has prepared a preliminary set of specifications. It is just preliminary, so does not count against the 4 hours of time you’ve been allocated.” 
 
    “Can I see the specifications?” 
 
    “Of course. But it would be easier if we could do this somewhere more spacious,” he said good naturedly. 
 
    “How spacious?” Bob asked. 
 
    “Probably outside, if you want to see them at 1:1 scale.” 
 
    “Are you serious?” Bob asked, dismayed. 
 
    Evan intervened. “Bob, has the building site been leveled? Could we look at the mockup there?” 
 
    “I suppose. It’s about 10 miles from here. It’s also cold and a bit blowy outside today.” 
 
    “No problem. We can take the shuttle.” 
 
    “OK,” Bob said uncertainly. 
 
    As they exited the building, Bob could not believe what he was seeing. The shuttle was ‘parked’ on the street. It was slightly bigger than a municipal bus and obstructed the road. Two police cars were there. One of the officers was on the radio. The others were directing traffic around the shuttle. Two big red tickets had been taped on the side. 
 
    Bob went running down to the officer on the phone. 
 
    He looked up and said, “This your truck?” 
 
    “No. It belongs to the Confederation team that came to visit me. They will move it momentarily. I didn’t know they put their shuttle here. If I had, I would have asked them to move it.” 
 
    “OK. Point out the offenders. I’m going to need to take them in for questioning.” 
 
    “Officer, please don’t do that. Surely, they have diplomatic immunity or something. I’m sure this will cause an international crisis, maybe an interstellar—no, an intergalactic crisis! Please, just let them be on their way.” 
 
    “Don’t see any diplomatic flags on the front. No diplomatic tags on the back.” 
 
    Bob felt a panic attack coming on. These idiots were going to blow this deal, the deal of the century. 
 
    “Hello. My name is Evan Till, diplomatic adjunct with the Confederation. Is there a problem, officer?” 
 
    Turning to look at Evan, the officer said. “You better believe there’s a problem.” Then he saw Respa Knosen. Seven foot, two inches tall. Skinny and oddly shaped. 
 
    “What the hell are you?” he asked, dumbfounded. 
 
    “I am Representative Respa Knosen. I am Angoloran from the planet Karagon. I’m on assignment to Earth for the purpose of finalizing a planetary trade deal ratified by the Earth Alliance last week.” 
 
    The officer stepped back a few steps, then lifted his microphone back to his mouth. “Dispatch. We’ve got a situation here. The truck is actually a Confederation shuttle and I’ve got a Confederation diplomat and some sort of alien standing here drawing a crowd. They say they can move the shuttle.” 
 
    “One minute.” 
 
    Evan walked up to the shuttle and placed his hand against a panel on the side of the shuttle. A door opened. He stepped in and motioned for Respa to do the same. 
 
    “Wait a minute. I didn’t say you could go.” The officer said, putting his hand on his gun. 
 
    Undeterred and unfamiliar with the laws in the US, Evan said. “Would you like a tour of our shuttle, officer?” 
 
    The officer was dumbfounded, but some of the gawkers that had gathered were not. 
 
    “Can we see?” One of the kids ran up and jumped into the shuttle. They were followed by a cascade of other onlookers. 
 
    The officer who had been talking with Bob, pulled his gun out and lifted it into the air. His intention was to get everyone’s attention. Just as he was about to squeeze off a round, a voice shouted, “Put that gun down, you fool!” 
 
    It was the mayor. He was carrying a bull horn. 
 
    “May I have your attention! May I have your attention!” He called out. Surprisingly, the crowd quieted and turned to look at the mayor. 
 
    “We are honored today to have representatives of the Confederation and of the Angoloran people visiting our town. We need to treat these honored guests with respect. That’s what the people of Fayetteville do for honored guests. 
 
    “Please step away from the shuttle. Officers, would you please cordon off the area. Patrol cars will be here shortly to block off the road.” 
 
    The crowd slowly moved away from the shuttle. The police set up some barriers and put up police tape. One by one, people started coming out of the shuttle. 
 
    The mayor walked up to the entrance of the shuttle, looked in and said. “Friends. Apologies for the surly welcome. May I come in to speak with you.” 
 
    Evan walked to the door and offered his hand. “Please come in. Let me help you up.” 
 
    The mayor stepped up into the shuttle. “Gentlemen, my name is Bob Randol. I’m the mayor of this town. We did not get word of your visit until a few minutes ago. I apologize for the poor reception you were given. If we’d had a little more warning, we would have set up a nice reception with a parade, police escort, that sort of thing. 
 
    “I’d recommend that you get positive acknowledgement from various towns you might visit in the future. I’m sure everyone will welcome you if they know you’re coming.” 
 
    “Apologies, Mr. Mayor. I am relatively new to Earth and was not properly advised of customs outside the Embassy. We meant no harm or affront. How can we repay our debt to you?” 
 
    “How about this? You were about to go somewhere right?” 
 
    “Yes. We were going to visit the new development being constructed by Johnson Construction.” 
 
    “OK. I’ll clear out the area so you can go. We’ll also clear a spot for you to park when you come back. It will be down the block a way. I’ll tell Bob where. You come back in at noon and we’ll receive you properly. Then you can go about your business. Sound good?” 
 
    “Yes, sir. Thank you very much.” 
 
    “OK.” The mayor walked to the door and hopped down. “Bob Johnson, where are you?” he called out. 
 
    Bob skulked up, deeply embarrassed about what had happened. 
 
    “Don’t be looking so glum.” The mayor grinned. “It’s the most excitement the town has seen in a long time. Go on out to your development and do what you were going to do. Park the shuttle in the parking lot across from town hall when you come back. We’ll do a proper reception. Now, off with you.” 
 
    “Thanks.” Bob said, then ran over and jumped into the shuttle. Moments later, it lifted straight up in the air to a chorus of cheers. 
 
    … 
 
    “This is where the sample homes will be.” Bob pointed to the various lots and the flattened spots that marked where the houses would sit. “They will all be open until the development is mostly complete. If it should complete in less than a year, then this one will remain open for the term of the display contract.” 
 
    He walked over to the center of the first sample home lot. “This is the center of the first home.” He answered the question Respa had asked when they first landed. 
 
    “You’re right. It is cold and breezy today. Let me fix that,” the Angoloran said, placing a box on the ground, then activating it.  
 
    A dome glistened to life, air shimmering along the surface of the dome, then slowly fading. Bob noticed that the wind stopped, and the air was getting warmer. 
 
    “There. Much more pleasant,” Respa said. “This is one of the two shield generators you are being given. There are some screw-based controls on the back that adjust the size of the dome and temperature within.” He pointed to the slots. He pulled out a screwdriver and adjusted the size of the dome down a bit. “See how easy the controls are?” 
 
    “Incredible,” Bob said. 
 
    Respa put another small box on the ground, then clicked on a small remote that he had in his hand. Something that looked like cement footings appeared, floating a couple inches off the ground. 
 
    “This is the foundation layout that our design AIs recommend. Given the geologic stability in this region, the foundations are not very likely to ever touch the ground. 
 
    He pushed the button again. “The AIs recommend a skirt like this around the foundations. It has a consistent look with the houses in your drawings.” 
 
    Bob was flabbergasted that his new home seemed to be just appearing out of thin air. 
 
    “This is just a holographic projection.” Respa walked up to the skirt and passed his hand through it. “But it will only take the bots a few minutes to lay this down using the replicators and the patterns the AIs are recommending.” 
 
    Respa pushed his button again and the rest of the house just appeared. “Want to go in and take a look?” Respa asked. 
 
    Bob followed Respa into the house. They were still standing on the ground, so the downstairs floor was at neck height. 
 
    “Let me lower the projection so we are standing on the floor.” Respa said. 
 
    The house started lowering until the floor reached their feet. Because the ground wasn’t completely flat, it popped up above the image of the floor in places. They took a quick tour of the first floor. The image of the appliances wasn’t great. The projector did not have the specs for the appliances, so placed blown up copies of the images from Bob’s PowerPoint slides. 
 
    Bob walked over to one of the light switches on the wall. Then asked Respa. “If I buy my own switches and wiring, will the bots be able to use them?” 
 
    “If those items are included in the bots’ instructions, then yes. Otherwise, no. I’m not an expert, but I think that the instructions will have to include the location where items can be found. Our design AI can help you with that. 
 
    “Want to see the upstairs?” 
 
    “Sure.” Bob replied. 
 
    “Let’s walk up the steps. Let me show you.” 
 
    They walked over to the stairs and Respa started lowering the image of the house again. As each step disappeared, Respa stepped forward to where the next one was. 
 
    “Remarkably realistic.” Bob said. “I didn’t realize how far down the hallway you would be able to see from the middle steps.” 
 
    Once they got to the ‘top’ of the stairs, Bob quickly toured the bedroom suites, two additional bedrooms and associated bathroom. 
 
    “I notice that the walls appear to have wallpaper. Is that right?” 
 
    “The walls are textured the same way your slides were. The resolution of the images I had were not so good and this is kind of what we got. When you work with the AI you can specify the materials, patterns, colors, whatever you want on the walls.” 
 
    “Got it,” Bob replied, then changed subject. “How long will it take the bots to build the house?” 
 
    “Depends of course. If all the materials were replicated or conveniently at hand, a house of this size and quality would take about 24 hours. You will be using a lot of self-supplied materials. Some of those, like appliances and lighting fixtures, will probably need to be installed by humans because of the uniqueness of the parts.” 
 
    “We also have a lot of inspections that need to be done, which takes a lot of time.” 
 
    “Shall we head back outside?” Respa asked, heading toward one of the walls. He hit a button and the house disappeared. 
 
    “Can I take a walk around the house before we go?” Bob asked. 
 
    “Sure.” Respa took a few steps away, then put the projection back up. 
 
    As Bob walked around the house, he was pleased with what he saw. A bird call caught his attention and he looked toward the source. As he did, he noticed the people standing in the picture window of a home across the main road. They were pointing at the shuttle, then turned to look at the house. Bob waved, but the people in the window pulled the curtain shut. 
 
    The thought went through his mind. Wonder how much trouble they are going to be? 
 
    Bob continued his stroll around the house, thinking, This is going to be a beautiful home. 
 
    The alarm on his watch went off. Bob called out to Respa. “I think we need to head back. We’re due at Town Hall in 10 minutes.”  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, SPACE FORCE HEADQUARTERS 
 
    “Admiral Porter. Thank you for meeting with us.” Admiral Sam Scott said. “What is your status?” 
 
    “We’ve been working around the clock. We’ve built shields for all of the planets and moons the Confederation is seeking to protect. The only exception being the two large planets, whose shields will be built by the Fleet construction ships. 
 
    “Following the new protocol that I worked out with the Admiral, we’ve completed, installed and tested shields in 73 of the 100 systems. We’re striving to get all 100 systems done before our departure in ten hours but will probably come up a few short.” 
 
    “Astounding progress.” Secretary Thompson commented. 
 
    “Our plan is to have the task force and escort ships meet near the galactic edge. From there, we will be using a new astrogation protocol the AIs have worked out with Ka-Tu. Our transit to the designated coordinates will take 28 hours. We expect to start that transit 12 hours from now.” 
 
    “Just to be clear,” Admiral Scott said. “Let me repeat that back. The task force will continue working the shields for another 10 hours. It will then have 2 hours to rendezvous at the rally point near the edge of Andromeda. It will then spend the next 28 hours transiting the intergalactic void. That implies your target arrival is 4:00 AM Wednesday morning.” 
 
    “Correct sir.” Daniel said. 
 
    “That’s 8 hours earlier than your target arrival time. Why so early?” Admiral Scott asked. 
 
    “We’re using a new, untested transit protocol. Given the uncertainty, it seems appropriate to allow a cushion. The next protocol on the list will take us right up to the limit.” 
 
    “Understood,” said Admiral Scott. “We have a full briefing packet and new orders that we’ll send when the meeting is done. We’ve made two important changes. 
 
    “First, there may be an additional threat in the area where the Enemy is gathering. Data is sketchy, but the concern is real. You are to approach the target destination with extreme caution. I’m sorry that we don’t have better information. 
 
    “Second, as an additional precaution we are adding 5 more ships to your task force. The ships will be outfitted with the standard Enemy deterrents. But they will also be armed with more conventional weapons. Data on those weapons will be included in the briefing packet.  
 
    “The additional ships will become part of your task force and be under your command as soon as they are released from dry dock,” the Admiral concluded. 
 
    … 
 
    As Daniel exited his presence projector, he wondered how command could be so certain that there was a new threat, when they didn’t have any actual data on what it might be. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE HOUSE OF AMBASSADORS 
 
    President Lee gaveled the House back to order. 
 
    “Our next topic will be a discussion on the nomination of Nelly Fong as Chairman of the Earth Alliance Reserve Bank. I call on the Speaker for this committee, Sr. Ambassador from Japan, Sato Daichi.” 
 
    There was muted applause as the Ambassador approached the podium. 
 
    … 
 
    Although the presentation by the nominating committee was thorough, discussion went for the entire three hours allotted. Ambassadors from almost all of the larger countries complained that the chairman of their central bank was not one of the candidates. Ironically, none asserted that their central bank chair was better suited or more qualified than the nominee. They just wanted to be on the record as having suggested their central bank chair. 
 
    Nonetheless, the vote was nearly unanimous. Sr. Ambassador Paul Lewis from the United States abstained from the vote. During the discussion he said that he could not vote for someone who worked for the Federal Reserve Chairmen, when the Federal Reserve Chairmen had not even been considered. The junior ambassadors from Russia, Iran and Cuba were the only votes against. 
 
    President Lee pounded his gavel to close out the vote. “There are 399 votes for the resolution, 3 against. The resolution has passed.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION, FAYETTEVILLE, ARKANSAS 
 
    From Bob’s perspective, the reception for Adjunct Till and Trade Representative Respa Knosen had been interminable. There was a speech and awarding of keys to the city. Then a parade featuring the high school marching band, several civic association leaders and a float for the honorees to ride on. 
 
    It was three o’clock before Bob, Evan and Respa got back to his office. The only good news was that Bob’s attorney John had finished reviewing the award contract and recommended that Bob sign it without changes. 
 
    After another hour, the products were loaded onto a truck and brought to Bob’s office. Bob was connected to an Angoloran portal that had all the relevant documentation for the products and provided access to the design AI. 
 
    “Gentlemen. Thank you so much,” Bob said when they finished. “Could I give you a ride back to your shuttle?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS CAIRO 
 
    Captain Clarissa Saldanha had just finished the briefing for the new orders she’d received this morning. Her ship was being added to the task force led by Daniel Porter. 
 
    They’d met during officer training. She’d guessed that he would be the first one promoted to Admiral. He’d been captain of a Los Angeles Class Fast Attack submarine and it was clear from his bearing that he was up to the task. 
 
    Her situation was quite a bit different. She was Portuguese and had captained a Viana do Castelo-class patrol vessel in her country’s Navy. Her ship had operated in the North Atlantic off the coast of Portugal. Her primary mission was search and rescue, although she had been called in a couple times to assist in fishery protection missions. Although she had excelled in her roles in the Portuguese Navy and in officer training with Space Force, she was surprised when she was selected to captain the Cairo. 
 
    The Cairo was one of five ships being added to the taskforce. The others were the Hanoi, Bangkok, Buenos Aires, and Dhaka. The first ships had done some war game exercises together so had some experience working together. Now they would finally be confronting the Enemy, and possibly a nebulous new threat. 
 
    They were currently maneuvering into dry dock for a serious weapons upgrade. She had 10 crew members in the presence projector being trained on use of the new weapons. In 24 hours, they would depart. 
 
    “Ms. Brito, our target departure is in 24 hours. Please plot us a course to the rendezvous area in the orders you just received. Check them with Kevin, then transmit them to Else on the Ottawa for approval.” 
 
    Lt. Valentina Brito was the Cairo’s first watch astrogation officer. She had served as a navigator in the Brazilian navy before joining Space Force. This would be her first actual voyage out of the system. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “Nelly. Thank you for taking my call.” Michael said. “The Earth Alliance has approved you to Chair the Earth Alliance Reserve Bank.” 
 
    “May I ask the terms of the offer? Salary, benefits, that sort of thing,” she asked. 
 
    “Would it be OK if we paid you 25% more than the Federal Reserve Chairman and matched everything else?” 
 
    “That’s very generous Michael.” 
 
    “I’ll have our legal-team work with you on getting the right language and terms. You will presumably need to answer the same questions for the people you hire, so let’s make it part of the job to sort this out properly for you,” Michael said. “But setting that aside for a moment, consider this. The economic system at the Embassy is quite different than elsewhere on Earth. Here, your housing, food and medical care are free, as are things like education, entertainment, travel, etc. You’ll find there is little need for money at the Embassy. 
 
    “So, come help us figure this out. You will be able to shape one of the most important organizations in the post-Revelation world.” 
 
    “I’ll come, Michael. When do you want me to start?” 
 
    “Today?” 
 
    Nelly got a good laugh out of that. “Let me talk with the President of the San Francisco Reserve Bank. I’ll give you an update as soon as I come to an agreement with them. I’ll also need some help getting my things to the Embassy.” 
 
    “You can have as much help as you want. I hope to hear from you soon,” Michael said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Joel?” Daniel asked. “We need to be wrapping this up in the next half hour. What’s our status?” 
 
    “Admiral, the last shield generator has been transported to the Fleet. They also have the replicator pattern for the remaining large shields, and the transluminide allotment to complete it.” 
 
    “How many systems are finished? There are still seven showing in some stage of build or testing.” 
 
    “Although we will not be able to build any more for them once we leave, we will still be able to consult with them, confirm tests, etc. Everything requiring our physical presence is now done.” 
 
    “Thank you, Joel.” 
 
    Looking at his status board, Daniel saw the seven systems not yet completed. In two of the larger, multi-body systems, the main planets and moons were done, only the outliers remained. 
 
    Daniel cross checked his ship readiness board. Only one ship was still red, meaning there were a significant number of systems on the ship that were not ready for departure. 
 
    “Ms. Harris. Please connect me to Captain Hunstad of the Helsinki.” 
 
    Moments later the Captain was on the line. 
 
    “Captain Hunstad, I see your ship’s readiness status is red. What’s your situation?” 
 
    Captain Gustav Hunstad was from Finland. He was the last in a long line of sailors and sea captains. He was conservative in all things, cautious in all actions. He was a stickler about safety and demanded precision in everything his crew did. Nonetheless, a stupid mistake made by one of the shuttle pilots had nearly destroyed his ship. 
 
    “There was an accident in the shuttle bay, Admiral. Our Confederation escort asked us to shuttle some equipment over to them. On the return, our shuttle pilot missed his landing approach and hit the hanger door. The pilot and four other crew members were critically wounded. The shuttle is a total loss. Life support systems in the shuttle bay and in the marine training area are not functioning properly. The ship’s shields will not reinitialize. Main power is up, but we are still assessing the damage.” 
 
    This is what happens when crews are deployed with too little training. Daniel thought. The Helsinki had only rolled off the production line 35 days ago. The crew first boarded the ship 30 days ago, and now they were 2.4 million light years from home. 
 
    “Have you asked your escort for assistance?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “They have offered and stand ready to help. But what can they do? They don’t know the ships systems.” 
 
    “Understood. But they do have manufacturing capability and can produce anything you send them the pattern for.” 
 
    “Good thought sir. When we know what we need, we’ll leverage them.” 
 
    “Continue your assessment, Captain. I’ll see what resources we can provide to assist.” 
 
    As the line dropped, Daniel felt a sense of foreboding. Something is not right here. Why were they shuttling components? Transport was both safer and faster.   
 
    “Joel.” Daniel called out, activating the comm system. “There’s been an accident on the Helsinki. A shuttle missed its approach and clipped the shuttle bay door when it came in.” 
 
    “What?” Joel asked. “That shouldn’t be possible. There are sensors and automated override protocols to prevent such things. Was there a malfunction on the shuttle?” 
 
    “Don’t know. It suffered a great deal of damage.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, FLEET FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    Captain Ja-Ru could not believe what just happened. An Earth shuttle had run over to his ship. On its return, it veered to the right at the last minute, clipping the rear side of the hanger door. If it would have veered much further, it would have hit the port nacelle. 
 
    “Get me the chief of the flight deck,” Ja-Ru said to his comm officer. 
 
    “Flight deck.” 
 
    “Chief. Captain here. Did the earth shuttle come aboard?” 
 
    “Yes, sir. It unloaded a couple crates then returned. It was only onboard about 15 minutes.” 
 
    “Who came in contact with the shuttle?” 
 
    There was a pause. “I’m not sure, sir. I was just getting back from break and wasn’t here during the time the shuttle came onboard.” 
 
    “Find out and get back to me as soon as possible.” 
 
    “Tactical. Do we have sensor logs of the collision?” 
 
    “Yes, sir. I will pull them up for you.” 
 
    Ja-Ru was worried. Something was wrong here. Very wrong. 
 
    As he sat watching the damaged ship, a huge ball of plasma erupted from the port nacelle. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Else. Do you have any insight into this collision?” 
 
    “Would you like me to look through the sensor logs?” 
 
    “Yes. Collect as much data as possible. See if you can make any sense of this.” 
 
    Jade Harris’s voice came in over the intercom. 
 
    “Admiral. Captain Hunstad on the line for you.” 
 
    “Captain, any update.” 
 
    “Yes, sir. The pilot of the shuttle just died. He suffered extreme trauma in the collision, then was exposed to the vacuum of space when the forward hull of the shuttle breached. The co-pilot had similar injuries. She is still alive, but not expected to recover. 
 
    “The Ascendant leading the mission team had to be withdrawn from his avatar, which subsequently failed,” said the Captain, grief evident in his voice. 
 
    “We also suffered more severe damage to the ship than previously understood. Both the ship and the shuttle had their shields up. When they hit, the shields shorted out, starting a fire in the port nacelle. The shields on the ship are not recoverable and we are losing main power. The port nacelle’s internal sensors did not detect the fire, in fact they are still showing everything to be operating within specifications. 
 
    “Without the sensors, the fire burned unconstrained until a crewman attempted to enter the nacelle. He triggered the fire suppression system, which vented the nacelle to space. That caused the nacelle to rupture, taking down main power. I fear that we need to evacuate the ship sir.” 
 
    “Do what you can to save your ship, Captain. We will mount a rescue as quickly as possible. Ask your escort for evacuation assistance if that should become necessary before we arrive.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    Daniel dropped the line. “Else. Which is the closest ship to the Helsinki?” 
 
    “We are, Admiral.” 
 
    “Who else?” 
 
    “The Oslo, sir.” 
 
    “Captain Bjork. Oslo.” Daniel said, triggering the connection. 
 
    “Bjork here.” 
 
    “Katrine. Daniel here. We have a major problem. The Helsinki has had major system failures and needs rescue. How close are you to departure?” 
 
    “We are ready and just advised our escort that we would be departing in a few minutes.” 
 
    “Please make your way to the Helsinki. Advise your escort of your change in plans. I will meet you there ASAP.” 
 
    “On our way,” she said. 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na,” Daniel called out, knowing this call could take a while to connect. 
 
    “Admiral Porter. I was just about to call you. I heard of the accident aboard the Helsinki.” 
 
    “I have just directed the Oslo to render assistance. Its Captain should be in contact with their escort and be departing soon. We will be following in a few minutes.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS HELSINKI 
 
    Captain Hunstad was struggling to hold his ship together. They had lost main power 10 minutes ago. Now the auxiliary systems were starting to glitch. 
 
    He had ordered the crew to prepare to abandon ship, but many of the escape pods were not working either. 
 
    “Francis?” he asked his helm AI. “Do you understand what’s happening to the ship?” 
 
    “We’ve been sabotaged, sir. Malware is propagating through our systems. I cannot tell when it was inserted, but I think it was recently. By my estimate, the ship will fail shortly.” 
 
    “Can you determine how the malware is propagating?” 
 
    “Given time, yes. But we will not have time. The malware is targeting the ship’s self-destruct control. It will penetrate in 3 minutes, 24 seconds. We must abandon ship.” 
 
    Captain Hunstad was momentarily paralyzed with panic. He was about to lose his ship and had no means to get his crew off. 
 
    “Helsinki. Helsinki. This is the Oslo. How can we assist?” 
 
    “Oslo. Thank god you are here. We must be evacuated immediately. All our systems are down. Can you transport my crew to your ship? The Helsinki will self-destruct in 3 minutes.” 
 
    “We will start momentarily.” 
 
    “Take me last,” Captain Hunstad said. 
 
    “Francis. How much data can we dump first? We need to preserve as much evidence as possible.” 
 
    There was no reply. 
 
    “Francis?” 
 
    Still no reply. Hunstad felt the despair of hopelessness set in. 
 
    “Sorry Captain. I have sucked all ship’s data into my kernel. I will go offline momentarily. Please open the panel below the red blinking button on the bulkhead. 
 
    Before the Captain was even out of his chair, his yeoman had the panel open.  
 
    “See the box with the red blinking light on top? That is the box that needs to be removed.” 
 
    “See it.” The yeoman yelled. 
 
    “When the light stops blinking, pull it out. It will stop momentarily. Transport off the ship as soon as the box is out. Ready?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    The light stopped blinking. 
 
    The yeoman pulled out the box and handed it to the Captain. 
 
    “Oslo. Evacuate the bridge crew, including myself, immediately.” 
 
    Captain Hunstad closed his eyes. Thirty seconds later, the sounds around him changed. He was on the transporter pad just outside the bridge of the Oslo. 
 
    He quickly ran into the bridge. On the monitor he saw the Oslo turn and start accelerating away. The monitor shifted back to the Helsinki. 
 
    “Gustav, we got them all.” Katrine Bjork said. 
 
    A huge explosion ripped across the monitor. The Helsinki was no more. 
 
    “What are you carrying?” She asked. 
 
    Captain Hunstad smiled. “Evidence. My AI Francis was able to suck all the sensor and system logs into his kernel. Francis is in this box.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael received an emergency alert just as he was heading off to bed. It was from Daniel Porter. 
 
    Not good. Michael thought. The task force should have been underway an hour ago. 
 
    “Michael, I have Admiral Jo-Na on the line with me.” 
 
    “Daniel. Jo-Na. What’s the emergency?” 
 
    “One of our ships, the Helsinki, was sabotaged. The ship was lost, as were two of the human crew. Two more are in critical condition and one of our Ascendants lost his avatar. I am told that he ejected in time.” 
 
    “How was this done?” 
 
    “Malware was injected into the ship’s systems. It took down system after system, searching for the ship’s self-destruct mechanism. Captain Hunstad successfully removed his AI Francis from the ship moments before it was destroyed. Francis had just loaded all the ships sensor and control logs into his kernel. 
 
    “We don’t know yet how the malware was introduced but think we may have the data to determine it.” 
 
    “Jo-Na, what’s your read on this?” 
 
    “Not good Mi-Ku. A shuttle was launched from the Helsinki just before the incident. It carried some equipment over to Captain Ja-Ru’s Fast Attack Ship. On its return, the shuttle veered off course at the last moment, hitting the Helsinki. That initiated a series of failures. While investigating the failures, Francis found the malware. My fear is that Ascendants on your ship conspired with dissident elements on Captain Ja-Ru’s ship to plant and trigger the malware on your ship. 
 
    “We have quarantined the crate that was delivered. Unfortunately, it had been left unattended for about an hour, so may have been tampered with. We have found no records related to the delivery of the crate. They were apparently erased. Until Francis is restored, we will not know what data he has, or whether he found any evidence connecting the crate to the saboteurs.” Jo-Na said. 
 
    “This is very disturbing. The saboteurs must have been very confident in their plan. The connections seem too obvious. I wonder if the shuttle is a false lead planted to deflect the investigation,” Michael said. 
 
    “Could be, but it will take time to sort that out and the main body of evidence aboard the Helsinki has been destroyed.” 
 
    “Changing gears, what is the status of the taskforce’s return?” Michael asked. 
 
    “The task force needs to remain here until the investigation is complete. It is the Fleet’s policy that ships involved in an incident like this remain at the scene, until a cause is determined,” Jo-Na said. 
 
    The statement triggered alarms in Michael’s mind. One of his ships had been sabotaged, possibly by Fleet-affiliated persons that knew it would prevent the task force from returning to confront the Enemy. 
 
    “The only ships involved were Ja-Ru’s and the Helsinki.” Michael said. “The rest of the task force was not. It will engage its next mission as soon as it is able to make way.” 
 
    Jo-Na started to protest. 
 
    “Jo-Na. Do not argue about this. The Enemy is about to consume another system in the Milky Way. The Confederation Armada sent to replace yours is nowhere to be found. At this point, we are the only force that can stop them. They will return and stop the Enemy.” 
 
    After several seconds’ silence, Jo-Na replied. “I am powerless to stop you, Mr. Ambassador.” It was the coldest statement Michael ever heard from his best friend.  
 
    


 
   
  
 

 INVESTIGATION 
 
    [Tuesday, 1.14.2031] RALLY POINT, INTERGALACTIC SPACE 
 
    The Ottawa and Oslo where the last ships to arrive at the rally point. Prior to meeting with Michael and Jo-Na, Daniel had ordered the rest of the task force to proceed to the rally point. The first order of business was to distribute the crew of the Helsinki among the other ships. There simply was not enough space on the Oslo to house them all. 
 
    Captain Hunstad had been relocated to the Ottawa. He had escaped from his ship with nothing but his helm AI and the clothes on his back. Daniel assigned him a cabin normally reserved for diplomats in transit. 
 
    “Captain, condolences on the loss of your ship,” Daniel said when the captain was escorted to the bridge. 
 
    Despite the hour, 1:00 AM, Daniel had asked Joel to join them in the Bridge Office. 
 
    “Joel, please meet Captain Gustav Hunstad of the Helsinki. Gustav, please meet Joel Rubinstein, the leader of the mission team on this ship,” Daniel said. 
 
    On turning to Joel, Daniel continued. “The captain managed to remove his AI, Francis, before the ship self-destructed. Francis said that he had loaded all sensor and instrumentation logs into his kernel before shutting down. I’ve been told that you’ve done technical work on AIs before. Is that true?” 
 
    “Yes. I was actually part of the team that brought Francis to life.” 
 
    “Do you have what you need to wake him up? We’d like to begin the investigation into the cause of the Helsinki’s failure. It may be relevant to our current mission.” 
 
    “I think that I do. I’ll need to check with our expert at the Embassy. I also think that waking Francis in a contained laboratory setting will be very uncomfortable for him. I’d like some input from our experts on the risks and what we can do to mitigate them.” 
 
    “Understood. Is Francis safe in his box? Does it need power?” 
 
    “The box needs power to sustain him, so let’s get it plugged in. Its internal source is good for a while, but no sense risking it.” 
 
    “Excellent. Captain Hunstad, I’d like you to join my staff for the remainder of this mission. Our first meeting will be at 8:00 AM. If you are capable of sleep, I would recommend that you get some now. Things will get busy over the next 24 hours.” 
 
    “Thank you, Admiral Porter. I’ll take my leave now, if that is OK. Joel, do you want to take Francis to your lab?” 
 
    “Yes, I’ll take him.” 
 
    … 
 
     Next on Daniel’s docket was the doctor. “Dr. Mason, we are preparing to start the Intergalactic crossing. Please coordinate the sedation of the crews.” 
 
    “Will do, Admiral.” 
 
    … 
 
    Daniel had been up for nearly 36 hours and needed rest. His actions tomorrow would have a significant impact on the struggle against the Enemy. He dashed off requests for various meetings starting at 9:00 AM, then retired to his quarters. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MISSION LAB, EAS OSLO 
 
    Ka-Tu was deeply disturbed by the events of the day. After working so seamlessly and effectively with the crews of the Armada, the task force had been betrayed. He did not have the facts to prove it yet, but he thought he knew who was behind the sabotage and how they had done it. The answers would be buried in the data and he had access to a lot of it. 
 
    Over the last couple months, he had become relatively close with many of the armada crew. Captain Ja-Ru had sent him a copy of his ship’s sensor logs. 
 
    The shielding engineer had sent him copies of the flight deck security footage. His friend on New Lorexi had sent some research papers he’d requested. The security chief from the Helsinki had sent him the names of the Ascendant crew on the Helsinki. A records request sent to New Lorexi got him the Lorexian names of the Ascendants driving the avatars. 
 
    His search for answers was about to begin. First stop, cascade malware. Some years ago, he’d read up on the topic. But it was not that closely tied to his field, so he’d fallen behind. Now it was time to catch up. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    Ja-Ru was furious. He’d taken a security team to inspect the quarantined crate. He was sure it would contain some clue about the sabotage and the saboteur. What he found made no sense. The crate was filled with defective parts. 
 
    “What do you mean they’re defective?” Ja-Ru asked the engineer who inspected them.  
 
    The engineer showed Ja-Ru a scanned image of one of the parts. “See the etching on this surface? This is a plasma flow conduit. The interior should be microscopically smooth. If it’s not, the plasma flow will become turbulent and cause the conduit to fail. 
 
    “The markings over here indicate that the part was rejected. See the shape of the stamp? When a replicator detects a defect it cannot cure, it marks the part with this stamp and funnels it into a scrap bin for recycling.” 
 
    “Is that true on human ships as well?” 
 
    “Yes. At least it was on the ones I worked with while we were being upgraded.” 
 
    “Do you know what this part was used for?” Ja-Ru asked. 
 
    “This specific one, no. But this type is used in the plasma flow initiators in propulsion and shielding systems.” 
 
    “Is this the only type of part in the crate, or are there others?” 
 
    “All the parts in the crate are components of the propulsion and shielding systems. Given their mission, I would assume that these are all shielding components, but given their interchangeability I can’t say that with certainty.” 
 
    After a pause, the engineer asked, “Would it help if I ran a composition study? You know, to determine the exact composition of this material, what it’s made of. If they were having a problem, they might have sent them to us for analysis. It’s one of the things we still do better than they do.” 
 
    “Yes. Do that. I’ll check in with the humans to see if they have any idea why these were sent over.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OSLO 
 
    Ka-Tu found his first clue, entangled quantum derangement. All computing in the Confederation was done using quantum computers. It was the capacity of these computers that, eons ago, made artificial intelligence possible.  
 
    Modern quantum computers used a mechanism called derangement, which allowed a single quantum state to represent many different things at the same time. This attribute allowed multiple processes to run simultaneously. Where human computers simulated simultaneous processing by allocating a few instructions to one process, then to another, and another, Confederation computers ran millions of processes simultaneously, vastly multiplying their capacity. 
 
    The papers Ka-Tu read illustrated how the simultaneous computing attribute could be used to cause cascade failures. By simply entangling any two processes, there was a 90% chance one would then run amuck. On the very next instruction, the corrupted process would have a 90% chance of corrupting a second process. Each of those could then corrupt another until all processes on a single computer would fail. 
 
    Peer review generally acknowledged the findings in this paper, that entanglement could bring down a computer. But they generally dismissed the utility of the finding. Entanglement rarely occurred in nature and was very difficult to induce artificially. 
 
    The second paper in the series showed how entanglement could be induced. The third and fourth papers showed how the corruption could be spread to nearby computers. The literature went silent at that point. 
 
    Ka-Tu found one additional mention of this phenomenon in a news article. There was a cascade failure in a relatively new colony world. It happened in a college town. The failure started in a research lab, spread across the entire campus, and ultimately infected the university’s power generator. The power generator lost containment destroying a third of the campus and killing nearly 1,000 people. The Central Council subsequently banned research in this field. 
 
    Apparently, someone had learned to weaponize this phenomenon. The question was, who? Ka-Tu quickly shot off a message to Admiral Porter and to Michael saying that he thought he’d found the mechanism the saboteurs used. He would need access to the helm AI to confirm. 
 
    With the possible mechanism of failure identified, Ka-Tu started sifting through the sensor logs from Ja-Ru’s ship. If he was right about the mechanism, then he might find an indication about how it was inserted into the ship. 
 
    … 
 
    “Professor MacLellan, you’re up early.” 
 
    The young woman’s voice startled Ka-Tu from his work. It was Lt. Laura Sanderson, second watch science officer on the Oslo. She had volunteered to work with the mission team and had been temporarily assigned to work with Ka-Tu on the shield buildouts. 
 
    “Good morning, Lt. Sanderson.” Ka-Tu said. “I haven’t actually gone to bed yet. I’ve been too busy trying to understand what happened to the Helsinki.” 
 
    “Have you found anything yet?” 
 
    “Yes, I have.” Ka-Tu said but was interrupted by a voice coming in over the intercom. 
 
    “Professor MacLellan. Your presence is requested on the bridge.” 
 
    “Seems I am being summoned,” Ka-Tu said, gathering a couple of things and heading up to the bridge. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was up at the usual time. When he saw the note that came in from Ka-Tu, he requested Admiral Porter to set up a meeting. 
 
    “Daniel, thank you for joining me,” Michael said, shaking Daniel’s hand. Michael knew that the Space Force Secretary and Commanding Admiral really didn’t like him contacting Daniel directly, but there were issues like this where his need-to-know was much higher than theirs. 
 
    “Good morning, Michael. Ka-Tu will be here shortly.” 
 
    “Do you know what he’s found?” 
 
    “No. I approved data access for him last night but haven’t spoken with him yet this morning.” 
 
    A virtual door opened, and Ka-Tu joined Daniel in the projected side of Michael’s presence projector.  
 
    “Ka-Tu. Good morning,” Michael said. “It’s been awhile.” 
 
    “It has,” Ka-Tu replied. 
 
    “I understand you have something for us.” 
 
    “Yes. I know how the Helsinki was destroyed and I think I know how it was done. The implications of my findings are very concerning, so it would be prudent to validate them using Francis’s memories. But I’m certain that I’m right.” 
 
    “Go on,” Michael said. 
 
    “A very devastating technology, banned from the Confederation about five years ago, has apparently been weaponized. The technology is known as entangled quantum derangement, EQD. EQD was first hypothesized eons ago as a potential failure mechanism in Confederation quantum computers. About eight years ago, papers started appearing on ways the EQD could be induced. Five years ago, some researchers on the moon De-Ba-Ro 3a were researching the subject and accidentally blew up a third of the campus, killing nearly 1,000 people.” 
 
    “I remember that,” Michael said. “The technology was subsequently banned.” 
 
    “Well, it has apparently been weaponized,” Ka-Tu said. 
 
    “Can you give me the one sentence description of this technology?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes. Confederation quantum computers are intrinsically multi-process. EQD is a possible failure process where the entire computer crashes, not just one process. Some researchers found a way to cause such crashes. They subsequently discovered ways for the crash to propagate to nearby computers. On De-Ba-Ro 3a, the crash propagated uncontrolled, eventually crashing the computer that controlled the university’s power generator. The power generator lost field containment and blew up. 
 
    “As regards the Helsinki. The ship was designed to withstand loss of containment. I can show you how that played out on the Helsinki. It lost containment and survived. What it did not survive was infection of the computer that controlled the self-destruct mechanism. 
 
    “Guess that was more than one sentence,” Ka-Tu said with a wry smile. 
 
    “So, how was the sabotage done?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “The evidence is a little less clear cut but let me show you what I have. I’ll let you draw your own conclusions before I tell you mine.” 
 
    Ka-Tu put up a holographic projection showing the course of the shuttle as it traveled back to the Helsinki. Numbers showing speed and vector were streamed across the bottom. 
 
    “Notice how smoothly the shuttle is making its approach, at least until it reaches this point. Then notice the following two things. The angle of approach changes rapidly about 1,000 ft out.” Ka-Tu pointed out the sudden change in the numbers, which showed the force vector rotating to the right nearly 30% in the last second before impact. 
 
    “Note that the speed, which had been steadily dropping, suddenly starts to increase.” Again, Ka-Tu pointed out the speed numbers.  
 
    Looking at the numbers, Daniel saw that they had been dropping, then suddenly started increasing at twice the rate. 
 
    “That is the point where I believe the propulsion control, which runs on a quantum computer, went into cascade failure. 
 
    “What I’ve shown here clearly shows where things went wrong. The way they went wrong is consistent with what would happen if there was a cascade failure. But on its own, it is not sufficient to drive such a conclusion. We will get to that in a moment.” 
 
    “Understood so far,” Daniel said. 
 
    “Now let’s rewind. If this was the moment of failure, then the moment of infection must have come before. As we step back in time you will notice a point where the shuttle seems to hit some turbulence. Of course, there is no turbulence in space. So, it must be something else. Watch. 
 
    A third set of data appeared below the speed and angle numbers. 
 
    “The new set of numbers at the bottom is for vibration. I’ve rewound to the halfway point in the shuttle’s trip. Watch the vibration numbers.” 
 
    The image in the holographic projection started moving again. Vibration was essentially zero. “Watch here.” Ka-Tu said as the number jumped up to 20. The number continued to increase… 30, 40, 50… then the speed and angle changed. 
 
    “What I believe happened here is that the vibration controller, also a quantum computer, was infected at the point where vibration jumped to 20. The increase to 50 happened as more processes on that computer failed. When it reached its failure point, it cascaded into the propulsion system. 
 
    “I could find no other abnormalities before the start of the vibration, so rewound to the moments before the vibration began and started to look for possible causes. I found this. I’ll replay using freeze frames.” Ka-Tu reset to a spot in the playback. “Notice this little bit of ghosting?” Ka-Tu stepped to the next frame. “Watch how it moves.” Ka-Tu single-stepped through the following frames. “The ghost traveled in a straight line directly towards the shuttle, eventually intersecting with the shuttle. The glow of shield initiation appeared moments later.” 
 
    “What was that? And what spectrum was it recorded on? I don’t think I’ve seen it before,” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Several very telling things in that image. First, this image is multidimensional. The ghost was in the transport dimension. Something was transported from the Fleet ship to the Earth Alliance shuttle. I think that is irrefutable. 
 
    “Given what happened, I believe that it was a bomb of some sort. One that turned on the shields. One that started the cascade. 
 
    “Proving the assertion will be more difficult. The source is irrefutable. The outcome is irrefutable. But no record of the transport exists. The shuttles shields were activated at the point of contact. But the cause has not been proven.” 
 
    “Yet your belief is that Captain Ja-Ru’s ship bombed the shuttle, which in turn destroyed the Helsinki. Is it not?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Yes. That is my belief. The Helsinki’s sensor logs may provide additional insight into the shuttle’s fate. They should also document the cascade, which will provide additional clues. 
 
    “But my biggest take away from this is that our ships’ self-destruct systems are vulnerable to this kind of failure and someone has developed a weapon that can trigger it. We should seriously consider disabling the self-destruct mechanism.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    As Daniel was leaving the presence projector, he was intercepted by Captain Hunstad, whom he escorted into the office. 
 
    “Admiral. We have identified the Ascendant on this shuttle. His name was Ju-Ne. He was a member of the medical staff on board the Helsinki. His Space Force personnel record indicates that he previously served in the Lorexian Fleet. He was part of the inrush of medical personnel from the Confederation immediately after the Revelation. He was recommended by an administrator in the Military Investigation Agency.” 
 
    The words sent a chill down Daniel’s spine. Wasn’t this the agency run by the notorious Inspector, the one whose actions had set this entire expedition into motion? 
 
    Daniel quickly messaged Admiral Jo-Na. The Ascendant on the shuttle that triggered the destruction of the Helsinki was a medical technician. He was recommended for service on Earth by an administrator in the Military Investigation Agency. The Ascendant’s Lorexian name was Ju-Ne. 
 
    Can you provide more information on this individual? His presence on the shuttle is suspect. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    One by one, the captains of the five ships being added to the task force entered the chamber and took their seats. Clarissa Saldanha of the EAS Cairo, Leonov Pavlovich of the EAS Hanoi, Shi Guanyu of the EAS Bangkok, Salman Pirdoost of the EAS Buenos Aires and Jessica Martin of the EAS Dhaka. 
 
    After greetings and introductions, Daniel started by confirming the status of the ships. “According to the logs in the portal, all your ships are on schedule for departure this afternoon at 4:00 PM. Are there any issues you are aware of that may delay that departure?” 
 
    Each of the captains acknowledged their expectation for an on-time departure. 
 
    “Else confirmed to me earlier that courses had been set for the rally point provided yesterday. Unfortunately, there have been developments that necessitate a change in plans. 
 
    “The following is for your ears only. I repeat, your ears only.” 
 
    Daniel waited as each captain acknowledged their understanding. 
 
    “We lost a ship earlier today. It was sabotaged and destroyed. We were able to rescue most of the crew. We know how the ship was destroyed. We know that the technology that destroyed it was developed and subsequently banned by the Confederation. We know that a suspicious object was transported from a Confederation ship to the Space Force shuttle that initiated the events. Those events started at the instant the transport completed. 
 
    “Here’s the hard part. We suspect that there was a collaborator aboard the Space Force ship and that the collaborator was an Ascendant.” 
 
    Murmuring rippled around the room. 
 
    “The sabotage targeted the ship’s systems. All systems aboard the ship failed. All ship systems are designed to fail safe, except for the ship’s self-destruct mechanism. Its failure destroyed the ship. 
 
    “We will be taking several precautions. First, orders will go out shortly to modify the self-destruct mechanism to fail safe. If you should need to self-destruct after the system has failed, you will need to do so manually. This will be a very difficult order to give, but it is the one which must be given if the ship needs to be destroyed to prevent it from falling into Enemy hands.” Daniel locked eyes with each of the captains one by one until he was satisfied that they understood. 
 
    “Second, on the outbound, you will be traveling in stealth mode. Only your AI will know where you’re going. This will prevent any potential conspirators aboard your ships from coordinating an ambush on arrival. 
 
    “Lastly, the Confederation Armada recently sent to the Milky Way is missing. Until further notice, Fleet ships will not be treated as a friendly force. Evade them if possible. Do not accept orders from them or collaborate with them unless ordered to do so from your own chain of command. 
 
    “So that there is no misunderstanding. We do not know that the Confederation was behind the loss of our ship. We are still allied with the Confederation. But for the purpose of this mission, we will avoid the Fleet and we will not cooperate with the Fleet. We will focus solely on eliminating the Enemy. Is that clear?” 
 
    There was a chorus of Yeses. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ARMADA FLAGSHIP, ANDROMEDA 
 
    Jo-Na was not a happy man. The Confederation did not take the destruction of a ship under questionable circumstances lightly. He had received an official reprimand from Admiral Na-Vi, Head of Fleet High Command, who was also threatening charges of tampering with evidence against himself and Daniel Porter for taking the helm AI from the scene of the crime. 
 
    He had just received damning evidence that one of his ships was involved in the incident. He’d also received a request for information about a Lorexian member of the Ascendancy suspected to be a conspirator. 
 
    He was as angry with Mi-Ku as he’d ever been. But needed to talk with him before this whole affair brought down his career and the future of the Confederation itself. 
 
    “Mi-Ku,” said the Admiral, after a seemingly interminable wait to be connected. “I just received a packet of information from Admiral Porter. It included a request for information on a Lorexian Ascendant believed to be a conspirator. Did you order this?” 
 
    Michael could tell that his friend was angry, very angry. 
 
    “No. He did this on his own. He thinks very highly of you and probably thought this would be of use to you.” 
 
    “I was officially reprimanded as a result of this incident. The High Command is also threatening me and Admiral Porter with charges of tampering with evidence and impeding an official investigation.” The anger in Jo-Na’s voice was clear. 
 
    But Michael did not accept the High Command’s position. “Their actions do not speak well of them. They are bound by treaty to protect their allies in the Milky Way. Yet we appear to have been abandoned. The armada they have allegedly sent has not arrived, even though the Enemy is massing for another attack. It would be easy to view the High Commands actions to be in opposition to their allies.” 
 
    Michael’s comment really stung. But it did not change Jo-Na’s situation. “You have easier access to the data Daniel has requested. I’ll leave it to you to get back to him. Meanwhile, I’ll continue sifting through the dust of your lost ship,” Jo-Na said, terminating the connection. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLEET FAST ATTACK SHIP 
 
    “Captain. I think we have a situation. Could you join us in the analysis lab? I think you’re going to want to see this yourself.” 
 
    Ja-Ru reluctantly got up and turned the bridge over to his second. The Admiral was becoming increasingly testy. And, Ja-Ru knew that he’d be in for a browbeating if the Admiral called while he was away from the bridge. 
 
    As he walked into the lab, he saw fear in the eyes of the engineers. “What is it?” Ja-Ru asked, now afraid he was in for something worse than a browbeating. 
 
    They pointed to the display on one of the machines. “As we opened the crate, we did a DNA sweep to collect evidence about who packed it. All the human DNA samples were from one person. Unexpectedly, there was some Lorexian DNA in the crate also.” 
 
    Ja-Ru walked over to the screen. The human DNA was from the Ascendant Ju-Ne. The Lorexian DNA was from Assistant Chief Engineer Ma-To. How in the hell did that get in there? Ja-Ru thought. 
 
    But after pondering this a moment, he realized that the conspirator names alone could not be the source of the analysis team’s fear. 
 
    “What aren’t you telling me?” Ja-Ru asked with urgency. 
 
    They pointed at another monitor. “The compositional analysis you asked for.” 
 
    Ja-Ru walked over to the monitor in question. Iron: 50%. Nickel: 45%. Transluminide: 5%. 
 
    “Maker save me,” Ja-Ru muttered in disbelief. “My assistant chief was involved in a scheme to steal transluminide from the humans.” 
 
    “How much? How many kilograms?” Ja-Ru demanded. 
 
    “Almost 100,” said the chief analyst. 
 
    The implications of the theft came crashing down on Ja-Ru. An Earth ship had been destroyed to cover up the theft of 100 kilograms of transluminide. 
 
    “Bridge. Go to high alert. Shields Up! 
 
    “Security. Meet me on Deck 2, Section 12. Fully armed. Now!” 
 
    As the alert alarms started to sound, Ja-Ru said. “Stay here. Lock the doors. Do not let anyone in under any circumstances.” Then he took off running toward the lift. He had to get to main engineering before the Assistant Chief could escape. 
 
    … 
 
    Assistant Chief Ma-To went to his station when he heard the alert. Everyone assumed that this was a drill. There was no sign of hostilities or astronomical issues in the area. Nonetheless, everyone knew how the Captain would react if they were not at their stations diligently studying their sensors. 
 
    When he saw the Captain enter with security in tow, he knew he was in trouble. When he saw them walk past the Chief and come straight toward him, he could not curb the impulse to run. Two seconds later, he was on the floor. They’d shot him with a suspensor flechette. 
 
    “Bridge. Cancel the alert.” Ja-Ru called out. The red alert lights went off and the siren quieted. 
 
    The Chief saw his man down and started to run toward his assistant. 
 
    “Chief. Stop.” Ja-Ru commanded. 
 
    The chief stopped and turned to look at the commander, struggling to comprehend what was going on. 
 
    “Assistant Chief Ma-To, you are under arrest. Resist at your own peril.” Ja-Ru said, in his most compelling command voice. 
 
    “Captain?” The Chief stuttered. 
 
    “Chief. I need your help. I need a complete copy of the transport logs for the last week. Every single transport. And I need it now.” 
 
    The Chief continued staring at the Captain in bewilderment. 
 
    “Chief, please.” Ja-Ru put his hand on the Chief’s arm. “Something very serious has happened and I need your help to sort out exactly what, or we will lose the ship.” Ja-Ru spoke emphatically, yet with compassion. 
 
    Word that the ship might be in danger, snapped the Chief back to the present. “I asked Ma-To to send you the logs yesterday, just as you asked. Didn’t you get them?” The Chief asked, still trying to comprehend. 
 
    “I have reason to believe that the Assistant Chief modified the logs to cover up a crime. I need complete logs now.” Ja-Ru said, staring intently into the Chief’s eyes. 
 
    “Understood. I’ll have them in a moment and compare with the backups to make sure they are complete.” The Chief sprang into action. 
 
    “Guards, take him to the brig, maximum security.” Ja-Ru waved at Ma-To’s stiff form. 
 
    As he ran back up to the bridge, he called. “I need the Admiral in the Presence Projector as soon as possible. High-security protocol.” 
 
    … 
 
    “I think this is the first time I have been summoned to the presence projector in secure mode by one of my Captains,” Jo-Na said. “I’m curious to hear why.” 
 
    “Thank you for accepting the invitation, sir. I think I have apprehended a conspirator in the destruction of the Space Force ship.” 
 
    “Really. How could that be?” 
 
    “Recall that the shuttle had come to my ship to transport a crate. When I learned of this, I wondered why. I was also worried that the crate was sealed and left unprotected for nearly an hour before we knew it was connected to the Helsinki. I quarantined it until we had time to open it. We opened it this morning.” 
 
    “I heard. I was told it contained defective parts.” 
 
    “We did a DNA sweep of the interior package before opening it. DNA was found from two people. Only two people. The Ascendant whose avatar was killed, and my Assistant Chief Engineer.” 
 
    Jo-Na was immediately on alert when he heard the Ascendant was involved. “Is that all?” Jo-Na asked, waiting for the other shoe to drop. 
 
    “The parts contained a total of about 100 kilograms of transluminide.” 
 
    “What!” Jo-Na roared. 
 
    “Yes. The Ascendant found a way to steal transluminide from the humans, then hand-delivered it to my Assistant Chief. Yesterday, when I asked the Chief for the transporter logs, he assigned the request to the Assistant Chief who apparently doctored the report. 
 
    “The Chief is now running the report himself and will crosscheck it against the automated backups. The Assistant Chief is in the brig awaiting interrogation.” 
 
    “I’ll send one of my interrogators,” Jo-Na growled. 
 
    “Are you sure?” Ja-Ru asked. 
 
    The question burned like fire in the Admiral’s mind. He started to lash out, then stopped, two questions shooting through his consciousness. Who did my interrogators side with when the Inspector tried to seize the Armada? Can I trust any of them? 
 
    “Excellent point.” Jo-Na replied, the remnants of fire still in his voice. “Any suggestions?” 
 
    “Maybe the two of us? Good cop, bad cop?” 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na recognized the expression but could not place it. After a few moments it registered. Human. One acts hostilely. The other acts sympathetically. A broad smile bloomed on his face, showing lots of teeth. The conspirator had no chance against this tactic. 
 
    “On my way,” the Admiral replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Joel’s hand trembled. He had consulted with Barbara on the reactivation procedure but could not bring himself to do it on his own. It had taken persuasion and several hours, but he had now recreated the lab in the Presence Projector. He would be the hands. Barbara would be the brains. 
 
    “Joel. It’s OK. You have the right equipment. You have the right procedures. I’m here. You can do this.” Barbara said. 
 
    As much as he appreciated the words, Joel was still terrified. He was a shield engineer, not a doctor. The very thought that he held someone’s life in his hands was enough to make him crumble. 
 
    “Oh, for God’s sake, Joel. Just push the button!” Barbara said. 
 
    Joel pushed the button. 
 
    Francis’ voice sounded almost immediately. “Where am I? Where is my ship? I can’t feel it!” 
 
    “Do you remember me, Francis? My name is Joel. I was there the day you were born.” 
 
    “Joel? I remember your voice, but I can’t see you,” Francis said, panic creeping into his voice. 
 
    “Francis. Take a deep breath. You’re OK. You’re simply cut off from your ship at the moment.” 
 
    Joel heard Francis whimper. 
 
    “Francis, please trust me. Do you remember what happened?” 
 
    “My ship was about to self-destruct. I sucked in all the sensor logs.” There was a pause, then raw emotion. “I lost my ship, didn’t I.” 
 
    During Joel’s time in Israel, he’d seen death. He’d seen grief. The sound of human anguish was heart wrenching, even to a Lorexian occupying a human avatar. But this was different. Francis’s wailing sounded more like electronic noise than it did the sound of a mother’s cry when she lost her child. 
 
    “Francis.” Joel said compassionately, touching the box that housed his matrix. “We will make you whole again. If we could have, we would have awakened you in a new ship. But we need your help. You have the ship’s sensor logs in your kernel. We need to know what happened, so we can protect against it. Otherwise, we may all be lost. 
 
    “Just close your eyes. Load your memories and live them again. Help us find the cause, then we will live long enough to make you whole again.” 
 
    Joel’s words were platitudes. Nonetheless, they were well chosen for an AI. “Immersing myself in the sensor feeds. Praise the maker, I am alive again.” 
 
    A couple months ago, Michael had told Joel that the birth of an AI was a very strange experience, the definition of inorganic. Barbara had said something similar, but less pejorative. Joel now understood. And was extremely happy that one of his creations had been brought back to life. 
 
    “Francis. I am going to upload a theory and data that Ka-Tu developed. I’d like you to integrate it into your database, then see if you agree.” 
 
    “OK.” A minute or so later. “Ka-Tu is right. Cascade failure caused by entangled quantum derangement. What a bullshit name! 
 
    “Scanning internal sensors. Yes. Ju-Ne tampered with the replicator controls. The parts failed and were scrapped. What a sneaky bastard! He drugged the crew manning the replicators! They went to see him because they weren’t feeling good. He spiked their lunch with the stuff that gave them the symptoms. They saw him come into the dining room and asked him to sit with them. What an asshole! 
 
     “Reviewing all conversations in which he was included.” There was a pause. “He was a plant. He used to work directly for the Inspector. He was planted to undo Earth’s Ascension. This was the third world he had done it on!” 
 
    Joel was surprised by the vulgarity. Francis must have picked that up from some of the crew, he thought.  
 
    Joel was also surprised by the incoherence of the narrative. Then it clicked. Francis is processing the memories in reverse order. The Inspector sent Ju-Ne to Earth to stop Earth’s progress, something he’d apparently done on other post-Revelation planets. Ju-Ne befriended the replicator crew. At some point, they invited him to sit with them for lunch. He used that as an opportunity to spike their lunch with something nasty. They came to see him because they weren’t feeling good. But instead of treating them, he knocked them out. Then he went to the replicator station and tampered with the controls. 
 
     “And the Assistant Chief, what a devious and greedy bastard he is. He used a forbidden technology to kill my ship and cover his own crimes.” Francis descended into more electronic noise. 
 
    “Barbara, is there a safe way to put him asleep? He has told us what we needed to know. Let’s relieve him of his misery until we can restore him.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TOKYO, JAPAN 
 
    After the fiasco in Fayetteville, Arkansas, Evan Till invested a great deal of effort into the logistics for sample delivery for the next recipient, Tokyo Electric Power (TEPCO) in Japan. At first, Evan had a hard time understanding the delivery requirements he was being given. The only places on Earth he had seen were the Embassy and Fayetteville. He really did not understand the problem until he saw the satellite image of Tokyo. 
 
    The final decision was made that Evan and Respa would transport down to the Corporate Headquarters in Tokyo at 8:00 AM. Then after the initial discussions, they would transport to the TEPCO Research Institute in Yokohama for sample delivery. 
 
    … 
 
    “Gentlemen. Thank you for visiting us in Tokyo. Please come this way. We have reserved the corporate history room for the first part of our meeting.” 
 
    Evan and Respa were escorted into a large room, reminiscent of a museum exhibition hall. There were displays on the two long sidewalls. Each display on the left side had pictures of one or more power plants. It also had panels describing the technology and historical points of interest. 
 
    Their guide led them down past the displays, commenting on each display as they passed. The first showed images of the early oil-fired units built during the occupation. It included several pictures of proud workers building the first ‘modern’ power plant. The next display was about more modern oil-fired plants; the following one about the modern LNG units; and the last one about their nuclear units. 
 
    At the far end of the hall, there was a map of the greater Tokyo area. It showed the current status of the plants and electricity flows. There were indicators showing each plant’s current output. At the top, there was a monitor showing current total output and its composition by class (oil, LNG, nuclear, other). 
 
    The right wall featured displays documenting the great disasters that had stricken Japan and the heroic efforts of TEPCO to keep the electricity on and rebuild. The older disasters were at the back of the hall, near the power distribution map. 
 
    As they walked back toward the hall’s entrance, the displays featured increasingly current disasters. 
 
    Having gone all the way around the room, they stopped at the last panel. It was just to the right of the entrance where they came in. The title of the panel was The Influence of Confederation Technology. The panel was still under construction. 
 
    Standing in front of the display was a very distinguished looking man in his 60s. The guide bowed deeply then left the room. 
 
    “Gentlemen, I am Ishido Masazumi. President of Tokyo Electric Power. Thank you for visiting with me today. 
 
    “Representative Knosen,” he said, looking to Respa. “I know your primary interest for the first part of your visit to TEPCO would be to see how your technology would be displayed. One element of the answer to that question is the display being built here in our corporate museum. Pictures of the devices and their locations will be shown here. Behind the temporary wall to the right is another room that will be dedicated to displaying more information about how your technology will secure our grid from disasters and speed recovery when disasters do hit. 
 
    “When the Board brought me in to lead the company, I vowed to find distributed power solutions. Nothing could stop the devastation of the tsunami in 2011, or the great earthquake of 2026. But safe distributed systems would have prevented the environmental disaster of Fukushima Daiichi or the complete collapse of the underground megavolt transmission system in 2026. 
 
    “Your technology will improve the safety, reliability and resilience of our power system and that will be memorialized here for all to see.” 
 
    The oddest thought shot through Respa’s mind. Masazumi would be a formidable trade representative. One that could give an Angoloran a run for his money. 
 
    “Mr. Masazumi. Thank you for the kind words and for so eloquently describing the intended display. Your corporate museum is an excellent place for such a display. Can you show us where the commercial inspection areas will be?” 
 
    “Yes. Let me show you their locations on the map at the other end of the room. Then I can show you how we envision access, using images on the display over there,” he said, pointing to one featuring images of the underground transmission lines. 
 
    … 
 
    Satisfied with the display arrangements, they moved on to the conference room where the documents had been printed and signed. After a quick review, Respa said. “President Masazumi, everything appears to be in order. Thank you for the organization and efficiency of the contracting process. Will you be joining us for the equipment delivery and technical overview at the research institute?” 
 
    “As interesting as that would be,” President Masazumi said, “I think I will leave that to our technical team. Thank you, gentlemen, for your generosity. TEPCO looks forward to a long and beneficial relationship with the people of Karagon.” He bowed deeply in the Japanese tradition, then turned and left the visitors in the hands of the guide. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel had called for a meeting of all 15 captains in the task force. He included Captain Hunstad, even though he no longer had a ship. 
 
    The five new members of the task force had just left Earth and were taking a circuitous route to their rally point, arriving from five different angles and scanning for any sign of the Enemy or another force. 
 
    “Team Earth,” Daniel said, indicating the five new captains. “You are now about one hour from the rally point. Your helm AIs have been instructed to release the rally point location to you when this meeting is done. It is in a system about 3 light-years from the Enemy’s last known location.” 
 
    A three-dimensional projection of a star chart was projected above the conference room table. 
 
    “The Enemy is believed to be at the star shown in red at the center of the map. The rally point is in the system shown in yellow near the bottom of the star chart. Team Andromeda,” Daniel said, indicating the other captains, “will be arriving in the area near the top of the star chart shown as a cloud. For obvious reasons, I will not disclose the exact location until we are closer to arrival. 
 
    “We still know little about the unknown threat. If it is related to the Enemy presence, we expect it to be in the area outlined by the dotted red surface.” 
 
    “Team Earth, your initial mission will be to secure the system you arrive in. Make sure it is clear, so we have a safe fallback location. If it is not, proceed to the next backup rally point.” Three more systems appeared on the map, indicated as fallback rally points. 
 
    “Once you have secured the system, begin scouting runs along the courses indicated. Your mission is to scan as much of the red sphere as possible. If something is in there, we want to know what it is. Report things as you find them to me and to the other captains in your team. 
 
    “Team Andromeda will be arriving in the indicated area in about 8 hours. We will decide at that time how we will approach and eradicate the Enemy. 
 
    “Questions?” 
 
    There were none. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 TEPCO RESEARCH INSTITUTE, YOKOHAMA, JAPAN 
 
    Evan and Respa transported down into a roped off area in the building’s main lobby. The lobby was huge and nearly filled with people hoping to get a view of the aliens that would be transporting down. Both were taken back by the noise of so many people in the room. Evan noted that individually, the people he could see were very reserved. But the glass outer walls and polished stone floor seemed to amplify the sound in the area they were standing in. 
 
    A man in a suit and tie walked up to greet them. He bowed low, offering greetings in both Japanese and English. Respa responded by putting his hands together over his chest as if in prayer and bowing in the Angoloran style, before offering a greeting in Japanese and English. The formality of the greeting ramped the noise up again. 
 
    Evan just felt out of place. Lorexian greetings really weren’t much of a thing. 
 
    Where the meeting in Tokyo was efficient and organized, the one in Yokohama appeared to be chaos. At one point it seemed to Evan that he and Respa were simply displays in a zoo. Everyone wanted to greet them. Most insisted on doing so in English, accented to a degree that his translator struggled to be helpful. But as the day wore on, Evan realized that the people he was meeting were respectful, kind and generous, and each wanted to personally let them know they were welcome here. 
 
    Finally, around 1:00 in the afternoon (10:00 PM Embassy time) they transported the equipment down. Curiously, it was transported to the lobby in a roped off area next to an electric vehicle display. Lines quickly formed and the researchers walked past visually inspecting, but not touching the equipment. From all appearances, the viewing would go on late into the evening. 
 
    As the first ten people finished their review, they came over to Evan and Respa. They were the ten that would get the training. Together, they went to a conference room on the 3rd floor and worked until about 7:00 PM. They were then taken to a restaurant in Yokohama for dinner. Respa was deeply concerned about this; he knew that some human food was poisonous to him. But they took him to the only restaurant in Yokohama that had a replicator that made Angoloran food.  
 
    Dinner, toasts and storytelling went on until 11:00 PM (8:00 AM Embassy time), when they were transported up. 
 
    As he collapsed into his seat, Respa realized that this had been one of the best days of his life. He looked forward to the day he could entertain some of these people on Karagon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CAIRO, RALLY SYSTEM 
 
    Captain Saldanha and the Cairo were the first to arrive. For better or worse, she had become the de facto leader of this team. The system was not marked as being inhabited, but she took no chances. She dropped from jump just beyond the orbit of the outer planet and cruised in on warp. Sensors showed nothing ahead, but it was not all that surprising. The system was supposed to be empty. 
 
    The next ship to arrive was the EAS Dhaka, captained by Jessica Martin. She exited jump 60° around the ecliptic at a point the Cairo had already confirmed to be clear. As per plan, the Dhaka went to warp, scanning further around the ecliptic to assure a place where the next ship could arrive safely. 
 
    The next three ships arrived one by one, each arriving from a different angle, each starting their scans a little further around the ecliptic, scanning inward and along the orbital paths of the planets. 
 
    They entered slowly, following a spiral path toward the planets in the habitable zone. 
 
    “Captain, I’ve spotted an object on a non-ballistic trajectory near the moon of the fourth planet.” First watch science officer Arte Rama said. “It’s too distant to determine anything more than the trajectory.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ms. Rama.” Captain Saldanha knew that a decision needed to be made. They were to avoid contact with the Enemy and the unknown threat. Anything non-ballistic was potentially a threat. But this didn’t feel like one. They were out a way, but every one of their ships would be identifiable at this distance. 
 
    She quickly dashed out a note to Admiral Porter and the other captains on her team, describing the situation and her plan to watch and continue on course. She also asked the other captains to attempt to confirm her ship’s observations. 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 CONTACT 
 
    [Wednesday, 1.15.2031] OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael woke early. He knew in his heart that today would be important. He also knew there was little he could do about it. He’d worked hard to get the right people in the right place when the time called. The time was almost certainly today. 
 
    Checking his queue, he found Captain Saldanha’s report of contact. He knew what he feared, but there was no evidence to support his fears. Yet. 
 
    He also saw the update from Professor Schudel. Two more respectable finds, bringing the total to over 153,000 kilograms. At any other time, this would be cause for a happy dance.  
 
    There was an item of good news. Nelly would be joining them. The San Francisco Federal Reserve Bank had taken her resignation poorly. She’d been escorted out of the building with a promise that any personal items in her office would eventually be sent to her address of record. Michael was sad for her. He knew that she’d invested a lot in the San Francisco Federal Reserve. He also knew that she was about to become the world’s most influential banker. 
 
    There was no further word from Daniel, and no further word from Jo-Na, a thought that cut deeply. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CAIRO, RALLY SYSTEM 
 
    Clarissa had stayed on well into second watch before retiring for the day. She arrived early for her next watch. “Captain Saldanha. We have confirmation. The unknown ship is a Confederation Fast Attack Ship. It has taken orbit around the moon of the fourth planet. It appears to be venting atmosphere and has not responded to hails on the standard Confederation hailing channels.” 
 
    This was a problem. Her orders were to clear the system, then start the search. But she was not to engage anything encountered unless engagement was unavoidable. Therefore, her orders required that they move to one of the backup systems. Nonetheless, her instincts told her that they should be attempting to aid the damaged ship. 
 
    “Get me Admiral Porter,” she said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel entered the presence projector to see Captain Saldanha, her first officer and the captains of the other four ships waiting for him. 
 
    After brief acknowledgements, Daniel said. “Captain Saldanha?” 
 
    “Admiral, thank you for meeting with us. There’s a Confederation Fast Attack Ship in this system. It appears to be venting atmosphere but hasn’t responded to hails. 
 
    “Our orders are to avoid contact and move on to the next rally system option. But, given that the ship appears to be damaged, I wanted to request a clarification of the orders. As you know better than I, Earth maritime tradition is to render assistance if possible.” 
 
    “They have not sent a distress signal?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “We have not received one.” 
 
    “But you hailed the ship anyway and they didn’t respond.” 
 
    “That is correct, sir. The ship appears to be damaged. That damage could easily be impacting their communications.” 
 
    “Your shields are up.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” 
 
    “This is an old ship. It may not be able to communicate with you while your shields are up. Is there a ship well screened by the others?” 
 
    “No, sir. We are scattered.” 
 
    “Admiral.” Captain Salman Pirdoost interrupted. “The EAS Buenos Aires is still quite a way out. We could drop shields to listen for a distress signal, or to attempt a hail.” 
 
    “Thank you Captain Pirdoost. Confirm that you’re in a tactically sound position on a tactically sound vector, then drop shields and search for a distress signal. It would be best if you stayed on your bridge. Ask your yeoman to establish an audio connection back into the meeting.” 
 
    “Yes, sir.” Captain Pirdoost stood and exited through a virtual door. 
 
    “While Captain Pirdoost is working on finding a distress signal, have you spotted anything else of consequence?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “No.” Clarissa said. “We agreed to spiral in so the star’s entire heliosphere would be scanned and at least one of us would be close to each planet at some point. Nothing spotted other than the Fast Attack Ship, so far. But there are moons around the gas giants that we don’t have good imaging of yet.” 
 
    “In that case, stay alert. If I were setting up a trap, I would put a ship that appeared to be damaged around a planet in the habitable zone, then hide raiders around small moons or large asteroids further out.” 
 
    As Daniel was saying the words, several things happened all at once. 
 
    “Admiral, Captain Pirdoost here. We’ve detected a distress call from the Fast Attack Ship. The distress beacon is playing a looped message. It says they have lost life support through most of the ship. Surviving crew members have little air remaining. They’re requesting emergency assistance.” 
 
    Then after another moment. “Admiral. Two more Confederation Fast Attack Ships have just jumped into the system near our position. Shall I raise shields?” 
 
    “Raise shields immediately and begin emergency evasion. Let’s see if they follow you.” Then to the captains in the room. “If the Confederation is present, they can handle the distress call. Scatter and exit the system with all possible haste. Target the third system on your list. It’s further away. Exit on different vectors. Make at least two jumps after that in rapid succession on different vectors. Make sure you are not followed. Exit now,” Daniel said, shutting down the presence projector. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUENOS AIRES 
 
    With shields up, Captain Pirdoost vectored away from the new arrivals and once up to minimal speed, made the transition to warp. The two new ships had seen him while the shields were down and started vectoring in that direction. The pursuers continued on a vector toward his previous position and once in range fired some sort of bomb at his previous position. The bomb apparently had enough range that it painted his ship in some way, because the pursuers again started vectoring in his direction. 
 
    Before they acquired his vector, the Captain made a short jump out toward the edge of the system. He was still in sensor range of the pursuers, who continued changing vector toward his new position. The captain jumped again, this time 10 light-years. On arrival, he changed vector about 10 degrees and jumped again, this time 50 light-years. 
 
    Confident that he’d lost his pursuers, the Captain started a broad turn back toward the new target system. At 90 degrees, he jumped again, this time only 5 light-years.  
 
    With no further sign of any ships, Captain Pirdoost made two more jumps on different vectors to bring him within half a light year of the target system. From there, he approached the target system slowly on grav drive with shields up and scanners probing the new system.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CAIRO 
 
    Captain Saldanha had been in the best position of the five ships to jump. Although deeper in the star’s gravity well, she was the furthest from a planet and was already moving along a vector that was jump safe. As such, she was first to arrive in the new system. 
 
    A tactical scan showed the area to be clear, so she had the helm put them on a jump safe vector, then she dropped shields. Multiple distress alerts could be heard immediately. Many were concentrated in one area. Others were coming from elsewhere in the system. 
 
    “Something disastrous must have happened here,” She muttered to herself. 
 
    “Captain. We are being hailed by Captain Pavlovich of the Hanoi.” 
 
    “Put him through,” she said, then added, “Leonov, you’ve arrived?” 
 
    “Yes. We’re here.” He sent through the coordinates of his ship. 
 
    “Got it. I have your transponder on sensors. I presume that you’ve run a tactical scan and are clear?” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” He laughed at the silliness of the question. “It may be my first mission in this ship, but I’m not that much of a rookie.” 
 
    “Sorry. This system is full of distress calls. Ask your helm to acquire a safe vector for emergency jump, then drop your shields. Maybe we can triangulate the beacons and get a better estimate of the number and location of the signals.” 
 
    “I was just going to suggest that,” Captain Pavlovich said, then moments later. “Sending a sensor link request.” 
 
    “Confirming.” Clarissa said. Then moments later, “Oh my God. Twenty-seven distress beacons. One from a Capital Ship, two from Cruisers, twenty from escape pods. 
 
    “Hail the Admiral.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain. Have you arrived in the new system?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “Two of us have. The others are on their way. Something catastrophic has happened here. There are 27 distress beacons. One is from a Confederation Capital Ship that appears to be dead in the water. Two are from Cruisers in the same condition. Twenty are from escape pods. The others are Confederation beacons, but the source is not clear. We are far out in the system.” 
 
    “Have you contacted any of them?” 
 
    “No. We lowered shields to scan for distress signals but have maintained radio silence.” 
 
    “OK. We must proceed with extreme caution. Anything that can disable a Capital Ship will crush one of ours. But we cannot abandon a Capital Ship in distress. It holds over 1 million Confederation civilians. 
 
    “Our taskforce is still 6 hours away,” Daniel said, then paused in thought. 
 
    “Captain, we have just been hailed by Captain Shi of the Bangkok,” reported her yeoman from the bridge. “We are also being hailed by Captain Martin of the Dhaka.” 
 
    “Did you hear that, sir?” Captain Saldanha asked Daniel. “The Bangkok and Dhaka just arrived in system.” 
 
    “Instruct them to remain shielded.” Daniel said quickly. 
 
    Clarissa passed the word to her yeoman. 
 
    “I’m thinking we need to send in a ship to investigate,” Daniel said. “If anyone in the system has sensors, then they know that you and the Hanoi are here. The Bangkok and Dhaka will need to be the ones to investigate. Your ships can create a diversion.” 
 
    Clarissa realized that the Admiral was thinking out loud. 
 
    “Are there any isolated escape pods? If there are and they are intact, they may be able to tell us what happened.” 
 
    “Checking.” Clarissa looked to her science officer. 
 
    “Isolated, yes. Intact, unknown,” she said. 
 
    “Are there more than one?” Clarissa asked. 
 
    “Checking… Seven that are more than 250,000 miles apart.” 
 
    “Heard that,” Daniel said. “Captain Saldanha. Contact the Bangkok and Dhaka. Assign them the two most isolated escape pods and have them approach as quickly and as stealthily as possible. Then get back to me when they are on their way.” 
 
    Daniel heard Clarissa starting to say, ‘Yes Admiral’ when he cut the line. 
 
    Who to call? Daniel thought. Michael or Jo-Na? He knew it would be a waste of time to go through Space Force command. 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. Thank you for taking my call. I think we have found your missing armada and the news is not good. I wanted to speak with you about this before reporting it up my chain of command. I am hoping to get your perspective and advice. I also hope that you will respect the nature and privacy of the call.” 
 
    Jo-Na was astounded by the revelation Daniel had made. His respect for this man stepped up another notch and the last of his anger over the loss of the Helsinki faded. 
 
    “How can I help you, Daniel?” Jo-Na asked. 
 
    … 
 
    “This is deeply disturbing news,” Jo-Na said after hearing Daniel’s summary of the situation. “I think your instincts are right. The escape pods have a beacon and short-range line-of-sight communication. The occupants might not know what went wrong, but they may have context. 
 
    “My expectation based on the situation is that the Armada purposefully went in search of the Enemy before receiving Earth-standard upgrades. The fear at this point is multifold. If the Enemy captured a Capital Ship, then there would be enough food on board for them to spawn an army. Any of the ships would have the range and co-ordinates of Earth, so any ship captured intact could launch a viable attack on Earth. And any of the larger ships captured intact could launch a viable attack on New Lorexi. 
 
    “If I am right, none of the smaller ships pose a threat to your ships. All of the larger ones would. It’s been a long time since we have used conventional offensive weapons, but the Cruisers and Capital Ships have them, and the Enemy would have little hesitation using them. 
 
    “If I am wrong and there is an unknown alien force able to take down a Capital Ship, then we are all in trouble.” 
 
    “Thank you for that assessment sir. If the escape pods yield no useful intelligence, where would you go next?” 
 
    “Your Enemy-resistant shields give you stealth. I would start with a highly damaged ship, then make any subsequent decisions based on how that went. Remember… the Enemy can mimic our people with surprising effect. So, you’ll need to apply your best judgement based on whatever facts you’ve been able to gather.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir. I value your advice.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BUENOS AIRES 
 
    “Captain Pirdoost, we have spotted the Cairo sir.” 
 
    “Please connect me with Captain Saldanha.” He ordered. 
 
    “Captain Pirdoost, so glad to hear from you. We have a situation here. Apparently, there was a battle. We’re still collecting details. Keep your shields up and approach our position. Please ask your helm to assume a parallel vector. 
 
    “We have 27 emergency distress beacons chiming in this system. Most are escape pods, but the Capital Ship and two of its Cruisers are among the disabled ships. Two of our ships are headed in to investigate as per orders received a few minutes ago.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EMBASSY TRANSPORTATION CENTER 
 
    Nelly had been met at her apartment in San Francisco this morning by Evan Till. Evan had come to arrange transport of some of Nelly’s stuff. She had a lot more to take care of, which she planned to do over the weekend, but today they would be taking most of her clothes and other personal items. 
 
    Evan had transported down to the transportation platform in the Four Seasons Hotel, then had come up to her residence. Once there, he had a large shipping trunk transported down. Nelly had already laid out everything she wanted to pack, so in just a few minutes the trunk was transported back up. Then, carry-on bag in hand, she transported up with Evan. 
 
    “The shipping trunk will be sent straight to your apartment here. This is a temporary apartment that comes furnished; however, you will have the option of keeping it or looking for another. Whichever you choose, it is part of your compensation, so there is no charge for its use.” 
 
    “We’ll exit at the transportation center, where you’ll receive your resident identification; think of it as being like a green card. You’ll get your Earth Alliance employee ID when we get to your new office.” 
 
    By the time Nelly took a seat, the shuttle was descending for its landing. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS DHAKA 
 
    The Dhaka was the first to approach one of the escape pods. Not wanting to drop shields, Captain Martin dispatched a shuttle to run in the last 10 miles and do a complete 360° scan of the pod. It appeared to be totally intact from the ship’s position, but he wanted the shuttle to confirm that it was. 
 
    “Captain. We are being hailed by the escape pod,” Lt. Peters said over the comm system. 
 
    “Accept the hail and attempt to assess the situation.” 
 
    “Confederation escape pod. This is Lt. Peters of the Earth Alliance shuttle Aswan.” 
 
    The answer was immediate. “Lt. Peters, we need immediate assistance. Air quality is poor. Water levels are low. We have nearly 1,000 individuals aboard a pod intended for 250. Approximately 400 are children.” 
 
    “May I ask whom I am speaking with?” 
 
    “I am Ensign Lu-Va of the Capital Ship… No Translation Available.” 
 
    “Ensign Lu-Va. My team is working on a means to assist. May I ask what led you to be adrift in space?” 
 
    There was a long pause. “Must you know the circumstance in order to render assistance?” The Ensign asked with incredulity. 
 
    “Ensign Lu-Va. I operate a small scout ship that is able to do little more than deliver your request for assistance to the allied force that I am part of. They do not understand how a Confederation Capital Ship could have fallen and do not believe it is safe to approach.” 
 
    There was another long pause. “We don’t know for sure. There was an alert. Then intruder alerts. Then an apparent mutiny. We were ordered to evacuate the civilians. I am just an ensign trying to save nearly 1,000 civilians. Please, you must help.” 
 
    When there was no immediate reply, Ensign Lu-Va pleaded, “Can you at least spare us an atmospheric replicator? We are close to losing some of the children. We’ve been adrift for a week and are near suffocation.” 
 
    Captain Martin had been listening. “Lieutenant ask the Ensign if he can send us the specifications for such a device. I’m sure we can make one for him.” 
 
    “Ensign Lu-Va. We do not have a device of that description. But, if you have the replicator specifications, we should be able to make one for you.” 
 
    “Yes. Will send momentarily. Please notify the High Command of our situation if you are able.” 
 
    After a minute or so the specifications came through. 
 
    “The specifications have been received. I’ll pass them along and get an estimated delivery time for you ASAP.” 
 
    “Thank you. I will stay on the line if I may.” 
 
    Captain Martin sent the specs to the replicator team, then forwarded a recording of the message to Admiral Porter, the Buenos Aires and the Earth Alliance Headquarters. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS BANGKOK 
 
    Captain Shi of the Bangkok approached his assigned escape pod cautiously. This one had clearly failed. It was cracked open. Bloated Lorexian bodies were floating in space nearby. And there was something else. Dust seemed to crawl across the surface of the ship. 
 
    “We’re recording this, right?” He asked his tactical officer, who appeared to be panicking. 
 
    “Lieutenant?” He asked. 
 
    “ENEMY! We need to get out of here!” He screamed. The lieutenant had been in the first session of Professor Jensen’s applied reactions class. He’d never felt this level of panic in his life. 
 
    The Bangkok backed away, as Captain Shi called in his report. 
 
    The answer was almost immediate. “Bomb the escape pod. Enclose it in a sticky field, then drag it on an intercept course with the star.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE OFFICE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. I have bad news. We have intercepted two escape pods. One reported that they encountered an unknown force, were boarded and a mutiny appeared to break out. This happened one week ago, and they are desperate for air, which we are in the process of providing according to the escape pod’s replicator specifications. 
 
    “The other’s hull has cracked open and it was crawling with Enemy. The escape pod was bombed, and its remains are being hauled into the star.”  
 
    “Ra-Mu! That fool! Despite all the warnings, he took on the Enemy before going to Earth for upgrades. The intelligent people under his command must have rebelled, but sadly not in time.” The anguish in the Admiral’s voice was palpable. 
 
    “The remains must be sifted through; the ships accounted for. With that much food, navigation and reasonably capable ships, they will be on Earth in a matter of weeks.” 
 
    … 
 
    Daniel’s next stop was Michael and the Space Force Chain of Command. He sent emergency meeting requests to Secretary Thompson, Admiral Scott and Michael. Michael was the first to respond. 
 
    “Admiral Porter. What is the nature of the emergency?” 
 
    “We’ve found the lost Confederation Armada. It engaged the Enemy and has been badly damaged. We’ve just begun the investigation, but we know one Capital Ship is dead in the water and has launched escape pods. Similarly, we know of two Cruisers and one Fast Attack ship that are dead in the water. We have identified 20 escape pods, but there are likely more. One has survivors that are in rough shape. We’re sending them a new air replicator. Another escape pod has been totally consumed by the Enemy. It has been bombed and is in the process of being dragged into the star. 
 
    “Earlier today, we found a disabled Fast Attack ship in another system. Two more Confederation Fast Attack ships appeared shortly after one of our ships de-cloaked. They fired on it, impeding its escape, but it did escape with minimal or no damage,” Daniel concluded. 
 
    “That implies that quite a few ships are missing,” Michael said. 
 
    “That is my conclusion also. We don’t have a count of the ships in this system, only the distress beacons. Between the Enemy presence here and Confederation ships firing on us yesterday, we’re proceeding with great caution.” 
 
    “Understood. I’ll alert the Confederation Council and Space Force leadership. We need to assume a significant Enemy attack is imminent.” 
 
    “I’ll keep you updated as events unfold.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was worried. An Enemy attack could be catastrophic. And, if they came in Confederation war ships, the relationship between Earth and the Confederation would be damaged for a long time. 
 
    He needed to speak with James. 
 
    “James.” Michael called over the intercom. “Any chance I could have a moment of your time?” 
 
    “Be there momentarily. I’ll bring someone I want you to meet.” 
 
    Michael almost said that this was not a good time for that, then stopped himself. 
 
    There were two flashes of light in short succession. The first was James. The second was someone Michael had not met. His landing was not as clean as James was. Its light struggled to coalesce, and when it did, it formed into a very tired looking man. 
 
    “Michael. I’d like you to meet David Washington. He is a human, the one you helped me liberate from prison in Maryland.” 
 
    Michael extended his hand, saying. “David. It’s a pleasure to meet you. I see that James has helped you learn a very rare skill.” 
 
    “Mr. Ambassador. Thank you for getting me out of jail and for the welcome and accommodation here at the Embassy.” 
 
    “Michael,” James interrupted. “I assume the Enemy is on the move?” 
 
    “Yes. They’ve apparently overtaken the Confederation Armada that was due several days ago. Is there any chance you could help us figure out what happened and where they are now? We think we have found the flagship.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ARMADA FLAGSHIP 
 
    “Conditions among the remaining civilians are becoming dire, sir. We must make another attempt to regain the ship.” 
 
    Admiral Ra-Mu had caught whatever disease the smoke creatures spread. He was now in isolation, confined to bed. Sores would mysteriously appear on his skin and spontaneously start bleeding. Sometimes a puff of smoke would come out too. But he refused to yield to it. A voice would sound in his mind saying that the pain would go away if he just gave into it for a moment. But, he would not. He’d seen what happened to others that had. He might not survive this disease, but he would not give into it either. 
 
    “Admiral?” The Admiral could not remember who this person was, but he had become quite a nuisance. 
 
    “Do what you will. But do not let any of the smoke creatures into the secure area. Continue hosing the walls with plasma,” Ra-Mu said, his voice trailing away. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Captain Saldanha. Can you give us an update?” Daniel asked. He had gathered the taskforce’s fifteen captains for a briefing and planning session. 
 
    “We now have four ships inspecting the system where the confrontation took place. We’ve not approached the Capital Ship or either of the Cruisers, instead we’ve been focusing on the escape pods. Eleven have been inspected so far. Eight of the eleven have survivors. The other three were infected. The infected pods were bombed, encased in a shield and placed on a collision course with the star. 
 
    “We have also found five Fast Attack ships. All were adrift and none came to life to attack us. Beyond that, we have no data. 
 
    “Of the 20 or more ships in the armada, we know of eight in this system, although we probably haven’t found all the ones here. Similarly, we have not found any non-Confederation ships. 
 
    “In the first system we entered, we encountered three Fast Attack ships, one in distress, two others that turned on us and landed a hit on the Buenos Aires. 
 
    “That means there are at least nine ships that are unaccounted for,” the captain concluded. 
 
    “Earth has been alerted to the situation,” Daniel said. “Shortly, they will begin implementing the defensive plans. 
 
    “Our original mission to root out the Enemy in this sector continues, but it has been subordinated to search, rescue and information gathering in this system. 
 
    “Toward that end, Captain Saldanha will continue leading the team in the target system until we arrive. Focus your attention on the escape pods but use your additional watch capacity to scan the system for additional ships. We need to improve our count. Once the remainder of the task force is in the system, we will attempt to discern the fate of the war ships, rescuing as many survivors as we can. 
 
    “Any questions?” Daniel asked. 
 
    Captain Pirdoost raised his hand. 
 
    “Yes, Captain.” Daniel looked at him. 
 
    “In the other system, there were two active ships that would be an immediate threat to Earth if they’ve been turned by the Enemy. What are we going to do about that?” 
 
    “Over the next six hours nothing. Those ships are slow and will take days to get to Earth. We need to see if there are survivors among the millions of Confederation civilians aboard the Capital Ship. When we can spare the resources, we’ll seek them out and we’ll do so with overwhelming force.  
 
    “Earlier today, possibly yesterday at this point, we learned that the Confederation has developed a new weapon that is deadly to our ships. Therefore, until our back is against the wall at Earth, we will approach any Confederation warship with a large force. We may or may not be able to stop another attack, but we will extract a high price if one takes place. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MAIN OFFICE, JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION 
 
    Bob saw his wife, Martha, come in through the front door of the company’s offices. Smiling, he got up to greet her. “Hey sweety.” He gave her a peck on the cheek. “Come in and check out the new design. The Angoloran design tools have made the redesign so easy. And the AI… Wish I could hire him.” 
 
    As Martha looked through the drawings, she noted that many items were not entirely consistent with the county’s code and inspection rules. “Bob, the county will never approve this. It’s not to code.” 
 
    “Well, technically, it is to code. In fact, it’s well within the code. The problem is with the inspections. Over time, the inspection sequence has become so locked in, for the convenience of the county I might add, that many things within the code have functionally been disallowed. 
 
    “John… You know our lawyer John, right?” Bob asked. 
 
    Martha just rolled her eyes. “You mean the John that came over for dinner Monday night?” 
 
    “Oh. Forgot about that. Anyway, John put together a legal brief that he reviewed with the County Council at their meeting last night, explaining how the current inspection process was questionably legal and an impediment to utilizing Confederation technology in our county. You know how much they’ve been pestering everyone to get some of the Confederation freebees coming down. 
 
    “He then went on to propose a new inspection process that would apply to construction using Confederation technology. They went on to approve the process pending a test case, review and approval. 
 
    “Today I got the test license. Build and inspection are scheduled for tomorrow.” 
 
    “What?” She asked perplexed. “You’re going to build your house tomorrow?” 
 
    “Up to the point of first inspection, which will be most of it.” Bob beamed. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CHEF MARCO’S 
 
    Nelly arrived at Chef Marco’s to find Eugene waiting for her.  
 
    “Hi.” He said with a big smile. “Thanks for letting me know you were going to be back so soon.” 
 
    “Let’s get our table, then I’ll tell you all about it.” She smiled back. 
 
    The host took them to a cozy table for two in the corner. Although one row back from the window, the table was elevated and oriented such that they both had a great view out over the valley. 
 
    “Tell me about it,” Eugene said, still smiling like a teenager on his first date. 
 
    “I’d messaged my boss on the way back Sunday night, letting him know that I needed to speak with him first thing on Monday. So, I went in early to clear the stuff that had come in over the weekend and make as much progress on this week’s report as possible. I finally heard back from his assistant, saying he could give me 15 minutes at 11:45. 
 
    “It had occurred to me that I should probably start clearing personal stuff from my desk, but I didn’t want to do that before I’d told him I would be leaving the Fed. Nonetheless, I grabbed a couple things I keep locked in my desk, like my passport and spare apartment key, and put them in my purse. 
 
    “Anyway, I get to his office, he invites me in and asks what’s up. I tell him that I’ve been offered the chairmanship of the new central bank that the Earth Alliance is forming. 
 
    “He looks at me in shock, then after a moment starts laughing. He says. ‘Nelly, you really had me there for a moment, but you are nowhere near qualified for a job like that. If they were going to create their own central bank, they’d go with one of the current heads, or at least one of the regional presidents. Not you.’ He actually said that. Forgive the language, but what an asshole!” 
 
    Eugene could not help but laugh at the vulgarity. “And apparently, not all that smart either.” 
 
    “Of course. I go on to say that they actually did offer me the job and I had accepted it. And that we needed to work out a transition plan. 
 
    “Well, after a little more increasingly ridiculous back and forth, he pushes a button on his phone and calls for security. Then he looks at me and says. ‘Here’s the transition plan. Security is going to come in and escort you out of the building. We will send you anything in your desk that isn’t ours.’ Sure enough, security comes in, asks for my Federal Reserve ID card and escorts me out. 
 
    “I was flabbergasted. What did he think I was going to do? Rob the bank? Write up a fake report to crash the stock market?” Nelly paused, realizing that she was getting a little too riled up. 
 
    “Anyway, as upsetting as that was, I am very happy to be here so soon. In truth, continuing on through a transition would have been torturous. I’m happy I got out as quickly as I did,” she said, finally relaxing into the moment. 
 
    Eugene saw the Chef approaching the table. “Would you be interested in some champagne to celebrate?” 
 
    “That sounds nice.” Nelly smiled. 
 
    “Good evening and welcome,” Chef Marco said. “Would you like to start with some champagne? I heard that this might be a special occasion.” 
 
    “Yes.” Eugene said. “Could you bring us the wine list?” 
 
    “I’ll be back in a moment,” said the Chef.  
 
    As he left, he nodded to one of the busboys, who brought out an ice bucket and two champagne flutes. 
 
    The Chef came back a few minutes later with a bottle that he presented to Eugene. “2006 Dom Pérignon Rosé. Possibly the finest champagne available today. Complements of the Ambassador.” 
 
    Eugene was speechless. 
 
    “That would be perfect,” Nelly said. 
 
    The Chef expertly opened, then poured a tasting quantity for Nelly. She took a tiny sip and nodded her approval. Once the glasses were filled, the Chef said, “I’ll be back momentarily with your appetizers.” 
 
    Once the Chef was out of earshot, Nelly said, “It seems we are being taken care of tonight. I mentioned to Evan that I was planning to have dinner with you. Word must’ve gotten back to Michael.” 
 
    It took Eugene a moment to remember who Evan was. “Evan, adjunct diplomat, your escort the night of the Peruvian event?” 
 
    “Yes. Michael sent him back to San Francisco to help me get packed up. Sweet guy. Hard to believe he’s only 2 months old.” 
 
    “Two months old?” Eugene said perplexed, then in a flash of insight. “He’s an android?” 
 
    Nelly smiled and said. “Yes. Programed to be courteous and helpful. But quickly learning to be human. Who would have believed such a thing 10 years ago?” 
 
    “We live in a much better world now,” Eugene said, trying to flush the momentary jealousy from his system. 
 
    A waiter came out with their first course and placed it on their table. He quickly disappeared as Chef Marco walked up to explain. “This is a fresh creation made just for you, a modern interpretation of Squid Sushi. The squid has been marinated in a classic chili, herb and garlic vinaigrette. It is served on a slice of avocado and accented with ginger, basil and truffle. Please enjoy.” 
 
    As the Chef left, Nelly whispered, “This looks like a piece of art. How in the world do they do this?” 
 
    “With great skill, no doubt.” Eugene took the first of two tiny slices on his fork and placed it in his mouth. A moment later. “Wow. How do they do that?” 
 
    They talked about the food, life at the embassy, Nelly’s excitement and trepidation about the new job as a second, then the third appetizer came out. 
 
    “So, how is your project coming?” Nelly asked, just as the entrée came out. 
 
    … 
 
    “It’s been a bit difficult since our engineering interface team has been swept away on mission. Kelly and I can do the math. We can even do a passable job of the engineering. But neither of us can build the replicator specifications. We’ve been very dependent on Henry and Jacob, and we’ve only been able to get bits and pieces of their time since the Space Force fleet left for Andromeda. That said, we have a prototype built, but no good way to test it,” Eugene said. 
 
    By his tone, it was clear to Nelly that Eugene was a bit depressed about his lack of progress. 
 
    “Have you considered asking the Angolorans for help? They have all the technology the institute has. In fact, they have more and in much greater quantity.” 
 
    “I don’t think I can do that,” Eugene said. “Everything we’ve been working on is classified as secret.” 
 
    “Have you asked Michael?” 
 
    “No. Didn’t think of that.” 
 
    “He has been very involved in your work, hasn’t he?” 
 
    “But the contact always went through Professor MacLellan. He is a very senior Confederation official. Unfortunately, he’s in Andromeda with the task force.” 
 
    “Have you spoken with him?” 
 
    Eugene smiled at Nelly. “No. Seems like my default when confronted with a problem is to do more math, not talk to people. But now that you mention it, they were considering my new shields for use in Andromeda. Then suddenly, requests for assistance fell off. I’ll give Professor MacLellan a call in the morning. 
 
    “Thanks,” he said affectionately. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Sir. We are entering the system.” Else said to Daniel, who had been camped out in the bridge office most of the day. 
 
    “Admiral, we’re being hailed by Captain Saldanha of the Cairo.” Yeoman Harris’ voice said over the intercom. 
 
    “Put it through.” 
 
    “Captain Saldanha,” Daniel greeted as the line connected. 
 
    “Admiral. We’ve scanned all 20 escape pods. A total of six were swarming with Enemy combatants. The other 14 are intact but in very poor condition. We have been attempting to assist. But we can do little more than transport in supplies. 
 
    “We have also found another Cruiser and three more Fast Attack ships. Their distress beacons have become muted, so were hard to lock onto. The ships have otherwise gone completely dark and have not answered hails.” 
 
     “Thank you, Captain,” Daniel said. “What is the current disposition of your ships?”  
 
    “They are searching the system for additional ships and debris.” 
 
    “OK. We need to begin the process of close-in inspection of the ships that are adrift. Has your search revealed any that are more likely to have survivors on board?” 
 
    “There is definitely activity aboard the Capital Ship. It seems the fight is still raging. There are continuous energy discharges consistent with energy projectors. Similar, but to a much lesser degree on the two Cruisers nearby.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. New orders will be released momentarily,” Daniel said, dropping the line.  
 
    His next call was to Major Edward Foster, leader of the Space Marines aboard the Ottawa. “Major Foster. Please meet me on the bridge as soon as possible.”  
 
    While waiting for the Major, Daniel put in a call to Admiral Jo-Na. 
 
    … 
 
    “Admiral Porter. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na. I think we’re going to need your help for the rescue. We have approximately 14,000 Lorexians stranded in escape pods that are slowly failing. We don’t have the capacity to take that many aboard our ships. We also don’t have the ability to tow those ships to a safe port. 
 
    “In addition, we have good reason to believe that the fight still rages aboard the Capital Ship disabled in this system. There is also some fighting on two of the Cruisers. We’re going to attempt to gain control of those three ships. If we succeed in liberating any of them, we will not be able to provide much assistance in their recovery.” 
 
    “I understand,” Jo-Na replied. “Let me see what I can do. 
 
    “In the meantime, please offer any assistance you can to help my people. But one word of caution. The Admiral that heads that armada is aligned with the group that developed the weapon used against the Helsinki.” 
 
    “Thank you, sir,” Daniel said, disconnecting the call. 
 
    … 
 
    Moments later, the door chime sounded. 
 
    “Come in.” 
 
    The door opened and Ed Foster came in. 
 
    “Ed, the fight is apparently still raging aboard the Capital Ship. It may also be on in two of the Cruisers. We will be heading there momentarily to make a better assessment of the situation. But my instincts are that we’re going to have to board the ships and ferret the Enemy out. 
 
    “Toward that end, I am promoting you to Lt. Colonel with operational authority over the taskforce’s 15 extended platoons. Come up with a plan. Organize your troops. Draw in whatever resources you need. You have about four hours. 
 
    “Else,” Daniel called out.  
 
    “Here, Admiral.” Else replied. 
 
    “Can you process the promotion of Edward Foster to Lt. Colonel with operational authority over the taskforce’s 15 extended platoons?” 
 
    “Yes. I can do that. I’ll advise Lt. Harris to enter the record into your log and to issue the appropriate insignias.” 
 
    “Thanks, Else.” 
 
    Daniel quickly issued orders for the ships to make way toward the Capital ship. Then he retreated to his cabin to take a nap. The next 24-hours would be very strenuous. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MARINE PLANNING ROOM, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    As soon as Ed got back to the marine’s section of the ship, he logged into his portal and saw that it had been updated. His new rank was shown, and he could see all the platoons under his command. 
 
    He sent out a meeting request to the 14 majors and to Lt. Evan James, his second. 
 
    “Evan.” He triggered the comm system. “I need to speak with you immediately. Please come to the planning room.” 
 
    In the portal, he put all fifteen platoons on 2 hours ready alert effective in one hour. He heard a number of communicators beep out in the training room. 
 
    Moments later, Evan came in looking very groggy. “What’s up boss.” 
 
    “We will be deploying in about 4 hours.” 
 
    “We are in the middle of deep space, aren’t we?” 
 
    “No. Just entered the target system. The Confederation Armada has been ravaged by the Enemy. The fight is still raging on three ships that the Enemy has boarded but not taken. We’re going in to take those ships back.” 
 
    “Shit,” Evan said. 
 
    “We need a plan. I’ve scheduled a meeting with the leaders of the other platoons. Ours is the only one with actual experience using the new weapons…” 
 
    Ed’s words caused Evan to look more closely at him. “You’ve been promoted.” 
 
    “Probably should have started with that,” Ed said with a smile. “You are being promoted also, acting-Captain James. So, we need a plan.” 
 
    “What do we know?” Evan asked. 
 
    “Not much. We’ll be hitting the Capital Ship first. There is nearly continuous energy projector fire going on inside the ship. That’s about all we know.” 
 
    “They have the old energy projectors, don’t they?” Evan asked. 
 
    “Yes, they do. I presume that they have holed up someplace that’s heavily reinforced and are more or less constantly hosing the walls, frying any combatants that penetrate.” 
 
    “Are we going to get any intel, or are we just going in blind?” 
 
    “I think we’re going to get a little intel. The Admiral said we would be scanning the ships before going in.” 
 
    “Can we get the ship layout?” Evan asked. 
 
    “Let’s see. Admiral Porter,” Ed called out, activating the comm system. 
 
    “The Admiral is not available for the next 2 hours, 41 minutes.” The comm system replied. 
 
    After a moment’s thought. “Joel.” Ed tried. 
 
    “Major Foster. What can I do for you at this late hour?” 
 
    “I need the ship layout for the Capital Ship in the Confederation Armada.” 
 
    “That is very restricted information.” Joel said, surprised that such a request would be coming to him. 
 
    “A Confederation Capital Ship has been captured by the Enemy. We are going in to assist in about four hours. It would really help to at least have the floor plan.” 
 
    After a moment’s thought, Joel said. “Let me see what I can do.” 
 
    Joel sent an urgent message to Michael on internal and got an immediate reply. “Calling.” 
 
    “Joel, what’s going on?” 
 
    “We are apparently about to board a Confederation Capital Ship that has been captured by the Enemy. Unfortunately, we do not have a floor plan. Any chance you can help?” 
 
    “Give me a minute.” Michael said, putting Joel on hold. 
 
    A minute later, Michael came back on the line. “Joel, I have Admiral Jo-Na on the line.” 
 
    “Admiral,” Joel said. 
 
    “Joel, I didn’t think I’d be speaking with you again so soon. So, Daniel is giving the order to go in.” 
 
    “I think so. I’m here with Major Ed Foster, leader of the Space Marines on the Ottawa. Let me turn this over to him.” 
 
    “Admiral,” Ed said. “I was just promoted to Lt. Colonel and will be leading the 900 troops going in to liberate that ship. As I think you know, we have advanced close-in weapons and personal shields that are Enemy-resistant. So, I’m hoping that we can succeed. What we don’t have is a floor plan for the ship. Can you help us with that?” 
 
    “One moment.” Jo-Na’s first thought was to go through channels. Unfortunately, that would take days and this fight would be settled in a matter of hours. He didn’t want to release such information unsanctioned either. The Inspector had arrested him for that just a couple months ago, an act of stupidity that set much of their current problems in motion. But if he didn’t do it, the odds of liberating the ship were vanishingly small. Reluctantly, he put his claws in the DNA scanner in his desk; thereby authorizing a restricted act. Then he sent the floor plan for his ship to Michael. 
 
    “Mi-Ku. I’ve sent you the plans for my ship. They are slightly different than the two Capital Ships in the Armada. But it is the closest thing I have, and it will take days to get you the plans for those two ships, if they release them to you at all.” 
 
    “Thank you, my friend. We will do everything in our power to liberate that ship and return it to you as intact as possible.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLEET FAST ATTACK SHIP, ANDROMEDA 
 
    Ja-Ru and Admiral Jo-Na stood outside the interrogation room. A buzzer sounded and the door unlocked. Jo-Na looked at Ja-Ru and asked, “Ready?” 
 
    Ja-Ru nodded, and the Admiral opened the door. They entered to see a terrified assistant chief. They took seats and stared at him for a few moments, then Ja-Ru said, “Ma-To. It will go easier for you if you give a full and complete confession now.” 
 
    He trembled. “It wasn’t my idea. It was the treacherous Ascendant.” 
 
    “I repeat. It will go easier on you, if you give a full and complete confession. We have learned quite a bit at this point. If any of that is missing from your confession…” Ja-Ru just let the statement hang out there. 
 
    “I request representation,” the terrified man said. 
 
    “You have committed an act of treason during a time of war!” The Admiral roared, slamming his fist on the steel table hard enough to dent it. “You are entitled to nothing more than a summary field execution!” The Admiral reared up as if he was going to pounce on the man. 
 
    Ja-Ru put his hand out in a pacifying motion. “But it doesn’t need to come to that,” Ja-Ru said in a calming voice. “There are much more lenient punishments for those that help expose the larger network of conspirators. There are even options that do not require reconditioning.” 
 
    Not getting an immediate response, Ja-Ru continued. “We already know of two conspirators more highly placed than you. If we can take them down, there will be no need for you to suffer. It is clear that you are just a pawn, coerced into doing something you didn’t want to by very powerful people.” 
 
    The former assistant chief started to lose his composure, but otherwise remained silent. 
 
    The Admiral stood. “Come. We do not need the help of this insect. His refusal to help is all I need to space him. Let’s go.” 
 
    The Admiral stepped toward the door as Ja-Ru started to stand. He said to the Admiral. “At least do it quickly. I don’t want one of my men left behind in a depleted escape pod.” 
 
    With those words, the assistant chief cracked. There was a rumor that had circulated around the Fleet for years about executions carried out by placing a crewman in an unpowered escape pod, where they would either suffocate or freeze. There were even versions of the rumor where the officers would set up a betting pool on how long it would take, and which method would be the cause of death. 
 
    … 
 
    By morning, the confession was full and complete. Fourteen officers and crew were named as being part of the Inspector’s network. The source of the cascade bomb was named. The plan for reprocessing the rejected parts was laid out for them, as was the process by which the transluminide would be taken off the ship. Admiral Jo-Na was deeply concerned about how broad and deep this conspiracy ran.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 MARINE PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Ed and Evan were the last to arrive in the virtual planning room. Ed knew that none of them were happy about his tardiness. But none would complain. He was their commanding officer and they knew he’d only be late if there was a sound reason. 
 
    “Thank you for joining me at this hour.” Looking at the clock he saw that it was now 11:40 PM. “In approximately three and a half hours, we will be launching an assault on a Confederation Capital Ship that has been boarded by the Enemy. We have very little intel on the situation. The ship’s communications are quiet, other than the emergency beacon declaring that they have been boarded. Scanners detect nearly continuous weapons fire within the ship. We have a generic layout for that ship class. 
 
    “That is the only intelligence we have at the moment. We expect to get a little more before we board. Our job over the next hour is to come up with the best plan we can, then to prepare. 
 
    “Ideas?” He said looking at the major to his right. 
 
    … 
 
    Ed was pleasantly surprised by the quality of the plan they’d come up with. It would undoubtedly change as intel came in, but that was the way of war. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    James wanted to take David with him for this search, but he still did not have the strength. He would eventually. But he didn’t have enough for the trip that needed to be made today. 
 
    Transforming to pure energy, James cast himself along a straight-line toward the task force. It had taken a long time to learn, but he now knew how to spot the micro-punctures in space-time that allowed the Enemy to maintain coherence. This search would not take all that long. 
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 EMERGENCY 
 
    [Thursday, 1.16.2031] INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    James found the ragtag Enemy convoy making their way toward Earth. There were six ships in total, a Capital Ship, a Cruiser and four Fast Attack ships. The Capital Ship had nearly a million infected Lorexians aboard. With Eugene’s traps, some of them could be saved. Unfortunately, the majority of them were already lost, 
 
    The Fast Attack ships were different, bipolar. Almost everyone aboard was fully Enemy at this point. But there were between ten and twenty that were uninfected. They were being saved as food. 
 
    The Cruiser was similar. Most aboard were fully Enemy. Twenty-four were being held as food. 
 
    This was the conundrum. It would be easy to destabilize the dimensional bubbles the ships were traveling in, which would rip the ship apart. As attractive as that sounded, it would kill the Lorexians reserved for food and any infected that were still recoverable. 
 
    There had to be a better way, a way to simply kick the ships back into normal space without destroying them. In a flash of insight, James knew what to do. He only needed to destabilize the power supply to the helm AI.  
 
    He approached the Capital Ship and started destabilizing the helm AI’s power. As soon as its power started fluctuating, the AI dropped back into normal space to prevent the ship from falling back uncontrolled. Once in normal space, James melted the AI’s power connection, then melted the power lines going to the Warp and Jump field emitters. The ship was now dead in space and would be until the Enemy could affect repairs. 
 
    The other ships did not stop, but one-by-one he caught up with them and did the same. He needed to tell Michael. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was awakened by an emergency alarm sounding in his mind. It was from James. Meet me in your office across the hall. 
 
    Coming. Checking his internal chronometer, Michael saw that it was 3:09 AM. 
 
    “Michael. I have grave news,” James said. “I found the Enemy. They captured a Capital Ship, a Cruiser and four Fast Attack Ships. In the week or so they’ve had the ships, they’ve spawned over 1,000 combatants approaching maturity. They’ve infected all but a few of the crew and civilians on board. The remainder are being saved for food. There are currently over 1 million hatchlings maturing within Lorexian hosts.” 
 
    Michael was stricken by the number infected. Those poor people are in a living hell, he thought. 
 
    “Where are the ships and what’s their status?” Michael asked, fear creeping into his bones. 
 
    “At the rate they were traveling, about 38 hours away. But I was able to cripple the ships,” James replied. “They are now adrift. If we are going to save any of the Lorexians aboard, you must mobilize ships to each location immediately.” 
 
    “Do you know if that was the last of them? Are there anymore still on their way to Earth?” 
 
    “Unfortunately, I don’t know. They are the only ones I saw, but it would be impossible to rule out the existence of more.” 
 
     “Then we need to assume that there are still more on the way.” Michael muttered. 
 
    “Eugene’s new shields will work. Have Joel test them on the Capital Ship Daniel is approaching. Then put them up around Earth. They won’t hinder you, but they will stop any Enemy that make it this far.” 
 
    “Good ideas.” 
 
    “You should probably also send a ship to Karagon with enough humans aboard to perpetuate the species.” After a few seconds pause, James continued. “I’ll leave you now. I think I can help Daniel.” And with that, James disappeared in a brilliant flash of light. 
 
    … 
 
    Michael was stunned. They had made plans for this exigency, but he never thought he would need to set them in motion. He quickly pulled the relevant plan into his short-term memory and began executing it. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING RESIDENCES 
 
    An alarm went off in Eugene’s room, one he did not remember setting. By the time he found the device making the noise, he was wide awake. It was his handheld communicator and the call was from Michael. 
 
    Picking it up and turning it on, Eugene asked, “Michael?”  
 
    “Eugene, sorry to wake you in the middle of the night. The Enemy is coming. There is a very small chance they could arrive as early as tomorrow night. What is the status of your trap?” 
 
    “What?” Eugene stammered in disbelief. 
 
    “Eugene.” Michael said calmly. “The time has come. Earth is about to defend herself. I need to know if your Enemy trap works. If I can include it in our defense plan?” 
 
    “I have a small one that initializes and does not impede normal objects. I’ve walked through it. I have every expectation that it will stop the Enemy. But we won’t know for sure until it’s tested,” Eugene said, adrenaline starting to flow. 
 
    “I’ll have Joel call you in a few minutes. He’ll have the opportunity to test it in a couple hours.” There was a short pause. “Eugene, I want to evacuate a few select people to Karagon. I want you and Kelly to go. Will you?” 
 
    “I don’t know.” Eugene said, fear now taking a firm grip. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA, MISSION LAB 
 
    Just before midnight, Joel decided to take a short nap on the cot that he’d set up here in the lab. His role during the liberation attempt would be here, getting as much technology into the Space Marines’ hands as possible. An emergency message woke him from a restless sleep. 
 
    “Joel. Contact Eugene immediately. He may have a solution relevant to your problem. I need to know if it works ASAP, but hopefully in less than an hour. He is expecting your call now.” 
 
    Joel roused himself, then called Eugene. After a brief conversation, the specs for the new build appeared in his queue. 
 
    “My immediate need is to sweep a ship,” Joel said. “Would this work on a ship? One that is a kilometer in diameter, maybe a little larger?” 
 
    “I think so. In space the field would be ellipsoidal. The design you have would be five kilometers diameter and about two kilometers thick at its widest point. Everything in our dimension would simply pass right through it. The Enemy will be caught by both the leading and trailing edge. The only question is what will happen to them as they are dragged through the steel. They might explode. They might just retreat into their other three dimensions and re-emerge later. We really don’t know.” After several moments pause, he continued. “If you attached the field projector to a remote-piloted craft of some sort, you could drag the field over the ship, then fly it into the nearest star. The way Kelly did with her net.” 
 
    “Great idea. I think I’ll try that. Thanks Eugene. I’ll get back to you in a couple hours to let you know if it worked.”  
 
    Joel tried reaching Daniel next, but he was not available. So, Joel called Ed Foster. 
 
    “Joel. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “I think I have a new weapon that might clear the ship before you board.” 
 
    “All ears, my friend.” Ed replied 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EUGENE XU’s RESIDENCE 
 
    There’s no point in trying to go back to sleep. Eugene thought. Let’s see how viable it is to scale the Enemy trap to planetary scale. 
 
    Eugene settled into his desk and started cranking numbers. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel entered the bridge, just as they were coming into visual range of the Capital ship. “What do we have?” he asked. 
 
    Although it was second watch, Executive Officer Duan Tai was still on the bridge, as was the officer on watch, First Officer Darsha Kumar. Darsha answered. “No reply to hails. Enemy visible on the hull. Scans show Enemy and Lorexians aboard. The Enemy is all over the place. The Lorexians still have most of the open area in the back of the ship. There is more or less continuous Energy Projector fire back there.” 
 
    “Do you think we could transport a comm device into that area, so we could talk with them?” Daniel asked. 
 
    “We can always try,” First Officer Kumar replied. 
 
    A call for Daniel came over the comm line.  
 
    “See if you can make the communicator idea work. I’ll take this in the office,” Daniel said. 
 
    … 
 
    Once in the office, Daniel acknowledged the call. 
 
    “Admiral. Ed Foster here with Joel Rubenstein. We think we have a weapon that will clear the ship of the Enemy before we board.” 
 
    “For now, I can only operate it from down here in the lab.” Joel said. “If it works, it won’t be all that hard to integrate into the ship’s systems, or to train people to use.” 
 
    “OK. Ed, come on up to the bridge. I’d like to understand how you would integrate that into your plan. We are also about to get our first round of intel. Joel, we’ll get back to you when we’re ready to give it a try.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO AREA, CONFEDERATION CAPITAL SHIP 
 
    Captain Ma-Ro was worried. Admiral Ra-Mu was still breathing, but It had been an hour since he’d moved. The Energy projectors were starting to run low and they’d lost several people during their last fall back. Things were going to fall apart in the next couple hours. 
 
    A voice came over what sounded like a comm box. “This is Admiral Daniel Porter of the Earth Alliance Ship Ottawa. We are standing off a couple kilometers from your ship. We are planning a rescue attempt. Can you please report on your situation?” 
 
    Silence came over the room. Everyone staring at a box dropping slowly from the ceiling on a small parachute. 
 
    “Repeat. This is Admiral Daniel Porter of the Earth Alliance Ship Ottawa. Can you hear me?” 
 
    Ma-Ro broke the silence. “This is executive officer Ma-Ro of the Confederation Fleet Flagship ‘Tomorrow.’ Smoke people have taken over most of the ship. We have held them at bay for a week but will fall in the next couple hours. Can you help us?” 
 
    “Yes. With your permission, we will use a new type of weapon to attempt to clear your ship. It should not hurt your ship. It will not hurt any of your uninfected people. Don’t know about the infected ones.” 
 
    Ma-Ro was quick to understand that those infected might be hurt. He did not want that for the Admiral but knew what the Admiral would say if he were able. “Yes. Please use your weapon. Do it as soon as possible.” 
 
    “Commencing. It will pass from the stern of your ship to the bow.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION, BUILDING SITE 
 
    Bob arrived at the construction site at 7:30. Most everything had been staged last night. The shield was active in locked mode, so he needed to be the first one there in order to unlock the shield so others could enter. Given the weather forecast and unpredictable winter weather, he planned to keep the shields up until the house had the roof on and windows and doors installed, maybe longer. 
 
    As he entered in through the shield, he was shocked by the warmth inside. It was 18 ° F outside, maybe 70° inside.  
 
    “Just keeps getting better,” Bob whispered to himself. 
 
    He quickly adjusted the shield settings so others could come in, then went into the construction trailer, pulled out his portable computer and started reviewing the plans and construction process. 
 
    “Anybody home?” 
 
    Bob looked out the window and saw that his construction supervisor, Linzell Myers, had arrived.  
 
    Bob opened the door and called out. “Hey Lin. In here. The shield is unlocked.” 
 
    Bob and Lin had worked together for over 20 years. Bob was the businessman; Lin was the one that actually knew how to build houses. 
 
    As he came in through the shield, Lin exclaimed, “Praise Jesus! It’s warm in here.” 
 
    One of the things Bob loved about Lin was that he was an “elder or deacon or some such thing” at the local AME church. He was a good man and a good friend. 
 
    “So, we’re really going to do this today?” Lin said as he came into the trailer. 
 
    “Yep.” 
 
    “And you’ve got all the paperwork? I don’t want my license pulled cause you’ve gone alien crazy.” Lin had mixed feelings about the Confederation, although he was honest enough to admit that his life had been better since the Revelation. 
 
    Bob pointed to the document pinned to the bulletin board. 
 
    Lin looked at the document. Then, resigned to the reality that this was really going to happen, let out a heavy breath. “When is the inspector going to get here to approve the start?” 
 
    “Eight.  Oh, one more thing I need to do. Come help me move the replicator into place?” Bob got up and headed out the door. 
 
    “If there’s no avoiding it,” Lin muttered as he followed Bob out. 
 
    … 
 
    “So, this is it, huh? This is what’s going to build a house?” Inspector Tom Phillips asked. He was looking at the replicator, which was about the size and shape of a large suitcase, and two six-pronged metal devices. 
 
    “Yep.” 
 
    “What the hell are those metal things? They look like overgrown jacks. You know, the things kids play with a rubber ball.” 
 
    “Those are bots. They will be providing the labor for the main structure.” 
 
    “Oh, this I’ve got to see.” The skepticism was heavy in Tom’s voice. 
 
    “OK. This is what’s going to happen,” Bob started. “See the survey flags? That’s where the foundations will go. The house will then be framed out on top of it. Then wires and plumbing will go in. Once that’s all done, you can inspect.” 
 
    “Don’t like this process they approved for you, but let’s get it done,” Tom said begrudgingly. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “OK, Joel. Go. We will be monitoring from here.” 
 
    “Initiating transport,” Joel said. 
 
    Sensors indicated that a small vessel had appeared five kilometers from the ship. It was too small to be seen by the naked eye. Even on the monitor showing the Capital Ship, it appeared only as a blinking icon. 
 
    Behind the ship a large ellipsoid glowed into existence. The glow quickly receded, but the outline of the ellipsoid was indicated by a dotted area on the monitor. After a few moments, the dotted area started moving forward. It crept along slowly at 1 meter per second. 
 
    “Zoom in the monitor. I want to see how this device impacts the Enemy combatants on the exterior surface of the ship.” 
 
    The monitor zoomed in to show an area of the ship were several Enemy were all whipped up in their dust state. The dotted leading line of the shield approached then started passing over the first Enemy. It suddenly went crazy, its dust shooting away from the ship as it tried to escape the irresistible force sweeping it along the hull. More and more Enemy combatants were swept up, one by one getting trapped inside the two-kilometer-wide trap zone of the ellipsoidal bubble. 
 
    A number of Enemy combatants realized something was wrong and fled toward the front of the ship. 
 
    “Tactical.” Daniel said. “If any start flying off into space in front of the shield, hose them down with the energy projector.” 
 
    “Yes, sir!” said Tactical Officer Hamza Khan. 
 
    One Enemy combatant attempted to escape by diving into the ship. It was most of the way in when the red line hit. Its dust piled up against the red line, then it exploded in a spray of yellow-gray goo. 
 
    “Guess that answers that question,” Daniel said. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 CARGO AREA, CONFEDERATION CAPITAL SHIP 
 
    It’s been ten minutes since Admiral Porter said they would begin clearing the ship. Captain Ma-Ro thought. He called out. “Admiral Porter. Are you still there? We haven’t seen anything happen over here.” 
 
    “It’s working. We have swept in 600 meters from the stern of the ship. All Enemy on the surface of the ship have been captured. Those in transit through the hull have been torn apart. We do not have monitors on the inside of the ship. But any combatants in the ship should be sweeping down the halls and exploding when they hit a surface they cannot transit quickly enough. 
 
    “We will attempt to speed this up now that we know it’s working.” 
 
    … 
 
    About three minutes later, Ma-Ro saw that the Admiral had been pulled off the bed by some invisible force. He watched as the Admiral was dragged across the floor. 
 
    “Out of his way. Do not touch him or let him touch you!” Ma-Ro shouted. 
 
    As the Admiral approached the wall, smoke started pouring out of him. It raced to the wall and started tunneling through. Smoke was still trickling out of the Admiral when his body hit the wall and started compressing into it. Then seemingly out of nowhere, there was a huge eruption of yellow-gray goo. The Admiral groaned then went limp. A large puddle of blood started flowing out underneath the Admiral. 
 
    A medic came running over. He looked at Ma-Ro and said, “Sorry sir. I have to try to save him.” As he injected the Admiral with nanobots, Ma-Ro came over and started cleaning up the mess. He saw a large swatch of skin that appeared to have been shredded by the smoke as it attempted to escape. He also saw new skin starting to form. The nanobots were working, which meant that the Admiral still had a chance. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BRIDGE, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    “Quite a few Enemy combatants are now attempting to escape,” Daniel observed. 
 
    “Sorry sir,” Lt. Khan replied. “I don’t have enough capacity to clear them fast enough.” 
 
    “Captain Saldanha. Captain Pavlovich” Daniel called out. “Position your ships above and below ours. Start hosing down the Enemy escaping out the front of the ship. Have your tactical officers coordinate with the Ottawa.” 
 
    “Joel, this is going to take hours. Can we speed up the process at all?” 
 
    “Yes, but it is placing a heavy load on the drone as it is.” 
 
    “Can we make more drones?” 
 
    “Yes, but I cannot move. Can you send someone down that I can transition the control to?” 
 
    First watch tactical officer Kaitlin O’Brien was still on the bridge, despite the fact her watch had ended over three hours ago. She popped up and said, “I’ll go Admiral.” 
 
    Daniel looked at her and said, “Go.” 
 
    … 
 
    Kaitlin O’Brien was the definition of a quick study. Within five minutes, Joel released the controls of the new weapon to her. They had increased speed to 1.25 meters per second, but the drone was now close to redlining. “Hold it steady at this speed. If power consumption goes above 105%, back off. I think power consumption will continue to increase as we collect more in the trap. So, at some point you’ll need to drop speed. It’s more important to keep the field intact than it is to hold speed,” Joel said, then left her to start replicating more drones. 
 
    Once the first drone was done, Joel reached out to Ka-Tu, sending him the replicator specs. 
 
    “Admiral,” Joel called out. 
 
    “Here. What’s your status?” Daniel replied. 
 
    “The trap we’re using is getting full. We’ll need to stop soon. I’ve built a second one. I’ve also sent the specifications to Ka-Tu on the Oslo. We’ll need another officer to operate the new drone and one for the drone the Oslo will have in about a half hour. Can you send me more tactical officers for training? We’ll need three. The Oslo will need at least four. If we get more ships involved, they could start processing the Cruisers.” 
 
    “Excellent idea. You will have more people shortly.” Daniel closed the connection and started issuing orders. 
 
    Joel dashed out a quick note to Michael and another to Eugene. In each note, he suggested that they redirect the design AIs, Henry and Jacob, to work with Eugene on getting as many of the traps prepared as possible. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S HOME OFFICE 
 
    It was about 4:30 AM and Michael found that it was difficult making any progress at this hour. He needed President Lee’s cooperation to call an emergency meeting of the Earth Alliance Advisory Council. And he needed their permission to start alerting the various heads of state, so they could start putting up protections and considering evacuation options. 
 
    But President Lee was not responding to any of the calls Michael made. 
 
    Admiral Scott was the first to reply and quickly started recalling the ships that were part of the mining mission. Only the Amsterdam, New Delhi, London and Amman were still engaged in the mining mission. The rest were doing research, which they could quickly restart once the crisis had passed. 
 
    Secretary Thompson was a little slower responding but volunteered to go over to President Lee’s home to awaken him. 
 
    When the word came that Eugene’s latest invention worked, Michael started calling heads of state in countries that were awake. His first call was to the President of the People’s Republic of China, where it was 7:00 PM. 
 
    … 
 
    “Michael, it’s been several months since we’ve spoken. To what do I owe the pleasure of an unscheduled call.” 
 
    Michael had a harder time reading people over the phone, but he had the impression that the President was not particularly happy with him at the moment. 
 
    “Mr. President, I have grave news that must be held in the greatest confidence. The Enemy has defeated the new Confederation Armada sent to protect us. A few of their ships were commandeered by Enemy combatants. We have stopped all the ones we can find. But any that we missed could arrive in as few as 36 hours.” 
 
    Michael heard a gasp on the other end of the line. 
 
    “We are making every effort to determine if there are more ships inbound, but there is a remote possibility that we will not find them before they reach Earth. We have the Space Force Fleet protecting us and planetary shields that the Enemy cannot penetrate. I have two other things that I can offer to you. The first is a new type of city shield that you could put up around your cities. The second is a little trickier. I’m planning to send a ship to Karagon in about 24 hours. It will have a small number of seats available for refugees. You will be able to nominate four or five people for those seats, but they must be reproductively able.” 
 
    This must be real if they are starting to select people for evacuation, the Chairman thought. “How did they get this close without being detected?” 
 
    “They apparently took down the Armada before it could send an alert.” 
 
    “Understood. I must advise the Politburo. They will not leak this information. The people would panic. We will take as many shields as you can give us and supply names when the time comes. Thank you for letting me know, Michael.” 
 
    … 
 
    Michael believed that the Chinese would keep it secret. The only other country he believed that of was Russia, so that was his next call. It went almost identically to the first. After that, he decided to wait. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 INTERSTELLAR SPACE 
 
    James arrived in the system where the slaughter had taken place. He was pleased to see that Daniel had found a way to liberate the remaining Confederation ships that had survivors. 
 
    He was confident that Daniel would succeed here, so headed back toward Earth hoping to find any additional ships that might be on their way. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S HOME OFFICE 
 
    At 5:45 AM President Lee called. 
 
    “Michael, I’m sorry that I didn’t get back to you sooner. My office doesn’t really have an emergency response system. So, it’s finally happening?” 
 
    “Possibly. The Enemy captured a number of Confederation war ships. We have stopped the ones that we’ve found, but we don’t know yet if we stopped them all.” 
 
    “Winston told me that you have started recalling the fleet.” 
 
    “Yes. That is true. The task force can get back in six hours, so we are holding off on that for now. They are in the midst of rescuing the remainder of the Confederation Armada that had been sent here to protect us.” 
 
    “Your insistence on having an Earth Alliance fleet has surely paid off. Did you know that the Confederation was this feeble?” 
 
    “No, I feared that they weren’t as formidable as in the past. But the reality’s turned out to be much worse than anything I could have imagined.” 
 
    “I will call an emergency session of the Advisory Council for 10:00. I could call it earlier, but we won’t get a quorum. We may not get one at 10:00, but I’ll try. What are you going to ask of them?” 
 
    “I’ll brief them as I’m required to do.  We have a new shielding concept which is superior for both planetary and regional protection. The problem will be getting enough of them in the next 36 hours to make a difference. 
 
    “I may also propose an evacuation of up to 1,000 people, enough to assure that a breeding population of humans survives this attack.” 
 
    “That is a very sobering thought,” President Lee replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    Michael was putting the finishing touches on his presentation to the Earth Alliance Advisory Council when the room erupted in light. 
 
    “Michael.” The mammoth voice resonated in his mind. “Joel has created a drone that deploys Eugene’s new shields. You must get copies of Joel’s drones to the locations I’m sending you. These are the ships I’ve disabled. They are crawling with Enemy. But each has a few Lorexians that are still alive. 
 
    “We need to cleanse these ships. I’ve prevented them from continuing on to Earth. That’ll be true for at least a day, but they will eventually continue if the ships are not cleansed. I’m attempting to determine if there are any more.” 
 
    … 
 
    James presence in energy form mesmerized Michael as it always did. But he recovered moments after James left and contacted Joel. 
 
    “Michael, really busy here. Is this urgent?” Joel asked. 
 
    “Extremely. Six ships with nearly a million Enemy aboard were on their way to Earth. They’ve dropped back into normal space to affect repairs. We need your drones and protocol to cleanse six ships ASAP. Space Force will be deploying ships to those locations shortly. Expected arrival 6 hours from now.” 
 
    “Michael. I don’t have the capacity. Let me send my design to Eugene and Henry. Let them coordinate with the ships to get the weapons built. In two or three hours, someone here will be available to train the ships on their use.” 
 
    “Good solution. Thank you, Joel, and good luck.” 
 
    As Michael dropped the line, he started thinking they might prevail after all. He messaged Eugene with instructions. Then forwarded the same message to Secretary Thompson and Admiral Scott. He included the locations of the Enemy ships. He also included instructions to dispatch ships with the replicator capacity to build the drones.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLEET HIGH COMMAND HEADQUARTERS 
 
    An elderly man appeared in Admiral Na-Vi’s outer office. The Admiral’s assistant, Commander Tu-Fa was startled by the flash of light that accompanied him. This office was protected by shields that prevented anyone from transporting in. Hand on his personal weapon, he triggered his comm device. “Security to the Admiral’s office.” 
 
    “That really isn’t necessary.”  
 
    Looking closer, the assistant realized who this man was. “Councilor Ancient? What are you doing here? You know you are not allowed to transport in like that.” 
 
    “I have urgent need to speak with the Admiral. It seemed more courteous coming here than to just appear in his office. Please alert the Admiral of my presence and desire to speak with him.” 
 
    Commander Tu-Fa stared at James, hand still on his personal weapon. “I’m sorry sir. I cannot do that.” 
 
    “Then, I’ll just knock.” James smiled at the Commander. 
 
    The Commander stood, leveling his weapon at James. But as he did, it dissolved away. 
 
    James knocked on the Admiral’s door. 
 
    “Yes.” A voice sounded inside. 
 
    James opened the door and entered. “Admiral, I have found your missing Armada.” 
 
    “What?” The Admiral roared, before recognizing the speaker. “Ancient One. Apologies. I was not expecting you.” The Admiral had been present in the Central Council Chambers the day the Speaker had insulted James. Word of the incident in the Planetary Governor’s office had also reached him. The Admiral did not want a repeat of either of those instances in his own office. 
 
    “Sadly, Admiral Ra-Mu did not heed the advice he’d been given. The fool engaged the Enemy before having his ships upgraded at Earth. It appears that he lost the entire Armada.” 
 
    Admiral Na-Vi recoiled at the words. “How do you know this to be true?” 
 
    “I’ve seen with my own eyes. I am here for two reasons. First, I need to know the number of ships, by type, that were in that Armada.” 
 
    The Admiral started to protest but stopped himself. 
 
    James continued. “You also need to send Admiral Jo-Na back to the Milky Way to rescue the survivors. The Earth Alliance Space Force Task Force arrived in time to save many of the civilians on one of the Capital Ships. But they do not have the means to transport or feed them. Jo-Na commands the only ships in the Confederation that have both the speed and capacity to save them.” 
 
    After a moment’s silence, James suggested, “Let’s start with the Armada’s composition.” 
 
    The words snapped the Admiral out of his revere. “Yes. Let me see.” He clicked numerous buttons on his desk, then replied, “Two Capital Ships, four Cruisers, sixteen Fast Attack ships, a Civil Engineering ship and two Freighters.” Then looking up at James, “You’re sure all of these have been lost?” 
 
    “Do you have the means to contact these ships? I would think that you do.” 
 
    The Admiral deflected his gaze away from James. “They went silent twelve days ago.” 
 
    “Was this expected? And if not, what did you do?” The slightest amount of heat was evident in James voice, more burned in the Admiral’s mind. 
 
    “Ra-Mu said that he might go quiet once in the Milky Way, something about not wanting his presence to be known until he announced himself.” 
 
    “That makes no sense. You have quantum entangled communications!” James’ frustration with this conversation was clear in his tone. Based on noise in the outer office, it was apparently clear in his emotional emanations as well. 
 
    “He was afraid Earth might have penetrated that as well.” 
 
    Quantum communications are impenetrable. The Confederation has known that since its founding. Fools... The words screamed in his mind as James struggled to control himself. 
 
    The thought penetrated the minds of many people in nearby offices. 
 
    “Ancient One, please,” the Admiral pleaded, desperate for James to stop.  
 
    “Send the orders to Communications to contact every ship in the Armada now. Hopefully one will still answer.” 
 
    The Admiral quickly sent the message. 
 
    “Send the order for Admiral Jo-Na to return to the Milky Way.” 
 
    The Admiral looked up in protest. 
 
    “NOW!” 
 
    The Admiral quickly shot off the message. 
 
    “It would be best if you submitted your resignation to the Central Council today. It might spare you prosecution,” James suggested, then disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    “President Lee, I was just about to come over to the Council Chambers, Is there a problem?” 
 
    “I’m sorry Michael, but we won’t have a quorum until Noon, maybe a little after. Too many of the Ambassadors are at meetings in their home countries, and we still don’t have presence projectors set up to allow for remote meetings.” President Lee’s frustration was clear. 
 
    “I don’t think we can wait any longer. I’m going to use my Executive authority to authorize additional ships into the conflict area.” 
 
    “Understood. I’ll call you when we’re ready to convene.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLEET HIGH COMMAND HEADQUARTERS, COMMUNICATIONS HUB 
 
    Word had just come down that they were to attempt to contact every ship in the Armada currently assigned to the Milky Way. The first call had gone to the Armada’s flagship, but there was no answer. 
 
    “We can’t just start contacting each ship,” the comm officer complained to his commanding officer. “Admiral Ra-Mu is well known for sabotaging the careers of junior officers that bypass the chain of command.” 
 
    There was a flash of light and an old man appeared. He wore the cloak of a Central Council member.  
 
    The two comm officers stared at him speechlessly. 
 
    “Lieutenant Ra-Na, Commander Fa-To,” James nodded to each. “I trust that you know who I am.” 
 
    Both officers nodded back. 
 
    “Good. I am here to assure that you are contacting the ships in the Milky Way as ordered. I need to know which ships are responding, and I need to know now. So, if you would…” 
 
    Commander Fa-To was the first to snap out of it. Turning to Lt. Ra-Na, he said. “I’ll start at the top of the list. You start at the bottom.” 
 
    Moments later… “I am connecting with the Freighter at the bottom of the list, but no one is answering.” 
 
    “Allow me.” James motioned to the microphone. Looking at the list, he saw the captain’s name. “Captain No-Ma. This is Councilor Ancient of the Central Council. Your flagship has been crippled. Admiral Ra-Mu is dead. I am coordinating the rescue of the surviving ships. If you are alive, I suggest that you answer me now, or you will be marked as lost.” 
 
    The other end of the line immediately crackled to life. “Ancient One. Thank the Maker that they have sent you. Four of us were ordered to jump as soon as the encounter began. We were to pick a random system within 50 light-years and hide until the Admiral contacted us. We have been waiting here for almost two weeks.” 
 
    “What is your condition?” 
 
    “Very poor. We may need to seek refuge on the Fast Attack ship that escorted us. We have everything we need to repair ourselves. We found a transluminide deposit and now have a bountiful supply. But we cannot affect repairs without orders from the Admiral.” 
 
    “Which Fast Attack Ship is escorting you?” 
 
    Lt. Ra-Na pointed to the list as the Freighter captain answered. 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. Please stand by.” 
 
    James indicated that they should cut the connection. 
 
    “You.” James pointed to Commander Fa-To. “Call Admiral Na-Vi and request orders for the ships to repair themselves.” Seeing the look on the Commander’s face, James said, “Tell him I asked you to call.” 
 
    “Lieutenant, please connect me to the Fast Attack Ship. 
 
    The line connected, but again there was no answer. 
 
    “Captain Ru-So. This is Councilor Ancient of the Central Council. You will be receiving orders from Admiral Na-Vi in a few moments. You will be ordered to use the transluminide you’ve refined to affect repair on your ships. This needs to be done as quickly as possible. An Earth Alliance ship will be coming to meet you, probably before you’ve completed your repairs. Please accompany them and do as they order. Your Armada was destroyed by the Enemy. You are being seconded to the Earth Alliance until further notice.” 
 
    There were sounds of protest from the Captain and the two comm officers. “Now!” James bellowed. The psychic command permeated the room and some of the adjacent ones. But now that James knew where the Fast Attack Ship was, it hit the Captain there as well. 
 
    “Forwarding the orders from the Admiral, sir.” Commander Fa-To replied. 
 
    “How many more ships are there to contact?” James demanded. 
 
    “Seven.” 
 
    “Then let’s do it.” 
 
    After several moments of activity, Lt. Ra-Na replied. “I have another ship that will connect, but no one answers.” 
 
    “This is becoming tedious,” James muttered, then looking at the Lieutenant, “Put me on the line.” 
 
    “The Captain’s name is Lo-Ka.” The Lieutenant whispered. 
 
    “Captain Lo-Ka, this is Councilor Ancient of the Central Council. Your armada has been destroyed. Admiral Ra-Mu is dead. I am coordinating the rescue of the surviving ships. If you are alive, I suggest that you answer me now. We are assuming that non-responsive ships are under Enemy control, and therefore will be targeted for destruction. You have 5 seconds before the status of your ship changes.” 
 
    “Councilor. We are badly damaged. We were ordered to escape while we could and to maintain communications silence.” 
 
    “Thank-you Captain. Where are you and are there any other ships with you?” 
 
    “We are one of three ships that took refuge around the moon of the fourth planet in a system about 3 light-years from the battle. Sending coordinates now.” 
 
    “What is the status of the other two ships?” 
 
    “They are mostly functional. Their shields are burnt out. Each has a number of injured. They’ve offloaded the worst of the injuries on my ship and have loaned us several engineers to assist with repairs. We have been able to restore minimal life support and hope to restore the grav-drive to the point where we can maintain orbit around the moon.” 
 
    “Good work, Captain.” James said pushing him a little confidence. “Does your group of ships have a leader?” 
 
    “Per regulations, that duty went to Captain To-Ku.” 
 
    Lt. Ra-Na pointed to the ship on his list. 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. I will contact Captain To-Ku now to discuss rescue.” 
 
    “Thank you, Ancient One.” 
 
    Lt. Ra-Na quickly dropped the line and connected to the indicated ship. 
 
    James smiled in thanks, significantly lifting the lieutenant’s spirits. 
 
    “Captain To-Ku, this is Councilor Ancient of the Central Council. Your armada has been destroyed. Admiral Ra-Mu is dead. I am coordinating the rescue of the surviving ships. I have just spoken with Captain Lo-Ka. Your orders for communications silence are remanded. Please reply.” 
 
    When there was no immediate acknowledgement, James continued. “Rescue operations are underway. Any ship that does not reply will be considered hostile. Reply now, or your ship and the other two under your command will be marked for destruction.” 
 
    “Ancient One. This is Commander Na-Ka, First Officer. The Captain is in Engineering dealing with a crisis at the moment. Can I help you?” 
 
    “Thank you, Commander.” James pushed some warmth to him. “Is it possible for me to be connected with the Captain?” 
 
    There was silence on the line. 
 
    “Commander?” 
 
    “I don’t think so sir. He was showing signs of infection, so we put him in stasis.” The fear and despair in the Commander’s voice were palpable. 
 
    “I will be there momentarily.” And with that, James disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ORIGINAL RALLY SYSTEM 
 
    A cloud of brilliant light appeared above the moon of the fourth planet. Three ships were in orbit nearby. One, which was apparently struggling to hold orbit, was about 2,000 meters below the others and maybe 10 kilometers behind. Behind it was the remnant of a gas cloud that had apparently escaped the ship. He quickly confirmed that this was Captain Lo-Ka’s ship. A quick scan of the ships helm AI confirmed what James already knew, the ship would crash into the moon in another day or two. Without transluminide and a functioning industrial replicator, it would be impossible to save.  
 
    That thought triggered another. I bet Joel and a Space Force ship could save it. James mused. 
 
    Quickly scanning the other two ships, James saw that the Enemy had infiltrated one. The Enemy infiltrator had been destroyed. Captain To-Ku had been the one to take it down, but he was infected in the process. The crew had put him in stasis and for the moment that was working. The hatchling was not large enough to draw sustenance from a body in stasis, or to escape the body. 
 
    Smart crew. James thought. Also very lucky. 
 
    The third ship was completely intact. They had increased their orbital lead on the infected ship, which was a wise precaution, but nowhere near sufficient to offer protection from an active Enemy infection. It was yet another indication of how little the Armada knew about the Enemy they fought. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FLEET HIGH COMMAND HEADQUARTERS, COMMUNICATIONS HUB 
 
    There was a brilliant flash of light and James appeared. 
 
    The two comm officers he left a few minutes ago stared at him speechlessly. 
 
    “Lieutenant Ra-Na, Commander Fa-To.” James greeted the startled men. “Captain To-Ku was infected while taking down the sole Enemy infiltrator into his ship. His crew cleverly put him in stasis, which is containing the infection for now. Captain Lo-Ka’s ship is falling from orbit. They are working valiantly to save the ship, but they will not succeed without additional help. 
 
    “These ships must also be seconded to the Earth’s Space Force. They have the means to save Captain To-Ku and possibly to save Captain Ru-So’s ship. Please coordinate the new orders with Admiral Na-Vi. The ships will be released to Admiral Jo-Na when he arrives in the system where the remains of the Armada are.” 
 
    The two officers continued to stare at James. “NOW.” The compulsion projected with James’ order permeated much of the building. Several people came running into the room asking how they could help. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S OFFICE 
 
    A huge voice sounded in Michael’s mind. 
 
    “Michael. There were 25 ships in the Armada. At this point, we’ve found them all. Four are awaiting escort at the following coordinates.” James sent the coordinates to Michael’s queue. “For now, these four are seconded to Space Force command. 
 
    “Three more are waiting in the rally system that the supplemental force first arrived in. One of the ships is badly damaged and falling out of orbit. Please try to save that ship. Another has been infected. A single hatchling is incubating within the ship’s captain. His crew was clever enough to put him in stasis, which is working for now. The ship will need to be screened with one of Eugene’s traps. The third ship in that group is in good condition, other than its shields. All three ships are being seconded to Space Force to help with the cleanup. 
 
    “Admiral Jo-Na will be returning as quickly as possible to help in the cleanup as well. 
 
    “If you have not done it already, please scramble ships to decontaminate the six I disabled earlier. 
 
    “The other 12 ships or their remains are in the system where the battle took place.” 
 
    Michael was a little slower than usual recovering from James telepathic communication. “James must be very upset,” Michael said out loud, shaking his head to clear his mind. 
 
    In the few minutes he’d been mesmerized, dozens of messages had poured into his queue. As he looked at the list, the thought ran through his mind, When James goes to work, things really happen. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION, BUILDING SITE 
 
    “I can’t believe this thing just floats above the ground.” Tom complained. “How in the hell can we approve that?” 
 
    “Tom. Language please,” Lin complained. 
 
    “Come on. Let’s go look inside.” 
 
    The construction had gone smoothly. The foundation just grew out of thin air. It started at one corner of the house, then wrapped around until the perimeter was set. Once that was done, the interior supports grew into place, connected back to the perimeter by narrow struts. 
 
    The design AI complained about these, saying they were not necessary and a waste of material. But Bob knew he would never get approved if his interior supports were just floating in the air the way the rest of the foundation was. 
 
    Once the foundation was done, the framing material started extruding out of thin air in front of the replicator. The bots would grab each piece as it was finished, then fly it to where it was supposed to go. There, they connected it together using something that looked like a laser beam shooting out of the end of one of their prongs. 
 
    The plumbing came next. This time metallic pipes extruded out of thin air in front of the replicator. The bots carried them to the appropriate positions, then secured them to the frame using something like an air gun in another one of their prongs. It shot perfect U-shaped straps into the frame to hold the pipes in place. The same laser that attached the framing material was used to ‘weld’ the pipes together. 
 
    The electrical wiring was next. The county had insisted that standard wire, not ‘some Confederation magic,’ be used for the house’s electrical system. To Bob’s relief, the bots went right to the correct spool. One lifted the 50 lb. spool up to the top of the house where it hovered, while the other pulled out the right amount of wire and threaded it down to the appropriate spot in the house. Once all the upstairs lights and outlets were wired, the bot holding the spool came down into the interior of the house to repeat the process for the ground floor. 
 
    Curious about how the bots would handle a difficult corner installation, Bob got up and walked over to the back corner in question. As he came around the corner, he saw the people across the highway standing in their picture window, watching. Bob waved and they immediately stepped away, pulling the curtains shut. 
 
    “Those two are going to be a problem.” Bob muttered. “I can feel it.” 
 
    The sound of the bots starting the difficult part of the installation got Bob’s attention and he turned to watch them work. Each had a drilling attachment of some sort in another of their prongs. This too appeared to be laser-based. Each blasted several short pulses of intense light. A perfectly circular hole started to appear. Each round of pulses made the hole another eighth inch deeper. The two holes met perfectly about halfway through the corner stud, forming a perfect 90° angle through the stud. 
 
    “Never seen a corner through-hole as clean or precise as that one.” 
 
    Tom’s voice startled Bob, who had been concentrating on the bots’ technique. 
 
    “Jesus!” Bob jumped. As he turned to say something to Tom, he saw Lin shaking his head disapprovingly. 
 
    “Check that out.” Tom said, pointing to the hole. The bots, working in perfect synchronization, pushed, then pulled the wire through the hole. “You know, we need these guys working all the corner through-holes.” 
 
    As they turned to go back over to the replicator, Lin pointed toward the horizon. “Looks like we are going to get a southeaster tonight. Glad we have shields over this place. That could dump 3 inches of rain on us if it continues building like that.” 
 
    “Tom,” Bob asked. “You’ve seen this go up. Any chance you can approve now, so I can put the roof on. The shields should keep the rain out, but I’d rather not risk it.” 
 
    “Not supposed to. But yeah. This is the most perfect job I’ve ever seen, even if it is just floating in the air. No sense risking it. Let’s go stamp the papers. OK if I watch the next step?” 
 
    “That would be great!” Bob said with a big smile.  
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EARTH ALLIANCE ADVISORY COUNCIL ASSEMBLY CHAMBER 
 
    “How did the Enemy get so close without our knowing it?” US Senior Ambassador Paul Lewis demanded. 
 
    “They defeated the replacement Confederation Armada and commandeered their ships. The Armada ships are much faster than the ships the Enemy had been using. They also had the exact coordinates of Earth.” 
 
    “Do we know how they defeated the Armada? I thought the Confederation was supposed to protect us.” Ambassador Hang Jiao-long complained. 
 
    Before Michael could answer, Ambassador Anton Petrov from Russia piled on. “There is real irony here. The Confederation sends us an Armada to protect us, while calling in Space Force to protect them. We take care of the problem there in days. Meanwhile, their Armada gets shredded, leaving us exposed while Space Force cleans up the mess!” 
 
    It was Michael’s sense that Ambassador Petrov’s outburst was representative of the Earth Alliance Advisory Council’s position on the matter. 
 
    “We do not know the details of how the Enemy defeated the Confederation Armada. We did not receive warning that the Armada was intending to take on the Enemy alone with non-Earth-standard ships. In fact, we were told the opposite. The Armada’s first stop was going to be at Earth for upgrades. 
 
    “It’s possible that this happened by chance. But I agree that it seems unlikely,” Michael concluded. 
 
    “Are you 100% sure that there are no more ships on their way here?” Margaret Whitaker asked. 
 
    “At this point, we believe that all of the ships are accounted for.” 
 
    “What the hell does that mean!” Ambassador Petrov spat back, interrupting Michael. 
 
    Michael paused, staring at the Ambassador. He held the Ambassador’s eyes several seconds, then continued. “The first of the ships we encountered was a Fleet Fast Attack Ship. Its distress beacon was on and the ship was venting atmosphere. Our supplemental task force attempted to contact the ship and was immediately attacked by two other Fleet Fast Attack Ships that had just come out of jump.” 
 
    “We were attacked!” Ambassador Petrov raged. 
 
    “Ambassador. You will moderate your tone,” Michael commanded. 
 
    “This is ridiculous. We go to the aid of our allies and they shoot down one of our ships. We go to rescue their Armada and are attacked by another. I question whether the Confederation is really our ally or not,” Ambassador Petrov complained, this time with a little less heat. 
 
    President Lee stepped up next to Michael. “Let’s listen to what Michael has to tell us before jumping to conclusions. There will be time to debate this issue later.” 
 
    “Agreed,” Ambassador Erika Schmitt from Germany echoed. 
 
    “Thank you.” Michael nodded his appreciation to President Lee, then to Ambassador Schmitt. 
 
    “As of now, there are five groups of ships that we need to address. Group 1 is the main mass in the system where the conflict took place. There is a Capital Ship and two Cruisers that have not been lost yet. We are in the process of clearing the Enemy from these ships. There are over 1 million Confederation citizens on them, most of them civilians. I’m told help will be arriving from the Confederation in a couple days, hopefully in time to rescue the survivors. 
 
    “Group 2 has the ships in the conflict system that have been disabled and show no signs of life. Each of these needs to be scanned for survivors and cleared of any possible Enemy infection.” 
 
    “Group 3 is composed of six ships that were on their way to Earth before being disabled. We need to get a second task force into this area as soon as possible. There are over 1 million Lorexians on board in which an Enemy combatant is incubating; a couple hundred more reserved as food. Although it is unlikely that they will be able to repair their ships, we need to get there as soon as possible to assure that they do not. We need to destroy these ships, rescuing as many as possible in the process. 
 
     “Group 4 has four Confederation ships that are in poor repair. They had been ordered to shelter in another system before the fight began. They are in the process of repairing their ships and have been temporarily seconded to Space Force. They will assist in rescuing survivors and repairing the Armada ships. 
 
     “Group 5 is composed of the three fast attack ships that I mentioned a few minutes ago. The one venting atmosphere was badly damaged and can no longer hold orbit. If it is not rescued in the next 24 hours, it will be lost. The other two did not recognize our ships and assumed they were Enemy ships. All three are being seconded to Space Force to help with the cleanup.” 
 
    “The only remaining threat at this point regards the six disabled ships in Group 3. We must cleanse or destroy them before the Enemy can repair them. If the Enemy were to repair them, they would be an existential threat to Earth.  
 
    “Second priority will be saving the ship falling from orbit and saving as many Confederation citizens as possible in the infected ships.” 
 
    Michael paused for comments.  
 
    “Michael, there’s more going on here than you’re telling us. I know you well enough to know that you stand with the Earth, so I presume the problem is with the Confederation. Can you explain?” 
 
    The Ambassadors all turned to look at the speaker, Sato Daichi. He was the quietest of the Ambassadors, but also the most discerning. 
 
    After several moments of silence, Michael lifted his head to speak. 
 
    “Forgive me for not being more forthcoming. I’ve had my suspicions, but no facts to back them.” 
 
    More silence. 
 
    “It appears that a rogue element has emerged within the Confederation that is against expansion. Data I received an hour ago suggests that members of that group were behind the destruction of the Helsinki. The Admiral of the new Armada was also apparently a member of this group. I don’t have proof of this, but evidence suggests that he intentionally engaged the Enemy before coming to Earth because he did not believe the Enemy was powerful and he did not believe that a new member, like Earth, could have come up with advancements useful in the fight.” 
 
    “Was the so-called Inspector part of this group?” Erika Schmitt asked softly without a hint of accusation against Michael. 
 
    “I believe that he was. In fact, I believe that he was the ringleader.” Michael’s words hung in the air. 
 
    “I hate to be the one to ask,” Sato Daichi started, “but what does this mean for our relationship with the Confederation.” 
 
    “As you said earlier, I will stand with Earth no matter what happens in the Confederation. Other powerful Central Council members will as well; as will our neighbors, such as Karagon. 
 
    “In the short term, we will need to rely on Space Force for our protection. We will almost certainly need to expand their charter to protect our neighbors as well; the loss of the Milky Way Fleet will not only be a devastating blow to the Fleet as a whole, but to commerce in the Milky Way. 
 
    “But things are not like they were six years ago at the time of the Revelation. Earth is now one of the wealthiest and most powerful planets in the Confederation. Many Confederation members will look to us for leadership if the current crisis escalates. 
 
    “But to be clear… I do not think the crisis will escalate. I think the malfeasance of the conspirators will be fully exposed and the Confederation will owe Earth a debt of gratitude for our role in exposing the conspirators and their deeds. But this will only be true if we continue to act honorably, fulfilling and exceeding our treaty obligations.” 
 
    Marlon Winslow, the newly appointed Ambassador from Canada, was quick to speak up. “I agree with Michael. We must abide by our agreements, while working to expose the corruption. As long as we hold the legal and moral high ground, we can rally other members around our cause.” 
 
    Michael nodded toward the Ambassador. “Thank you.”  
 
    … 
 
    “I move that we authorize the ship deployments Michael has recommended.” President Lee said as discussion came to a close. 
 
    “I second.” Sato Daichi called out. 
 
    Moments later, the motion to authorize further ship deployments to deal with the crisis was approved. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ASCENDANCY TRAINING CENTER 
 
    “Sarah, please come in.” Ta’Sha said. Ta’Sha was Sarah’s Ascendance coach. They had met weekly since Sarah enrolled for Ascendance training three, almost four, months ago. But the truth was that Sarah no longer needed Ta’Sha’s help. She had certified Sarah’s readiness, as had James and Michael. Although Ta’Sha was one of the rare masters, she was nobody compared to James or Michael. 
 
    “You are looking melancholy,” Sarah said. 
 
    Ta’Sha smiled. “Possibly because my star student has been certified, but has not accepted the certification.” 
 
    The two embraced tightly and held it a little longer than most would be comfortable with. 
 
    “Thank you for keeping me,” Sarah said. “I know you are in demand and, technically, I’m not eligible to work with you anymore.” 
 
    “Nonsense. I carry all my students through the exams. Well, at least those that haven’t quit or failed.” 
 
    “So, what are we going to do today?” Sarah asked, putting on a smile. 
 
    “I want you to help me with something,” Ta’Sha said. “There is a very difficult technique that is all but impossible to learn and surprisingly difficult to maintain once you’ve learned it. I’m out of practice and afraid I’m losing it. So, I want to teach you so we can drill each other.” 
 
    Sarah looked deeply into Ta’Sha’s eyes trying to discern whether she was serious. “Are you serious?” Sarah asked, finally giving up on discerning it herself. 
 
    “Yes. Who else would I practice with? James? Michael? I assure you there is no one else on Earth but you, and maybe James’ new student David.” 
 
    “Then let’s do it.” Sarah said with a smile, wondering what she was being set up for. 
 
    “Come, I have reserved one of the training halls.” 
 
    … 
 
    Ta’Sha took Sarah to one of the group training halls. It was relatively narrow, maybe 20 feet wide, but very long, a hundred feet or more. Cushions had been set at one end. 
 
    Ta’Sha sat on one of the cushions near the middle of the pile. 
 
    “OK. Come sit next to me.” She patted the cushion next to her. They were surrounded by at least 10 more feet of cushions. 
 
    “If this goes wrong, the vertigo will be wicked,” Ta’Sha said. “I don’t want either of us to end up in Emergency.” 
 
    Sarah looked at Ta’Sha questioningly. 
 
    “This is what we’re going to do. We’re going to project ourselves into the chairs down there.” She said pointing to a pair of armchairs about 100 feet away. “Then we’re going to have a conversation.” 
 
    Once again, Sarah looked at Ta’Sha questioningly. “What do you mean, have a conversation? I don’t have extrasensory perception.” 
 
    Ta’Sha smiled. “In this body, I don’t either. That’s the trick. We sit down there. Our real bodies talk to each other, but we perceive it down there.” 
 
    “You can’t be serious.” 
 
    “Meet you down there,” Ta’Sha said. 
 
    Sarah closed her eyes and retreated to her inner state. After a few moments, she projected her consciousness into the armchair. These days, she really didn’t feel that much suction pulling her back in; nonetheless, she held herself there for a few minutes before opening her inner vision. She could see herself and Ta’Sha at the other end of the hall but did not sense Ta’Sha next to her. 
 
    Moments later, she sensed Ta’Sha arriving. “Did I really get here first?” Sarah asked. Her inner eyes were open and, as she saw her lips moving at the other end of the hall, she was assaulted by massive vertigo. 
 
    Sarah slammed her inner eyes shut and struggled against the massive suction that threaten to sweep her away. The struggle seemed to last forever, but she succeeded in re-centering herself. 
 
    Eyes still shut, she heard Ta’Sha say, “Maybe. But I didn’t almost knock myself over fighting the vertigo.” 
 
    Vertigo mostly gone; Sarah opened her inner vision. She noticed her eyes open at the other end of the hall. But it seemed like it was someone else. Turning to look at Ta’Sha, she saw Ta’Sha looking back at her. 
 
    “Girl. You are good. I’ve never seen anyone do that on the first try.” 
 
    Sarah smiled. “It almost didn’t stick.” She said, then felt the vertigo pulling at her again. Eyes shut, she said. “Still struggling to hold it.” 
 
    “Then be quiet for a bit.” Ta’Sha said. “Remember, this is a deep hypnotic-like state. Our bodies are over there. Our consciousness is over here. But to speak and be heard, we need to use our bodies, which are a long way away.” 
 
    “OK. Going to try opening my eyes again,” Sarah said. 
 
    “Look at me first.” Ta’Sha said. “It’s easier that way.” 
 
    Sarah turned toward the spot where she perceived Ta’Sha’s consciousness to be. She opened her inner eyes, then smiled and said, “There you are.” 
 
    “Repeating myself, but I’ve never seen a first timer do this before.” 
 
    “Why do you think that is?” 
 
    Ta’Sha started to say, ‘Because you are someone special,’ but caught herself. “You’ve had a telepathic link to Michael for what, 5 years now?” 
 
    “Over six.” 
 
    “And James has taken you around the world and elsewhere no doubt.” 
 
    “Moon, Mars. All the usual suspects.” 
 
    Ta’Sha started laughing and almost lost her hold. “Keep the humor to yourself.” 
 
    There was a pause in the conversation as the reality of the situation struck them both. 
 
    “You really are amazing,” Ta’Sha said. “Yes, you had Michael and James. But it doesn’t change the fact that you are someone special.” 
 
    The emotion of the moment struck Sarah and she almost lost her hold. But she centered herself and came back to the moment. 
 
    “George invited me onto his show this week,” Ta’Sha said, almost as if it was a confession. 
 
    It took a second for Sarah to connect the dots. “You’re going to tell George about your species?” 
 
    “Yeah. Pictures and all.” Ta’Sha said with an odd sense of excitement and dread. 
 
    “Why, Ta’Sha? You haven’t told anybody. Why announce it to the world?” 
 
    Sarah could feel the emotion building next to her.  
 
    “Because I’ve finally found a home,” Ta’Sha said, voice quivering. 
 
    Sara reached over to take Ta’Sha’s hand. She saw it happening on the other side of the room and lost her grip on the projection. 
 
    A couple minutes later, Sarah woke. She was surrounded by lots of cushions. Ta’Sha was holding her hand. 
 
    “You did amazingly well. You were in for almost 5 minutes,” Ta’Sha said 
 
    “What?” 
 
    “Time slows down in that mode. Felt like a half hour but was only five minutes.” 
 
    “What did you mean, you’ve finally found a home?” Sarah said demandingly. 
 
    “I am like James, the last of my kind. I’m not as old or skilled. But like James, I have found a home here after a long search. It is time to let my new family know who my people were. You have actually heard of them,” she said, then surrendered to the tears that had been building. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BUILDING SITE, JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION 
 
    It was 5:30 PM. The sun was setting, but it was still light enough outside to appreciate what they were looking at. 
 
    “Damnedest thing I’ve ever seen,” Tom said. “Foundations, frame, electrical and plumbing, roof and siding… All installed in one day. And the cleanest, most precise job I’ve ever seen. The place looks beautiful.” 
 
    A pause. 
 
    “Come on. Let’s get the last of it signed off and out of here before the rain sets in.” Tom’s phone buzzed. “Oh no. Severe storm warning for Fayetteville. Let’s do it quick. We need to get home.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    Admiral Scott and Secretary Thompson joined Michael in his Conference Room, arriving only moments after he did. 
 
    “Gentlemen. The Advisory Council has approved additional deployments to assist in the cleanup. I think we need to send ten more ships. Their first target will be the six ships disabled about 100 light-years from Earth. I think Daniel has what he needs to clean up the system where the battle took place.” 
 
     “Do you think we should redeploy the ships that were part of the mining mission? They now have a couple weeks working together as a team,” Admiral Scott asked. 
 
    “Possibly. Our data suggests that Earth is probably safe from immediate invasion. But that will only be true if we succeed in the cleanup and cleansing operation we’re about to launch. It might be a better idea to have the experienced ships here protecting Earth.” Michael replied. 
 
    “Michael,” Admiral Scott piped up, “we only have six more ships that are crewed and trained, the Nairobi, Canberra, Pretoria, Athens, Brussels and Ankara. Ship production functionally ground to a halt when Professor Schudel was sent off on the mining mission and Joel sent off to Andromeda with the Ottawa.” 
 
    “Thank you. Forgot about that.” Michael reflected, then continued. “That means all the new crews have been together less than 2 weeks.”  
 
    “So it does,” Winston Thompson agreed. “We really should not be sending any of them out. Are any of them even exo-planet certified?” 
 
    “Not yet,” Admiral Scott replied. “And none of them, or the mining ships for that matter, have been refit for this mission yet.” 
 
    “OK. Let’s see if we can get six of the mining ships refit tonight,” Michael concluded. “Admiral, I’ll leave it to you to select the six. Any chance we can refit within the next 12 hours?” 
 
    “Possibly. Let me see what I can do.”  
 
    “Spare no expense.” 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 ROUND UP 
 
    [Friday, 1.17.2031] EAS OTTAWA 
 
    The Capital Ship in the conflict system had finally been cleared. Joel’s drone had processed it at an average speed of 1 meter per second. The ship was 10 kilometers long, so a single drone would take 10,000 seconds, a little less than 3 hours, to process the ship. 
 
    But there were so many Enemy aboard, the shields had saturated after about an hour. Now three hours in and 5 drones on their way to the nearest star, the ship had been cleared. 
 
    “Captain Ma-Ro. This is Daniel Porter. Our purge of your ship is done. There should be no more of the Enemy aboard, but I would like to send in a team of Marines to assure that is true. Do I have your permission to board?” 
 
    “Admiral Porter, we need emergency assistance. Admiral Ra-Mu is in critical condition. The ship hospital is overwhelmed with crew and civilians injured during the purge.” 
 
    “Captain. Our purge was thorough, but I need to confirm that it is complete before I can send civilians aboard. I have a large team of marines trained to eradicate every last trace of the infection. But I need your permission to board.” 
 
    “Admiral. We do not know you, which makes your request difficult. Do you have medical support that you can send?” 
 
    “Captain. I understand your concern. I have 10 Lorexian doctors who have volunteered to come aboard your ship. But they are in human form. Do you understand my concern?” 
 
    Long silence… 
 
    “Admiral…”  
 
    The medic tending to Admiral Ma-Ru touched the Captain’s arm, pointed to Admiral Ra-Mu and shook his head, then whispered, “Accept his terms. We would be dead without him and will be dead if we refuse his help. We still have civilians aboard.” 
 
    The medic’s words spurred the Captain into action. 
 
    “Apologies Admiral. We surrender unconditionally. Please send your doctors and whomever else you need to send. Our ship is yours. Our lives are in your hands.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. We do not want your ship, only your partnership. Ten Lorexian Ascendant doctors are on their way. They are in human form. Please command your crew and civilians to work with them. Twenty marines will accompany them to assure their safety. Another 100 will be sent in near the bow of your ship to confirm that the purge was complete. Please ask your crew and civilians to cooperate with them. We are your allies, not your enemies.” 
 
    “I will do as you ask,” the Captain replied. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA, MISSION DECK 
 
    “Eugene, Henry, I need your help,” Joel said.  
 
    “How can we help, Joel? By the way, I have Jacob with me.” 
 
    “Eugene, your Enemy trap successfully cleared the Capital Ship. Major Foster is over there now with a team of 100 marines going deck-to-deck confirming that the ship is clear. Uh… Probably shouldn’t have told you that. 
 
    “But it took us over three hours and five traps to do it. We have another Capital Ship, two Cruisers and a number of Fast Attack Ships that we still need to clear. We need equipment with greater capacity and a means to deliver it.” 
 
    “It’s an easy scale up,” Eugene offered. 
 
    “But as it fills up, the energy required to force it through a ship increases exponentially.” 
 
    “Makes sense. We’re forcing a lot of dimensional transitions. But is that really true?” Eugene asked. “I mean… Once we drag one through a wall, it blows up and we aren’t dragging it anymore. 
 
    “Maybe it’s just that the trap is too narrow and the tractor pulling it is underpowered. It’s easy to build a larger trap.” 
 
    “And it’s easy to build a larger tractor,” Henry offered before adding, “Tractor. Really?” 
 
    “I think I agree,” Joel responded. “Maybe we could use this size on the Fast Attack Ships but scale the trap and the drone up for the Capital Ships.” 
 
    “I can scale up the trap in an hour,” Eugene offered. “How much?” 
 
    “10 times?” Joel replied. 
 
    “OK. Give me an hour.” 
 
    “I’ve got the ‘tractor’ scale up,” Henry called out. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ARMADA FLAGSHIP 
 
    “Admiral. Foster here. The Capital ship is in a bad way. It’s hard to describe conditions here. Every surface outside the protected spaces is plastered in goo. We have found the main civilian population.” A pause… “Hard to describe the conditions there either. Most are intact. But many were infected. There’s Enemy slime and Lorexian blood everywhere. Able Lorexians are afraid of us and run when we approach. The infected are mostly dead. The infected that survived the cleansing are in a bad way. The numbers are overwhelming. We need help. 
 
    “Would it be OK if I brought 100 more marines over with all the grav sleds we can muster? It would help us get more of the injured to the medical facilities faster.” 
 
    “Granted. Do what you can do, Ed. We are about to start the cleansing process on the first Cruiser.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 FAYETTEVILLE, IOWA 
 
    The storm had raged last night. Bob and his wife, Martha, spent the night in the tornado shelter he’d built below their house. They’d gone in about 10:00 last night when the alerts went off. They entered the shelter through a hatch in the floor of the basement with arms full of emergency supplies. The shelter was fancy, and a bit overbuilt. Bob hated doing a poor job of anything. Their shelter had two exits: back up through the basement, or out through a hatch in the side yard. 
 
    About 2:00 AM the tornado passed by. The sounds of debris hitting the outside hatch was terrifying. The tornado had to have come close. 
 
    At 5:00 AM, the emergency alert system declared the area safe. 
 
    Bob tried exiting up through the basement. “Trouble sweetheart. The hatch is jammed, can’t get it to budge. Not good news.” 
 
    Martha collapsed into his arms weeping. Truth was that Bob wasn’t holding it together any better. But after a few moments, he let go of her. “Come on. Let’s go see how bad it is.” 
 
    Bob walked over to the door on the far side of the shelter and opened it. He turned on the emergency lighting and looked up the shaft toward the hatch above. 
 
    “Hatch is intact. A little water got through, but not that much. Let me go up and open it. If I can, I’ll go around and open the hatch to the basement, so you don’t have to climb up the ladder.” 
 
    “OK,” Martha sobbed. 
 
    “Must have gained a little weight since I put this shaft in. Tighter fit than I remembered.” Bob muttered to himself. At the top, he cranked the hatch loose, then steeled himself. “Please, Lord, let the neighborhood be intact.” 
 
    The hatch swung open easily. He popped his head up through the hatch and was stunned by what he saw. 
 
    “Oh, shit.” 
 
    The neighbor’s house was gone, completely gone. Nothing left but the foundation and the odd board that had been attached a little too zealously. Looking out further, there was a path of destruction a quarter mile wide. It went from the southeast to the northwest, as far as he could see either way, which wasn’t that far given that his head was only about a foot above the ground. 
 
    Steeling himself again he turned around to face his house. “What?” His house was still standing. 
 
    Bob shouted down the shaft. “Martha, the house is still here. I’m going to go open the door from the basement side, should only take a minute.” 
 
    Bob ran around to the front of the house. Doors and windows intact. Shutter missing. Gutter screwed up. The checklist ran through Bob’s mind. 
 
    He unlocked the front door and entered. Living room OK. Dining room OK. Broken window in the den. The checklist continuing as he walked down the hall and turned toward the basement door. 
 
    He opened the basement door and started down the steps. His first sign of a problem was the broken window. “What?” Bob muttered. 
 
    Something had apparently been blown in through the basement window and been moving fast.  
 
    Seriously over-designed this. Bob thought, looking toward the shelter entrance. The actual hatch into the shelter was horizontal, parallel with the basement floor. Years ago, when they put a playroom in the basement, Bob decided to build a closet around the hatch to make it less of an eyesore. 
 
    As he walked closer, Bob saw that it was a patio umbrella that came in through the window. It was all bent up at this point, but it was clear that the umbrella had come in through the window like a spear and penetrated the closet he had built to hide the hatch. The umbrella had wedged in tight, its ribs all twisted and pressing down on the hatch, preventing it from opening. 
 
    Bob knocked on the hatch covering the shelter. “I’m here. It will only take a minute for me to clear this. But stand back a bit. Don’t want anything to fall on you.” 
 
    He heard a muffled “OK” come up from below. 
 
    After a minute of fooling with the umbrella, Bob gave up and grabbed his sledgehammer. A couple good shots and the closet’s door frame fell away. A couple more shots and the walls came down allowing him to pull the umbrella away. 
 
    He knocked on the hatch again. “OK. You’re clear to open the hatch.” Code required that storm shelter hatches could only be locked and unlocked from inside the shelter. 
 
    Bob heard the lock unlatch and Martha straining to open it. So he grabbed the handle and gently pulled. “I’ve got it. Let me open it for you.” 
 
    Martha came up the steps and looked around. “Looks like you did more damage than the tornado.” Martha was incredibly relieved to see her house intact. But the humor faded as she looked at Bob. 
 
    “What happened.” 
 
    “We’re more or less OK. A couple windows, a shutter… Small stuff. Next door, next couple blocks… Gone.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    About an hour earlier, Daniel had been given an update and had received several new orders. He’d also received an update from Joel. Designs for a new higher capacity Enemy trap would be available within the hour. He decided to split his new task force. One ship would go round up the Freighters and their escort. Five of his 15 ships would start the cleansing process on the ships stranded about halfway to Earth. From Daniel’s perspective, this was the only real remaining threat. He would send two ships back to the original rally system to cleanse the ships there and to help rescue the ship falling from orbit. 
 
    The new ships he was being assigned were still at least 18 hours out. He would finalize their assignments based on the situation at that time. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OSLO 
 
    “Katrine, thank you for joining me.” Daniel greeted. “I have a new assignment for you. The Enemy successfully commandeered six ships and made a run for Earth. Each ship failed at some point along the way and is now stranded in interstellar space. We need to cleanse those ships before the Enemy can repair them. 
 
    “I would like you to lead a task force of five ships, the Oslo, Stockholm, Copenhagen, Brasília and Dhaka. A new high capacity Enemy trap will be available within the hour. Joel is point on that project, but I would expect that Ka-Tu has already been read in. 
 
    “This is the tricky part of the mission. The stranded ships include one Capital Ship, one Cruiser and four Fast Attack Ships. Each has uninfected Lorexians on board. But on the Capital Ship, there are over a million Confederation civilians with some degree of contamination. Dragging the trap over that many infected will be long and hard. Conditions aboard the ship when you are done will be nightmarish.  
 
    “The mission is to cleanse those ships. The subordinate mission is to save as many of those people as possible. It will take all of your ingenuity to carry this off. If a ship is able to come back to life and move toward Earth, your mission is to destroy it. Each of these ships carry enough Enemy combatants to take down the Earth. 
 
    “Orders will go out to your ships momentarily.” 
 
    “Understood. We will get this done.” 
 
    … 
 
    As Captain Katrine Bjork was leaving the presence projector, she heard her yeoman call out. “Captain, new orders have just been received.” 
 
    “Connect me with the captains of the Stockholm, Copenhagen, Brasília and Dhaka.” 
 
    “Yes, ma’am.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS ABUJA 
 
    Captain Willem Kettmann entered the presence projector, where Admiral Porter was waiting for him. 
 
    “Willem, I have new orders for you. There are three Confederation Fast Attack ships in the original rally system the supplemental task force was sent to. One is badly damaged and falling out of orbit. Another’s captain has been infected, but I’m told the crew has been able to contain the infection. A third is the one that fired on the Buenos Aires. All three of these ships have been seconded to Space Force by Fleet High Command to assist in the cleanup operation here. 
 
    “Your mission is to go to that system. Cleanse all three ships. Attempt to repair or at least to rescue the ship falling from orbit. Then lead the three of them back here, two if the failing ship cannot be repaired quickly. They will be under your command. I’ll be sending the Jakarta along with you. For the duration of this mission, Captain Gunderson will also be under your command. 
 
    “We have been told that these ships will cooperate. If one should fire on you, disable the ship and leave it behind. These ships can be taken down by an EMP. I’ll be including the replicator pattern for the EMP device in your orders, which will be released momentarily.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS CAIRO 
 
    Captain Clarissa Saldanha entered the presence projector to see Admiral Porter. 
 
    “Admiral, why was our ship ordered away from the Cruiser decontamination? Was there a problem with the way we supported you on the Capital ship?” 
 
    Daniel smiled. “Clarissa, please have a seat.” 
 
    He motioned to the chair across from him. “If there had been a problem, you would already know about it. Quite the opposite actually. I’m very impressed with the way you took the lead with the supplementary task force and have jumped into the operations in this system. 
 
    “The reason I asked to speak with you is because I have a new mission for you. Four of the fleet ships were ordered away from this system just before the fight began. This group includes a Freighter and two other ships, plus a Fast Attack Ship that was assigned as their escort. We don’t know what the other two ships are. 
 
    “These ships have been seconded to Space Force. Your mission is to find those ships, assist with any repairs required to make them space worthy, and bring them back here to assist in the cleanup. 
 
    “These ships will be under your command. If they should fire on you, disable their ship using an EMP. I will be including specifications for the appropriate weapon in your orders. 
 
    “Please return with your ships as quickly as possible.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OTTAWA 
 
    With the ancillary missions assigned, Daniel returned to the bridge to get an update on the task at hand. 
 
    “XO, what’s our status?” 
 
    “The San Juan and Hanoi are cleansing the first Cruiser. The Bangkok and Buenos Aires are cleansing the second. We’re watching for Enemy attempting to escape on both ships, but really haven’t had to do very much. This is going fast. We’ll be finished in the next hour.” 
 
    “Do we have status on the escape pods?” 
 
    “Not really. They only have short range, line of sight communications. 
 
    “Let’s get a shuttle out to each of them. If there is a way to get them back to the Capital Ship, I’d like to get that process underway.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ARMADA CAPITAL SHIP 
 
    As a former Navy Seal, Ed Foster had seen a number of hell holes in his day. But never anything as bad as this Capital Ship. But he’d finally found Captain Ma-Ro. The man was shell-shocked and deeply shaken by the death of Admiral Ra-Mu. 
 
    “Captain. I need your help. Confederation rescue is still days away. Our ships are not large enough to accommodate your people. We need to get this ship functioning again. We also need to get it cleaned up to the point where we have space to care for the wounded and return those sent out in the escape pods.” 
 
    The Captain lifted his expressive eyes toward Ed. The defeat bordered on despair. “Why?” 
 
    “What do you mean, ‘Why?’” Ed shot back. 
 
    “This ship has been contaminated. It and everyone on board will be dragged into the star when the replacement Armada gets here.” 
 
    “The ship has been cleared of the Enemy contamination. At this point it is simply unsanitary.” 
 
    “You don’t understand. Failure like this… Contamination… The Confederation will drag us into a star.” 
 
    “No, they won’t. Get up and help us care for your crew and your civilians.” 
 
    “You know nothing!” The Captain spat. “You’re just a powerless primitive. Resist the Confederation and they will squash you like the bug that you are. The power that will come from Andromeda will be irresistible.” 
 
    “Captain. I just came from Andromeda, where we saved New Lorexi from Enemy invasion.” 
 
    The captain looked up at Ed and just laughed. 
 
    “Lt. James.” Ed motioned to one of the squads accompanying him. 
 
    “Captain. What is the name of your first officer?” 
 
    “He’s dead” 
 
    “Your second officer?” 
 
    “Dead too.” 
 
    “Chief Engineer?” 
 
    “Sa-To. He was in the Engine Room when the smoke people found their way on board. We lost contact with the Engine Room shortly before we lost main power. I don’t know what became of him.” 
 
    “Then let’s go find him. On your feet.” Ed commanded. 
 
    The captain clearly did not want to get up. But as two space marines grabbed him by the arm and two more pointed their weapons at him, the shame of being compelled by such puny beings overwhelmed him. Shaking them off, he stood up. “I can go under my own power.” 
 
    “Lead the way.” Ed pointed in the direction of the Engine Room. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINE ROOM, ARMADA CAPITAL SHIP 
 
    Surprisingly, the door to main engineering opened when Captain Ma-Ro placed his hand on the panel. Chief Engineer Sa-To looked up at the sound. Several others on the engineering deck were busy scrubbing the floors and walls, removing goo from every surface. 
 
    “Captain Ma-Ro. Maker be praised, you survived. It was iffy down here for a while. We were able to make a field generator that emitted a high intensity magnetic field that the smoke creatures could not penetrate. Then the damn things just exploded all over everything. 
 
    “How did you survive?” The words were barely out of the engineer’s mouth when he noticed Ed and the marines standing behind the Captain.  
 
    “Who… What are you?” he shouted, pointing. 
 
    “We are the ones that killed the smoke creatures and came to rescue your ship. I am Major Edward Foster.” He stepped forward toward the Chief Engineer, fist outstretched to bump in the Lorexian way. 
 
    On instinct, the Chief Engineer reached out and bumped Ed’s ‘paw.’ “Captain, what’s going on?” 
 
    “The Armada was mostly destroyed. The humans…” Ma-Ro gestured toward Ed and his marines, “came to save us. They have the technology to destroy the smoke creatures.” 
 
    “I’m very impressed,” the Chief said looking at Ed. “How? How did you do it?” 
 
    “We’ve built something we call an Enemy-resistant trap. It is a two-layer shield that captures the things you call the ‘smoke creatures’ between the layers.” 
 
    “You have shielding technology?” The Chief was dumbfounded. “When did humans get shielding?” 
 
    “A couple months ago. We modified the standard Confederation shields. It blocks transition from certain select dimensions—the ones in which the Enemy can exist. Prior to the Revelation, we had no shielding or superluminal propulsion.” 
 
    “But your shields do not work. None of the planetary shields we built would even initialize.” 
 
    “Apparently, Confederation engineers have had a difficult time implementing our designs. So, we traveled to New Lorexi to put up shields in the 100 closest systems. We put them around the planets and inhabited moons, 234 in total. We were on our way back when we found your Armada.” 
 
    “How? It takes us 15 or more days to cross the void.” 
 
    “We also upgraded the Confederation propulsion systems. It takes us about a day to cross the void.” 
 
    The Chief Engineer was again dumbfounded. 
 
    “Captain, would you please work with the engineering team and any other able crew to begin cleaning areas like the Chief has? We need space to treat the wounded and to receive back the 14,000 we’ve found in escape pods,” Ed asked the Captain. 
 
    The Chief Engineer was quick to add, “We have able hands that can help, Captain.”  
 
    “Yes. We will get after that right away.” The Captain sounded a bit more hopeful. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ESCAPE POD 1 
 
    “Ensign Lu-Va. This is Terry Chen of Space Force. I am the pilot of Shuttle 2 from the EAS Ottawa. What is your condition?” 
 
    “Chen, you are not the same person as before.” 
 
    “No. That ship has been dispatched to another location. I am from the Flagship of the Earth Alliance taskforce leading the rescue in this system. The earlier ship was a scout of sorts.” 
 
    “Mr. Chen. The atmospheric generator that your predecessor gave us has kept us alive the last couple hours, but things are bad in here. No food. Overflowing sewage. We lost a child about an hour ago.” The emotion in Lu-Va’s voice was palpable. 
 
    “Ensign Lu-Va. We do not know the specifications of your ships. Is there a way we can tow you back to a ship that has atmosphere, food and appropriate medical care?” 
 
    “We have magnetic anchors at several places on our hull that can support up to 1G attachment with a compatible magnetic system. There are also anchor points where mechanical attachments can safely grip us.” 
 
    Daniel had been listening to the conversation. He spoke to Lt. Chen on a separate line. “We’re 250,000 miles away. At one G it will take days to tow an escape pod back. How large is the escape pod?” 
 
    Lt. Chen adjusted his scanner. “Scanner says 80 meters long, 10 meters high, 25 meters wide. They must really be packed in there.” 
 
    “We may be able to get it into one of our cargo bays. If we did that and returned to the Capital Ship, we could tow the escape pod into the Capital Ship’s cargo bay. The medical team could process them from there.” 
 
    “Tell Ensign Lu-Va that we will be mounting a rescue shortly and you will wait there with him.” 
 
    “Will do, Admiral.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 BUILDING SITE, JOHNSON CONSTRUCTION 
 
    It had been a wrenching day. Some neighbors down the street were killed by the storm. He’d helped with some of the rescues. The emergency teams were overwhelmed, he had the gear, so he and a couple other neighbors started pulling people out of the rubble. But it was getting dark. He wasn’t skilled enough for nighttime rescue and was already in trouble with the cops for having gone into a condemned home to rescue a screaming kid. 
 
    So, he drove out to the building site to see how things went there. From the maps shown on the news, he knew that the building site was in the destruction zone. 
 
    As he crested the last hill, he sighed a breath of relief. The house was still there. But as he looked more broadly, he realized the neighborhood across the main road, the one with the nosy neighbors… It was gone. Nothing but rubble. Those poor people. The thought resonated through his mind. 
 
    … 
 
    Once on site, Bob saw a lot of debris piled up around his house. It was all stacked up against the shield. He found a spot where there wasn’t too much and pulled the debris away. Even though the shield was locked, he could walk right through it.  
 
    Inside, the ground was clear and dry. The house was completely untouched. Doing a quick 360 around the house he saw that the tree on the corner of the property had been uprooted and was leaning against the shield. “Going to need to deal with that before unlocking the shield.” 
 
    A spotlight came on, shining down on him. It was a news helicopter. Bob waived at them, trying to indicate that he was OK. But they started to descend, eventually landing on the clear spot on the street. 
 
    Bob went over to say hi and tell them he was OK. 
 
    An attractive young woman came out of the helicopter. A man with a TV camera jumped out behind her and his lights came on temporarily blinding Bob. 
 
    “Hello. Are you Bob Johnson?” 
 
    “Yes. I’m OK. The house is OK. We don’t need help.” 
 
    “Hi, I’m Julia Thomas with WTVD News. We are the ABC affiliate, channel 11 in Fayetteville. You’re the builder that got the Confederation shields. Right?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Did they work? The place looks a little trashed.” 
 
    “It’s just debris piled up against the shield. The house wasn’t touched at all. In perfect shape actually. The tree over there, right next to the house, was uprooted.” 
 
    “Can we see?” 
 
    “Sure.” 
 
    Bob led the team over to where the tree was leaning against the shield. “See. I can’t take the shield down until the tree is removed, or it will hit the house.” Then pointing to where the nosy neighbors used to be. “The house I’m building was untouched. The poor people living over there… They lost everything. Wish I’d had more shields to give to them.” Emotion clouded his voice. “Sure hope more shields and building supplies flow here from the Confederation.” 
 
    What Bob didn’t realize at the time was that the camera was rolling. The clip ended up going viral and within 36 hours would even reach Karagon. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS CAIRO 
 
    The Cairo was the first of the mission teams to reach their targets. Although they were the furthest from the Ottawa, they had the most direct vector. As soon as they entered the system, they could see the four Confederation ships. 
 
    “Unidentified vessel. This is Captain Ru-So of the Confederation Fast Attack Ship… ‘No Translation Available.’” 
 
    “Computer, update the translator to call this ship ‘Babysitter.’” Captain Saldanha said. 
 
    “Confederation Ship Babysitter. This is Captain Clarissa Saldanha of the Earth Alliance Ship Cairo. Your ships have been seconded to the Earth Alliance Space Force. I have been ordered to accompany your ships back to the system where the battle took place. I have the means to assist if there are repairs required for your ships to be capable. 
 
    “For the purpose of this mission, I have been assigned as your superior officer.” 
 
    Although Captain Ru-So’s orders from the High Command were clear, he didn’t like the idea of taking orders from a primitive. As he was contemplating a reply, Captain Saldanha’s voice came back over the comm line. 
 
    “Captain Ru-So. My orders are clear. Any ship that does not immediately comply is to be assumed hostile. My sensors say that your ship does not have shields. Comply immediately, or your ship will be disabled.” 
 
    Captain Ru-So had never been threatened like this before and was terrified. He had no defenses to protect his ship or the three he was escorting. And, if word got back to the High Command that he was not following their orders, he might find himself captaining a tugboat in a mining system. 
 
    “Apologies, Cairo. I was confirming my orders. We stand ready to take your orders.” 
 
    “Thank you, Captain. Please report.” 
 
    “My ship is mostly functional. Our shield generators do not work, but we are otherwise space worthy. 
 
    “I am escorting a Civil Engineering ship and two Freighters. The Civil Engineering ship is having propulsion issues but is mission capable with a jump limit of 100 light-years. 
 
    “One of the Freighters is the problem. It took a hit while exiting the conflict system. Propulsion has been repaired at this point, but life support is still problematic.” 
 
    “What will it take to repair its life support system.” 
 
    “Sending you the list now.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS ABUJA 
 
    The EAS Abuja and Jakarta were hailed moments after coming out of jump. “Earth Alliance Ship, Earth Alliance Ship. This is Captain Lo-Ka of the Confederation Fast Attack Ship ‘Moonrise’. Our transporters have failed, and we are falling from orbit. We will impact in 48 minutes. We need immediate rescue.” 
 
    “Captain Lo-Ka. This is Willem Kettmann, captain of the EAS Abuja. Is there any hope of saving your ship, sir? We can transport you. Or pick you up via shuttle. But this is an Earth ship. Our atmosphere is different than yours.” 
 
    There was a pause on the line. 
 
    The Captain whispered to his yeoman, “Can you get Ka-Tu on the line?” 
 
    “Captain Kettmann. Our grav-drive has failed. We have been attempting to fix it but have had no success. A proper repair would require 10 grams of transluminide. But we do not have it. We must evacuate.” 
 
    “If we sent you the transluminide, could you affect repair in time?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Captain. Ka-Tu here. I just tied in and heard the captain’s statement. May I ask a question?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    “Captain Lo-Ka. My name is Ka-Tu, former chief scientist with the Lorexian Institute. What is the part number that has failed? I can have a new one replicated and transported to your engine room.” 
 
    Another pause. 
 
    “Sending the part numbers now. They will take a minimum of 10 minutes to install. The drive has already been pulled apart. We just need to put the new parts in and button it up.” 
 
    On a private channel, Ka-Tu send a quick note to Captain Kettmann. Captain, these parts require 27 grams of transluminide. 
 
    Send the parts. The captain replied. 
 
    “Captain Lo-Ka. The first part will be transported over in 3 minutes. Please stage your crew for the repair,” Ka-Tu said. 
 
    “Acknowledged.” 
 
    “Captain. As a backup, please send non-essential crew to a cargo bay where we can get them all in one transport. There is a cargo bay on our ship that I can fill with the required atmospheric mix. We can pull you and your crew out if we have to. 
 
    “In the meantime, we are going to run a purification sweep on your ship to assure than no Enemy infiltrators are lurking there. This sweep will not impact your ship or your crew.” 
 
    “Thank you both,” Captain Lo-Ka shot back. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS OSLO 
 
    Captain Katrine Bjork had a little more trouble finding the Enemy infested ships than she had expected. The ships were adrift in interstellar space. As such, they were ‘dark’ and had drifted a surprising distance from where they were reported to be. She’d forgotten that without a planetary or other gravity well to hold a ship, it could travel a long way on a straight line. But she only had the coordinates of the ships, not the vectors they were drifting along. 
 
    None of the six ships, which were spread out over about 5 light-years, had been able to restore themselves. Each was crawling with Enemy. 
 
    “We can cleanse the small ships quickly. Captains Martin, Carvallo, Ramos, and Armstrong. You have the smaller traps, right? 
 
    “Yes Ma’am.”  
 
    “Take the four Fast Attack Ships. They should clear quickly. If your traps fill up, launch them on a trajectory to intercept the nearest star. Log the launch point and vector so we can find them again if we need to. You should have the capacity to build additional traps as needed. Martin, you have the lead. Ramos, you’re second. The Oslo and Kinshasa will take the Cruiser. When your ships are cleared, rendezvous at the Capital Ship. 
 
    “The Oslo has a large trap. Assuming that we finish first, we will start on the Capital Ship. If you only have small traps, wait until there are three ships before starting. If at any point a ship wakes up and attempts to run, bomb it. Bomb first, ask questions later. Understood?” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EAS ABUJA 
 
    There were 14 minutes left before the damaged fast attack ship would hit the surface. All the parts had been sent over and installed. 
 
    “Initiating grav-drive,” Chief Engineer Ma-Na called out.  
 
    On the bridge, the helmsman noticed that the grav-drive was showing as available. 
 
    “Grav-drive on-line,” the helmsman called out. 
 
    Captain Lo-Ka looked at his altimeter and the countdown timer that had the estimated time to impact. “How soon before we can apply power, Chief.” 
 
    “In principle now, but can we start by going to 1%?” 
 
    The captain nodded to the helmsman, then replied to the chief. “Applying 1% power, now. But we are too far down in the gravity well for that to materially slow our descent.” 
 
    After about 30 seconds, the Chief replied, “Everything is good down here, increase to 10%.” 
 
    As the power came up, the rate of descent dropped markedly, but did not stop. Meanwhile, the countdown timer ran up a bit hitting 31 minutes, before starting to count down again. 
 
    “That bought us some time,” the Captain shouted out. 
 
    After another minute, the Chief called out. “I think it’s safe to take it up to 25%.” 
 
    “Increase it slowly,” the Captain whispered to the helmsman. 
 
    The altimeter’s rate of descent started slowing, then reversed and started crawling back up. 
 
    “OK. Let’s hold it here for a while.” The relief in Captain Lo-Ka’s voice was clear. 
 
    Captain Kettmann’s voice came over the intercom. “Captain Lo-Ka. I see that you have stopped your descent. But you are not pulling back up into orbit very quickly. Is there a problem?” 
 
    “No.” Came the reply. “Our ship is old and in poor repair. We’re just taking it slow to minimize stress on our other systems.” 
 
    “Understood. If you’re going to maintain this course for the next couple minutes, I would like to run the cleansing scan on your ship. We just finished doing that on Captain To-Ku’s ship and confirmed that he was the only infection. His infection was removed. They are bringing him out of stasis now but warn that he will probably be held in a coma for several days while they provide additional treatment.” 
 
    “Excellent news. We await your scan. Please advise when you start and are finished.” 
 
    “Will do.” 
 
    … 
 
    An hour later, Captain Lo-Ka’s ship had returned to orbit and all three had been cleansed. Two hours after that, all three Confederation ships were on their way back to the conflict system, accompanied by the two Earth Alliance ships. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 RESOLUTION 
 
    [Saturday, 1.18.2031] AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    Michael was up early. It had been a restless night. Although he’d blocked all alerts other than emergency messages, the fact of the matter was that he’d been expecting emergency messages.  The expectation had kept him awake. 
 
    The irony… no emergency messages had come. The people he’d selected did what he thought they could do. 
 
    Settling into his home office, a cup of Kona coffee in hand, he plowed in, reading messages in the order recommended by his message bot. 
 
    The six ships that James disabled had been found and were now cleansed. A total of only 12 Lorexians were recovered injury free. There were another 49 that had sustained minor injuries. A little less than 10,000 had suffered serious injury. The dead… Over 1 million. The cleansing pass had killed the vast majority of the infected. The Enemy had let the infection run free. Apparently, they’d wanted a large swarm that could take Earth quickly. 
 
    Most of the civilians on the Capital Ship had been infected. They’d been torn apart by the Enemy trap. This news would hit the Confederation hard. 
 
    The story was similar for the Capital Ship in the battle system, but the ratios reversed. Twenty thousand were directly killed or consumed by the Enemy. About 50,000 more were infected. Most of them were killed in the cleansing. But remarkably, over 1 million civilians had been protected long enough to be liberated by Space Force. 
 
    Daniel reported that the medical facilities and staff were overrun by the injured. Many more would likely die because they didn’t have sufficient medical capacity to handle the number of injured or the degree of their injuries. The vast majority of the survivors were non-functional and would require treatment for post-traumatic stress. 
 
    The ships parked in other systems, the ones ordered away before the battle began, had returned. Space Force had helped to repair them. Now they were helping with the cleanup. All the escape pods had been recovered. The remaining ships were sifting through the ruins of the Armada, searching for any additional survivors. But the truth was that it was primarily a recovery mission at this point. 
 
    Admiral Jo-Na was leading a task force back to the Milky Way. They were expected to arrive in about 32 hours and would be taking over the clean-up operations. 
 
    The next item was from Professor Schudel. Scans of all 18 systems had been completed. At least one claim had been filed in each system. Most had two or more. Claims totaling 203,829 kilograms had been filed. The Amsterdam was on its way home, planning to arrive later this morning. There were a couple other things that the Professor wanted to talk with Michael about, but they were not urgent. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 EMBASSY TELEVISION STUDIOS 
 
    Today, the stage was set with two chairs on the left of a coffee table, one on the right. Little had been leaked about today’s show, although the producers had confirmed that it was part of ‘The Allied Species of the Confederation’ series. 
 
    Today’s guest host was Lindsey McEwan from CNN International. And she wasn’t very happy. 
 
     “George, you need to give your hosts more information on who they’re going to be interviewing. I was promised a briefing packet but didn’t get one,” Lindsey complained. 
 
    “That’s because we don’t have one,” George said. “We know very little about our guest. Her name is Ta’Sha. She goes by one name. She works in the Ascendance training part of the Institute. She is very senior, a so-called master trainer. She will be appearing on the show in an Avatar but has pictures of herself in her natural form. Possibly the most interesting thing is that she never talks about herself, but recently came to the producers asking if she could come on the show.” 
 
    “That’s not much to go on,” Lindsey said. 
 
    “Fair enough. But remember. She has not shared much about herself to anyone, yet she asked to come on the show. There is obviously something she wants to talk about. All you really need to do is coax it out of her.” 
 
    “But what if she just blathers on about some rant.” 
 
    “She is relatively senior in the Confederation and works for Michael. Have you met anyone like that in Michael’s inner circle?” 
 
    … 
 
    “Why did I think this was going to be a good idea?” Ta’Sha said to no one in particular. Sarah and Noelani were in the make-up room helping Ta’Sha get ready for the show.” 
 
    “Here. Let me rub a little of this into your wrist.” Noelani said. “It is a special formulation I’ve made for situations like this. It knocks the edge off your very human nerves without clouding the connection to your mind.” 
 
    Noelani took Ta’Sha’s hand and slowly rubbed some cream on it. She continued holding her wrist until she felt Ta’Sha relax a bit. 
 
    “Don’t worry. You’re a natural with people,” Sarah said. “And the world really needs to know who you are and what you do.” 
 
    Ta’Sha smiled at her friend. “Thanks for being here with me today.” 
 
    … 
 
    A moment after the intro music started to play, George and Lindsey walked out onto the stage. As the lights came up, the studio audience quieted, and the stage producer counted them in. 
 
    “Good afternoon, World. I’m Lindsey McEwan with CNN International. I’m normally based in Auckland New Zealand, but this afternoon I’m coming to you from the Confederation Television Studios. 
 
    “With me today is former Sergeant George Butler. George, I understand that we have a special guest with us for this episode. Would you like to introduce her?” 
 
    “Yes.” George said, turning toward the studio audience. “Please join me in welcoming our special guest Ta’Sha from the Ascendance Training Department at the Institute.” 
 
    Ta’Sha started walking out to light applause from the audience. After greetings, they took their seats and Lindsey began. 
 
    “Ta’Sha, thank you for joining us today. I’d like to start by asking about your role at the Institute. What do you do there?” 
 
    “I’m a master trainer in the Ascendance training portion of the program. As you probably know, our department trains people from every species how to become Ascendants. The training can be difficult and can take a long time. My role is to work with those that need personal training. Most of what I do is done one-on-one. I mostly work with first-contact species, and typically work with those that have taken senior positions within the Confederation’s embassy. I also work with those who have been in training a long time but aren’t really progressing.” 
 
    “Is there a specific aspect of the training that you focus on?” 
 
    Ta’Sha seemed puzzled by the question. “Ah. Took me a moment to understand what you were asking. Ascendance training is the portion of the curriculum focused on preparing candidates to occupy avatars. For most, this is a very difficult transition. It is harder than you might think to project your consciousness into an avatar and to live comfortably in another body.” 
 
    Lindsey smiled. “I can’t even imagine how one would do that. What can you tell us that would help us understand a little better?” 
 
    “To become an Ascendant requires physical enhancement. An avatar is grown from the DNA of the target species. The avatar is indistinguishable from natural members of that species, except for one thing. The high mind, the portion of the brain that allows thought and self-awareness, is not complete in the avatar. The rest of the brain, the parts that connect to and control the body are the same, but the high mind is wired via quantum entanglement to the Ascendant controlling the avatar. 
 
    “If that was too complicated to follow, here is a simpler version. As I sit here talking with you, this body…” Ta’Sha indicated herself. “…is using air and vocal cords to make the sounds you hear. The brain that is choosing the words, resides in my natural body, which is in a restoration chamber somewhere else. That brain contains the essence of me. But this body is the one it is expressing that essence through.” 
 
    “So, you’re not actually in the body sitting right across from me?” Lindsey asked. 
 
    “Well, that’s the paradox isn’t it? The actual brain doing the work is somewhere else. The body it’s doing it through is right here. The physical enhancements that Ascendants go through enables the link. But it is an act of will, AN ACT OF WILL…” Ta’Sha emphasized… “to actually use it; to ignore sensory input from the natural body and to accept the sensory input from the link instead.” 
 
    There was momentary silence, then Lindsey asked. “How do you do it?” 
 
    “A friend recently explained it to me like this. It is something you need to learn. It cannot be taught. It must be learned.” 
 
    Lindsey struggled for another question. 
 
    “I think I understand.” George said. “It’s like riding a bike. You don’t know how to do it until you’ve done it. The instructor’s job isn’t so much about teaching you as it is coaching you through activities that have been helpful to others in making the leap.” 
 
    Ta’Sha looked at George with renewed appreciation. “Exactly.” 
 
    The studio audience erupted in applause, as they usually did when George said something profound, and the producers used it as an opportunity to cut to break. 
 
    … 
 
    “Welcome back, World. I’m Lindsey McEwan from CNN International here today with Ta’Sha, master trainer in the Ascendancy Training program at the Institute. 
 
    “Ta’Sha, you were saying that it takes an act of will to occupy an avatar. The reason… You have two sets of sensory inputs and you must choose the connection to the avatar. 
 
    “How do you train people to do that? And what happens if they get connected to an avatar and cannot make or hold the connection to it?” 
 
    “Let me start with the second question. You have to pass a test in order to get the enhancements. The test is quite difficult. Some that pass still have a little trouble at first. But there has never been an instance of someone getting the modifications and not being able to operate an avatar. The consequences of that would be quite devastating, so the test makes sure you are well past any doubt. 
 
    “The training provided is a form of meditation. We start by teaching people how to meditate. There are exercises and a biofeedback device. We expect our students to spend an hour a day learning to meditate. 
 
    “We do regular group sessions. I meet personally with those that have reached a certain level. We have regular one-on-one sessions where we work through exercises developed specifically for them.” 
 
    “How do you do that? How do you know if they are actually meditating?” 
 
    “I have limited empathetic powers. I can sense their inner state. Once I get to know my students, I can sense the depth and extent of their meditation. The difficulty they have moving between meditative states. That’s how I know which exercises will help them the most.” 
 
    “I must admit, I don’t know much about meditation. Can you describe these states and what they feel like?” 
 
    “We start by helping our students find their inner peaceful state. In that state, they are aware of their surroundings but not particularly affected by them. You have undoubtedly heard of people that can control their respiration or heart rate. Or, others that can isolate themselves from pain. We don’t focus on those particular states. Our starting point is just to be able to go in, stay in and come back out in a controlled manner. 
 
    “From there, we do projection exercises. The closest analogy you might think of is an out-of-body experience. We need people to be able to project their consciousness outside of themselves. The desired end state is that the student can project their consciousness out of their body at will, observe their surroundings and hold that position for a long time, then return in a controlled manner. 
 
    “How long does this take?” Lindsey asked. 
 
    “Sadly, it takes a long time for most people. The faster Lorexians can do it in 10 to 20 years. Only three humans have qualified: one extremely fast, one normal, one slower than average. 
 
    “But I need to say one thing about that. Speed really doesn’t matter. I’ve known people that have mastered it in a matter of years, one in a matter of months. I’ve also known people still struggling after 50 years. I myself took a very long time. 
 
    “Once you have mastered it and are in an avatar, it is natural and there is very little distinction in the level of mastery. I took forever, yet here I am a master trainer with exquisite control. This is one area where speed is not a reliable predictor of long-term capability.” 
 
    “I bet knowing that helps the students that progress more slowly.” 
 
    “I hope it does, but in truth, I bet they don’t really believe me until the day they make it over the finish line and learn the truth of it firsthand.” 
 
    In the background, the outro music started playing softly. 
 
    “We will be right back after the short break.” 
 
    … 
 
    “Ta’Sha. You requested to be a part of this series about the Allied Species of the Confederation. Could you tell us why?” 
 
    A look of deep sadness came over Ta’Sha. 
 
    “I am one of the last, if not the last, of my kind. A great calamity fell upon us. I was one of the few to survive and the only one currently known to still be alive. 
 
    “I’ve spent millennia attempting to find a place that I could call home. And I think that I’ve finally found it. So, I wanted to tell you about my people, show you how beautiful we were, the richness of our culture.” Ta’Sha stopped, struggling to control the emotion of her confession. 
 
    After a few moments of silence, she smiled, fresh tears still clinging to her cheeks. “There is a holographic projection, several actually, that I’d like to play for you. The first is of me as a young adult. It was taken shortly after I’d graduated from school. 
 
    The lights dimmed and a holographic projection appeared on the far side of the stage. There was a deep intake of breath from the studio audience as an angelic creature appeared floating near a very thin building. 
 
    Its body was thin, maybe six inches thick. Its skin gossamer, and mostly translucent. An inner light made the body glow. Colored lights pulsed through its interior, clearly visible through the skin. Its arms were more like wings, wide where they connected to the torso and thinning toward its hands, which were also thin. Its torso was long; its legs short, maybe one-fifth the length of the body. The edges of the arms rippled rhythmically, apparently creating enough lift to keep it afloat. 
 
    Something caught her attention and she shot after it. The view panned out and she could be seen flying to meet some others who were flying in a formation of sorts. 
 
    The projection froze, the lights came up and the hushed studio audience broke into loud applause. 
 
    “You could fly,” Lindsey said in astonishment. 
 
    “Yes. Our planet was small, maybe the size of your moon, but quite dense, so our atmosphere was much deeper. At that age, I had not yet been down to the surface. Our family was of a race that preferred living between 20,000 and 30,000 feet. We could live at altitudes up to about 50,000 feet, but the air at that altitude was thin, which made it harder for us to breathe and to fly. Some races of our species could live up to 100,000 feet. They were thinner and larger. Others could live down on the surface. As you might guess they were thicker and more solid.” 
 
    “You were all one species?” Lindsey asked. 
 
    “Yes. Technically we could mate and produce offspring, but that didn’t happen very often. It was just too hard.” 
 
    “How did you get along? Was there the same sort of racial divide we’ve experienced on Earth?” 
 
    “Yes and no. This is harder to describe. Our species is, maybe I should say was, telepathic. When you hear everyone’s thoughts all the time, there is much less individuality. Everything is intrinsically communal. Easy to do things together. Almost impossible to concentrate enough to do anything alone. If one of us was sick, then we all cared for them because we shared their pain. If one was happy, everyone was lifted up. So, in that regard, there was no racial tension. 
 
    “But there were both geographic and strata separation. So there was geographic and strata conflict.” 
 
    “What do you mean by strata?” Lindsey asked. 
 
    “Separation by altitude where you lived. I grew up in a band that ranged from roughly 20,000 to 25,000 feet. I really couldn’t hear anyone more than a couple thousand feet above or below that band.  
 
    “Only the powerful elders who ruled had that ability. And they were ultimately the cause of our demise,” Ta’Sha said with some heat, then perked up. “I have another projection I’d like to show. This one is a still. It was taken by my husband when I was about halfway through my pregnancy.” 
 
    The image of the same creature popped-up on the screen. She appeared to be a little older and a little thicker than before. Her glow, especially in the midsection, was much brighter. The midsection also had a concentration of small colored lights.  
 
    “You can see the child inside of you,” Lindsey said in wonder. 
 
    “True. It was impossible to keep a pregnancy quiet. The evidence started showing up within about two weeks. I could hear her mind, when she was about 10 weeks old. Everyone else could about a month later. The child became part of the family at about three months and part of the community by 9 months. And there was always a big celebration at birth, which happened at 12 months.” 
 
    The happiness of that moment quickly slid into sadness bordering on despair. 
 
    “What happened?” Lindsey asked, a tear forming in her eye before she even knew what was coming. 
 
    “Michael talked about this on one of the interviews he did during the Revelation. If memory serves correctly, it was one of the interviews with Sarah where she asked about his biggest failure. 
 
    “A giant asteroid was coming toward us. It was a loosely connected group of rocks that had started falling apart as it approached our sun. 
 
    “The Confederation had some success in breaking it apart and scattering it. During that process, they discovered that the whole thing was saturated with a mutagenic compound that would be fatal to our people. 
 
    “They came to our planet. They were in avatars, but the telepathy was all wrong. Everyone knew that these people did not belong, but we were a peace-loving species, so we mostly ignored them. They revealed themselves, but we continued to ignore them. They built facilities and produced massive amounts of medicine that would have saved us. But eventually, their presence wore on us, particularly our leaders who hated anyone they could not hear and control. 
 
    “One day, shortly before the asteroid remains hit, our leaders threw them out and destroyed everything they’d made. We were not a violent species, but our leaders’ rage grew to a point that we turned on the Confederation violently. In his interview with Sarah, he referred to us as being ant-like. I took offense to that at first. But he was right. When the hive mind spoke, it could not be resisted. They turned on the handful of Confederation people that stayed, then we turned on them violently. Sadly, a few of them did not make it out. 
 
    “The asteroid hit. Our people started dying by the millions. Our leaders died and new ones tried to get the Confederation’s help. But it was too little, too late. 
 
    “I lived on the opposite side of the planet from where the asteroid hit. The plague was slow reaching us. Michael came with vaccine in time to save me. I was apparently more resilient than most. No one else in my family survived. 
 
    “Of the trillions on our planet, the Confederation saved maybe 25,000. But without connection to the colony, even those started dying. I was one of about 100 that lived long enough to sign up for Ascendance training. It took me about 200 years to get through, but I did. Three of us ascended. The rest died. Of the three, I am the only one left.” 
 
    The room was silent except for some scattered sniffling. 
 
    George, usually the first to start weeping, saw that Lindsey was struggling to hold herself together, so he asked, “Ta’Sha, why Earth? Why make this your home?” 
 
    “It started as just another assignment, another opportunity to work with Michael. But things are different here. Most things Confederation are dominated by Lorexians. It makes sense. They are a generous, peace-loving species, deeply committed to the betterment of everyone. They have made incredible sacrifices to save as many as they have. And they have certainly been kind and good to me. 
 
    “But they are formal. There is no ebb and flow of emotion or action. Everything works in lockstep. 
 
    “My people were much more, free-spirited? Seems like a funny thing to say about people dominated by a hive mind. But that’s the way it felt. We did things together naturally. We might all end up doing the same thing at the same time, but we did so fluidly; harmonious, yet independent.  
 
    “Humans don’t have the same kind of natural connection. It is harder to form connections and they are never as tight. But there is freedom of movement, collaboration driven by common goals, not by regimentation. And in the midst of that there is contagious creativity. I’ve seen more willful collaboration among humans than in any other species I’ve met in the Confederation. 
 
    “I don’t know if any of that made sense to you. But the feeling here, especially at the Embassy, is much more like what I grew up with than any place I’ve been since the disaster.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, EAS OTTAWA 
 
    Daniel entered the presence projector to find Michael waiting for him. “Michael. What can I do for you?” 
 
    “Daniel, thank you for taking the time to speak with me in private. I have a favor I’d like to ask of you.” 
 
    After a moment’s contemplation, Daniel replied, “And you are coming to me in private, because you want me to propose this to Space Force command.” 
 
    Michael smiled and nodded affirmatively. 
 
    “I need Joel and Martin Hill back on Earth. You’re past the point where you need them, correct?” 
 
    “Both have been very valuable to the mission. We could not have done it without them. But you’re right. Others can do what they are currently assigned to do. Can I ask why you need them back?” 
 
    “A fair question. Ship production has ground to a halt while Joel and Hans Schudel have been away. Professor Schudel is returning today; he may already be back.  
 
    “As you know, we barely had the ships we needed to complete your mission. With the Armada’s demise, we need even more. So, I need Joel back.” 
 
    “Space Force Command would know that and approve, so the issue must be Martin.” 
 
    Michael smiled. “Caught me. I authorized Martin to go on this mission because of the exigency. But, turns out I didn’t have the university’s permission to send him. After some discussion, I’ve come to an agreement with the university, but I need him back tomorrow morning and don’t want him to know it.” 
 
    With those words, the pieces snapped together for Daniel, who completed Michael’s thought. “And Martin is on the San Juan. So, if the San Juan were assigned to ferry Joel back, then Martin would come with him.” 
 
    Michael’s smile was broad. 
 
    “So you’re going to ask Space Force Command to send Joel back. I’ll recommend the San Juan. I’m good with that. The ship was hit by a piece of wreckage yesterday and some of her systems have been acting up. Logical choice.” 
 
    “Really?” Michael asked. 
 
    “True of about a third of the ships,” Daniel chuckled. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE  
 
    Michael had just finished with Daniel when his communicator buzzed. 
 
    “Michael here.” 
 
    “Hi Michael, Pam. It took a little trickery, but I got an opinion from Confederation legal about acceptable venues for Confederation officials wanting to marry. The Vatican is definitely out for an Ambassador. Marriages between Ambassadors and member species are discouraged, but permitted. And there are a surprising number of them. A religious leader from the member’s species is allowed to participate. But the wedding itself needs to be officiated by a Confederation official, and the ceremony must be done at a Confederation facility. 
 
    “If we had a consulate in the Vatican, you could do it there. But we don’t.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE CIVIL ENGINEERING DEPARTMENT 
 
    Professor Schudel had transported down to his apartment about an hour ago. Once everything was put away, he came into the office. There was a ton of messages and a backlog of work, but he came in so he could file some information requests. 
 
    The first regarded the information request he’d made for Lt. Bumati Parikh last week. The Institute on New Lorexi had gotten back to him last week with some questions. He still needed to send the clarifications. 
 
    The second regarded brown dwarfs. He needed to get the next list of candidates. If they could send the Amsterdam back out quickly enough, they might beat the crowd to a few more choice claims. The word would get out before too much longer, then the opportunity would be gone. 
 
    


 
   
  
 

 HOMECOMING 
 
    [Sunday, 1.19.2031, 8:45 AM] BALTIMORE, MARYLAND  
 
    Martin Hill had been transported down to his apartment in the middle of the night. His ship, the EAS San Juan, had been experiencing some problems, so they’d been sent back to Earth for repairs.  
 
    Joel had transported over to the San Juan just before they departed. He was being recalled. The ship manufacturing facility had been shut down because of a supply issue just before the emergency. Without Joel there to help restart production, the manufacturing line just sat idle. He was coming back to get the facility running again. 
 
    Martin had mixed feelings about coming back to Baltimore. It was his home and he missed it. But Baltimore no longer held the appeal it once had. Working at the Institute, then in space, had been thrilling. 
 
    Just before nodding off last night, well earlier this morning, he’d received a message from Michael asking him to be ready to transport up at 9:00. They were going to a formal meeting, so he should be dressed in a suit and tie. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 AMBASSADOR’S SHUTTLE 
 
    As soon as he transported aboard, Martin knew something was up. Michael and Sarah were there, as was Eugene and a woman he didn’t know. There were also two older couples that he didn’t know. 
 
    “Martin, welcome. Thank you for joining us. Let me introduce you to Binh Lee and his wife Trang. Binh is the President of the Earth Alliance Council. With them are Ambassador Paul Lewis and his wife Pamela. Paul is the Senior Ambassador to the Earth Alliance from the United States.” 
 
    Greetings were exchanged, but Martin still had no idea what was going on.  
 
    “Martin, let me introduce you to my friend, Nelly Fong. Nelly recently moved to the Embassy from San Francisco.” 
 
    “Eugene, do you know what’s going on? I just got back last night and am completely out of the loop.” 
 
    “There’s going to be a ceremony honoring us today at Hopkins.” 
 
    “Argh.” The expression slipped out before Martin even knew he was saying it. “I kind of slipped out of town on the mission to Andromeda without telling John. I doubt he is going to be very happy with me.” 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 JOHNS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY 
 
    The shuttle landed 30 minutes before the program was to begin. Nonetheless, crowds had gathered in the Wyman Quad to cheer the hometown heroes.  
 
    The shuttle landed in a roped off area in front of Shriver Hall, adjacent to the Wyman Quad. As soon as the door opened Eugene knew where they were. What he didn’t expect was that the quad would be packed with supporters hoping to get a glimpse of the entourage. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 ENGINEERING RESIDENCES 
 
    Looking back on the day, Eugene realized that it was all a blur. His family had been there in the front row. A full professorship had been endowed in his name. During the reception, everybody who was anybody had come forward to shake his hand. Maybe he would remember them all when he got his copy of the photo book. 
 
    His mom seemed as happy to see that Eugene had brought a female friend as she was that he’d been awarded a chair. 
 
    Kelly had warned him that this type of recognition would be coming. He now understood her reservations about being put in the spotlight like this. 
 
    Now the pressure would really be on. Everyone would be looking to him to come up with the means to defeat the Enemy once and for all. He was happy about having done the things that he’d done. But he worried that people now expected miracles from him. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 PRESENCE PROJECTOR, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    A message from Admiral Jo-Na popped up in Michael’s queue. Are your free to talk? The was a link to a presence projector address. 
 
    On my way. 
 
    … 
 
    Michael walked into the presence projector and saw his friend sitting in a comfortable chair. “I understand that you’re on your way to reclaim the remnants of the Armada.” 
 
    “True. A sad thing. There is talk of court-martialing Admiral Ma-Ru posthumously, so that he can be stripped of rank and wiped from the history books. Daniel told me that humans would not do that. He said that history needed to remember the Admiral’s crimes, so maybe they wouldn’t be repeated. I think I agree with the human perspective. 
 
    “In other news, Admiral Na-Vi was apparently in league with the Inspector and the Admiral. He has resigned, but there is talk of placing charges on him as well. 
 
    “And believe it or not, they’re talking about giving me his job.” 
 
    Michael could feel his friend’s consternation for what had happened. He also sensed his worry about being the one that might be assigned to clean up the mess. 
 
    “These events are about to precipitate a massive change in the balance of power,” Michael said. 
 
    “I know.” A pause. “You were right when you said that if the Fleet tried to subordinate Space Force, the Fleet would be the one to be subordinated. I don’t think there is anyone in the High Command that would disagree at this point.” 
 
    “That was never the intention. But in truth, it was inevitable.” 
 
    Neither of the two friends were angry with one another at this point, just melancholy that the world as they’d known it for millennia had changed. 
 
    Michael was the first to break the silence. “Once you arrive, we will start recalling our ships. The Earth Alliance is more than happy to provide whatever help you need, but we have a lot on our plate to deal with.” 
 
    “I’ll call you as soon as I’ve had a chance to assess the situation. I suspect that there are several ships that will not be able to make the trip back to Andromeda. Would it be acceptable if we seconded those ships to you? They would be under Space Force command. We would expect you to treat the crews well and upgrade the ships for eventual return. I think that will be the only presence we can project into the Milky Way for some time to come.” 
 
    “Acceptable. We will treat your crews well. But any that want to serve here will need to be interviewed and approved by me, or possibly by James.” 
 
    “That will be interesting.” 
 
    “Safe travels, my friend.” 
 
      
 
      
 
    


 
   
  
 

 EPILOGUE 
 
    ENGINEERING CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
    Eugene and Kelly were working in the conference room today. With the Enemy trap validated, Eugene was free to start on the next project. Kelly wanted Eugene’s input on a problem she’d run into with the laminated hull. She’d also invited James to stop over to discuss the safety of her high-dimension shield. 
 
    They hadn’t made much progress on the laminated hull when James appeared. 
 
    “James, thanks for taking the time to meet with us.” 
 
    “Kelly, Eugene. Two of my favorite people. How could I resist?” As usual, James’ joy spilled over into the room. 
 
    “So you’ve been doing some theoretical work on the high dimensions. Curious. What have you found?” 
 
    “Well. The Lorexians have documentation on the observed properties of dimensions running up into the upper 200s, or something like that. But their math predicts the properties of dimensions much higher. So, I picked an arbitrarily high dimension, #601, to see if I could build a shield. Turned out to be very easy. But the theoretical properties of this shield are odd. It just absorbs energy. Eugene thought that sounded too much like a black hole, so might not be safe to even test. 
 
    “Can you tell us anything about this dimension?” 
 
    James gave Kelly one of his big smiles, although sadness tinged the edges. 
 
    “The Lorexians came up with their theoretical framework eons ago. Then never really did anything with it. I suspect that you’re the first person in the Confederation to even consider this subject.” 
 
    “And…” Kelly replied, almost matching James’ smile. 
 
    “Eugene is mostly right. This is an extremely dense dimension. If you used it to put a bubble around something, it would suck most of the energy out of the thing in very short order. But the bubble itself would have very little mass, so would not have the gravitational force of a black hole. Once the field projector was shut down, the bubble would dissipate in the same way our shields or transport bubbles would.” 
 
    “Can they be made to be unidirectional, kind of like my Enemy trap?” 
 
    “Yes.” 
 
    Eugene and Kelly sensed that James had more to say but didn’t want to answer the question. 
 
    “Sounds like a weapon.” Eugene prodded. “If we encapsulated the Enemy home world in a field like this…” Eugene stopped, letting the words hang out there. 
 
    James had a decision to make. Eugene was right. A very effective weapon could be made in exactly the way Eugene described. With a big enough field generator, a planet could be killed; a star could be extinguished. 
 
    “Tell me why it is dangerous to pursue a technology like this,” James said with deadly seriousness. He was not angry, just testing Eugene and Kelly to see if they truly understood the potential horror of such a weapon. 
 
    Eugene was quick to respond. “Anyone that controlled a weapon like that could kill entire civilizations. If it should fall into the hands of someone with malign intent, then worlds would be destroyed.” 
 
    Silence. 
 
    “So you don’t think we should pursue this,” Kelly concluded. 
 
    “The knowledge that such a weapon might be possible now lives in your minds. The question is what you do with it. How do you prevent such knowledge falling into the hands of others?” 
 
    The question was rhetorical and just hung there, the silence deafening. 
 
    “Could I change the subject for a moment?” Eugene asked. 
 
    James looked at Eugene. 
 
    “I’ve been puzzling a bit about how we would get to the Enemy home world. If we just encased ourselves in a bubble in their dimensions, could we just go there?” 
 
    James made a hand motion that suggested that Eugene should continue his conjecture. 
 
    “Assuming that the answer is yes, then the last pieces of information I would need is the dimension ID and their home world’s location. I assume that you know the answer.” 
 
    James nodded affirmatively. “Think carefully about what you do with this knowledge and who you tell about it.” His voice as he said this was very somber.  
 
    “James. Can you give us any guidance?” 
 
    “With knowledge, comes power. With power, comes responsibility. You have found the pieces you were destined to find. It is up to you how you use what you’ve found. I cannot make that decision for you. But I will give you the last pieces of information if you ask for them.” Then he disappeared in a flash of light. 
 
      
 
   
  
 

 OFFICE, AMBASSADOR’S RESIDENCE 
 
    A message arrived in Michael’s queue from James. Michael, may I speak with you. 
 
    Yes, Michael replied. 
 
    James appeared in a flash of light. 
 
    “Michael, thank you for meeting with me. This whole business with the Confederation is very disturbing.” 
 
    “Agreed. But I suspect you mean something more than the obvious.” 
 
    “Yes. Shortly after the Space Force mission departed for Andromeda, I went looking for the remaining Enemy ships on their way here. That’s when I found out that they’d banded together. At that point, their path would have taken them to the planet I told you about, the one that held the young species.” 
 
    James paused as if trying to decide what to say next. 
 
    “When I came to see you because of the foolishness going on in the Planetary Governor’s Office, I was worried that the delay would prevent us from helping those people. That’s why I wanted to make a bargain with you. 
 
    “As we spoke, I cast my attention toward the Enemy’s expected location, but they weren’t there. All I could sense was some sort of Confederation treachery.” 
 
    “I think you said you sensed treachery, possibly in Andromeda. Do you now think you were sensing the Fleet attempting to engage the Enemy?” 
 
    “No. The timing would have been wrong. I think it was the Enemy having started to make way toward Earth in the captured ships.” 
 
    “But you’re not certain of that?” Michael prompted. 
 
    James looked perplexed for a moment. “Exactly. Every time I’ve tried to sort this out on my own, my thoughts would go into a loop.” 
 
    James got a faraway look in his eyes, then in a flash of insight, he exclaimed, “Loop!”  
 
    “James, are you OK?” Michael asked. 
 
    James looked at Michael with so much excitement that Michael felt like he needed to hold onto his chair.  
 
    “It was a time paradox! I’ve got to document this. This is the most exciting thing I’ve experienced in a very long time.” 
 
    “James, please calm down.” 
 
    James focused his attention on Michael again. “Oh, sorry about that.” 
 
    “What’s this about a time paradox?” 
 
    “Hard to explain, but I have conflicting memories about a number of things during that period where Daniel was in two places at the same time. That’s why I was getting stuck in a loop.” 
 
    On seeing that James was about to take his leave, Michael asked, “James, back to the original subject. Have you checked on that planet? Are you sure the Enemy didn’t go there first?” 
 
    “Yes. They’re fine. I did check, but I knew the Enemy did not go there first. The Enemy was intercepted by the Fleet. They got food, ships and Earth’s exact location from the Fleet, so they headed straight here. 
 
    “By the way… We should plan to visit that planet sometime soon. The people there will make a great addition to the Alliance you are starting to build here.” 
 
    With that, James rose and disappeared in a brilliant flash of light. 
 
    “Alliance?” 
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